
Cabinet 
 

Meeting Venue 
Hybrid meeting - Zoom - County Hall 
 
Meeting date 
Tuesday, 10 October 2023 
 
Meeting time 
10.00 am 
 
For further information please contact 

 

 
 

County Hall 
Llandrindod Wells 

Powys 
LD1 5LG 

Stephen Boyd 
01597 826374 
steve.boyd@powys.gov.uk 

 04/10/2023 
 

 
Mae croeso i chi siarad yn Gymraeg neu yn Saesneg yn y cyfarfod.  
Rhowch wybod pa iaith rydych am ei defnyddio erbyn hanner dydd, ddau ddiwrnod 
gwaith cyn y cyfarfod.  
You are welcome to speak Welsh or English in the meeting.  
Please inform us of which language you wish to use by noon, two working days 
before the meeting. 
 

AGENDA 
  

1.  APOLOGIES  
 
To receive apologies for absence. 
 
  

2.  MINUTES  
 
To authorise the Chair to sign the minutes of the meetings held on 19th and 26th 
September as correct records. 
(Pages 3 - 12) 
  

3.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items to be 
considered on the agenda. 
 
  

4.  LLANGEDWYN C. IN W. SCHOOL - PROPOSAL PAPER  
 
To consider a report from County Councillor Pete Roberts, Cabinet Member for a 
Learning Powys. 
(Pages 13 - 84) 
 
 

Public Document Pack



  
5.  APPROVAL OF THE POWYS LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN ANNUAL 

MONITORING REPORT 2023 FOR SUBMISSION TO WELSH 
GOVERNMENT  

 
To consider a report by County Councillor Jake Berriman, Cabinet Member for a 
Connected Powys. 
(Pages 85 - 328) 
  

6.  STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER REPORT QUARTER 1 2023/2024  
 
To consider a report by County Councillor David Thomas, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Corporate Transformation.  
(Pages 329 - 360) 
  

7.  DELEGATED DECISIONS TAKEN SINCE THE LAST MEETING  
 
To note the delegated decisions taken since the last meeting. 
(Pages 361 - 362) 
  

8.  FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME  
 
To consider the Cabinet forward work programme. 
(Pages 363 - 364) 
  

9.  EXEMPT ITEM  
 
The Monitoring Officer has determined that category  3 of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules applies to the following items. His view on the public interest test 
(having taken account of the provisions of Rule 14.8 of the Council's Access to 
Information Rules) was that to make this information public would disclose 
information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information). 
 
These factors in his view outweigh the public interest in disclosing this information. 
Members are asked to consider these factors when determining the public interest 
test, which they must decide when considering excluding the public from this part of 
the meeting. 
 
  

10.  STRATEGIC RISK REGISTER REPORT QUARTER 1 2023/2024 - 
EXEMPT PAPER  

 
To consider a report by County Councillor David Thomas Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Corporate Transformation. 
(Pages 365 - 368) 
 
 
 



Cabinet 19 September 2023 
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE CABINET HELD AT  COUNTY HALL AND ON 
ZOOM ON TUESDAY, 19 SEPTEMBER 2023 

 
PRESENT 
County Councillor James Gibson-Watt (Chair) 
 
County Councillors Jake Berriman, Jackie Charlton, Richard Church, Sian Cox,  
Sandra Davies, Matthew Dorrance,  Pete Roberts, David Selby and David Thomas  
 
In attendance: County Councillors Jeremy Brignell-Thorp, Bryan Davies, Aled Davies, 
Ed Jones, Arwel Jones, Gareth Jones, Gary Mitchell and Jonathan Wilkinson.   
 

  
1.  APOLOGIES  

 
County Councillor Jackie Charlton apologised for the start of the meeting as she 
had a meeting with a Welsh Government Minister.  

 
 

2.  MINUTES  
 

The Leader was authorised to sign the minutes of the last meeting held on 1st 
August 2023 as a correct record. 

 
3.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
 There were no declarations of interest reported. 
 

4.  CORPORATE STRATEGIC AND EQUALITY PLAN SCORECARD: 
QUARTER 1 PERFORMANCE  

 
Cabinet considered the report for quarter 1 which set out performance against 
the objectives in the Corporate and Strategic Equality Plan. The report set out 
some suggestions for clarifying the wording of some measures.   
 
The Cabinet also considered comments and recommendations from the Scrutiny 
Committees which were wholly or partly accepted.  
 

RESOLVED that Cabinet: 
 

1. Confirm they are assured that performance is progressing 
well, or that mitigating actions have been identified and 
reflected in updates to service Integrated Business Plans. 
 

2. Confirm they are satisfied that any remedial actions will 
effectively improve performance in line with outcomes set 
out in the Corporate and Strategic Equality Plan.    

 
3. Approve the introduction of a new measure to support 

Objective 1 (We will improve people’s awareness of 

Page 3

2



Cabinet 19 September 2023  
 

services, and how to access them, so that they can make 
informed choices.): 
• Number of ‘keeping in touch’ visits; this is in relation to 

Housing Services and would enable the team to regularly 
demonstrate some key work that is being undertaken to 
support the Council’s tenants.   

 
4. Note the following clarifications to measure wording: 

• Measure 4:  ‘Number of people accessing leisure 
facilities’ has been amended to ‘Number of people 
participating in leisure activities’; this clarifies that it will 
measure participations rather than people. 

• Measure 9: ‘Percentage increase in user (active) 
participations’ has been amended to ‘The number of 
(active) user participations’; this reflects the number of 
participations rather than measuring a percentage 
increase. 

• Measure 15: ‘Number of apprentices within the Council’ 
has been updated to clarify that it reports the number of 
new apprentices; it now reads: ‘Number of new 
apprentices within the Council’. 

• Measure 19: ‘Staff turnover rate’ has been updated to 
clarify that it is the: ‘Staff turnover rate during the 
quarter’. 

• Measure 20: ‘Sickness absence rate’ has been updated to 
clarify that it is the: ‘Average days sickness per full time 
equivalent employee’. 

• Measure 35: ‘A reduction in the child poverty rate’ has 
been amended to ‘A reduction in the child absolute 
poverty rate’; this clarifies that absolute poverty is the 
basis of measurement. 

• Measure 36: ‘Number of families with children who are 
living in absolute poverty in Powys’ has been amended to 
‘Number of children living in absolute poverty’; this is 
because the relevant data is not available for families. 

 
5.  TREASURY MANAGEMENT QUARTER 1 REPORT  

 
Cabinet considered the Treasury Management report for the first quarter setting 
out the Council’s borrowing and investment strategy.  
  
 

6.  FINANCIAL FORECAST FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2024 (AS 
AT 30TH JUNE 2023)  

 
Cabinet considered the forecast revenue budget outturn for the 2023-24 financial 
year, based on the full year forecasts as at 30th June 2023. A £3.7 million surplus 
was currently forecast.   

The Cabinet Member for Finance and Corporate Transformation noted 54% or 
£9.4 million of cost reductions approved in the budget had been delivered and a 

Page 4



Cabinet 19 September 2023  
 

further 40% £7.0 million were assured of delivery by Services. Services were 
being challenged on those savings which were unachieved and at risk of delivery 
and would be required to consider mitigating action to ensure that they can 
deliver within the budget allocated.  
 
The Chair of the Finance Panel expressed his frustration at the delay in receiving 
the report and the Head of Finance confirmed that the Panel would be given 
more time in future. He asked whether the introduction of 20 mph limits had 
impacted on Council resources and was advised that while it had been fully 
funded by Welsh Government it had required a large amount of management 
time. Tribute was paid to HTR staff who had ensured that appropriate signage 
had been put in place.  
 
Cabinet also considered recommendations from the Finance Panel in respect of 
the HTR budget. The Executive Director Economy and Environment confirmed 
that a breakdown of maintenance undertaken by contractors would be provided. 
 
  RESOLVED  
 

1. that Cabinet note the current budget position and the 
projected full year forecast to the end of March 2024. 

2.  The grants set out in section 6.1 are noted. 
3. To approve the virements set out in section 6.2 and 6.3 of 

the report to comply with the virement rules for budget 
movements as set out in the financial regulations. 

4. That Cabinet supports the movement between reserves 
set out in paragraph 6.4.   

 
7.  CAPITAL FORECAST 2023-24, AS AT 30TH JUNE 2023  

 
Cabinet considered the Capital report for the first quarter. The revised 
programme at the 30th June 2023 was budgeted at £102.50 million following the 
successful award of additional grants and the reprofiling of budgets between 
financial years. Cabinet noted that expenditure for the first quarter was extremely 
low at 7.4%, and that re-profiling of schemes was essential to enable Finance to 
more accurately project expenditure, the consequential need to borrow and the 
impact on the revenue budget. 
 
In response to the recommendation from the Finance Panel, asking for a reason 
why the Sustainable Communities for Learning capital programme had been 
pushed back, it was explained that there had been some delays due to 
reprofiling. On the request for the re-implementation of a 10-year Capital 
programme, the Head of Finance advised that the service did work on a longer 
draft programme which was more flexible and had less detail than the 5 year 
programme approved by council. 
 
  RESOLVED  
 

1. That virements in section 6 of the report are approved. 

Page 5



Cabinet 19 September 2023  
 

 
2. That the contents of this report are noted. 
 

 
8.  FINANCIAL PLANNING UPDATE  

 
Cabinet considered a report on the latest economic projections and how these 
influence and impact on the development of the Council’s Budget for 2023/25 
and the Medium Term Financial Strategy. 
 
The Council had embarked on a programme of change to reimagine what the 
Council should look like in the future to ensure that it can remain financially 
stable and provide sustainable services in the long-term.  “Sustainable Powys” 
would review what services the council provides and how they are provided to 
design a future for the council that delivers stronger, fairer and greener services 
whilst reducing costs. 
 
  RESOLVED  
 

1. That Cabinet acknowledge the changing environment in 
which our plans are being developed and agree with the 
revised assumptions that are being used to support the 
development of the MTFS; and that work will continue to 
update and refresh the MTFP as appropriate.  

2. Agree that the Senior Leadership Team continues to work 
with the relevant Portfolio Cabinet Member(s) to identify 
potential savings to assist in addressing the indicative 
budget gap across the period of the Medium Term 
Financial Plan. 

3. Delegate to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the 
Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance, the authority to 
implement any saving proposal in advance of 2024/25 
where no policy recommendation is required. 

4. This report is presented to Finance Panel for their 
scrutiny and feedback. 

 
9.  MARCHES AGREEMENT  

 
Cabinet was asked to give approval for the Council to sign a Memorandum of 
Understanding (MoU) with Shropshire Council, Herefordshire Council and 
Monmouthshire County Council’s to collaborate on the cross-border Marches 
Forward Partnership. 
 
The Marches Forward Partnership offers an  opportunity to establish a 
collaborative  framework with our  neighbouring local authority areas with shared 
needs and interests. It provided a flexible basis for joint working without the need 
for formal governing structures and without impacting existing strategic 
partnerships or individual local authority working arrangements.  
  

Page 6



Cabinet 19 September 2023  
 

The Cabinet member for a Learning Powys expressed the hope that there would 
be an opportunity to work with colleagues in Oswestry and along the border to 
extend the ability for families to take part in Welsh medium education. 
 

RESOLVED  
 
1. That the authority continues to progress the work of the 

Marches Forward Partnership. 
2. To approve the draft Memorandum of Understanding in 

Appendix A and delegate to the Chief Executive, in consultation 
with the Council’s Leader, to agree changes in finalising the 
Memorandum of Understanding to reflect feedback from each 
cabinet and once completed to sign on behalf of Powys County 
Council. 

3. That further updates be brought to Cabinet in due course.   
 

10.  CORRESPONDENCE  
 

Cabinet considered a letter from RSPCA Cymru asking that the Council consider 
a ban on the giving of pets as prizes at fairs and events held on council owned 
land.  
 
 RESOLVED to support the proposal and ask officers to draw 

up a policy for Cabinet’s consideration. 
 

11.  DELEGATED DECISIONS TAKEN SINCE THE LAST MEETING  
 

Cabinet noted the delegated decisions taken by portfolio holders since the last 
meeting. 

 
12.  FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME  

 
Cabinet noted the forward work programme.  

 
13.  EXEMPT ITEMS  

 
RESOLVED to exclude the public for the following item of 
business on the grounds that there would be disclosure to 
them of exempt information under category 3 of The Local 
Authorities (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 
2007). 

  
 
 
 
 

14.  SALE OF PROPERTY  
 

Page 7



Cabinet 19 September 2023  
 

Cabinet considered the confidential report and recommendations from the 
County Farms Working Group and heard from the Chair and members of the 
group.  

 
   RESOLVED to approve the recommendations in the report. 

 
 

County Councillor J Gibson-Watt (Chair) 

Page 8



Cabinet 26 September 2023 
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE CABINET HELD AT COUNTY HALL AND ON 
ZOOM ON TUESDAY, 26 SEPTEMBER 2023 

 
PRESENT 
County Councillor J Gibson-Watt (Chair) 
 
County Councillors J Berriman, J Brignell-Thorp, J Charlton, S Cox, S C Davies, 
M J Dorrance, P Roberts, D Selby and D A Thomas 
 
In attendance: County Councillors J Brignell-Thorp, A Davies, B Davies, GD Jones, G 
Thomas, E Vaughan 
 

1.  APOLOGIES  
 
 Apologies for absence were received from County Councillor R Church. 
 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

There were no declarations of interest reported. 
 
 

3.  LLANFYLLIN / NORTH WELSHPOOL CATCHMENT REVIEW  
 

Cabinet considered the findings of the review of education in the Llanfyllin / North 
Welshpool catchments which had restarted in April 2023. The report set out a 
revised preferred way forward for the catchment. If accepted, individual 
proposals would be brought forward and consulted on.  
  
The report also set out the comments of local members, County Councillors Aled 
Davies, Bryn Davies, Arwel Jones, Lucy Roberts and Gwynfor Thomas. 
Councillors Aled Davies, Bryn Davies and Gwynfor Thomas expanded on their 
comments in the meeting. Councillor Aled Davies stressed the importance of 
capital investment and said there was risk of savings being lost if parents chose 
to send their children to different schools. It was confirmed that the Council had a 
legal duty to provide pupils transport from their home to the nearest school even 
if was in a neighbouring local authority. Councillor Bryn Davies highlighted the 
need for bilingual outcome Welsh medium education in the area fully supported 
by Trochi.   
 
Councillor Elwyn Vaughan speaking as the Chair of WESP also noted the need 
for Trochi support. Councillor Gwynfor Thomas presented the recommendations 
of the Learning and Skills Scrutiny Committee. The Committee had made 11 
recommendations which would receive a formal response.  
 
The Scrutiny Committee and local members were thanked for their comments. It 
was stressed that at the heart of the vision for schools transformation was 
learner entitlement so that every pupil had the same opportunity through the 
curriculum for Wales. Smaller schools did not have the same capacity as bigger 
schools to deliver the curriculum.  
  
                        RESOLVED  
  

Page 9



Cabinet 26 September 2023  
 

i)     That, subject to the statutory processes as outlined in the 
School Organisation’s Code, the Council’s indicative 
preferred way forward for schools in the Llanfyllin / North 
Welshpool catchment is as follows: 
  
Llangedwyn C. in W. School, Llanfechain C. in W. School, 
Llansantffraid C. in W. School 

  
    To close Llangedwyn C. in W. School, pupils to transfer 

to Llanfechain C. in W. School. 
    To explore with Llansantffraid C. in W. School and 

Llanfechain C. in W. School the possibility of 
establishing a dual sited school in the area 

    To provide a new building in the future to replace 
Llansantffraid C. in W. School and Llanfechain C. in W. 
School 

  
Ysgol Bro Cynllaith, Ysgol Pennant, Ysgol Llanrhaeadr 
 
    Ysgol Pennant and Ysgol Llanrhaeadr to continue to 

operate as standalone schools. Support Ysgol 
Llanrhaeadr to move along the language continuum. 

     To consider, when appropriate, the possibility of 
establishing a dual sited school in future. 

     To close Ysgol Bro Cynllaith, Powys-based pupils to 
transfer to Ysgol Llanrhaeadr. Trochi support to be 
provided to enable pupils to transfer to the Welsh-
medium stream if they wish to do so. 

 
Brynhafren C.P. School, Ardleen C.P. School, Carreghofa 
C.P. School, Llandysilio C. in W. School 

 
     To close Brynhafren C.P. School, pupils to transfer to 

their nearest alternative schools in Powys 
     To explore with Ardleen C.P. School, Carreghofa C.P. 

School and Llandysilio C. in W. School the possibility of 
establishing a new multi-sited school in the area, with the 
potential of a new build at a later stage 

     To explore the possibility of establishing Welsh-medium 
early years/primary provision in the area.  

 
Ysgol Llanfyllin and Ysgol Meifod 

 
     Provide a new community campus for pupils aged 4-18 in 

Llanfyllin, replacing the current Ysgol Llanfyllin buildings, 
when capital funding is available. 

    To support Ysgol Llanfyllin to move along the language 
continuum. 

    Options for Ysgol Meifod to be considered alongside the 
building development in Llanfyllin. 

  

Page 10



Cabinet 26 September 2023  
 

ii)   To bring back proposal papers in respect of Llangedwyn C. in 
W. School and Brynhafren C.P. School in October 2023. 
  

iii) To bring back a proposal paper in respect of Ysgol Bro 
Cynllaith early in 2024. 
  

iv) To undertake further activity to implement the indicative 
preferred way forward in accordance with the timeline 
outlined in 2.41 of the report. 

  
  

4.  YSGOL BRO CAEREINION LANGUAGE CATEGORY  
 

Cabinet was asked to give approval for commencement of the statutory process 
to move Ysgol Bro Caereinion along the language continuum to make a 
regulated alteration to alter the medium of instruction at Ysgol Bro Caereinion 
from dual-stream to Welsh-medium. This would be introduced on a phased 
basis, year-by-year, starting with Reception and Year 7 in September 2025. 
  
County Councillor Gareth Jones spoke as a local member to say that the 
governors welcomed the proposal. He stressed the need for appropriate support 
to be put in place. He noted that the change was happening organically with no 
new pupils entering the English stream and asked whether there could be a two 
year delay introducing this for admissions to Year 7. Officers acknowledged that 
there were concerns from the parents of pupils in the English medium stream, 
but it was felt that this was the right option. If accepted there would be a 
programme of support by Trochi. It was stressed that no decisions had been 
taken yet and that there would be full consultation on the proposals. 
 
County Councillor Elwyn Vaughan spoke as Chair of WESP to welcome the 
proposal and to call for support for pupils and parents. County Councillor Aled 
Davies spoke as the leader of the opposition. He said there were concerns for 
other schools in the area and he called on the Cabinet to release its blueprint for 
the schools’ estate. County Councillor Bryn Davies argued that bilingual outcome 
Welsh medium education should be the norm but expressed concern that there 
wouldn’t be enough pupils for the school to be viable. 
  
County Councillor Gwynfor Thomas presented the comments and 
recommendations of the Learning and Skills Scrutiny Committee. On school 
transport, which had been raised by Scrutiny, the Cabinet Member for a Learning 
Powys advised that he felt that a review of the policy was due, but that Welsh 
Government first needed to bring forward the learner transport measure. 
 
The Cabinet Member for a Learning Powys thanked members for their 
comments. He said that the proposal showed the Cabinet’s commitment to 
Welsh medium education in Montgomeryshire. 
  

RESOLVED that Cabinet approves commencing the statutory 
process on the following proposal in order to move Ysgol Bro 
Caereinion along the language continuum: 

  
Page 11



Cabinet 26 September 2023  
 

    To make a regulated alteration to alter the medium of 
instruction at Ysgol Bro Caereinion from dual stream to 
Welsh-medium. 

    This would be introduced on a phased basis, year-by-year, 
starting with Reception and Year 7 in September 2025. 

  
This would mean that: 

  
         English-medium provision would be phased out gradually year by 

year, starting with Reception and Year 7 in September 2025 –pupils 
would be taught in Welsh-medium classes and become fully 
bilingual i.e. fluent in both Welsh and English. 

        Additional Welsh language support would be provided alongside 
the change e.g. Trochi provision, Welsh language training for staff 
and parents. 

 
 

County Councillor J Gibson-Watt (Chair) 

Page 12



 

1 
 

CYNGOR SIR POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL. 
 

CABINET EXECUTIVE 
10th October 2023 

 
REPORT AUTHOR: County Councillor Pete Roberts 

Portfolio Holder for a Learning Powys 
  
REPORT TITLE: Llangedwyn C. in W. School – Proposal Paper 
  
 

REPORT FOR: 
 

Decision 

 
1. Purpose  
 
1.1. This paper requests Cabinet approval to commence the statutory 

process on the following proposal: 
 

• To close Llangedwyn C. in W. School from the 31st August 2024, 
with pupils to transfer to Llanfechain C. in W. School 

 
1.2. The report is supported by the following appendices: 
 

• Appendix A – Options Appraisal 
• Appendix B – Draft Community Impact Assessment  
• Appendix C – Draft Integrated Impact Assessment 
• Appendix D – Pre-consultation response from the Diocese of St 

Asaph 
 

2. Background 
 
Llangedwyn C. in W. School 
 
2.1 Llangedwyn C. in W. School is a small English-medium primary school 

located in the village of Llangedwyn in the Llanfyllin catchment area of 
North Powys. 

 
2.2 It currently operates as part of a formal federation with Llanfechain C. 

in W. School. Ffederasiwn Dwy Afon was established in 2018. The 
Federation has a single governing body and headteacher that are 
responsible for both schools. 

 
2.3 Pupil numbers at Llangedwyn C. in W. School have decreased 

significantly over recent years. Current pupil numbers at the school are 
as follows1: 

 
 
 

 
1 Teacher Centre, 22nd September 2023 

Page 13

4



 

2 
 

 R 1 2 3 4 5 6 Total 
 

Llangedwyn C. in 
W. School 
 

1 0 1 2 1 2 2 9 

 
Llanfyllin / North Welshpool Catchment Review 
 
2.4 In the Summer of 2022, the Council updated and relaunched its 

Strategy for Transforming Education2, and also published a work 
programme for Wave 2 of implementation of the Strategy. This includes 
a commitment to restart and conclude the review of the Llanfyllin / 
North Welshpool catchment, which commenced in 2020. This restarted 
in April 2023. 

 
2.5 In September 2023, the Council’s Cabinet considered a paper which 

outlined the findings of the review and presented an indicative 
preferred way forward. The preferred way forward included the 
possible closure of Llangedwyn C. in W. School, however this would be 
subject to the Statutory Process as outlined in the School Organisation 
Code (2018). 

 
2.6 The paper considered by Cabinet included a recommendation that a 

proposal paper is prepared in respect of the closure of Llangedwyn C. 
in W. School, for consideration by Cabinet in October 2023. 

 
Information about Llangedwyn C. in W. School 
 
2.7 The following is a summary of key data relating to Llangedwyn C. in W. 

School: 
 

Pupil Numbers 
 

i) Current pupil numbers3 
 

 R 1 2 3 4 5 6 Total 
 

Llangedwyn C. in 
W. School  
 

1 0 1 2 1 2 2 9 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2 Available at https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/9344/Transforming-Education-Strategy 
3 Teacher Centre, 22nd September 2023 

Page 14



 

3 
 

ii) Historical pupil numbers4 
 

 Jan. 
2016 

Jan. 
2017 

Jan. 
2018 

Jan. 
2019 

Jan. 
2020 

Jan. 
2021 

Jan. 
2022 

Llangedwyn C. in 
W. School 

31 26 28 31 18 23 17 

 
iii) Projected pupil numbers (Birth rate)5 

 
 Jan. 

20236 
Jan.  
2024 

Jan.  
2025 

Jan. 
2026 

Jan. 
2027 

Llangedwyn C. in W. 
School 

15 16 13 8 8 

 
iv) Projected pupil numbers (Finance projections)7 

 
 Jan. 

2023 
Jan.  
2024 

Jan.  
2025 

Jan. 
2026 

Jan. 
2027 

Llangedwyn C. in W. 
School 

13 13 12 n/a n/a 

 
Building Capacity and Condition 

 
i) Capacity 

 
 

 

Current 
Capacity8 

Currently 
Filled 

Surplus 
Capacity 

Llangedwyn C. in W. 
School 

47 9 38 (80.85%) 

 
 
 
 

 
4 PLASC (R – Yr6) 
5 Powys Schools Service Projections based on PLASC & Birth Rates 
6 These are the projected figures based on PLASC 2022 information, therefore include a projection for 
January 2023. PLASC 2023 information and projected pupil numbers based on PLASC 2023 are not yet 
available. 
7 Powys Finance Projections based on data provided by the school – updated by Finance August 2023 
8 MSCW Capacity Jan. 2022 from the Welsh Government Planning of School Places Return – October 
2022 

Page 15



 

4 
 

ii) Building condition9 
 

 Condition Suitability 

Llangedwyn C. 
in W. School 

C 
 
Poor 

B 
 
Satisfactory 

 
Quality of Education 

 
i) Estyn 
 
 Llangedwyn C. in W. School  

 
Date of Inspection January 2020 
Standards Adequate and needs improvement 
Wellbeing and attitudes 
to learning 

Good 

Teaching and learning 
experiences 

Adequate and needs improvement 

Care, support and 
guidance 

Good 

Leadership and 
management 

Adequate and needs improvement 

Follow up activity The school will draw up an action plan 
to show how it is going to address the 
recommendations. Estyn will review the 
school’s progress. 
 
Outcome of Estyn review 2021: 
 
The school is judged to have made 
sufficient progress in addressing the 
recommendations from the Section 28 
inspection. The school has been 
removed from the list of schools 
requiring Estyn review. There will be no 
further monitoring activity in relation to 
this inspection. 
 

 
 
 
 

 
9 Condition, Suitability and Sufficiency – The Transforming Education PowerBI Dashboard – 2022 

Page 16



 

5 
 

Financial information 
 

i) Cost per pupil10 (Section 52 Budget Statement, 2023/2024) 
 
 Budget 

share per 
school 

 

Budget 
share per 
pupil 

Notional 
SEN 
budget 

Non ISB 
funds 
devolved 
to the 
school 

Llangedwyn 
C. in W. 
School 
 

£164,000 £12,625.92 £12,000 £0 

Powys 
average 
(Primary) 
 

N/A £4,729.23 N/A N/A 

 
The Case for Change 
 
2.8 The following is a summary of the main challenges facing Llangedwyn 

C. in W. School: 
 
2.9 Low pupil numbers 
 

Current pupil numbers11 at Llangedwyn C. in W. School are as follows: 
 

 R 1 2 3 4 5 6 Total 
 

Llangedwyn C. 
in W. School 
 

1 0 1 2 1 2 2 9 

 
The Welsh Government defines a ‘small school’ as a school with less 
than 91 pupils. Pupil numbers are significantly lower than this. 

 
2.10 High budget share per pupil 
 

Based on the Council’s Section 52 Budget Statement for 2023-24, the 
school’s budget share per pupil during 2023-24 was £12,625.92. This 
is significantly higher than the Powys average of £4,729.23.  
 

 
10 Section 52 Budget Statement 2022/2023 
11 Teacher Centre, 22nd September 2023 

Page 17



 

6 
 

Llangedwyn C. in W. School has the highest budget share per pupil of 
all primary schools in Powys. 

 
2.11 Combined age classes 
 

The small pupil numbers at the school mean that pupils are taught in 
whole key stage classes, with foundation phase learners in one class 
and older learners in another. Because pupil numbers in each year 
group are small, it is more difficult to ensure all pupils are appropriately 
challenged. 

 
Options appraisal 
 
2.12 An options appraisal exercise has been carried out to identify and 

consider reasonable options for Llangedwyn C. in W. School. This is 
attached to this report as Appendix A. 

 
2.13 The options appraisal includes the following: 
 

• Consideration of key data 
• Identification of reasonable options 
• SWOT analysis of each option 
• Assessment of each option against a number of critical success 

factors 
• Identification of an emerging preferred option 
• Further consideration of the emerging preferred option against 

factors listed in the School Organisation Code (2018) as factors 
to be taken into account when developing school organisation 
proposals. 

 
2.14 Based on the options appraisal carried out and further consideration 

against the factors outlined in the School Organisation Code, the 
preferred option is as follows: 

 
Close Llangedwyn C. in W. School, pupils to transfer to 
Llanfechain C. in W. School 

 
2.15 The reasons for this are: 
 

• Would address the issue of low pupil numbers at Llangedwyn C. 
in W. Primary School  

• Would increase pupil numbers at Llanfechain C. in W. School  
• Would reduce the Council’s overall surplus capacity in primary 

schools  
• Revenue saving to the Council  
• The Council would no longer need to maintain the Llangedwyn 

building  
• Pupils would attend a larger school where they would be part of 

a larger cohort of pupils  

Page 18



 

7 
 

• Pupils would transfer to a school they are already familiar with  
• Pupils would continue to access Church in Wales provision  

 
2.16 The options appraisal document considers the impact of the preferred 

option on the factors outlined in the School Organisation Code as 
factors to be considered when developing school organisation 
proposals. This is included in ‘Part C’ of Appendix A. 

 
2.17 The preferred option aligns with the vision and guiding principles as set 

out in the Strategy for Transforming Education in Powys. 
 
2.18 Implementation of the preferred option is subject to the statutory 

process outlined in the School Organisation Code (2018). 
 
2.19 As Llangedwyn C. in W. School is identified in the School Organisation 

Code as a rural school, a draft Community Impact Assessment has 
been carried out on the preferred option, which considers the impact on 
the community. This has been developed with input from the school. 
The draft Community Impact Assessment is attached as Appendix B. 

 
2.20 The draft Community Impact Assessment includes the following 

conclusion: 
 

‘Should Llangedwyn C. in W. School close, there would be an impact 
on the village of Llangedwyn as there would no longer be a school in 
the village. However, the impact of school closure on the village would 
likely be minimal, particularly as most pupils that currently attend the 
school don’t live in Llangedwyn. 
 
In addition, information received from the school indicates that whilst 
there are links between the school and the community, community use 
of the school building is minimal. There is a Village Hall in Llangedwyn 
which is already used more widely by the local community, so any 
events / meetings etc which are currently held at the school could be 
located to the Village Hall.’ 

 
2.21 As Llangedwyn C. in W. School has a religious character, the School 

Organisation Code includes the following requirements: 
 

‘In the case of proposals to reorganise schools for which land and/or 
buildings are held on trust or which have a designated religious 
character, the proposer must conduct consultation with the trustees 
and/or appropriate religious body before the consultation document is 
published. The proposer must allow 28 days for the receipt of 
comments and must have due regard to those comments before any 
decision is made to proceed to general consultation.’ 

 
2.22 Consultation has been carried out with the Diocese of St Asaph, the 

response received is provided in Appendix D. 
 

Page 19



 

8 
 

Statutory Process for School Organisation Proposals 
 
2.23 The process for school organisation proposals is set out by the Welsh 

Government in the School Organisation Code (2018). The process is 
summarised below: 

 
i) Consultation 

 
Consultation would be carried out with stakeholders as required 
by the Code. This includes consultation with the pupils, to 
ensure that their views are taken into account, in accordance 
with the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child. 
 
Feedback from the consultation would be collated and 
summarised, and a report would be presented to the Cabinet. 
Cabinet would consider the report and the feedback received 
during the consultation period, and would decide whether to 
proceed with the proposal, to make changes to the proposal or 
to not proceed with the proposal.  
 
If Cabinet decides not to proceed, that would be the end of this 
proposal. 
 

ii) Statutory Notice 
 
If Cabinet decides to proceed, a Statutory Notice would be 
published, which would give a period of 28 days for people to 
submit written objections. 
 
If there were objections, the authority would publish an objection 
report providing a summary of the objections and the authority’s 
response to them. A further report would be presented to the 
Cabinet, which they would consider alongside the objection 
report, in order to decide whether or not to approve the 
proposal. 
 

iii) Implementation 
 

If Cabinet approves the proposal, it would be implemented in 
accordance with the date given in the Statutory Notice or any 
subsequently modified date. 

 
Presumption against closure of Rural Schools 

 
2.24 The School Organisation Code (2018) includes special arrangements 

in regard to schools identified in Appendix F of the Code as rural 
schools, which require proposers to follow a more detailed set of 
procedures and requirements in formulating a rural school closure 
proposal and in consulting on and reaching a decision as to whether to 
implement a rural school closure proposal. 

Page 20



 

9 
 

 
2.25 As indicated in the Code: 
 

‘This does not mean that a rural school will never close but the case for 
closure must be strong and all viable alternatives to closure must have 
been conscientiously considered by the proposer, including federation.’ 

 
2.26 The School Organisation Code includes a number of steps required to 

be taken when formulating a rural school proposal which relate to the 
following headings: 
 

• Formulating the proposal 
• Identifying reasonable alternatives 
• Preparing a proposal paper for the decision maker 

 
2.27 As the School Organisation Code identifies Llangedwyn C. in W. 

School as a rural school, the additional requirements for rural schools 
have been addressed when developing the proposal paper. 

 
3. Advice 
 
3.1 It is advised that Cabinet approves a recommendation to commence the 

statutory process on the following proposal: 
 

• To close Llangedwyn C. in W. School from the 31st August 2024, 
with pupils to transfer to Llanfechain C. in W. School. 

 
3.2 The reasons for this are: 
 

• Would address the issue of low pupil numbers at Llangedwyn C. 
in W. Primary School  

• Would increase pupil numbers at Llanfechain C. in W. School  
• Would reduce the Council’s overall surplus capacity in primary 

schools  
• Revenue saving to the Council  
• The Council would no longer need to maintain the Llangedwyn 

building  
• Pupils would attend a larger school where they would be part of 

a larger cohort of pupils  
• Pupils would transfer to a school they are already familiar with  
• Pupils would continue to access Church in Wales provision  

 
3.3 Although the option for pupils to transfer to Llanfechain C. in W. School 

has been identified as the preferred option, pupils would be able to apply 
for places at alternative schools should they prefer. These applications 
would be dealt with in accordance with the Council’s admissions policy. 

 

Page 21



 

10 
 

3.4 Should the recommendation to commence the statutory process be 
approved, it is anticipated that consultation would commence in October 
2023. 

 
3.5 It must also be noted that implementation of this proposal does not 

preclude that school from being a part of future reorganisation proposals. 
 
4. Resource Implications 
 
4.1 The amount of funding provided to schools is driven by the funding 

formula. Any change to the formula funding provided will impact on the 
Council’s revenue budget. Based on the current formula, it is estimated 
that implementation of the proposal would result in annual revenue 
savings to the Council of around £56.4k. This overall figure comprises a 
potential saving on Schools' delegated funding of over £91.0k and 
estimated additional transport costs of £34.6k. The proposal is expected 
to have no impact on the costs of delivering a catering service. 

 
4.2 The school is currently projecting a carry forward deficit of £31k at the 

end of financial year 2023-24 rising to a cumulative deficit of £177k by 
31 March 2026. 

 
4.3 The Scheme for Financing Schools also states the following in section 

3.7.2: 
 

‘In order to ensure effective stewardship of the resources available to 
schools, the Authority may impose additional restrictions on a school 
scheduled to close, including but not limited to: 

 
- Restriction of expenditure to agreed plans 
- Removal of powers of virement’ 
 

The Council will consider the use of these powers of intervention where 
appropriate. 
 

4.4   Based on the current school condition data report it would cost 
approximately £90k to bring the building up to current standards, 
however this figure is expected to rise due to construction industry 
inflation experienced. If the proposal is implemented this cost would be 
avoided. 

 
4.5   The building is in the ownership of the Diocese of St Asaph. It is likely 

that there may be some costs related to the building disposal service so 
that it can be transferred back to the Diocese. This would be in the 
region of £10k (based on costs of disposing other school buildings 
recently) and would be a one-off cost funded from the Council’s 
Corporate Transformation budget. 

 

Page 22



 

11 
 

4.6 Implementation of the proposal would require involvement from various 
service areas, including staff from the Schools Service, Finance, HR and 
ICT. These service areas will be kept informed of the development of the 
proposal throughout the statutory process. 

 
4.7 The Head of Finance (Section 151 Officer) notes the content of the 

report and supports the recommendation. 
 
5. Legal implications 
 
5.1 Legal: The Recommendations can be supported from a legal point of 

view as the Schools Organisation Code will be followed. 
 
5.2 The Head of Legal Services and the Monitoring Officer has commented 

as follows: “I note the legal comment and support the recommendations” 
 
6. Climate Change and Nature Implications 
 
6.1 Implementation of the proposal would impact on travel arrangements 

for pupils currently attending Llangedwyn C. in W. School. This could 
have a negative environmental impact, as additional home to school 
transport would need to be provided to transport pupils to their nearest 
alternative school. However, Llangedwyn is not currently the closest 
school for the majority of pupils attending the school, so the number of 
pupils impacted by this would be minimal – it is possible that there 
would be a reduction in travel for some pupils. 

 
6.2 In addition, running a single school site would be more environmentally 

friendly than running two, due to a reduction in the use of heating and 
electricity amongst other factors.  

 
7. Data Protection 
 
7.1 N/A 
 
8.  Comment from local member(s) 
 
8.1 Not yet received. 
 
9.   Impact Assessment 
 
9.1 An initial impact assessment in respect of the recommendation is 

attached as Appendix C. The impact assessment considers the 
proposal’s impact on the Welsh Government’s well-being goals, as 
outlined in the Well-being of Future Generations Act. 

  
9.2 The summary of the impact assessment is as follows: 
 

‘The aim of the proposal is to improve the educational provision for 
learners. However, whilst this impact assessment has identified some 

Page 23



 

12 
 

positive aspects, in particular relating to learning and skills and 
ensuring the best strategic management of the Powys schools estate, 
the assessment has also identified some negative aspects. These 
primarily relate to the impact on the community of Llangedwyn due to 
loss of educational provision from the village, and the associated 
additional travel requirements for pupils.’  

 
9.3 Should Cabinet approve the commencement of the statutory process in 

respect of the recommendation, the impact assessment would be 
updated throughout the process, to take account of feedback received. 

 
10. Recommendation 
 
10.1 It is recommended that Cabinet approves commencing the statutory 

process on the following proposal: 
  

• To close Llangedwyn C. in W. School from the 31st August 2024, 
with pupils to transfer to Llanfechain C. in W. School 

 
Contact Officer: Sarah Astley / Marianne Evans 
Tel:   01597 826265 / 01597 826155 
Email:                       sarah.astley@powys.gov.uk / marianne.evans@powys.gov.uk  
 
Head of Service:      Georgie Bevan 
 
Corporate Director:  Emma Palmer / Lynette Lovell                                 
 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 24

mailto:sarah.astley@powys.gov.uk
mailto:marianne.evans@powys.gov.uk


1 
 

 
 

Llangedwyn C. in W. School 
 

Options Appraisal 
 

August 2023 
 
 

 
 
Version Control: 

Version Date Brief Summary of Change Author 

0.1 31/07/23 Document created MS 

0.2 23/08/23 Version for consideration by Transforming 
Education Officer Group 

SA 

0.3 01/09/23 Version for consideration by Transforming 
Education Programme Board 

SA 

0.4 21/09/23 Version for consideration by Cabinet EMT SA 

0.5 04/10/23 Version for consideration by Cabinet SA 

Page 25



2 
 

Contents 
1. INTRODUCTION ....................................................................................................3 

PART A – THE CASE FOR CHANGE .............................................................................4 
2. STRATEGIC CONTEXT .........................................................................................4 

2.1 POLICY CONTEXT ..........................................................................................4 

2.2 WHY CHANGE IS NEEDED IN POWYS .........................................................4 

3. WHY CHANGE IS NEEDED IN LLANGEDWYN ....................................................7 

3.1 THE CURRENT SITUATION ...........................................................................7 

3.2 WHY CHANGE IS NEEDED IN LLANGEDWYN ...........................................14 

PART B – OPTIONS FOR LLANGEDWYN C. IN W. PRIMARY SCHOOL ..................16 
4. AVAILABLE OPTIONS .........................................................................................16 

5.    SWOT ANALYSIS OF EACH OPTION .................................................................16 

6. IMPACT OF EACH OPTION ................................................................................20 

7. CRITICAL SUCCESS FACTORS .........................................................................23 

8. EMERGING PREFERRED OPTION ....................................................................24 

PART C – FURTHER CONSIDERATION OF PREFERRED OPTION ..........................26 
9. QUALITY AND STANDARDS IN EDUCATION ....................................................26 

10 NEED FOR PLACES AND IMPACT ON ACCESSIBILITY OF SCHOOLS .......30 

11 RESOURCING OF EDUCATION AND OTHER FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS ..32 

12 OTHER GENERAL FACTORS ..........................................................................33 

13. SPECIFIC FACTORS IN THE CONSIDERATION OF SCHOOL CLOSURES .34 

14. CONCLUSION AND NEXT STEPS ...................................................................36 
 
  

Page 26



3 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
Wave 2 of the Council’s Transforming Education Programme includes a commitment to 
restart and conclude the review of the Llanfyllin / North Welshpool catchment, which 
commenced in 2020. This commenced in April 2023. In September 2023, the Council’s 
Cabinet considered a paper which outlined the findings of the review and presented an 
indicative prefrered way forward. The preferred way forward included the possible 
closure of Llangedwyn C. in W. School, however this would be subject to the Statutory 
Process as outlined in the School Organisation Code (2018). 
 
The purpose of this paper is to present the options identified for Llangedwyn C. in W. 
School and the preferred option, and to give further consideration to the impact of this 
option. 
 
Current pupil numbers1 at Llangedwyn C. in W. School are as follows: 
 
 R 1 2 3 4 5 6 Total 

 
Llangedwyn C. in W. 
School 
 

1 0 1 2 1 2 2 9 

 
 

 
1  Teacher Centre, 22nd September 2023 

Page 27



4 
 

PART A – THE CASE FOR CHANGE 
 
2. STRATEGIC CONTEXT 
 
2.1 POLICY CONTEXT 
 
Following the inspection of Powys Education Services carried out by Estyn in the 
summer of 2019, the Council carried out a strategic review of schools during 2019-20, 
which led to the development of a new Strategy for Transforming Education in Powys. 
The strategy, which was developed following engagement with a wide range of 
stakeholders, was approved in April 2020 and updated following the Council elections 
held in May 2022. 
 
The strategy sets out a Vision Statement and Guiding Principles which will underpin the 
Council’s work to transform the Powys education system over the coming years. The 
Vision Statement is as follows: 
 
All children and young people in Powys will experience a high-quality, inspiring 
education to help develop the knowledge, skills and attributes that will enable 
them to become healthy, personally fulfilled, economically productive, socially 
responsible and globally engaged citizens of 21st century Wales. 
 
In addition, the strategy outlines a number of aims and objectives, which include an 
objective to ‘Reconfigure and rationalise primary provision’ in order to improve overall 
learner entitlement and experience in Powys.  
 
To take forward this objective, the Council is reviewing the smallest schools in Powys, 
with the aim of identifying solutions for these schools which will meet the objective to 
‘Reconfigure and rationalise primary provision’, in order to ensure that education in 
Powys is delivered through an affordable, resilient infrastructure which provides the best 
possible opportunities to learners, now and in the future. 
 
2.2 WHY CHANGE IS NEEDED IN POWYS 
 
Powys is a large, rural authority. Covering a quarter of the landmass of Wales, it 
contains only 4.2% of the population, making it the most sparsely populated county in 
Wales. Delivering services across such a large, sparsely populated area is challenging 
and expensive.  
 
The Council’s Strategy for Transforming Education in Powys outlines a number of 
challenges facing education in Powys, which were identified following engagement with 
key stakeholders during the autumn term 2019 and spring term 2020. 

Page 28



5 
 

 
The following is a summary of the main challenges facing the Council, as outlined in the 
Strategy: 
 

i) High proportion of small schools 
 
Based on PLASC 2021 figures, there were 33 small primary schools in Powys 
– this is approximately 43% of the primary provision in the county. 15 schools 
had fewer than 50 pupils, and for those schools the budget share per pupil is 
generally higher than the Powys average for primary schools. 
 

ii) Decreasing pupil numbers 
 
Pupil numbers have decreased over the past decade, and are expected to 
decrease further over the next five years. Pupil numbers in the primary sector 
in Powys are expected to decrease by approximately 5% by 2026. 
 

iii) High number of surplus places 
 
Based on PLASC 2021 figures, there was 14% surplus capacity in Powys 
primary schools. With pupil numbers across Powys projected to decrease 
overall over the coming years, the proportion of surplus places across the 
county will continue to increase. 
 

iv) Building condition 
 
Whilst the Council has invested in its schools’ estate through the 21st Century 
Schools Programme and the Asset Management Plan, building condition 
remains an issue across Powys, with associated maintenance costs. 
 

v) Financial pressures 
 
The Council is currently facing significant financial pressures in general. This 
is affecting all service areas, including the schools’ sector. There are 
significant variations in the budget share per pupil across Powys schools, 
ranging from £3,512 to £11,689 in the primary sector in 2022-23. 
 

vi) Inequality in access to Welsh-medium education 
 
In contrast to other areas of Wales, there has been no growth in Welsh-
medium pupil numbers in Powys over recent years. Significant changes are 
needed to the Welsh-medium offer in Powys to reverse the trend of the last 

Page 29



6 
 

few years and ensure that all Powys learners can access comprehensive 
Welsh-medium provision throughout their educational careers. 
 

vii) Limited post-14 and post-16 offer 
 
In September 2019, the Council’s Cabinet considered a report on post-16 
provision, which outlined a number of challenges facing the sector, including 
decreasing learner numbers, financial challenges and sustainability of the 
curriculum offer, including Welsh-medium provision.  
 

viii) Inequality in access to SEN provision 
 
Within Powys, pupils with special education needs (SEN) attend a range of 
settings, including special schools, specialist centres, the pupil referral unit 
(PRU) as well as mainstream schools. 
 
Currently, not all pupils are educated in the setting that meets their needs 
best, and depending on where pupils live, they have access to a different 
quality and type of provision.  
 

ix) Historical lack of political decision making 
 
The Council’s failure to implement a number of high-profile proposals in the 
past left a legacy in Powys.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 30



7 
 

3. WHY CHANGE IS NEEDED IN LLANGEDWYN 
 
3.1 THE CURRENT SITUATION  
 
Llangedwyn Church in Wales (C. in .W) School is a small English-medium primary 
school located in the village of Llangedwyn in the Llanfyllin catchment area of North 
Powys.  
 
It currently operates as part of a formal federation with Llanfechain C. in W. School. 
Ffederasiwn Dwy Afon was established in 2018. The Federation has a single governing 
body and headteacher that are responsible for both schools, and is supported by both 
Powys County Council and the Diocese of St. Asaph.   

The following map shows the location of Llangedwyn C. in W. School and nearby 
schools: 

 
 
Blue – Llangedwyn C. in W. School, Green – Llanfechain C. in W. School, Dark Blue – 
Llansantffraid Primary School, Black – Carreghofa Primary School, Orange – Ysgol Bro 
Cynllaith, Red – Llanrhaeadr Ym Mochnant Primary School, Yellow – Ysgol Pennant, 
Purple - Ysgol Llanfyllin 
 
 

Page 31



8 
 

The following primary schools are located within 10 miles of Llangedwyn C. in W. 
School2: 
 
School Distance from Llangedwyn C. in W. 

School by road (miles) 
Arddleen C.P. School 
 

9.7 

Carreghofa C.P. School 
 

9.9 

Llanfechain C. in W. School 
 

4.4 

Llansantffraid C. in W. School 
 

4.6 

Ysgol Bro Cynllaith 
 

3.8 

Ysgol Llanfyllin (Primary) 
 

4.7 

Ysgol Llanrhaeadr-ym-Mochnant 
 

4.2 

Ysgol Pennant  
 

6.4 

 
The following is a summary of key data relating to Llangedwyn C. in W. School: 
 
 School Type 

 

Language 
Category 

Admission 
Number3  

Rural 
School?4 

Llangedwyn 
C. in W. 
School 

Voluntary Controlled 
Church in Wales 

School building owned by 
the Wynnstay Estate 

English-
medium 

6  Yes 

 
Pupil Numbers 
 

 
2 School Distances by Road - Council’s Business Intelligence Team 
3 Powys County Council’s Admissions Information and Arrangements 2023-24  
4 Annex F of the Welsh Government’s School Organisation Code (2018) 
(https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-10/school-organisation-code-second-edition.pdf) 
includes a list of ‘rural schools’, to which the ‘Presumption against the closure of rural schools’ applies.  

Page 32

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-10/school-organisation-code-second-edition.pdf


9 
 

i) Current pupil numbers5 
 
 R 1 2 3 4 5 6 Total 

 
Llangedwyn C. in W. 
School 
 

1 0 1 2 1 2 2 9 

 
ii)  Historical pupil numbers6 
 
 
 

Jan. 
2016 

Jan. 
2017 

Jan. 
2018 

Jan. 
2019 

Jan. 
2020 

Jan. 
2021 

Jan. 
2022 

Llangedwyn C. in 
W. School 
 

31 26 28 31 18 23 17 

 
iii)  Projected pupil numbers (Birth rate)7 

 

 Jan. 
2023 

Jan.  
2024 

Jan.  
2025 

Jan. 
2026 

Jan. 
2027 

Llangedwyn C. in W. 
School 
 

15 16 13 8 8 
 

 
i) Projected pupil numbers (Finance projections)8 
 
 Jan.  

2023 
Jan. 
2024 

Jan. 
2025 

Jan. 
2026 

Jan. 
2027 

Llangedwyn C. in W. 
School 
 

13 13 12 n/a n/a 

 
Building Capacity and Condition 
 
i) Capacity 
 

 
5 Teacher Centre, 22nd September 2023 
6 PLASC 
7 Powys Schools Service Projections based on PLASC and Birth Rates 
8 Powys Finance Projections based on data provided by the school. Provided by the Finance team in 
August 2023  

Page 33



10 
 

The following table provides information about the current capacities of school and the 
capacity: 
 
 
 

Capacity9 
 

Currently Filled10 Surplus Capacity11 

Llangedwyn C. 
in W. School 
 

47 9 38 (80.85%) 

 
ii) Building condition12 

 
 
 

Condition Suitability Sufficient 

Llangedwyn C. in 
W. School 
 

C 
 
Poor 

B 
 
Satisfactory 
 

No 

 
Standards of Education 
 
i) Estyn 

 
 Llangedwyn C. in W. School  

 
Date of Inspection 
 

January 2020 

Standards 
 

Adequate and needs improvement 

Wellbeing and attitudes to 
learning 

Good 

Teaching and learning 
experiences 

Adequate and needs improvement 

Care, support and guidance 
 

Good 

Leadership and management 
 

Adequate and needs improvement 

 
9 MSCW Capacity Jan. 2022 from the Welsh Government Planning of School Places Return – October 
2022 
10 Based on current pupil numbers – September 2033 
11 Based on current pupil numbers – September 2023 
12 Condition, Suitability and Sufficiency – The Transforming Education PowerBI Dashboard – 2022 

Page 34



11 
 

Follow up activity The school will draw up an action plan to show 
how it is going to address the 
recommendations. Estyn will review the 
school’s progress. 
 
Outcome of Estyn review 2021: 
 
The school is judged to have made sufficient 
progress in addressing the recommendations 
from the Section 28 inspection. The school has 
been removed from the list of schools requiring 
Estyn review. There will be no further 
monitoring activity in relation to this inspection. 
 

 
Financial information 
 
i) Cost per pupil13 
 
 Budget 

share per 
school 
 

Budget 
share per 
pupil 

Notional 
SEN budget 

Non ISB 
funds 
devolved to 
the school 
 

Llangedwyn C. in 
W. School 
 

£164,000 £12,625.92 £12,000 £0 

 
Home to school travel 
 
i) Closest school 
 
An analysis of pupil travel patterns has been carried out, based on the 17 pupils that 
were attending Llangedwyn according to the PLASC 2022 information. The closest 
provider for these pupils is as follows: 
 
Closest school Pupils attending Llangedwyn C. in W. 

Primary School 
 

 
13 Section 52 Budget Statement, 2023/2024 

Page 35



12 
 

Llangedwyn C. in W. School 
 

17.6% 

Llanrhaeadr ym Mochnant C.P. School 
 

35.3% 

Ysgol Llanfyllin 
 

11.8% 

Ysgol Meifod 
 

11.8% 

Llanfechain C. in W. School 
 

5.8% 

Ysgol Bro Cynllaith 
 

5.8% 

Bryn Offa Primary School (Shropshire) 
 

5.8% 

Weston Rhyn Primary School 
(Shropshire) 
 

5.8% 

 
Based on this information, Llangedwyn C. in W. School was the closest school for 
17.6% of the pupils that were attending the school in January 2022. 
 
If there were no school in Llangedwyn, the closest school for the pupils that were on roll 
in January 2022 would be as follows: 
 
Closest school Pupils attending Llangedwyn C. in W. 

Primary School 
 

Llanrhaeadr ym Mochnant C.P. School 
 

47.1% 

Ysgol Llanfyllin 
 

11.8% 

Ysgol Meifod 
 

11.8% 

Llanfechain C. in W. School 
 

11.8% 

Ysgol Bro Cynllaith 
 

5.9% 

Bryn Offa Primary School (Shropshire) 
 

5.9% 

Page 36



13 
 

Weston Rhyn Primary School 
(Shropshire) 
 

5.9% 

 
ii) Average travel distance 
 
The average travel distance for all pupils that were on roll in January 2022 was 8.6 
miles. 
 
If there were no school in Llangedwyn, the average travel distance for all pupils 
attending the school in January 2022 to attend alternative provision would be 3.0 miles. 
 
iii) Furthest travel distance 
 
Of the pupils that attended Llangedwyn C. in W. School in January 2022, the furthest 
travel distance to the school for those pupils for whom Llangedwyn C. in W. School is 
the closest provider is 1.45 miles.  
 
If there were no school in Llangedwyn, the furthest distance to these pupils’ nearest 
alternative provision would be 6.3 miles. 
 
Equalities Information 
 
i) Free School Meals14 
 
 Percentage of pupils that are eligible for 

Free School Meals 
Llangedwyn C. in W. School 
 

33.3% 

 
ii) Pupils in care15 
 
 Percentage of pupils in care 

 
Llangedwyn C. in W. School 
 

11.1% 

 
iii) SEN/ALN16 
 

 
14 PLASC 2022 
15 PLASC 2022 
16 PLASC 2022 

Page 37



14 
 

 School 
Action 

School 
Action 
Plus 

Statement IDP 
School 

IDP LA 

Llangedwyn C. in 
W. School 
 

11.1% 11.1% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

 
Early Years Provision 
 
There is no Early Years provision on the school site. 
 
3.2 WHY CHANGE IS NEEDED IN LLANGEDWYN 
 
The following is a summary of the main challenges facing Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary 
School: 
 
i) Low pupil numbers 
 
Current pupil numbers17 at Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary School are as follows: 
 
 R 1 2 3 4 5 6 Total 

 
Llangedwyn C. in W. 
School 
 

1 0 1 2 1 2 2 9 

 
The Welsh Government defines a ‘small school’ as a school with less than 91 pupils. 
Pupil numbers are significantly lower than this, and have decreased significantly in 
recent years. The latest projected pupil numbers for the school suggest that pupil 
numbers are not expected to increase significantly over the coming years. 
 
i) Highest primary budget share per pupil 
 
Based on the Council’s Section 52 Budget Statement for 2023-24, the school’s budget 
share per pupil during 2023-24 was £12,625.92. This is higher than the Powys primary 
school average of £4,729. Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary School is ranked the highest 
primary school in Powys by budget share per pupil.18 

 

ii) Combined age classes 
 

 
17 Teacher Centre, 22nd September 2023 
18 Section 52 Budget Statement 2023/2024 

Page 38



15 
 

The small pupil numbers at the school mean that pupils are taught in whole key stage 
classes, with foundation learners in one class and older learners in another. Because 
pupil numbers in each year group are small, it is more difficult to ensure all pupils are 
appropriately challenged. 
 
  

Page 39



16 
 

PART B – OPTIONS FOR LLANGEDWYN C. IN W. PRIMARY 
SCHOOL 
 
4. AVAILABLE OPTIONS  
 
The following options have been identified which could potentially provide a solution. 
 
Option Description 
1 Status quo – continue as part of a federation with Llanfechain C. in W. 

School 
 

2 Merge with Llanfechain C. in W. School to establish a new school on two 
sites 
 

3 Close Llangedwyn C. in W. School, but retain the site as part of 
Llanfechain C. in W. School 
 

4 Close Llangedwyn C. in W. School, pupils to transfer to Llanfechain C. in 
W. School 
 

5 Close Llangedwyn C. in W. School, pupils to attend nearest alternative 
schools 
 

 
5. SWOT ANALYSIS OF EACH OPTION 
 
SWOT analyses for each of the five options are provided below.  
 
Option 1: Status quo – continue as part of a federation with Llanfechain C. in W. 
School 
 
Strengths Weaknesses 

- Would retain provision in Llangedwyn 
- There would be no additional 

transport costs 
- No requirement for a reorganisation 

process 
- No change for staff 
- No impact on pupils 

- Pupil numbers at Llangedwyn C. in 
W. School would continue to be very 
low 

- Would not lead to a rationalisation of 
primary provision 

- Would still need to maintain the 
Llangedwyn building 

- Would not reduce surplus places 

Page 40



17 
 

- Would retain Church in Wales places 
in the area 

 

- Would not lead to a financial saving 
- Would not address the high budget 

per pupil 
 

Opportunities  
 

Threats 

- Opportunities for further collaboration 
with other neighbouring schools to 
provide increased opportunities for 
pupils 

 

− The school would continue to be a 
very small school 

 

 
Option 2: Merge with Llanfechain C. in W. School to establish a new school on 
two sites 
 
Strengths 
 

Weaknesses 

− Would retain provision in Llangedwyn 
− Would build on the federation which 

is already in place 
− There would be no additional 

transport costs 
− All staff would have the opportunity to 

secure positions in the new school 
− Pupils would continue to attend 

school in the same location 
− Would retain Church in Wales places 

in the area 

 

− Small numbers would remain on the 
Llangedwyn site  

− Llangedwyn pupils would still be 
taught separately 

− Would not reduce surplus places 
− Would still need to maintain the 

Llangedwyn building 
− Additional costs associated with 

establishing a new school would be 
incurred by the Council 

− More officer support would be 
required to support the 
establishment of new school 

− Both schools would lose their 
individual identities 

 
Opportunities  
 

Threats 

− Opportunity to develop a new school 
identity 

− More opportunities for networking 
and sharing good practice between 
staff 
 

− Ensuring equal opportunities to all 
pupils due to age range of pupils in 
mixed age classes 

 

Page 41



18 
 

Option 3: Close Llangedwyn C. in W. School, but retain the site as part of 
Llanfechain C. in W. School 
 
Strengths 
 

Weaknesses 

− Would retain provision in Llangedwyn 
− Would build on the federation which 

is already in place 
− There would be no additional 

transport costs 
− Pupils would continue to attend 

school in the same location 
− Minimal impact on staff employed at 

Llanfechain School 
 

− Small numbers would remain at the 
Llangedwyn  

− Llangedwyn pupils would still be 
taught separately 

− Would still need to maintain the 
Llangedwyn building 

− Would not reduce surplus places 
− Negative impact on staff employed at 

Llangedwyn School 
 

Opportunities  
 

Threats 

− More opportunities for networking 
and sharing good practice between 
staff 
 

− Ensuring equal opportunities to all 
pupils due to age range of pupils in 
mixed age classes 

 
Option 4: Close Llangedwyn C. in W. School, pupils to transfer to Llanfechain C. 
in W. School 
 
Strengths 
 

Weaknesses 

− Would address the issue of low pupil 
numbers at Llangedwyn 

− Would increase pupil numbers at 
Llanfechain 

− Would reduce the Council’s overall 
surplus capacity in primary schools 

− Revenue saving to the Council 
− The Council would no longer need to 

maintain the Llangedwyn building 
− Pupils would attend a larger school 

where they would be part of larger 
cohorts of pupils 

− Pupils would transfer to a school they 
are already familiar with 

− Additional travel for those pupils for 
whom Llangedwyn is currently the 
closest school 

− Loss of primary provision from the 
Llangedwyn area 

− Impact on the current staff employed 
at Llangedwyn 

− Reduction of Church in Wales places 
in the area 

− Llanfechain C.i.W School would be 
at or slightly over-capacity if all 
pupils from Llangedwyn transferred 
to the school – capacity is currently 
47 with 39 on roll.    

 

Page 42



19 
 

− Continued provision of Church in 
Wales education in the area 

 

 

Opportunities  
 

Threats 

- Opportunity to explore linkages 
between Llanfechain C. in W. School 
and Llansantffraid C. in W. School in 
the future 

 

- Some families may be choose other 
schools that offer non-
denominational provision, meaning 
that some pupils may not benefit 
from a Church in Wales provision 

 
Option 5: Close Llangedwyn C. in W. School, pupils to attend nearest alternative 
schools 
 
Strengths 
 

Weaknesses 

− Would address the issue of low pupil 
numbers at Llangedwyn 

− Would increase pupil numbers at 
Llanfechain 

− Would reduce the Council’s overall 
surplus capacity in primary schools 

− Revenue saving to the Council 
− The Council would no longer need to 

maintain the Llangedwyn building 
− Pupils would attend a larger school 

where they would be part of larger 
cohorts of pupils 

 

− Additional travel for those pupils for 
whom Llangedwyn is currently the 
closest school 

− Loss of primary provision from the 
Llangedwyn area 

− Impact on the current staff employed 
at Llangedwyn 

− Reduction of Church in Wales places 
in the area 

 
 

Opportunities  
 

Threats 

 − Families may choose for their 
children to transfer to a number of 
different schools, which could be 
more difficult in terms of transition 

− Some families may be choose other 
schools that offer non-
denominational provision, meaning 
that some pupils may not benefit 
from a Church in Wales provision 

 
 

Page 43



20 
 

6. IMPACT OF EACH OPTION 
 
The likely impact of each option on quality and standards, the community and travelling 
arrangements is considered below: 
 
Option Likely impact on 

quality and standards 
 

Likely impact on the 
community 

Likely impact of 
different travelling 
arrangements 
 

Option 1: 
Status quo – 
continue as 
part of a 
federation 
with 
Llanfechain C. 
in W. School 
 

There would be no 
impact on quality and 
standards – pupils 
would continue to 
access the current 
provision at 
Llangedwyn. 
 

There would be no 
impact on the 
community – provision 
would continue to be 
available in 
Llangedwyn. 

There would be no 
impact on travel 
arrangements – 
pupils would continue 
to attend Llangedwyn 
C. in W. School. 
 

Option 2:  
Merge with 
Llanfechain C. 
in W. School 
to establish a 
new school on 
two sites 

This option would retain 
provision in 
Llangedwyn, building 
upon the federation 
which is already in 
place.  
 
There would be 
enhanced opportunities 
for networking and 
sharing good practice 
between staff, however, 
ensuring equal 
opportunities to all 
pupils in mixed age 
range age classes 
would continue to be 
difficult.  
 
Merging the two schools 
to establish a new 
school is likely to result 
in a school where 
quality and standards 
are at least as good as 
the current provision. 
 

The impact on the 
community would be 
minimal – provision 
would continue to be 
available in 
Llangedwyn.  
 
 

Pupils would 
continue to attend 
school in the same 
location, thus there 
would be no 
additional transport 
costs. 
 
Some additional 
travel may be 
required between 
schools in order to 
access activities and 
events. 
 

Page 44



21 
 

Option 3: 
Close 
Llangedwyn 
C. in W. 
School, but 
retain the site 
as part of 
Llanfechain C. 
in W. School 

This option would retain 
provision in 
Llangedwyn, building 
upon the federation 
which is already in 
place with Llanfechain 
C. in W. School.  
 
There would be 
enhanced opportunities 
for networking and 
sharing good practice 
between staff, however, 
ensuring equal 
opportunities to all 
pupils in mixed age 
range age classes 
would continue to be 
difficult.  
 
It is anticipated that 
implementation of this 
option would mean that 
pupils attend provision 
where the quality and 
standards are at least 
as good as the current 
provision. 
 

The impact on the 
community would be 
minimal. Provision 
would continue to be 
available in 
Llangedwyn. However, 
the site would be 
managed by 
Llanfechain C. in W. 
School, so there could 
be a perceived 
reduction in community 
involvement in the 
management of the 
school. 
 
In addition, it is possible 
that joint school 
activities would take 
place on the larger 
Llanfechain site, which 
could lead to a 
reduction in activity on 
the Llangedwyn site. 
 

Pupils would 
continue to attend 
school on the current 
site of Llangedwyn C. 
in W. School.  
 
Some additional 
travel may be 
required between 
schools in order to 
access activities and 
events. 

Option 4: 
Close 
Llangedwyn 
C. in W. 
School, pupils 
to transfer to 
Llanfechain C. 
in W. School 

Pupils would transfer to 
Llanfechain C. in W. 
School, which is a 
larger school where 
they would be part of 
larger cohorts of pupils. 
This would also have a 
positive impact on the 
pupils currently 
attending Llanfechain C. 
in W. School as it would 
result in an increase in 
pupil numbers at that 
school. 
 
It is anticipated that 
implementation of this 

There would be a 
significant impact on the 
community of 
Llangedwyn as there 
would be no provision in 
Llangedwyn. 
 
The Llangedwyn school 
building is not owned by 
the Council. Should the 
school close, the 
building would be 
transferred back to its 
owners, who would 
need to determine it’s 
future use, and 
therefore whether or not 

Additional travel 
would be required for 
pupils currently 
attending 
Llangedwyn C. in W. 
School, particularly 
those for whom 
Llangedwyn is 
currently the closest 
school.  
 
However, 
Llangedwyn is not 
currently the closest 
school for the 
majority of pupils 
attending 

Page 45



22 
 

option would mean that 
pupils would attend 
provision where the 
quality and standards 
are at least as good as 
the current provision. 

facilities would remain 
available to the 
community in 
Llangedwyn. 

Llangedwyn C. in W. 
School, so many of 
the school’s pupils 
are already choosing 
to travel further to 
school.  
 
Whilst free home to 
school transport 
would be provided to 
eligible pupils in 
accordance with the 
Council’s Home to 
School Transport 
Policy, there would 
also be an additional 
travel requirement for 
parents in order to 
access school 
activities / events. 
 

Option 5: 
Close 
Llangedwyn 
C. in W. 
School, pupils 
to attend 
nearest 
alternative 
schools 

All other schools 
provide a high quality 
education for their 
pupils. Therefore, it is 
anticipated that 
implementation of this 
option would mean that 
pupils would attend 
provision where the 
quality and standards 
are at least as good as 
the current provision. 
 

There would be a 
significant impact on the 
community of 
Llangedwyn as there 
would be no provision in 
Llangedwyn. 
 
The Llangedwyn school 
building is not owned by 
the Council. Should the 
school close, the 
building would be 
transferred back to its 
owners, who would 
need to determine it’s 
future use, and 
therefore whether or not 
facilities would remain 
available to the 
community in 
Llangedwyn. 
 

Additional travel 
would be required for 
pupils currently 
attending 
Llangedwyn C. in W. 
School.  
 
Whilst free home to 
school transport 
would be provided to 
eligible pupils in 
accordance with the 
Council’s Home to 
School Transport 
Policy, there would 
also be an additional 
travel requirement for 
parents in order to 
access school 
activities/events. 

 
 
 

Page 46



23 
 

7. CRITICAL SUCCESS FACTORS 
 
The options have also been assessed against the following Critical Success Factors: 
 
Critical Success 
Factor 

Description 

1 – Strategic fit 
and business 
needs 

● The option must align with the Council’s Strategy for 
Transforming Education in Powys 2020-2030, to include the 
following: 
 

- Address the challenges facing education in Powys, as 
outlined in the Council’s Strategy for Transforming 
Education in Powys 2020-2030 

- Align with the Vision and Guiding Principles outlined in 
the Council’s Strategy for Transforming Education in 
Powys 2020-2030 

- Align with the Strategic Aims and Objectives outlined in 
the Council’s Strategy for Transforming Education in 
Powys 2020-2030  

● The option must optimise the benefits of the Council’s 
Transforming Education Programme 

 
2 – Value for 
money 

 

● The option must optimise the resources available for the 
delivery of learning 

● The option must provide value for money in the delivery of 
learning 

 
3 – Potential 
achievability 

 

● The option must be achievable within current legislation 
● The option must be operationally achievable  
● The option must be physically achievable 
 

4 – Potential 
affordability 

● The extent to which the option is affordable within the Council’s 
forecasted revenue 

● The extent to which the option is affordable within the 
forecasted capital funding available to the Council 

 
 
Each option has been assessed against the Critical Success Factors based on the 
following criteria: 
 
✓ – Meets  ? – Could meet x – Does not meet 
 
The assessment for each option is as follows: 

Page 47



24 
 

 
  Option 1  

  
Option 2  Option 3  Option 4  Option 5  

1 – Strategic fit and 
business needs  
  

x  x  x    

2 – Value for 
money  
  

x  x  x    

3 – Potential 
achievability  
  

 ?  ?    

4 – Potential 
affordability  
  

x  x  x    

Total  
  

1  1  1  4  4  

Total x  
  

3  4  3  0  0  

Outcome  
  

Discount  Discount  Discount  Possible  Possible  

 
8. EMERGING PREFERRED OPTION 
 
Based on the assessments carried out, the emerging preferred option for Llangedwyn 
C. in W. Primary School is: 
 
Option 4: Close Llangedwyn C. in W. School, pupils to transfer to Llanfechain C. 
in W. School 
 
The reasons for this are: 
 
- Would address the issue of low pupil numbers at Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary 

School 
- Would increase pupil numbers at Llanfechain C. in W. School 
- Would reduce the Council’s overall surplus capacity in primary schools 
- Revenue saving to the Council 
- The Council would no longer need to maintain the Llangedwyn building 
- Pupils would attend a larger school where they would be part of a larger cohort of 

pupils 
- Pupils would transfer to a school they are already familiar with 
- Pupils would continue to access Church in Wales provision 
 

Page 48



25 
 

Further consideration of the emerging preferred option will be carried out, to include 
consideration of the factors outlined in the School Organisation Code. 
  

Page 49



26 
 

PART C – FURTHER CONSIDERATION OF PREFERRED 
OPTION  

  
The Welsh Government’s School Organisation Code outlines factors to be considered 
when developing school organisation proposals. Consideration is given below to the 
impact of the preferred option, closure of Llangedwyn C. in W. School, with pupils to 
attend Llanfechain C. in W. School, on the factors outlined in the Code.   
  
9. QUALITY AND STANDARDS IN EDUCATION  

  
9.1 Likely impact on standards and progress overall, of specific groups and in 

skills  
  

Should the Council proceed with implementation of the preferred option, 
Llangedwyn C. in W. School would close, and pupils would transfer to alternative 
schools. The preferred option in this case is for pupils to transfer to Llanfechain 
C. in W. School. As Llangedwyn and Llanfechain are already part of the 
Federation Dwy Afon, pupils already have strong connections across the two 
schools and take part in collaborative activities. The Council’s view is that 
Llanfechain C. in W. School would provide education for pupils which is of at 
least equivalent quality as that provided at Llangedwyn C. in W. School, so it is 
not anticipated that implementation of the preferred option would have a negative 
impact on standards and progress overall. 
  
This would also apply in respect of pupils belonging to specific groups, such as 
pupils eligible for Free School Meals, pupils for whom English is an Additional 
Language, Looked after Children and pupils with Additional Learning Needs. 
There are a number of pupils eligible for Free School Meals, a number of pupils 
with Additional Learning Needs, and a number of Looked after Children at 
Llangedwyn C. in W. School, however the number of pupils belonging to these 
groups is very small. It is not anticipated that implementation of the preferred 
option would have a negative impact on the standards and progress of these 
pupils. There are currently pupils for whom English is an Additional Language at 
Llangedwyn C. in W. School. 
  
This is also the case in respect of the impact on the skills of all pupils, including 
literacy, numeracy and ICT. Pupils would transfer to a larger school, which would 
provide improved opportunities to share staff expertise and resources, and which 
have an improved ability to monitor pupil progress in these aspects.  

  
9.2 Wellbeing and attitudes to learning  
  

In the short term, it is possible that there would be an impact on pupils’ wellbeing, 
as they would need to transfer from Llangedwyn C. in W. School to Llanfechain 
C. in W. School. However, Llangedwyn and Llanfechain schools are currently 

Page 50



27 
 

federated, so Llangedwyn pupils are familiar with staff and pupils at Llanfechain 
C. in W. School, and are familiar with attending the school building to take part in 
joint activities. This should minimise the impact on pupil well-being. 
 
It is possible that pupils could choose to transfer to other schools instead of 
transferring to Llanfechain C. in W. School, which could have a further impact on 
their wellbeing. However, the receiving school(s) would provide full support to the 
pupils during the transition period, to minimise any negative impact on them.  
  
Closure of Llangedwyn C. in W. School could result in additional travel for some 
pupils, particularly those for whom Llangedwyn is currently the closest school. 
However, Llangedwyn is not currently the closest school for the majority of pupils 
attending the school, so many of the school’s pupils are already choosing to 
travel further to school. It is evidenced above that the additional travel time to 
alternative provision would likely not be excessive.  
 
In the longer term, the intention is that implementation of the preferred option 
would have a positive impact on pupil wellbeing and attitudes to learning as they 
would transfer to a larger school with a larger cohort of pupils, providing 
improved social and extra-curricular opportunities.  
  

9.3 Teaching and learning experiences  
  

9.3.1 Quality of teaching  
  
Should the Council proceed with implementation of the preferred option, 
Llangedwyn C. in W. School would close, and pupils would transfer to 
Llanfechain C. in W. School.  
  
The Council has no concerns about the quality of teaching at Llanfechain C. in 
W. School, therefore it is not anticipated that implementation of the preferred 
option would have a negative impact on the quality of teaching experienced by 
pupils currently attending Llangedwyn C. in W. School.  

  
9.3.2 The breadth, balance and appropriateness of the curriculum  
  

Should the Council proceed with implementation of the preferred option, 
Llangedwyn C. in W. School would close, and pupils would transfer to 
Llanfechain C. in W. School..  
  
The Council’s view is that Llanfechain C. in W. School would provide a curriculum 
which is at least equivalent to that currently provided at Llangedwyn C. in W. 
School. Pupils would be transferring to a larger school, therefore the expectation 
would be that there would be an improvement in the breadth, balance and 
appropriateness of the curriculum provided to pupils. Pupils would also be able to 
work in groups of similar ability pupils.    
  

Page 51



28 
 

Llangedwyn C. in W. School is a Church in Wales school, which impacts on 
some aspects of the curriculum. Llanfechain is also a C. in W. School, ensuring 
that denominational provision would continue to be available to those pupils who 
wished to access it.  
  

9.3.3 The provision of skills  
  

Should the Council proceed with implementation of the preferred option, 
Llangedwyn C. in W. School would close, and pupils would transfer to 
Llanfechain C. in W. School. 
  
The Council has no concerns about the provision of skills at Llanfechain C. in W. 
School, therefore it is not anticipated that implementation of the preferred option 
would have a negative impact on the provision of skills for pupils currently 
attending Llangedwyn C. in W. School.  

  
9.4 Care, support and guidance  

  
9.4.1 Tracking, monitoring and the provision of learning support, personal 
development and safeguarding  

  
Should the Council proceed with implementation of the preferred option, 
Llangedwyn C. in W. School would close, and pupils would transfer Llanfechain 
C. in W. School. 
  
It is not anticipated that implementation of the preferred option would have a 
negative impact on tracking, monitoring, the provision of learning support, 
personal development, or safeguarding for pupils currently attending Llangedwyn 
C. in W. School. This is due to the two schools being federated, with a shared 
headteacher across both sites. As a result, similar systems are employed across 
the federation.  

  
9.5 Leadership and Management  

  
9.5.1 Quality and effectiveness of leaders and managers, self evaluation 
processes and improvement planning  

  
Should the Council proceed with implementation of the preferred option, 
Llangedwyn C. in W. School would close, and pupils would transfer to 
Llanfechain C. in W. School.  
 
The headteacher of Llangedwyn C. in W. School is also headteacher of 
Llanfechain C. in W. Primary, therefore there would be no change in leadership 
and permanent leadership arrangements are already in place at Llanfechain C. in 
W. School. The Council’s view is that leadership and management at Llanfechain 

Page 52



29 
 

C. in W. School would be at least as good as the current arrangements at 
Llangedwyn.  
   
9.5.2 Professional learning  
  
It is not anticipated that implementation of the preferred option would impact on 
professional learning opportunities. Staff currently employed at Llangedwyn C. in 
W. School would be subject to a management of change process.  

    
9.5.3  Use of Resources  
  
The school is currently projecting a carry forward deficit of £31k at the end of 
financial year 2023-24 rising to a cumulative deficit of £177k by 31 March 2026. 
Finance and school improvement officers are working with the school to identify 
ways to reduce the deficit, but this is increasingly challenging due to the 
combination of low pupil numbers and high inflation on running costs the school is 
experiencing. When small schools encounter any unexpected pressures such as 
long-term sickness or building maintenance issues, then the risk of falling into a 
deficit is higher as they have more limited scope to reduce costs in other areas to 
compensate. 
 
One of the main challenges facing the Powys schools infrastructure is the 
proportion of small schools in the county coupled with significant surplus places, 
resulting in higher premises related costs per pupil. Llangedwyn C. in W. School 
is the smallest school in the county in terms of numbers on roll, and the budget 
share per pupil at the school is therefore higher than any other Powys primary 
school.  
  
Should the preferred option be implemented, pupils would transfer to a larger 
school, ensuring a more effective use of both schools’ and the Council’s 
resources.  

  
9.6 Impact on vulnerable groups, including children with Special Educational 

Needs (SEN)  
  

Implementation of the emerging preferred option would impact on any vulnerable 
pupils currently attending Llangedwyn C. in W. School, including any pupils with 
ALN/SEN.  
  
Based on September 2023 Teacher Centre information, 11.1% of pupils at 
Llangedwyn C. in W. School were on School Action, 11.1% of pupils were on 
School Action Plus, and no pupils were statemented.   

 
Whilst the emerging preferred option would impact on these pupils, as they would 
be required to move to an alternative school, there is no reason to believe that 
Llanfechain C. in W. School would not be able to meet their needs.   
  

Page 53



30 
 

Should the option be implemented, the Council would work with Llangedwyn C. in 
W. School and Llanfechain C. in W. School to ensure an effective transition for 
any vulnerable children, including children with ALN/sen and their families.   
 

9.7 Ability of the school/schools which are the subject of the proposals to 
deliver the full curriculum at the foundation phase and each key stage of 
education, including the quality of curriculum delivery and the extent to 
which the structure or size of the school is impacting on this  
  
Should the emerging preferred option be implemented, Llangedwyn C. in W. 
School would close, and pupils would transfer to Llanfechain C. in W. School, 
therefore Llangedwyn C. in W. School would no longer need to deliver the 
curriculum to any key stages.  
 
This would also result in an increase in pupil numbers at Llanfechain C. in W. 
School, which would improve this school’s ability to deliver the curriculum in all 
key stages. However, depending on the school’s class structure and current 
breakdown of pupils, it is possible that some adjustments would be needed to the 
school’s class structure to accommodate additional pupils. 
 
It is possible that some pupils could choose to transfer to alternative schools 
rather than Llanfechain C. in W. School. However, the number of pupils 
transferring to any school is likely to be very small, so it is not anticipated that this 
would impact on the ability of these schools to deliver the full curriculum to pupils.  

  
10. NEED FOR PLACES AND IMPACT ON ACCESSIBILITY 

OF SCHOOLS  

  
10.1 Will the alternative provision have sufficient capacity and provide 

accommodation of at least equivalent quality for existing and projected 
pupil numbers? 

  
The preferred option is for pupils to transfer to Llanfechain C. in W. School.  
 
The following table provides information on the number of spaces available and 
building condition of Llanfechain C. in W. School: 
 
  
  
  
  
School  C

ap
ac

ity
 

C
ur

re
nt

 
pu

pi
l 

nu
m

be
rs

19
 

A
va

ila
bl

e 
sp

ac
es

  

A
va

ila
bl

e 
ca

pa
ci

ty
  

B
ui

ld
in

g 
C

on
di

tio
n 

 

B
ui

ld
in

g 
Su

ita
bi

lit
y 

 

 
19 Teacher Centre, 22nd September 2023 

Page 54



31 
 

Llanfechain C. 
in W. School  
  

47 42 5 11% C 
Poor 

B  
Satisfactory 

 
The estimated pupil forecast (live birth data)20 for Llanfechain is as follows: 
 
 Jan. 

2023 
Jan.  
2024 

Jan.  
2025 

Jan. 
2026 

Jan. 
2027 

Llanfechain C. in W. 
School 
 

38 39 40 28 30 

 
This information shows that Llanfechain C.in W. School would be slightly over-
capacity if all Llangedwyn pupils transferred to the school. Should this be the 
case, the Council would discuss with the school’s governing body to understand 
how the pupils could be accommodated at the school. However, pupil numbers at 
Llanfechain are forecasted to decrease over the next few years.  
 
Llanfechain C.in W. School’s condition is categorised as ‘B’, meaning ‘ 
‘good’ which is better than Llangedwyn’s categorisation of ‘C’, ‘poor’.  However,  
Llanfechain’s category for ‘suitability’ is ‘C’ compared to Llangedwyn’s 
category of ‘B’. This means that the standard of accommodation at Llanfechain is 
of at least equivalent standard to that at Llangedwyn. 
 

10.2 Is the alternative provision sufficient to meet existing and projected 
demand for schools of the same language category and (if relevant) 
designated religious character?  

  
As indicated in section 10.1, Llanfechain C. in W. School would be slightly over-
capacity if all Llangedwyn pupils transferred to the school. Should this be the 
case, the Council would discuss with the school’s governing body to understand 
how the pupils could be accommodated at the school, to ensure that pupils 
wishing to access Church in Wales provision can do so.  
 
Both Llangedwyn C. in W. School and Llanfechain C. in W. School are English-
medium schools.  
 

10.3 What will be the nature of journeys to alternative provision and resulting 
journey times for pupils including SEN pupils?  
  
It is not considered that the length and nature of journeys for pupils to alternative 
provision at Llanfechain C. in W. School would be excessive. This includes 
journeys for ALN/SEN pupils. One-way journeys to alternative provision would 
not be in excess of 45 minutes.  

 
20 Powys Schools Service Projections based on PLASC and Birth Rates 

Page 55



32 
 

  
11. RESOURCING OF EDUCATION AND OTHER FINANCIAL 

IMPLICATIONS  

  
11.1 What effect will the proposals have on surplus places in the area?  

  
Implementation of the preferred option would lead to an overall reduction in 
surplus places in the area.   

  
11.2 Do the proposals form part of the local authority’s 21st Century Schools 

Investment Programme and contribute to the delivery of sustainable 
schools for the 21st Century and to the better strategic management of the 
school estate?  
  
The review of Llangedwyn C. in W. School does not form part of the local 
authority’s Sustainable Communities for Learning (formerly 21st Century Schools) 
Investment Programme.   
  
However, the review of the Llanfyllin/North Welshpool catchment area carried out 
recently identified that there are capacity issues in terms of Church in Wales 
places at Llansantffraid C. in W. School, and that a replacement school building 
would need to be provided in the area in the future to accommodate projected 
pupil numbers. 
 
To achieve this, should there be no school in Llangedwyn in the future, the 
Council would then work with Llansantffraid C. in W. School, Llanfechain C. in W. 
School and the Diocese of St Asaph to explore the possibility of initially merging 
the two schools at their existing locations, alongside investigating possible sites 
for a new school building. However, these developments would be subject to 
further statutory proposals and Cabinet decisions, and capital investment 
processes.  
  

11.3 What are the recurrent costs of proposals over a period of at least 3 years 
and is the necessary recurrent funding available?  
 
The recurrent costs of this proposal would be the potential increased transport 
costs which are currently estimated to be an additional £34.6k per annum based 
on current prices. This has been included in the revenue costing and is funded 
through savings in other areas of the formula in relation to this proposal. 
  

11.4 Will additional transport costs be incurred as a result of the proposal?  
 
It is estimated there would be additional transport costs of £34.6k per annum, 
based on current prices and pupils’ current location, assuming the pupils will all 
go to Llanfechain C. in W. School.  

  

Page 56



33 
 

11.5 What are the capital costs of the proposal and is the necessary capital 
funding available?  
 
It is not anticipated that capital funding would be required in order to implement 
the emerging preferred option.  

  
11.6 What is the scale of any projected net savings (taking into account school 

revenue, transport and capital costs)  
 
It is estimated that this would result in annual revenue savings to the Council 
of around £56.4k. This overall figure comprises a potential saving on Schools' 
delegated funding of £91.0k and estimated additional transport costs of £34.6k.   
 

11.7 Without the proposals, would the affected schools face budget deficits?  
 

The school is currently projecting a carry forward deficit of £31k at the end of 
financial year 2023-24 rising to a cumulative deficit of £177k by 31 March 2026.   

  
11.8 Will any savings in recurrent costs be retained in the local authority’s local 

schools budget?  
 
Any savings would be available for reinvestment as part of the Council’s 
corporate budget process and any reinvestment in the schools system would be 
agreed as part of the annual budget planning cycle.   
  

11.9 Will the proceeds from sales (capital receipts) of redundant sites be made 
available to meet the costs of the proposal or contribute to the costs of 
future proposals which will promote effective management of school 
places?  
 
Llangedwyn C. in W. School building is not owned by the Council, therefore the 
Council would not receive any capital receipts following any sale of the site.  

  
12. OTHER GENERAL FACTORS  

  
12.1 What impact will the proposals have on educational attainment among 

children from economically deprived backgrounds?  
  

Implementation of the preferred option would impact on any pupils from 
economically deprived backgrounds currently attending Llangedwyn C. in W. 
School. All pupils currently attending the school, including any from economically 
deprived backgrounds, would need to transfer to alternative schools. The 
proposal is that all pupils currently attending the school would transfer to 
Llanfechain C. in W. School, which would mitigate the impact on pupils, including 
those from economically deprived backgrounds, as they are already familiar with 

Page 57



34 
 

Llanfechain C. in W. School, however it is possible that some pupils could 
choose to transfer to other schools.  
 
Free home to school transport would be provided to eligible pupils in accordance 
with the Council’s home to school transport policy, however it is acknowledged 
that there would be an impact on families due to the requirement to travel to 
school events, which could have a greater impact on children from economically 
deprived backgrounds.  
  
Based on Teacher Centre figures from September 2023, 33.3% of pupils 
attending Llangedwyn C. in W. School were eligible for FSM, therefore it is likely 
that the proportion of children from economically deprived backgrounds that may 
be affected is small.  

  
12.2 Any equality issues, including those identified through equality impact 

assessments  
  

Initial consideration of equalities information recorded through PLASC suggests 
that there are no significant equality issues in respect of pupils currently 
attending Llangedwyn C. in W. School. Should the Council proceed with the 
statutory process in respect of the preferred option, equality impact assessments 
will be carried out and regularly reviewed throughout the process to ensure that 
any issues are identified and fully considered.   

  
12.3 Whether the school / schools involved are subject to any trust or charitable 

interests which might be affected by the proposals, for example in relation 
to the use or disposal of land.  
  
Llangedwyn C. in W. School is / is not subject to any trust which may be affected 
in relation to the use or disposal of land.   
  

13. SPECIFIC FACTORS IN THE CONSIDERATION OF 
SCHOOL CLOSURES  

  
13.1 Whether the establishment of multi-site schools might be considered as a 

means of retaining buildings, or the reasons for not pursuing this option  
  
A range of options have been considered in respect of Llangedwyn C. in W. 
School, these are outlined in section 4 of this document, as well as an 
assessment of each option which includes a summary of the weaknesses / 
threats associated with each.   

  
Pupil numbers at Llangedwyn C. in W. School are very low, and are projected to 
continue to decrease over the coming years. Establishing a multi-site school 
would not address this issue.  

  

Page 58



35 
 

13.2 Whether alternatives to closure, such as clustering, collaboration or 
federation with other schools, might be considered or the reasons for not 
pursuing these as an alternative  
  
Llangedwyn C. in W. School is already part of a federation with Llanfechain C.  in 
W. School, known as the Federasiwn Dwy Afon. Continuing to operate as part of 
this federation is one of the options considered earlier in this document. An 
assessment of this option has been carried out, which includes a summary of the 
weaknesses / threats associated with this option.  

  
Pupil numbers at Llangedwyn C. in W. School are very low, and are projected to 
continue to decrease over the coming years. Clustering, collaboration or 
federation would not address this.  

  
13.3 Whether the possibility of making fuller use of the existing buildings as a 

community or educational resource could be explored  
  
The Council’s view is that making more use of the existing building as a 
community or educational resource would not address the issues identified in 
respect of Llangedwyn C. in W. School.  

  
Pupil numbers at the school are very low, and are projected to decrease further 
over the coming years.  

  
13.4 The overall effect of closure on the local community (including the loss of 

school-based facilities which are used by the local community)  
  
Implementation of the preferred option would mean that there would no longer be 
provision in Llangedwyn. It is acknowledged that this would have a negative 
impact on the Llangedwyn community, including the loss of primary provision 
from the village of Llangedwyn, and a possible loss of any community facilities 
associated with the school from the village.   

  
A draft community impact assessment, with input from the school, has been 
carried out. Should the Council proceed with the statutory process in respect of 
the preferred option, this draft community impact assessment would be published 
as part of the consultation documentation. This would be updated throughout the 
process to reflect any feedback received, and would be considered by the 
Council’s Cabinet as part of the decision making process.   
  

13.5 How parents’ and pupils’ engagement with the alternative school and any 
facilities it may offer could be supported  
  
Should the Council proceed with the statutory process and eventual 
implementation of the preferred option, support would be provided to pupils and 
their parents as part of the transition process, thereby ensuring full engagement 

Page 59



36 
 

with their new schools. The nature of this support will depend on the needs of the 
parents/pupils; however, this could include effective transition arrangements with 
the receiving school to ensure pupils transition is positive. 
 
The preferred option is for pupils to transfer to Llanfechain C. in W. School which 
would provide continuity for pupils and their families and would ease transition 
arrangements, and would support parents’ engagement with the school.  

  
14. CONCLUSION AND NEXT STEPS  

  
Based on the options appraisal carried out and further consideration of the preferred 
option against the factors outlined in the School Organisation Code, the preferred option 
is as follows:  
  
Option 4: Close Llangedwyn C. in W. School, pupils to transfer to Llanfechain C. 
in W. School 
 
The reasons for this are: 
 
- Would address the issue of low pupil numbers at Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary 

School 
- Would increase pupil numbers at Llanfechain C. in W. School 
- Would reduce the Council’s overall surplus capacity in primary schools 
- Revenue saving to the Council 
- The Council would no longer need to maintain the Llangedwyn building 
- Pupils would attend a larger school where they would be part of a larger cohort of 

pupils 
- Pupils would transfer to a school they are already familiar with 
- Pupils would continue to access Church in Wales provision 
 
It is recommended that a paper is considered by the Council’s Cabinet, requesting 
approval to commence consultation on a proposal to close Llangedwyn C. in W. School, 
with pupils to transfer to Llanfechain C. in W. School.   

 

Page 60



 

 1  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Proposal to close Llangedwyn School 
 
 

Draft Community Impact Assessment 
 
 

September 2023 
 
 

 
 
 
  

Page 61



 

 2  

Draft Community Impact Assessment – Llangedwyn School 
 

i) Information on the proportion of pupils from the catchment area that 
attend the school 
 
The closest provider for the 17 pupils that were attending Llangedwyn C. 
in W. School in January 2022 was as follows: 
 
School 
 

% of Pupils 

Llangedwyn C. in W. School 
 

17.6% 

Llanrhaeadr ym Mochnant C.P. School 
 

35.3% 

Ysgol Llanfyllin 
 

11.8% 

Ysgol Meifod 
 

11.8% 

Llanfechain C. in W. School 
 

5.8% 

Ysgol Bro Cynllaith 
 

5.8% 

Bryn Offa Primary School (Shropshire) 
 

5.8% 

Weston Rhyn Primary School (Shropshire) 
 

5.8% 

  
This suggests that Llangedwyn is the closest school for only 17.6% of 
pupils attending the school. 82.4% of pupils attending the school live 
closer to other primary schools. 
 

ii) After-school clubs and extra-curricular activities provided by the 
school 
 

• After School Club 
 

iii) Any other facilities or services the school accommodates or services 
the school provides 

 
• Little Hedgehogs Stay and Play 
• Venue for Church Council Meetings 

 
iv) Other use by the community of the school building 

 
• None 

 

Page 62



 

 3  

v) Other links between the school and the community 
 

• Links with St Cedwyn’s Chruch. E.g. services in the church, visits 
from church members, activities in the church. 

• Children meet with Jubilee Club (over 60’s group) 
• Campaigning for purchase of Sycharth Castle  
• Community coffee mornings 
• School field used by Football Club and for Car Boot sales 
• Recycling site for Crisp packets 

 
vi) If accommodation, facilities or services are provided by a school, 

where would they be provided in the event of closure? 
 

The school has indicated that while some services are provided at and 
by the school, there is a Village Hall in Llangedwyn which is used more 
widely by the local community than the school building.  

 
vii) Distance and travelling time involved in attending an alternative 

school of the same language category 
 

• The majority of pupils in attendance at Llangedwyn C. in W. School 
live closer to other schools, with only 17.6% of Llangedwyn pupils 
being able to call Llangedwyn their nearest school. 

• Information from the schools suggests that most pupils travel to 
Llangedwyn from out of catchment. 

   
viii) How parents’ and pupils’ engagement with the alternative school 

and any facilities it may offer could be supported 
 

Should the Council proceed with the statutory process and eventual 
implementation of the preferred option, support would be provided to 
pupils and their parents as part of the transition process.  
 
The proposal is for pupils to transfer to Llanfechain C. in W. School, 
which is federated with Llangedwyn C. in W. School, which would help 
with the transition arrangements and would help to ensure parents’ and 
pupils’ engagement.  
 

ix) Any wider implications e.g. impact on public transport provision, 
wider community safety issues 

 
As mentioned above, Llangedwyn is currently not the closest school for 
the majority of its pupils. Closure of Llangedwyn school may result in 
greater numbers of pupils walking or cycling to school, with the distance 
to their provision having decreased. 

 

Page 63



 

 4  

x) Additional considerations for rural schools 
 

The School Organisation Code includes a number of additional 
considerations that are likely to be relevant when carrying out a 
community impact assessment for a rural school closure. As Llangedwyn 
C. in W. School is identified as a rural school, these factors are 
considered below: 

 
- Whether closure would encourage families with school-age 

children to leave the community or discourage young families 
from moving to the community 

 
The school has indicated that several families of pre-school aged 
children may choose to move elsewhere should Llangedwyn be 
closed. 

 
The school has also indicated that fewer families may choose to 
move to the village should the school be closed. 

 
- What impact closure might have on other services provided 

locally, for instance if the school is the only remaining public 
building in a community 

 
Llangedwyn has a Village Hall which the school has indicated is 
more widely used by the community than the school. Therefore, 
some of the services offered by the school in the local community 
may be moved to the Village Hall. 

 
- Whether, or not, the school is a real hub of community life, used 

for other purpose – such as public meetings, local events, fetes 
surgeries, and other get togethers – which would either cease 
or be diminished by being required to move elsewhere 

 
Information received from the school suggests that while a small 
number of services are run from the school building, there is also a 
Village Hall in Llangedwyn which is used more widely by the local 
community. 

 
- Whether or not the loss of the school, and potential families, 

will have a detrimental effect on the wider economy of the 
community 

 
The school has indicated that due to the size and nature of the 
village, there is virtually no local economy based in Llangedwyn, and 
what there is, is not dependant on the school or the families that 
attend. 

Page 64



 

 5  

 
- How parents’ and pupils’ engagement with the alternative 

school and any facilities it may offer could be supported (e.g. 
how pupils, (particularly any less advantaged pupils) will be 
helped to participate in after school activities) 

 
Should the Council proceed with the statutory process and eventual 
implementation of the preferred option, support would be provided to 
pupils and their parents as part of the transition process.  
 
The proposal is for pupils to transfer to Llanfechain C. in W. School, 
which is federated with Llangedwyn C. in W. School, which would 
help with the transition arrangements and would help to ensure 
parents’ and pupils’ engagement.  
 
It is acknowledged that there could be an impact on pupils’ ability to 
participate in after school activities, however Llangedwyn is not 
currently the closest school for the majority of pupils that attend.  

 
- The overall effect of closure on the local community (including 

the loss of school based facilities which are used by the local 
community) 

 
The information received from the school indicates that while the 
school offers some local services, in particular linking with the 
Church, what services are on offer could be relocated to the Village 
Hall in Llangedwyn, which is already used more widely by the local 
community.  

 
Based on information provided by the school, the fact that the 
majority of pupils that Llangedwyn is not the closest school for the 
majority of pupils that currently attend, combined with the low pupil 
numbers, means that the closure of the school would not have a 
significant impact economically, culturally, or socially on the village of 
Llangedwyn. 

 
xi)  Conclusion 
 

Should Llangedwyn C. in W. School close, there would be an impact on the 
village of Llangedwyn as there would no longer be a school in the village. 
However, the impact of school closure on the village would likely be minimal, 
particularly as most pupils that currently attend the school don’t live in 
Llangedwyn. 
 
In addition, information received from the school indicates that whilst there are 
links between the school and the community, community use of the school 

Page 65



 

 6  

building is minimal. There is a Village Hall in Llangedwyn which is already 
used more widely by the local community, so any events / meetings etc which 
are currently held at the school could be located to the Village Hall. 

Page 66



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 1  

 

Service Area Schools Service Head of Service Lynette Lovell / Emma Palmer Portfolio Holder Cllr Pete Roberts 
Proposal Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary School Proposal 
Outline Summary / Description of Proposal 
A review of Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary School has been carried out, and Cabinet approval is now requested to commence the statutory process on the following proposal in respect 
of the school: 
 

• To close Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary School from the 31st August 2024, with pupils to transfer to Llanfechain C. in W. School. 

 
1.  Version Control (services should consider the impact assessment early in the development process and continually evaluate) 

Version Author Job Title Date 
1 Morgan Smith Transforming Education Programme Officer August 2023 
    
    

 
2. Profile of savings delivery (if applicable) 

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 TOTAL 
£ £ £ £ £ £ 

 
3. Consultation requirements 

Consultation Requirement Consultation deadline/or justification for no consultation 

Public consultation required If approved by Cabinet, it is anticipated that consultation in accordance with the School 
Organisation Code will commence in October 2023. 

  

Please read the accompanying guidance before completing the form.
This Impact Assessment (IA) toolkit, incorporates a range of legislative requirements that support effective decision making and ensure compliance with all relevant legislation.
Draft versions of the assessment should be watermarked as “Draft” and retained for completeness.  However, only the final version will be made publicly available. Draft versions 
may be provided to regulators if appropriate. In line with Council policy IAs should be retained for 7 years.

P
age 67



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 2  

4. Impact on Other Service Areas 
 

Does the proposal have potential to impact on another service area? (Have you considered the implications on Health & Safety and Corporate Parenting?) 
PLEASE ENSURE YOU INFORM / ENGAGE ANY AFFECTED SERVICE AREAS AT THE EARLIEST OPPORTUNITY 

Adult Services       

Children’s Services       

Commissioning        

Digital Services     

Education        

Finance        

Highways, Transportation and Recycling     

Housing and Community Development     

Legal and Democratic Services       

Property, Planning and Public Protection     

Transformation and Communications   

Workforce and OD       

Data Protection Impact Assessment 
Will the proposal involve processing the personal details of individuals? Yes  No  
Not currently, however should the Council proceed with statutory processes, this would involve processing the personal details of individuals 
Is Powys County Council the data controller? Yes  No  N/A currently 

If you have answered yes to either of the above you will be required to complete, as a minimum, the screening questions on the data protection impact assessment.  
For further advice please contact the Data Compliance Team. 

 
4a Geographical Locations 
 

What geographical area(s) will be impacted by the proposal? (Chose all those applicable) 

Powys       

 

North     

Mid         

South      

Brecon        

Builth and Llanwrtyd      

Crickhowell       

Hay and Talgarth      

Knighton and Presteigne     

Llandrindod and Rhayader   

Llanfair Caereinion      

Llanfyllin       

Llanidloes       

Machynlleth       

Newtown       

Welshpool and Montgomery     

Ystradgynlais       

 
5.  How does your proposal impact on the Welsh Government’s well-being goals? 

P
age 68



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 3  

Well-being Goal How does proposal contribute to this goal? 

IMPACT 
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below 

What will be done to better contribute to a more 
positive impact or to mitigate any negative impacts? 

IMPACT 
AFTER 

MITIGATION 
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below 
A prosperous Wales: 
An innovative, productive and low carbon 
society which recognises the limits of the 
global environment and therefore uses 
resources efficiently and proportionately 
(including acting on climate change); and 
which develops a skilled and well-educated 
population in an economy which generates 
wealth and provides employment 
opportunities, allowing people to take 
advantage of the wealth generated through 
securing decent work. 

As part of the Council’s Strategy for Transforming 
Education in Powys, this proposal represents an 
innovative effort to ‘reconfigure and rationalise 
primary provision’ for the pupils of Llangedwyn. 
Implementation of this proposal would positively 
contribute to a Powys that uses resources efficiently, 
and which produces a skilled and well-educated 
population. 
 

Good  Choose an 
item. 

A resilient Wales: 
A nation which maintains and enhances a 
biodiverse natural environment with healthy 
functioning ecosystems that support social, 
economic and ecological resilience and the 
capacity to adapt to change (for example 
climate change). 

Implementation of the proposal would require 
additional travel for pupils currently attending 
Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary School for whom this is 
their closest school. This would have a negative 
environmental impact as more home to school 
transport would need to be provided to transport 
pupils to their nearest alternative school. However, 
Llangedwyn is not currently the closest school for the 
majority of pupils attending the school, so the number 
of pupils impacted by this would be minimal – it is 
possible that there would be a reduction in travel for 
some pupils. 
 
In addition, running a single school site is more 
environmentally friendly than running two, due to a 
reduction in the use of heating and electricity amongst 
other factors. 

Neutral  Choose an 
item. 

P
age 69



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 4  

Well-being Goal How does proposal contribute to this goal? 

IMPACT 
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below 

What will be done to better contribute to a more 
positive impact or to mitigate any negative impacts? 

IMPACT 
AFTER 

MITIGATION 
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below 

A healthier Wales: 
A society in which people’s physical and 
mental well-being is maximised and in which 
choices and behaviours that benefit future 
health are understood. 
Public Health (Wales) Act, 2017: 
Part 6 of the Act requires for public bodies to 
undertake a health impact assessment to 
assess the likely effect of a proposed action or 
decision on the physical or mental health of 
the people of Wales. 

Implementation of the proposal would result in 
closure of Llangedwyn C. in W. School, with pupils 
transferring to Llanfechain C. in W. School. It is 
acknowledged that this could have a negative impact 
on the mental well-being of pupils, staff, and other 
stakeholders associated with the school during the 
transition period, however the long-term aim is to 
provide improved learning opportunities for all 
learners. 
 

Poor 

Support will be provided to pupils during the transition 
period to enable them to transfer effectively to their new 
schools.  
 
Pupils would be transferring to Llanfechain, which is 
currently federated with Llangedwyn, and are already 
familiar with this school, its staff and pupils through 
taking part in joint activities. This would help with 
transition arrangements. 
 
The process is to be concluded as quickly as possible to 
minimise the period of uncertainty for pupils, staff and 
other stakeholders. 

Neutral 

P
age 70



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 5  

Well-being Goal How does proposal contribute to this goal? 

IMPACT 
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below 

What will be done to better contribute to a more 
positive impact or to mitigate any negative impacts? 

IMPACT 
AFTER 

MITIGATION 
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below 

A Wales of cohesive communities: 
Attractive, viable, safe and well-connected 
Communities. 

There would be a significant impact on the community 
of Llangedwyn, as there would no longer be provision 
in the village, and therefore there could be a potential 
loss of community facilities associated with the school. 
 
Additional travel would be required for pupils 
currently attending Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary 
School. Whilst free home to school transport would be 
provided to eligible pupils in accordance with the 
Council’s Home to School Transport Policy, there 
would also be an additional travel requirement for 
parents in order to access school activities / events. 
However, Llangedwyn is not currently the closest 
school for the majority of pupils attending the school, 
so the number of pupils impacted by this would be 
minimal – it is possible that there would be a 
reduction in travel for some pupils. 
 
A separate draft community impact assessment will be 
carried out which includes input from the school. This 
will be updated as required throughout the process.  
 

Very Poor 

The Llangedwyn School building is not owned by the 
Council. Should the school close, the building would be 
transferred to its owners, who would need to determine 
its future use, and therefore whether facilities would 
remain available in Llangedwyn. 
 

Very Poor 

P
age 71



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 6  

Well-being Goal How does proposal contribute to this goal? 

IMPACT 
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below 

What will be done to better contribute to a more 
positive impact or to mitigate any negative impacts? 

IMPACT 
AFTER 

MITIGATION 
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below 
A globally responsible Wales: 
A nation which, when doing anything to 
improve the economic, social, environmental 
and cultural well-being of Wales, takes account 
of whether doing such a thing may make a 
positive contribution to global well-being. 
Human Rights - is about being 
proactive (see guidance) 
UN Convention on the Rights of the 
Child: 
The Convention gives rights to everyone under 
the age of 18, which include the right to be 
treated fairly and to be protected from 
discrimination; that organisations act for the 
best interest of the child; the right to life, 
survival and development; and the right to be 
heard. 

The aim of implementing the proposal is to provide 
the best possible opportunities to learners, enabling 
them to reach their full potential. 
 
If approved by Cabinet, the Council will carry out 
consultation on the proposal, including consultation 
with all pupils affected by the proposal, ensuring that 
all those affected by the plans would have the 
opportunity to give their views. 

Neutral  Choose an 
item. 

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language: A society that promotes and protects culture, heritage and the Welsh language, and which encourages people to participate in the arts, and sports and recreation. 
Incorporating requirements under the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011 and the Welsh Language Standards 

Opportunities for persons to use the Welsh 
language, and treating the Welsh language 
no less favourable than the English language  

Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary School and Llanfechain C. 
in W. School are both English-medium schools, 
therefore it is not anticipated that implementation of 
the proposal would impact on opportunities for 
persons to use the Welsh language, or on treating the 
Welsh language no less favourably than the English 
language. 
 

Neutral  Choose an 
item. 

Opportunities to promote the Welsh language 

Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary School and Llanfechain C. 
in W. School are both English-medium schools, 
therefore it is not anticipated that implementation of 
the proposal would impact on opportunities to 
promote the Welsh language. 
 

Neutral  Choose an 
item. 

P
age 72



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 7  

Well-being Goal How does proposal contribute to this goal? 

IMPACT 
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below 

What will be done to better contribute to a more 
positive impact or to mitigate any negative impacts? 

IMPACT 
AFTER 

MITIGATION 
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below 

People are encouraged to do sport, art and 
recreation. 

Implementation of the proposal would lead to the 
closure of Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary School, with 
pupils transferring to Llanfechain C. in W. School.  
 
This would result in increasing pupil numbers at 
Llanfechain C. in W. School, which should enable the 
school to provide additional opportunities for pupils to 
take part in sport, art and other extra-curricular 
activities.  
 

Good  Choose an 
item. 

A more equal Wales: A society that enables people to fulfil their potential no matter what their background or circumstances (including their socio economic background and circumstances). 
Incorporating requirements under the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011 and the Social Economic duty (2020). 

Age 

The proposal would impact on primary aged pupils 
currently attending Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary 
School. The proposal aims to provide improved 
educational opportunities for all affected pupils. 
 

Neutral  Choose an 
item. 

Disability 

The proposal would impact on any pupils with 
disabilities currently attending Llangedwyn C. in W. 
School. The proposal aims to provide improved 
educational opportunities for all affected pupils, 
including any pupils with disabilities. 
  

Neutral  Choose an 
item. 

Gender reassignment No impact. Neutral  Choose an 
item. 

Marriage or civil partnership No impact. Neutral  Choose an 
item. 

P
age 73



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 8  

Well-being Goal How does proposal contribute to this goal? 

IMPACT 
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below 

What will be done to better contribute to a more 
positive impact or to mitigate any negative impacts? 

IMPACT 
AFTER 

MITIGATION 
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below 

Race 

The proposal would impact on all primary aged pupils 
currently attending Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary 
School, including pupils belonging to protected 
characteristic groups due to their race. The proposal 
aims to provide improved educational opportunities 
for all affected pupils. 
 

Neutral  Choose an 
item. 

Religion or belief 

The proposal aims to provide improved educational 
opportunities for all pupils currently attending 
Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary School, regardless of 
their religion or belief. 
 
Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary School is a church school, 
however the proposal is for pupils to transfer to 
Llanfechain C. in W. School, which is also a C. in W. W. 
School, which would ensure continued access to 
Church in Wales provision. 
 

Neutral  Choose an 
item. 

Sex 

The proposal aims to provide improved educational 
opportunities for all pupils currently attending 
Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary School. 
 

Neutral  Choose an 
item. 

Sexual Orientation 

The proposal aims to provide improved educational 
opportunities for all pupils currently attending 
Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary School, regardless of 
their sexual orientation. 
 

Neutral  Choose an 
item. 

Pregnancy and Maternity No impact. Neutral  Choose an 
item. 

P
age 74



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 9  

Well-being Goal How does proposal contribute to this goal? 

IMPACT 
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below 

What will be done to better contribute to a more 
positive impact or to mitigate any negative impacts? 

IMPACT 
AFTER 

MITIGATION 
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below 

Socio-economic duty 

The aim of the proposal is to provide improved 
educational opportunities for all pupils currently 
attending Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary School, 
including any eligible for Free School Meals. Teacher 
Centre data from August 2023 shows that 18% of 
pupils at Llangedwyn C. in W. School were eligible for 
Free School Meals, and these pupils would continue to 
receive free school meals at any alternative school 
that they would transfer to. 
 
Should the proposal be implemented, there would be 
no school in Llangedwyn. This would mean that pupils 
currently attending Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary 
School would need to travel to Llanfechain C. in W. 
School. Whilst home to school transport would be 
provided to eligible pupils, it is possible that this would 
impact on pupils’ ability to access extra-curricular / 
after school activities, and that this impact would be 
greater in respect of pupils from lower income 
households. There would also be an impact on the 
parents of these pupils in terms of accessing school 
activites. However, Llangedwyn is not currently the 
closest school for the majority of pupils attending the 
school, so the number of pupils impacted by this 
would be minimal – it is possible that there would be a 
reduction in travel for some pupils. 
 

Neutral  Choose an 
item. 

  

P
age 75



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 10  

Source of Outline Evidence to support judgements 

PLASC 

 
6.  How does your proposal impact on the council’s other key guiding principles? 

Principle How does the proposal impact on this principle? 

IMPACT 
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below 

What will be done to better contribute to a more 
positive impact or to mitigate any negative impacts? 

IMPACT 
AFTER 

MITIGATION 
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below 
Sustainable Development Principle (5 ways of working) 

Long Term:  Looking to the long term so 
that we do not compromise the ability of 
future generations to meet their own 
needs.  

Pupil numbers at Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary School 
are very low and are not expected to increase over the 
coming years. The aim of the proposal to close the 
school is to ensure the best possible opportunities for 
learners in the area now and in the future, and to 
ensure better strategic management of the Powys 
schools estate.  
 

Good  Choose an 
item. 

Collaboration:  Working with others in a 
collaborative way to find shared 
sustainable solutions.  

Should the Cabinet agree to proceed, full consultation 
would be carried out, which would enable all 
interested parties to give their views. This would 
include an opportunity to suggest any alternative 
options for the school. 
 

Neutral  Choose an 
item. 

P
age 76



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 11  

Principle How does the proposal impact on this principle? 

IMPACT 
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below 

What will be done to better contribute to a more 
positive impact or to mitigate any negative impacts? 

IMPACT 
AFTER 

MITIGATION 
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below 

Involvement (including 
Communication and Engagement):  
Involving a diversity of the population in 
the decisions that affect them including: 
Unpaid Carers: 
Ensuring that unpaid carers views are 
sought and taken into account 

Should Cabinet decide to proceed, full consultation 
would be required in accordance with the School 
Organisation Code in order to achieve this. This would 
that all interested parties would have an opportunity 
to give their views. The findings of this exercise would 
be reported to Cabinet and would be taken into 
consideration when determining how to proceed. This 
impact assessment will be updated throughout the 
process to reflect any feedback received. 
 
All stakeholders would have the opportunity to give 
their views as part of this process, this would include 
any unpaid carers in the area. 
 

Good  Choose an 
item. 

Prevention:  Understanding the root 
causes of issues to prevent them from 
occurring including: 
Safeguarding: 
Preventing and responding to abuse 
and neglect of children, young people 
and adults with health and social care 
needs who can’t protect themselves. 

The aim of the proposal to close Llangedwyn C. in W. 
School is to ensure the best possible opportunities for 
learners in the area now and in the future, and to 
ensure better strategic management of the Powys 
schools estate.  
 
Ensuring appropriate safeguarding arrangements is a 
key aspect of any school organisation proposal. The 
intention is that the proposal would maintain or 
improve the safeguarding arrangements for all pupils. 
 

Good  Choose an 
item. 

Integration:  Taking an integrated 
approach so that public bodies look at all 
the well-being goals in deciding on their 
well-being objectives.  

No impact. Neutral  Choose an 
item. 

 

P
age 77



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 12  

Principle How does the proposal impact on this principle? 

IMPACT 
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below 

What will be done to better contribute to a more 
positive impact or to mitigate any negative impacts? 

IMPACT 
AFTER 

MITIGATION 
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below 

Powys County Council Workforce: 
What Impact will this change have on 
the Workforce? 

Implementation of the proposal would impact on all 
current staff at Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary School as 
there would no longer be a school in Llangedwyn, 
therefore staff would be subject to a Management of 
Change process.  
 
Should Cabinet decide to proceed, full consultation 
would be carried out in accordance with the School 
Organisation Code. This process would be supported 
by relevant LA teams (e.g. HR). This would include 
consultation with staff, which would ensure that they 
had an opportunity to give their views. 
 

Poor  Poor 

Payroll: How will this impact salary, 
any overtime/enhanced payments 
etc? Does this affect any particular 
group of employees? E.g. 
Male/Female dominated workforce. 
Does this proposal comply with the 
Councils Single Status Terms and 
Conditions? 

Implementation of the preferred way forward could 
impact on salary arrangements for current staff at 
Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary School. 

Neutral  Choose an 
item. 

Welsh Language impact on staff 

Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary School is an English-
medium school, therefore it is not anticipated that 
there would be a Welsh language impact on staff 
 

Neutral  Choose an 
item. 

Apprenticeships: 
Has consideration been given to 
whether this change impacts 
negatively, or positively on 
Apprenticeships within the service? 

No impact Neutral  Choose an 
item. 

Source of Outline Evidence to support judgements 

P
age 78



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 13  

Principle How does the proposal impact on this principle? 

IMPACT 
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below 

What will be done to better contribute to a more 
positive impact or to mitigate any negative impacts? 

IMPACT 
AFTER 

MITIGATION 
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below 

 

 
7. What is the impact of this proposal on our communities? 
 

Communities How does the proposal impact on residents 
and community? 

IMPACT 
See impact 

definitions in 
guidance 

document 

What will be done to better 
contribute to a more positive impact 
or to mitigate any negative impacts? 

IMPACT 
AFTER 

MITIGATION 
See impact 

definitions in 
guidance 

document 

Source of Outline 
Evidence to support 
judgement P

age 79



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 14  

 
Llangedwyn 
 
 

There would be a significant impact on the 
community of Llangedwyn, as there would no 
longer be provision in the village, and 
therefore there could be a potential loss of 
community facilities associated with the 
school. 
 
Additional travel would be required for pupils 
currently attending Llangedwyn C. in W. 
Primary School.  
 
Whilst free home to school transport would 
be provided to eligible pupils in accordance 
with the Council’s Home to School Transport 
Policy, there would also be an additional 
travel requirement for parents in order to 
access school activities / events. However, 
Llangedwyn is not currently the closest school 
for the majority of pupils attending the 
school, so the number of pupils impacted by 
this would be minimal – it is possible that 
there would be a reduction in travel for some 
pupils. 
 
A separate draft community impact 
assessment has been carried out which 
includes input from the school. This will be 
updated as required throughout the process.  
 

Major 

The Llangedwyn School building is not 
owned by the Council. Should the 
school close, the building would be 
transferred to its owners, who would 
need to determine its future use, and 
therefore whether facilities would 
remain available in Llangedwyn. 

Major  

 
9.  What are the risks to service delivery or the council following implementation of this proposal?  
 

Description of risks 

Risk Identified 
Inherent Risk Rating 
Impact X Likelihood (See 
Risk Matrix in guidance 
document)  

Mitigation 
Residual Risk Rating 
Impact X Likelihood (See 
Risk Matrix in guidance 
document) 

P
age 80



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 15  

N/A    
 
10.  Overall Summary and Judgement of this Impact Assessment? 
 

Outline Assessment (to be inserted in cabinet report) Cabinet Report Reference:  
The aim of the proposal is to improve the educational provision for learners. However, whilst this impact assessment has identified some positive aspects, in particular relating to 
learning and skills and ensuring the best strategic management of the Powys schools estate, the assessment has also identified some negative aspects. These primarily relate to the 
impact on the community of Llangedwyn due to loss of educational provision from the village.   
 

 
11.  Is there additional evidence to support the Impact Assessment (IA)? 

What additional evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal? 
Full consultation would be required to implement this proposal, and this would enable the impact assessment to be further developed. 

 
12.  On-going monitoring arrangements? 

What arrangements will be put in place to monitor the impact over time? 
The Transforming Education Programme Board will continue to monitor impact over time. 

Please state when this Impact Assessment will be reviewed. 
The impact assessment will be reviewed at all stages of the development.  

 
13.  Sign Off 

Position Name Signature Date 
Impact Assessment Lead: Sarah Astley Sarah Astley  
Head of Service: Lynette Lovell / Emma Palmer   
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Pete Roberts   

 
14. Governance 

Decision to be made by Cabinet Date required 10th October 2023 
 
 

P
age 81



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council 
Impact Assessment (IA) 
The integrated approach to support effective decision making 
 

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (March 2018) 16  

FORM ENDS 
 

P
age 82



  
  
  

  
2 October 2023  

  
Dear Marianne,   
  

St Asaph Diocese – response to proposed closure of Llangedwyn Church in Wales  
Primary School, Powys   

  
Based on information provided in the Option Appraisals report dated August 2023 and 

received from Powys Local Authority on 5 September 2023, the Diocese of St Asaph 

supports:  

  

Option 4: Close Llangedwyn C. in W. School, pupils to transfer to Llanfechain C. in W. 

School  

  

on the understanding that there is a commitment from Powys Local Authority to assure 

sufficient school places at Llanfechain School C. in W. School to cater for any pupils 

who wish to move there from Llangedwyn C. in W. School at any point prior to the 

proposed closure.   

  

Yours sincerely,   
  
Dr Justine Baldwin  

Diocesan Director of Education for North Wales,   

   

  

  

   

Page 83



  
  

  
  
  
  
  
   
  

   Page 84



 
CYNGOR SIR POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL. 

 
CABINET EXECUTIVE 

10 October 2023 
 

REPORT AUTHOR: County Councillor Jake Berriman 
Portfolio Holder for a Connected Powys 

  
REPORT TITLE: Approval of the Powys Local Development Plan Annual 

Monitoring Report 2023 for submission to Welsh 
Government 

  
 

REPORT FOR: 
 

Decision 

 
1. Purpose  
 
1.1 To approve the Powys Local Development Plan Annual Monitoring 
Report (AMR) 1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023 [AMR 2023] in Appendix 1 in 
readiness for its submission to the Welsh Government and publication on the 
Council’s website no later than 31st October 2023. 
 
 
2. Background 
 
2.1 The Powys Local Development Plan (LDP) is a 15-year statutory 
development plan for the period 2011 to 2026.  It was adopted by the Council 
in April 2018.  Under current legislation it will cease to be the development 
plan for the Powys Local Planning Authority (LPA) area after its end date on 
31st March 2026. The Powys LPA has therefore embarked on the preparation 
of a Replacement LDP for the period 2022-2037. 

 
2.2 Legislation requires that an LPA must publish and submit to Welsh 
Government an Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) setting out how the 
objectives of the plan are being achieved. 
 
2.3 The AMR assesses the extent to which the plan’s strategy and key 
policies, sites and infrastructure requirements are being delivered.  By basing 
each AMR on the results and commentary of the preceding year, trends can 
be identified, and it becomes clear how policies and proposals are delivering 
year on year.  
 
2.4 The Welsh Government’s Development Plans Manual: Edition 3 (2020) 
affirms that AMRs are the key mechanism to assess the delivery and 
implementation of a plan’s strategy. They are a Performance Indicator that 
provide transparency in the planning process by keeping stakeholders and the 
community informed regarding the performance of the plan against the issues 
it has identified. AMRs must be approved by the LPA and submitted to Welsh 
Government by 31st October of the respective year.   

Page 85

5



 
2.5 AMR 2023, attached for approval as Appendix 1 to this report and with 
two supporting annexes (Appendices 1a and 1b), is to be submitted to Welsh 
Government as the statutory AMR. As monitoring is a continuous cycle, AMR 
2023 builds on previous AMRs as submitted in October 2021 and October 
2022, which contain the earlier monitoring results of the adopted LDP from its 
adoption date.  Monitoring of the adopted LDP, and the subsequent 
Replacement LDP will be required to continue in future years. 
 
2.6 The AMR also includes the Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
monitoring of the adopted LDP. 
 
2.7 The AMR must be approved by the Cabinet before it is submitted to the 
Welsh Government.  Alongside submission, the AMR must be published on 
the Council’s website. 
 
2.8 The Council’s internal LDP Working Group met in September to 
consider AMR 2023 and have recommended its approval to Cabinet and for 
its submission to Welsh Government.   
 
 
3. Advice 
 
AMR 2023 Findings 
 
3.1 The Powys LDP is assessed against the Monitoring Framework set out 
in Chapter 5 of the adopted LDP. The AMR is based on the adopted 
Monitoring Framework but has been updated/modified where necessary to 
take account of new national policy requirements arising since Plan adoption 
in April 2018.  Where this has happened, the AMR explains what changes 
have been made to the original Framework and why. Implementation is shown 
visually using a colour coded system. 
 
3.2 The AMR 2023 demonstrates that the adopted LDP is largely 
continuing to deliver and meet the monitoring targets, pointing to successful 
policy implementation.  Of the 62 monitoring indicators: 

• 42 are “Green” where the monitoring is on target or completed and the 
action required is for monitoring to continue.   

• three are “Yellow” identifying that further investigation/research is 
required;  

• seven are “Amber” suggesting that a Policy Review is required; and  
• four are “Red” indicating that a Plan Review is required as they relate 

to the delivery of the strategy.   
AMR 2023 identifies the remaining indicators (six) as not applicable or have 
been superseded during this monitoring year. 
 
3.3 The performance of the adopted LDP against each monitoring indicator 
is fully explained in the AMR (Appendix 1). The eleven indicators indicating a 
plan review or policy review (colour coded RED or AMBER respectively) are: 
 

Page 86



 
Reference 
No. 

Monitoring Indicator Relevant LDP 
Policies 

Action Code 

AMR2a The annual level of housing 
completions monitored against the 
Average Annual Requirement. (AAR) 

Strategic Policy 
SP1 – Housing 
Growth 

RED 

Plan Review 

AMR2b Total cumulative completions 
monitored against the anticipated 
cumulative completion rate. 

Strategic Policy 
SP1 – Housing 
Growth 

RED 

Plan Review 

AMR4 Total housing units permitted on 
allocated sites (HA) as a % of overall 
housing provision. 

Strategic Policy 
SP1 – Housing 
Growth 

Topic Based 
Policy H2 – 
Housing Sites 

RED 

Plan Review 

AMR5 Total housing units completed on 
Housing Allocations (HA). 

Strategic Policy 
SP1 – Housing 
Growth 

Topic Based 
Policy H2 – 
Housing Sites 

RED 

Plan Review 

AMR9 ** Strategic Policy SP3 – Affordable 
Housing Target 

Strategic Policy 
SP3 – 
Affordable 
Housing Target 

Topic Based 
Policy H5 – 
Affordable 
Housing 
Contributions 

AMBER 

Policy 
Review 

AMR16  ** Retail development up to 1,000 
square metres net permitted and 
delivered on part of the mixed-use site 
allocated under Policy R2. 

Strategic Policy 
SP4 – Retail 
Growth 

Topic Based 
Policy R2 – 
Retail 
Allocations 

AMBER 

Policy 
Review 

AMR21  ** The average overall density (units per 
hectare) permitted in respect of 
housing developments in Towns, 
Large Villages, Small Villages and 
Rural Settlements. 

Topic Based 
Policy H4 – 
Housing 
Density 

AMBER 

Policy 
Review 

Page 87



Reference 
No. 

Monitoring Indicator Relevant LDP 
Policies 

Action Code 

AMR27 Additional installed capacity (MW) of 
solar PV developments permitted 
within LSAs per annum. 

Topic Based 
Policy RE1– 
Renewable 
Energy 

AMBER 

Policy 
Review 

AMR28 Number of community/district heating 
schemes permitted under Policy 
DM13 (criterion 15) per annum. 

Development 
Management 
Policy DM13 – 
Design and 
Resources 

AMBER 

Policy 
Review 

AMR36 Number of developments permitted 
within Town Centres, which would 
result in less than: 

 75% of units within a Primary 
Shopping Frontage. 

 66% of units within Secondary 
Shopping Frontage. 

being for A1 and A3 uses. 

Topic Based 
Policy R3 – 
Development 
Within Town 
Centre Areas 

 

AMBER 

Policy 
Review 

AMR59 Number of developments permitted 
resulting in the loss of an existing 
community or indoor recreation 
facility, or neighbourhood/village 
shop, public house or service. 

Development 
Management 
Policy DM11 – 
Protection of 
Existing 
Community 
Facilities and 
Services 

AMBER 

Policy 
Review 

** new indicators identified in AMR 2023 that require policy issues to be addressed 
when compared with AMR 2022. 

 
 
3.4 The growth strategy of the adopted LDP is primarily led by housing 
growth and AMR 2023 (as with AMR 2021 and AMR 2022) identifies under-
performance against the anticipated housing completions target rate. The 
number of new dwellings completed during the monitoring period was 339, of 
which 124 were affordable homes. The cumulative number of net additional 
dwellings delivered since 2011 is 2,809 dwellings against the anticipated 
3,390 dwellings by 31st March 2023 (Indicator AMR2b and Table 10). Since 
2011, a total of 832 affordable homes had been delivered by 31st March 
2023, representing 87% of the LDP target of 952 new additional affordable 
homes. 
 
With three years left of the Plan period it is unlikely that the adopted LDP’s 
dwelling requirement figure of 4,500 new dwellings will be achieved over the 

Page 88



Plan period (2011 – 2026) as the “catch-up” build rate for the period 2023 – 
2026 would require an average of 564 new homes to be built each year of the 
remaining Plan period (up from 508 in AMR 2022).   
 
3.5 The under-delivery of allocated housing sites continues to be identified 
as an area of concern which prompted the Review of the adopted LDP arising 
from AMR 2021. Together with AMR 2022, AMR 2023 confirms the need to 
proceed with the Replacement LDP. As set out in AMR 2023, it remains the 
case that of the 81 Housing Allocation (HA) sites in the LDP, 53 (65%) still do 
not have any form of planning permission.  
 
3.6 Within the AMR is a detailed assessment of the performance of the 
LDP against the statutory Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
monitoring objectives.  
 
 
4. Resource Implications 
 
4.1 The publishing and submission of the AMR does not have any 
additional resource implications.  
 
4.2 The Head of Finance (Section151 Officer)  
 
 
5. Legal implications 
 
5.1 Legal:  the recommendations can be accepted from a legal point of 
view as it a requirement of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
(Section 76) and LDP Regulation 37 that the LPA prepares and submits an 
AMR to Welsh Government 
 
5.2 The Head of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer has commented as 
follows: 
 
 
6. Data Protection 
 
6.1 The proposal does not involve the processing of personal data. 
 
 
7.  Comment from local member(s) 
 
7.1 The current adopted LDP and any subsequent replacement apply to all 
of Powys except those areas within the Brecon Beacons National Park. 
 
7.2 The Council’s internal LDP Working Group has been involved in the 
preparation of AMR 2023, and in considering how the Council should address 
the results arising from the annual monitoring process. 
 

Page 89



7.3 The process of preparing an LDP is regulated and opportunities are 
available to engage with the preparation process through formal consultation 
stages. 
 
 
8.   Impact Assessment 
 
8.1  An assessment is not required in this instance as the process of 
preparation and submission of an AMR is a statutory requirement upon the 
Council. 
 
 
9. Recommendation 
 
9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet approve: 
 
1. AMR 2023 in Appendix 1 with Annex 1 and Annex 2 in order for the AMR 

to be submitted to the Welsh Government by 31st October 2023 in 
accordance with the relevant legislation. It will be published concurrently 
on the Council’s website. 

 
 
Contact Officer: Dr Adrian Humpage 
 Principal Planning Officer, Planning Policy 
Tel:   01597 827774 
Email:   adrian.humpage@powys.gov.uk 
 
Head of Service: Gwilym Davies 
 
Corporate Director:  Nigel Brinn 
 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1: Powys LDP Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 
31st March 2023)  
Appendix 1a: Powys LDP AMR 2023 Annex 1_Table 19 Allocations 
Appendix 1b: Powys LDP AMR 2023 Annex 2_Table 20 Commitments 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CABINET REPORT NEW TEMPLATE VERSION 3 

Page 90



 

 

 

Powys Local Development 

Plan (LDP) 
 

 

Annual Monitoring 

Report 2023 
 
 
 

 1st April 2022 to 31st March 

2023 
 

  

Page 91



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

2 
 

 

Chapters: 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ...................................................................................................... 7 

KEY FINDINGS FOR THIS AMR MONITORING PERIOD: ........................................................................ 8 

MONITORING INDICATORS REQUIRING FURTHER ACTION .................................................................. 10 

SUMMARY OF CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS .................................................................... 12 

1. INTRODUCTION ....................................................................................................... 14 

2. ANALYSIS OF SIGNIFICANT CONTEXTUAL CHANGE / INDICATORS ............................. 15 

2.1 NATIONAL CONTEXT........................................................................................................ 15 

2.2 CHIEF PLANNING OFFICER LETTERS AND NRW LETTERS ......................................................... 19 

2.3 REGIONAL CONTEXT ........................................................................................................ 21 

2.4 LOCAL CONTEXT ............................................................................................................. 23 

3. CONTEXTUAL INDICATORS ....................................................................................... 27 

4. ANALYSIS OF CORE / KEY INDICATORS ..................................................................... 34 

THEME 1 – PLANNING FOR GROWTH IN SUSTAINABLE PLACES............................................................ 35 

Objective 1 – Meeting Future Needs ................................................................................ 35 

Objective 2 – Sustainable Settlements and Communities ............................................... 56 

Objective 4 – Climate Change and Flooding ..................................................................... 59 

5. ANALYSIS OF LOCAL INDICATORS ............................................................................. 62 

THEME 1 – PLANNING FOR GROWTH IN SUSTAINABLE PLACES............................................................ 63 

Objective 1 – Meeting Future Needs ................................................................................ 63 

Objective 2 – Sustainable Settlements and Communities ............................................... 81 

Objective 3 – Efficient Use of Land ................................................................................... 88 

Objective 4 – Climate Change and Flooding ..................................................................... 98 

Objective 5 – Energy and Water ..................................................................................... 101 

THEME 2 – SUPPORTING THE POWYS ECONOMY ........................................................................... 111 

Objective 6 – Vibrant Economy ...................................................................................... 111 

Objective 7 – Key Economic Sectors ............................................................................... 123 

Objective 8 – Regeneration ............................................................................................ 128 

THEME 3 – SUPPORTING INFRASTRUCTURE AND SERVICES ............................................................... 129 

Objective 9 – Infrastructure and Services ...................................................................... 129 

Objective 10 – Important Assets .................................................................................... 132 

THEME 4 – GUARDIANSHIP OF NATURAL, BUILT AND HISTORIC ASSETS .............................................. 136 

Objective 11 – Natural Heritage ..................................................................................... 136 

Objective 12 – Resources ............................................................................................... 140 

Objective 13 – Landscape and the Historic Environment .............................................. 145 

THEME 5 – SUPPORTING HEALTHY COMMUNITIES ......................................................................... 156 

Objective 14 – Healthy Lifestyles.................................................................................... 156 

Objective 15 – Welsh Language and Culture .................................................................. 162 

Objective 16 – Community Well-being ........................................................................... 165 

Page 92



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

3 
 

6. RESULTS OF SA/SEA INDICATORS ........................................................................... 168 

6.1 RESULTS FOR MONITORING PERIOD 1ST APRIL 2021 TO 31ST MARCH 2022 ............................ 168 

6.2 SUMMARY OF MAIN ISSUES AND TRENDS IDENTIFIED .......................................................... 168 

SEA Topic: Biodiversity ................................................................................................... 169 

SEA Topic: Population and Human Health ..................................................................... 174 

SEA Topic: Soil ................................................................................................................. 186 

SEA Topic: Water ............................................................................................................ 192 

SEA Topic: Air .................................................................................................................. 196 

SEA Topic: Climatic Factors ............................................................................................. 201 

SEA Topic: Strategic Resources and Assets .................................................................... 206 

SEA Topic: Cultural Heritage ........................................................................................... 211 

SEA Topic: Landscape ..................................................................................................... 224 

SEA Topic: Geodiversity .................................................................................................. 228 

7. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS ............................................................... 231 

7.1 CONTEXTUAL CHANGES ................................................................................................. 231 

7.2 RECOMMENDATIONS AND FINDINGS ARISING FROM THE MONITORING INDICATORS .................. 232 

  

Annexes: 

ANNEX 1 – TABLE 19 HOUSING ALLOCATIONS 

ANNEX 2 – TABLE 20 HOUSING COMMITMENTS 

 

Tables: 

TABLE 1. SUMMARY OF ACTIONS FROM THE 62 INDICATORS MONITORING INCLUDED WITHIN THE 

AMR DURING THE MONITORING PERIOD ............................................................................................... 7 

TABLE 2. MONITORING INDICATORS THAT REQUIRE STRATEGY / POLICY ISSUES TO BE ADDRESSED 

WITHIN THE PROCESS OF PREPARING THE REPLACEMENT LDP ........................................................... 10 

TABLE 3. MONITORING INDICATORS THAT REQUIRE FURTHER INVESTIGATION OR RESEARCH ......... 12 

TABLE 4. SUMMARY OF MONITORING ASSESSMENT AND ACTIONS FROM DEVELOPMENT PLANS 

MANUAL (EDITION 3) ............................................................................................................................ 14 

TABLE 5. THE NUMBER AND PERCENTAGE OF PEOPLE IN POWYS BY THEIR ECONOMIC ACTIVITY 

EITHER UNEMPLOYED, ECONOMICALLY INACTIVE OR ECONOMICALLY ACTIVE (INCLUDING BBNP). . 29 

TABLE 6. NUMBER OF HOMELESSNESS CASES IN POWYS (INCLUDING BBNP) ..................................... 31 

TABLE 7. ANNUAL AVERAGE HOUSE PRICES TAKEN FROM THE LAND REGISTRY HOUSE PRICE INDEX 

FIGURE FOR POWYS (INCLUDING BBNP) .............................................................................................. 33 

TABLE 8. ANNUAL NET HOUSING COMPLETIONS AGAINST THE ANNUAL AVERAGE REQUIREMENT 

(AAR) FIGURE ........................................................................................................................................ 39 

TABLE 9. (21A) HOUSING TRAJECTORY AT 1ST APRIL 2023 .................................................................. 40 

TABLE 10. ACTUAL CUMULATIVE COMPLETIONS AGAINST THE CUMULATIVE COMPLETIONS TARGET

 .............................................................................................................................................................. 43 

Page 93



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

4 
 

TABLE 11. ACTUAL CUMULATIVE AFFORDABLE DWELLING COMPLETIONS AGAINST THE CUMULATIVE 

COMPLETIONS TARGET ......................................................................................................................... 46 

TABLE 12. NUMBER OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING COMPLETIONS BY TENURE ....................................... 49 

TABLE 13. AVERAGE AFFORDABLE HOUSING CONTRIBUTIONS SECURED AGAINST THE TARGET 

CONTRIBUTION FOR THE SUB-MARKET AREA DURING THE MONITORING PERIOD. ........................... 51 

TABLE 14. AMOUNT OF EMPLOYMENT LAND PERMITTED ON ALLOCATED EMPLOYMENT SITES SINCE 

LDP ADOPTION ...................................................................................................................................... 55 

TABLE 15. NET NUMBER OF ADDITIONAL DWELLINGS DELIVERED IN THE MONITORING PERIOD AND 

SINCE THE LDP HOUSING PROVISION BASE DATE, AGAINST THE SETTLEMENT HIERARCHY TARGETS IN 

LDP POLICY SP6. .................................................................................................................................... 58 

TABLE 16. RESIDENTIAL PLANNING PERMISSIONS GRANTED ON SITES ALLOCATED FOR HOUSING 

DURING MONITORING PERIOD. ............................................................................................................ 66 

TABLE 17. ACTUAL CUMULATIVE DWELLING COMPLETIONS ON ALLOCATED HOUSING SITES AGAINST 

THE CUMULATIVE COMPLETIONS TARGET FOR ALLOCATED HOUSING SITES. .................................... 68 

TABLE 18. AFFORDABLE HOUSING UNITS SECURED BY TYPE DURING THE MONITORING PERIOD. .... 74 

TABLE 19. NUMBER OF AFFORDABLE HOUSING UNITS PERMITTED BY TENURE DURING THE 

MONITORING PERIOD. .......................................................................................................................... 76 

TABLE 20. NET NUMBER OF DWELLINGS PERMITTED IN THE MONITORING PERIOD AND SINCE THE 

LDP WAS ADOPTED AGAINST THE SETTLEMENT HIERARCHY TARGETS IN LDP STRATEGIC POLICY SP6.

 .............................................................................................................................................................. 83 

TABLE 21. NUMBER OF NEW DWELLINGS GRANTED PLANNING PERMISSION IN SMALL VILLAGES IN 

MONITORING PERIOD. .......................................................................................................................... 85 

TABLE 22. DISTRIBUTION OF EMPLOYMENT LAND PERMITTED DURING THE MONITORING PERIOD 

ACROSS THE SETTLEMENT HIERARCHY, TOGETHER WITH THE CUMULATIVE TOTALS SINCE LDP 

ADOPTION. ............................................................................................................................................ 87 

TABLE 23. AVERAGE DENSITY OF DEVELOPMENT PERMITTED BY SETTLEMENT TIER / DEVELOPMENT 

TYPE DURING MONITORING PERIOD. ................................................................................................... 95 

TABLE 24.  APPLICATIONS PERMITTED IN MONITORING PERIOD, FOR EMPLOYMENT DEVELOPMENTS 

ON NON-ALLOCATED SITES IN THE OPEN COUNTRYSIDE AGAINST LDP POLICY E2. .......................... 117 

TABLE 25.  APPLICATIONS PERMITTED IN THE MONITORING PERIOD FOR CHANGE OF USE IN 

PRIMARY OR SECONDARY RETAIL ZONES. .......................................................................................... 121 

TABLE 26. SUBMITTED DOCUMENTATION DETAILING LANDSCAPE CONSIDERATION FOR MAJOR 

APPLICATIONS IN THE OPEN COUNTRYSIDE DURING MONITORING PERIOD. ................................... 152 

TABLE 27.  PLANNING PERMISSION PERMITTED FOR CHANGE OF USE OF EXISTING COMMUNITY 

FACILITIES OR SERVICES BY SETTLEMENT TIER DURING MONITORING PERIOD. ............................... 167 

TABLE 28. INDICATIVE CONDITION OF CONSERVATION FEATURES IN OR WITHIN 15KM OF THE 

POWYS BOUNDARY. ............................................................................................................................ 171 

TABLE 29. HEALTH AND LIFE EXPECTANCY AT BIRTH. ........................................................................ 176 

TABLE 30. PERCENTAGE OF WORKING AGE POPULATION TO CHILDREN AND RETIRED POPULATION 

IN POWYS (2018, 2019, 2020 MID-YEAR ESTIMATES AND CENSUS (2021)). ...................................... 178 

Page 94



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

5 
 

TABLE 31. PERCENTAGE OF POPULATION AGED 75 AND OVER (2018, 2019 AND 2020 MID-YEAR 

ESTIMATES AND CENSUS 2021). ......................................................................................................... 179 

TABLE 32. NET INFLOW OF YOUNGER ADULTS (AGED BETWEEN 20 AND 34) INTO POWYS (2018, 

2019, 2020, 2021 MID-YEAR ESTIMATES) ........................................................................................... 179 

TABLE 33. TOTAL NUMBER OF POLICE RECORDED ROAD ACCIDENTS INVOLVING PERSONAL INJURY 

IN POWYS. ........................................................................................................................................... 181 

TABLE 34. NUMBER OF CASUALTIES IN ROAD ACCIDENTS BY SEVERITY IN POWYS. ......................... 181 

TABLE 35. NUMBERS OF POLICE RECORDED CRIMES IN POWYS. ....................................................... 183 

TABLE 36. PERCENTAGE OF GREENFIELD LAND OUTSIDE DEVELOPMENT BOUNDARIES WHERE 

DEVELOPMENT PERMITTED. ............................................................................................................... 190 

TABLE 37. PERCENTAGE OF WATER BODIES AT ‘GOOD’ STATUS WITHIN POWYS LDP AREA. ........... 194 

TABLE 38. LEVELS OF AVERAGE NO2, PM2.5 AND PM10 CONCENTRATIONS (IN µG/M3) (RECORDED AS 

AIR QUALITY EXPOSURE INDICATORS) ACROSS POWYS. .................................................................... 198 

TABLE 39. ANNUAL MEAN CONCENTRATIONS OF NO2 (IN µG/M3) AT MONITORING SITES IN 

POWYS, BY YEAR FROM 2013. ............................................................................................................ 200 

TABLE 40. CARBON DIOXIDE EMISSIONS, EXPRESSED AS KT CO2, IN POWYS FOR THE YEAR 2020. ... 205 

TABLE 41. HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT DESIGNATION TOTALS FOR POWYS LDP, 2022 TO 2023.......... 213 

TABLE 42. PERCENTAGE OF SCHEDULED MONUMENTS IN POWYS LDP THAT ARE IN A STABLE OR 

IMPROVING CONDITION. .................................................................................................................... 215 

TABLE 43. PERCENTAGE OF LISTED BUILDINGS THAT ARE ‘AT RISK, ‘VULNERABLE’ OR ‘NOT AT RISK’ 

IN POWYS. ........................................................................................................................................... 217 

TABLE 44. PERCENTAGE OF LISTED BUILDINGS IN POWYS BY RISK SCORE. ....................................... 217 

TABLE 45. PERCENTAGE OF WELSH SPEAKERS IN POWYS (CENSUS 2011 AND 2021) ....................... 219 

TABLE 46. NUMBER AND PERCENTAGES OF PEOPLE WITH WELSH LANGUAGE SKILLS IN POWYS. ... 221 

TABLE 47. PERCENTAGE OF POWYS POPULATION, AGED THREE OR OVER, WHO CAN SPEAK WELSH.

 ............................................................................................................................................................ 223 

TABLE 48.  PERCENTAGE OF ASPECT AREAS WITHIN, OR INTERSECTING, THE PLAN AREA THAT ARE 

OF ‘HIGH’ OR ‘OUTSTANDING’ QUALITY. ............................................................................................ 227 

 

Figures: 

FIGURE 1. HOUSING DEVELOPMENT TRAJECTORY 2011 – 2026 ON 1ST APRIL 2022 ........................... 41 

FIGURE 2. CHART SHOWING THE NUMBER OF ADDITIONAL DWELLINGS SINCE HOUSING PROVISION 

BASE DATE OF APRIL 2015 AGAINST THE NET ADDITIONAL DWELLING REQUIREMENT ..................... 44 

FIGURE 3. CHART SHOWING AFFORDABLE HOUSING DELIVERY RATES COMPARED TO THE ANNUAL 

TARGETS. ............................................................................................................................................... 47 

FIGURE 4. CHART SHOWING THE LOCATION OF WINDFALL DEVELOPMENT PERMITTED IN HECTARES 

ACROSS THE SETTLEMENT HIERARCHY BY PREVIOUSLY DEVELOPED LAND / GREENFIELD LAND. ...... 91 

FIGURE 5. CHART SHOWING PERCENTAGE OF AREA PERMITTED FOR DIFFERENT DEVELOPMENT 

PROPOSALS ON GREENFIELD LAND IN THE OPEN COUNTRYSIDE ........................................................ 91 

Page 95



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

6 
 

FIGURE 6. CHART SHOWING THE NUMBER OF PLANNING APPLICATIONS PERMITTED ON NON-

ALLOCATED EMPLOYMENT SITES BY SETTLEMENT HIERARCHY AND DEVELOPMENT TYPE IN 

MONITORING PERIOD. ........................................................................................................................ 117 

FIGURE 7. CHART SHOWING THE TOTAL TYPE AND NUMBER OF UNITS OF ACCOMMODATION 

PERMITTED IN THE MONITORING PERIOD. ........................................................................................ 125 

 

 

Page 96



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

7 
 

Executive Summary 

This is the fourth Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) for the Powys Local Development Plan 

(LDP). It covers the period 1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023 and is preceded by the Annual 

Monitoring Reports for 2022 (1st April 2021 to 31st March 2022), 2021 (1st April 2020 to 31st 

March 2021) and 2020 (1st April 2019 to 31st March 2020) together with the Monitoring 

Review (covering the period from LDP adoption (17th April 2018) to 31st March 2019). 

Following the findings of AMR 2021, a review of the adopted LDP was undertaken with the 

findings published in the LDP Review Report agreed by the Council in February 2022. The 

conclusions outlined in the Review Report determined that the Full Revision procedure is the 

most appropriate form of revision for the adopted Powys LDP (2011-2026).  This means that 

a Replacement LDP will need to be prepared for the period 2022-2037.  This will ensure that 

effective local decision making in planning can continue after the adopted LDP’s “end-date” 

of 31st March 2026.  

Preparation began in July 2022 on the Replacement LDP following the publication of a 

Delivery Agreement, which includes a Community Involvement Scheme. Together with the 

Review Report, the findings from this AMR and subsequent AMRs will be used to inform the 

preparation of the Replacement LDP. 

The Monitoring Framework and the purpose of the AMR is explained in Chapter 5 of the 

Powys LDP. 

Each AMR provides an assessment of whether the underlying strategy of the adopted LDP 

remains sound, the impact of policies at the local and wider level and whether policies and 

related targets have been met or what progress is being made towards meeting them. The 

AMR provides an opportunity to capture the prevailing economic, social or cultural 

circumstances and contextual changes since the Plan’s adoption which may have a bearing 

on the meeting of policy objectives and so builds an evidence base over time. 

The AMR contains a total of 62 monitoring indicators which are used to monitor the 

effectiveness of the Plan and its policies. A summary of the outcome of this year's 

monitoring is provided in Table 1 below. 

Table 1. Summary of Actions from the 62 Indicators Monitoring Included within the 

AMR during the Monitoring Period 

Continue Monitoring 
33 - Continue Monitoring 

9 - Adopted SPG 

 

Training Required 0 

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) 
Required 

0 

Further Investigation/Research Required 3 

Policy Review Required 7 

Plan Review  4 

Not Applicable to this AMR monitoring period or 
superseded 

6 

Page 97



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

8 
 

Key Findings for This AMR Monitoring Period: 

Section 2 of this AMR, the “Analysis of Significant Contextual Change / Indicators”, notes 

that a motion to declare a Nature Emergency was approved by Powys County Council at a 

Full Council meeting on 13th October 2022. This will be one of the key issues (together with 

the Climate Emergency detailed in the previous AMR (AMR 2022)) to be considered and 

addressed within the preparation of the Replacement LDP.  In February 2023, the Full 

Council also adopted ‘The Corporate and Strategic Equality Plan’ 2023-2027, with ambitions 

for a Stronger, Greener, Fairer Powys. The document replaces Vision 2025 and sets out the 

well-being priorities for Powys County Council for the next five years and what action is 

needed to deliver them. This together with the Local Well-being Plan (2040: A Fair, 

Sustainable and Healthy Powys) will again inform the issues and objectives the 

Replacement LDP seeks to address. 

The results from Section 3 of this monitoring report, the “Contextual Indicators”, found that 

homelessness rates in the Plan area have continued to rise during the monitoring period by 

a further 272 cases. The causes of homelessness are varied and not straightforward; 

homelessness rates are impacted by the cost-of-living crisis, but also by the fact that 

average house prices in Powys have been increasing at a higher rate than average income 

and continue, as with the previous monitoring period, to be disproportionate to each other.  

The housing affordability gap in Powys, therefore, continues to widen. The new Local 

Housing Market Assessment 2022, which will be based on Welsh Government’s new 

methodology and guidance, will take into account house price and household income data.  

The results of this assessment will provide evidence of housing need across the Powys LDP 

area and locally at a Housing Market Area level, which will be used to inform the 

Replacement LDP’s strategy and affordable housing policies. 

From the "Analysis of Core / Key Indicators" (Section 4) it was found that a total of 339 

additional new homes were completed in the monitoring period. This figure is a sustained 

improvement on the early years of the plan and above the annual net additional dwelling 

requirement of 300 additional homes per year set out in the LDP. Cumulatively 2,809 new 

homes have been delivered since the adopted LDP start date in 2011.  The Plan set out to 

achieve an overall increase of 4,500 dwellings (known as the dwelling requirement figure) 

during the 15-year period. The 2,809 additional new homes represent only 62% of the LDP 

overall housing target. With three years of the adopted LDP remaining, it is unlikely that the 

shortfall of 1,691 housing units will be delivered by 2026.  To make up for slower 

performance in earlier years an average completion rate of 564 homes per year would need 

to be achieved. 

Out of the 339 additional new homes delivered in the monitoring period, 124 of these were 

for affordable homes. This demonstrates a sustained increase in the delivery of affordable 

housing over the past three monitoring periods. This means that since the Plan’s start date 

in 2011, 832 affordable homes have been delivered by 31st March 2023, representing 87% 

of the LDP target of 952 new additional affordable homes. Taking into consideration the 

number of affordable homes that have been granted planning permission, including those 

under construction, it is anticipated that the target will be met. 

Further analysis of the housing completions data found that 290 (86%) of the additional new 

homes delivered in the monitoring period, were located on windfall (non-allocated) sites, 

which are contributing strongly to the supply of new homes. No additional new homes were 

completed on allocated housing sites, despite a target figure of 325 dwellings during the 

monitoring period. Although there is sufficient land allocated in the LDP to meet the identified 

housing requirement, sites are not coming forward and progressing as anticipated. There are 

Page 98



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

9 
 

81 housing sites allocated in the LDP, of which 53 (65%) do not have any form of planning 

permission. 

Analysis of planning permissions granted during the monitoring period found that planning 

permission was granted for 366 additional new homes, of which 141 units are classified as 

affordable. Towns and Large Villages are at the top of the sustainable settlement hierarchy 

and are the location for 79% of the additional new homes permitted during the monitoring 

period, which accords with the Plan’s Spatial Strategy. 

The results from the monitoring indicators relating to employment land found that during the 

monitoring period, planning permission was granted on 4.038 ha of land for employment 

uses (B1, B2 and B8) meaning a total of 28.194 ha has been granted since the LDP was 

adopted. Out of the 4.038 ha granted, 2.761 ha (two planning applications) were located on 

allocated employment sites. This annual monitoring report has also found that employment 

safeguarded sites are being protected for employment uses in accordance with policy. 

An analysis of monitoring indicators relating to renewable energy found that during the 

monitoring period, planning permission was granted for 7.0243 MW of renewable, zero or 

low carbon electricity. Since the LDP was adopted (2018) planning permission has been 

given for total of 45.188 MW of energy generation, equating to 73% of the 61.7 MW 

anticipated energy contribution detailed in the LDP.  

Continuing the theme from previous annual monitoring reports, monitoring indicators noted 

that proposals for tourism development remain strong.  During this monitoring period 95 

applications for tourism development gained planning permission, all were in accordance 

with adopted LDP Policy TD1. The planning applications permitted equated to a total of 241 

units of tourism accommodation (34% of which were cabins). It is notable that 78% of the 

tourism applications permitted were in the Open Countryside, with 74 applications for 

development on greenfield sites. 

Within this report is a detailed assessment of the performance of the adopted LDP against 

the SEA monitoring objectives (see Section 6) which involves monitoring 34 indicators 

across several topic areas. The Review Report summarised the main findings of the SEA 

monitoring, identifying the main issues and trends that have emerged since the LDP was 

adopted.  Trends towards an ageing population have continued during this monitoring 

period, whilst the Census 2021 results show a decline in the use of Welsh Language skills 

since 2011.  The SA/SEA framework will be reviewed as part of the Integrated Sustainability 

Appraisal process that is necessary to inform preparation of the Replacement LDP.  

 
 

 

 

 

Page 99



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

10 
 

Monitoring Indicators Requiring Further Action 

 

The majority (33) of the monitoring indicators continue to show positive policy 

implementation, with a further nine that show the successful adoption of SPG. There are, 

however, some indicator targets that are not being achieved (14) and thus trigger points 

have been reached. This indicates that there are policies in the adopted LDP that are not 

functioning as intended, in these instances the monitoring has recommended actions, 

including in some cases the review of a policy.  

There are eleven monitoring indicators that require strategy / policy issues to be addressed 

(Table 2). This will be undertaken within the process of preparing the Replacement LDP.  

Table 2. Monitoring Indicators that Require Strategy / Policy Issues to be Addressed 

within the Process of Preparing the Replacement LDP 

 

Reference 
No. 

Monitoring Indicator Relevant LDP Policies 

AMR2a The annual level of housing completions 
monitored against the Average Annual 
Requirement. (AAR) 

Strategic Policy SP1 – 
Housing Growth 

AMR2b Total cumulative completions monitored 
against the anticipated cumulative completion 
rate. 

Strategic Policy SP1 – 
Housing Growth 

AMR4 Total housing units permitted on allocated sites 
(HA) as a % of overall housing provision. 

Strategic Policy SP1 – 
Housing Growth 

Topic Based Policy H2 – 
Housing Sites 

AMR5 Total housing units completed on Housing 
Allocations (HA). 

Strategic Policy SP1 – 
Housing Growth 

Topic Based Policy H2 – 
Housing Sites 

AMR9 Changes in residual values (housing 
development viability) across the 4 sub-market 
areas, set against the residual values applied 
in the Viability Assessment Update (August 
2016). 

Strategic Policy SP3 – 
Affordable Housing 
Target 

Topic Based Policy H5 – 
Affordable Housing 
Contributions 

AMR16 Retail development up to 1,000 square metres 
net permitted and delivered on part of the 
mixed-use site allocated under Policy R2. 

Strategic Policy SP4 – 
Retail Growth 

Topic Based Policy R2 – 
Retail Allocations 

AMR21 The average overall density (units per hectare) 
permitted in respect of housing developments 

Topic Based Policy H4 – 
Housing Density 

Page 100



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

11 
 

Reference 
No. 

Monitoring Indicator Relevant LDP Policies 

in Towns, Large Villages, Small Villages and 
Rural Settlements. 

AMR27 Additional installed capacity (MW) of solar PV 
developments permitted within LSAs per 
annum. 

Topic Based Policy 
RE1– Renewable Energy 

AMR28 Number of community/district heating schemes 
permitted under Policy DM13 (criterion 15) per 
annum. 

Development 
Management Policy 
DM13 – Design and 
Resources 

AMR36 Number of developments permitted within 
Town Centres, which would result in less than: 

− 75% of units within a Primary Shopping 
Frontage. 

− 66% of units within Secondary 
Shopping Frontage. 

being for A1 and A3 uses. 

Topic Based Policy R3 – 
Development Within 
Town Centre Areas 

 

AMR59 Number of developments permitted resulting in 
the loss of an existing community or indoor 
recreation facility, or neighbourhood/village 
shop, public house or service. 

Development 
Management Policy 
DM11 – Protection of 
Existing Community 
Facilities and Services 

 

Page 101



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

12 
 

There are three monitoring indicators that require further investigation or research, as shown 

in Table 3. 

Table 3. Monitoring Indicators that Require Further Investigation or Research 

Reference 
No. 

Monitoring Indicator Relevant LDP 
Policies 

AMR15 Amount of employment land (hectares) permitted 
on allocated sites in the Development Plan as a % 
of all employment allocations. 

Strategic Policy SP2 
– Employment 
Growth 

AMR19 Net employment land permitted within each 
settlement tier measured as a percentage of all 
employment land permitted. 

Strategic Policy SP6 
– Distribution of 
Growth across the 
Settlement 
Hierarchy 

AMR20 Amount (hectares) and location of windfall 
development permitted on previously developed 
land and greenfield land. 

Strategic Policy SP6 
– Distribution of 
Growth across the 
Settlement 
Hierarchy 

 
 

 

Page 102



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

13 
 

Summary of Conclusions and Recommendations 

The results from the analysis of the monitoring indicators for the monitoring period, indicate 

that the adopted LDP policies are largely delivering and meeting the targets set out in the 

Annual Monitoring Framework, with 42 of the 62 monitoring indicators showing positive 

policy implementation. This includes nine Supplementary Planning Guidance documents 

being published since the LDP was adopted. With this level of monitoring targets achieved, it 

demonstrates that the majority of the policies in the Powys LDP, adopted in 2018, have 

delivered successfully on the sustainable growth and many of the land use objectives the 

LDP sought to achieve. 

It is recognised that the cumulative number of net additional dwellings delivered (2,809 

dwellings) is below what was anticipated (3,390 dwellings), giving a shortfall of 581 dwellings 

at the end of this monitoring period.  There are only three years remaining of the plan period 

therefore it is unlikely, that 4,500 new dwellings will be delivered to meet the adopted LDP 

dwelling requirement figure by the end of the plan period (March 2026). The LDP Growth 

Strategy is primarily led by housing growth, therefore the poor performance in monitoring 

indicators (AMR2a, AMR2b) that relate to housing completions demonstrate that the Plan’s 

strategy is not being delivered.  Consequently, the dwelling requirement figure will be revised 

for the Replacement LDP.  The revised figure will take into consideration the latest evidence 

relating to past build rates, population projections and evidence of need in the Local Housing 

Market Assessment (LHMA). 

The performance of the sites allocated for housing in the adopted LDP continues to be 

disappointing. There are 81 Housing Allocation sites in the LDP, of which 53 (65%) do not 

have any form of planning permission (monitoring indicator AMR4). The number of dwelling 

completions delivered on allocated housing sites, since the LDP was adopted, equates to 

155 dwellings, only fulfilling 10% of the 1,542 dwellings cumulative target (AMR5). However, 

it is recognised that of the 81 housing allocation sites, approximately a quarter are located 

within a phosphorus sensitive riverine Special Area of Conservation (SAC) catchment. This 

means that the necessary planning permissions cannot be granted unless applications are 

able to demonstrate phosphate neutrality or betterment. Which, without the local sewage 

wastewater treatment works having phosphate stripping (and the associated permit) in place 

is not currently possible. Some permissions have been granted within the monitoring period, 

but only where improvements to wastewater treatment works (including permits) are 

included in Dwr Cymru’s Asset Management Programme (AMP) 7, 2020-2025, e.g., 

Llandrindod Wells, Builth Wells.  

Undeveloped housing allocations in the adopted LDP will not be carried forward into the 

Replacement LDP, unless it has been demonstrated, through the candidate site process, 

that the reasons for non- deliverability have been addressed. 

LDP policies relating to the retail allocation, retail frontages, solar Local Search Areas, 

community/district heating schemes, housing density and protection of community facilities 

and services are not being implemented as intended. The preparation of the Replacement 

LDP will be used as an opportunity to review these policies. 

There are three areas where it is recommended that further investigation or research is 

required. All research / further investigation undertaken will be used as evidence to inform 

the preparation of the strategy, policies and proposals in the Replacement LDP and will be 

published alongside the consultation versions of the emerging Plan. 

 

Page 103



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

14 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.01 The LDP monitoring framework on which this Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) and 

subsequent AMRs is based includes a total of 62 monitoring indicators, which are set out in 

Chapter 5 of the adopted LDP or are a requirement of the Development Plans Manual 

(Edition 3, 2020). The monitoring indicators are used to monitor the effectiveness of the Plan 

and its policies.  

1.02 The AMR includes an analysis and a recommended action for each monitoring 

indicator. The colour codes and actions identified for each indicator align with Table 4 and 

are consistent with the Development Plans Manual (Edition 3). 

1.03 Further to the publication of AMR 2021 and the statutory post-adoption 4-year review 

of the adopted LDP which was published in the Review Report, the Council determined that 

a full review of the adopted LDP was required. Work commenced on a Replacement LDP in 

July 2022, in accordance with the timings of the approved Delivery Agreement, which was 

approved by the Council in March 2022, prior to submission to Welsh Government.   The 

findings of this, and previous AMRs, together with the Review Report must be taken into 

consideration in the preparation of the Replacement LDP. 

 

Table 4. Summary of Monitoring Assessment and Actions from Development Plans 

Manual (Edition 3) 

Continue Monitoring - Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

Training Required - Development plan policies are not being implemented as 
intended and officer or Member training is required. 

 

Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) Required - Development plan policies 
are not being implemented as intended and further guidance is required, potentially 
preparing additional SPG. 

 

Further Investigation/Research Required - Development plan policies are not being 
implemented as intended and further research and/or investigation is required. 

 

Policy Review Required - Development plan policies are not being implemented and 
are failing to deliver; a review of the specific policy may be required. 

 

Plan Review - Development plan policies are not being implemented and the plan’s 
strategy is not being delivered, triggering a formal review. 

(Following the Review of the adopted LDP this action has been changed to “To be 
Reconsidered in Replacement LDP”. 

Page 104



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

15 
 

2. Analysis of Significant Contextual Change / Indicators 

 

2.0.1 A summary and review of wider contextual issues and changes which have occurred 

during this monitoring period within which the LDP operates, i.e., external strategies/policies. 

 

2.1 National Context  

 

Census 2021 

The ten yearly Census (Census 2021) was undertaken on 21st March 2021. The Office for 

National Statistics (ONS) released the first results from Census 2021 on 28th June 2022. The 

aim of the ONS is for all the main results to be released within two years of the day the 

Census was undertaken. The Census results will be an important data source providing 

information on factors such as population size, demographics, employment status, and 

Welsh language usage, that can then be analysed at the local level. This information will 

contribute to the key evidence supporting the Replacement LDP. 

 

Local Development Plan Examinations: Procedure Guidance, Welsh Government 

(November 2022) 

This guidance is concerned with the procedural aspects of LDP examinations. It is aimed at 

all those involved in the process of examining a Plan, including Planning Inspectors and all 

interested parties.  It sets out guidance relating to the principles of the examination process, 

resources and timescales, key stages of the examination process, submission, hearing 

sessions, and the Inspector’s Report.  Appendix 1 of the guidance sets out the procedural 

requirements and tests of soundness and Appendix 2 sets out a series of preliminary 

questions for the Local Planning Authority (LPA) to provide a detailed response to at the time 

of submission. 

 

Public Planning Inquiries and Hearings: Venue and Facilities (February 2023) 

This guide sets out the requirements for ‘In-person’ events for public inquiries, hearings, and 

examinations (‘the event’) into planning, allied appeals and called-in applications, 

compulsory purchase and rights of way orders, development plan documents and the like. It 

provides guidance on health and safety, location, accessibility, rooms, electronic working 

facilities, retiring rooms, layout, Welsh language and other languages, and toilet facilities. 

 
Second Homes 
 

The Welsh Government announced new legislative measures relating to second homes in 

March 2022. From April 2023, local councils will be able to increase the maximum council 

tax premium on second homes up to 300% (up from the 100% limit set in 2017). In addition, 

new regulations have been set in place to increase the number of days that self-catering 

accommodation must be let to qualify for business rates. 

In July 2022, the First Minister and the Leader of Plaid Cymru jointly announced changes to 

planning regulations in Wales, which introduced new use classes to differentiate between 

Page 105



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

16 
 

primary and secondary homes and short-term lets. The announcement also included plans 

to develop a new statutory licensing scheme for all visitor accommodation and to allow 

councils greater powers over Council tax rates and second home numbers. 

As part of the measures two Statutory Instruments changing the Use Class Orders (detailed 

in Section 2.2) in Wales came into force on 20th October 2022, these being: 

• The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) (Amendment) (Wales) Order 2022; 

and 

• The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development etc.) 

(Amendment) (Wales) Order 2022. 

Further information on the Chief Planning Officer Letter relating to Changes to Planning 

Legislation and Policy for Second Homes and Short Term Lets (September 2022) can be 

found in Section 2.2 below. 

 
Historic Environment (Wales) Bill 

The Historic Environment (Wales) Bill was introduced into Senedd Cymru on 4th July 2022 
and passed on 28th March 2023.  The purpose of the Historic Environment (Wales) Bill is to 
consolidate legislation relating to the historic environment in Wales.  This is the first 
consolidation Bill brought forward as part of the Welsh Government’s initial five-year 
programme to improve the accessibility of Welsh law. 

The Bill brings together legislation currently set out in a number of Acts relating to the 
historic environment.  This aim of the legislation is to provide fully bilingual, orderly and 
accessible law for the effective protection and management of the unique historic 
environment of Wales so that it can continue to contribute to the well-being of Wales and its 
people.  It is anticipated that Royal Assent will be received in June 2023 (beyond this 
monitoring period) with work on implementation to follow. 

 

Technical Guidance - How to Improve Energy Efficiency in Historic Buildings in 

Wales, Cadw (April 2022) 

This document published by Cadw provides guidance on ways to reduce energy use in 

historic buildings and buildings of traditional construction and is aimed at owners and 

managers of such buildings.  The guidance is also relevant to architects, surveyors, building 

contractors and suppliers, and local authority conservation, planning, building control, 

environmental health and housing officers. It describes a ‘whole building approach’ to 

devising and implementing energy efficiency improvements that: 

• avoid harming the significance of the building 

• are effective, cost efficient, proportionate and sustainable 

• ensure a healthy and comfortable environment for occupants, and 

• minimise the risk of unintended consequences. 

It considers the factors that influence levels of energy use in historic buildings and explains 

the whole building energy planning process and the key stages involved. It also includes 

checklists of energy efficiency measures that might be suitable as part of the whole building 

approach, with links to sources of more detailed technical information on upgrading building 

elements such as roofs, walls and floors. 

 

Page 106



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

17 
 

The guidance is a companion volume to ‘Renewable Energy and Your Historic Building – 

installing Micro-generation systems: a Guide to Best Practice’, first published by Welsh 

Government/Cadw in 2010. 

 

Acceptable Cost / On Costs for Use with Social Housing Grant Funded Housing in 

Wales (August 2021, Revised May 2022) 

This updated guidance is intended to assist housing providers in deciding on the 

acceptability of scheme cost projects receiving grant e.g., Social Housing Grant (SHG).  

Welsh Government had published the previous guidance, in April 2021, to reflect the new 

approach towards calculating SHG (detailed in AMR 2022).  This revised guidance includes 

an update to the Acceptable Cost Guidance figures in Table 1 and Table 2.  Annexes A and 

B of the guidance, which previously only applied to Registered Social Landlords, have been 

withdrawn. 

 

Living Locally in Rural Wales – Planning Policy and Practice Discussion Paper, RTPI 

Cymru (2022) 

This discussion paper explores the concept of living locally in rural areas in Wales and 

whether the guiding principles behind the 15 minute neighbourhood model can be applied in 

more remote rural areas.  It also explores what role the planning system can play in 

supporting more sustainable, local living in rural Wales, not only to encourage less reliance 

on motor vehicles and support decarbonisation, but also to encourage the wider practice of 

placemaking within rural communities in Wales. 

The project makes several recommendations: 

• Retain and strengthen national, regional and local planning policy which 

promotes the principles of living locally to deliver sustainable development 

outcomes. 

• Move the planning system to a more outcome focused performance 

measurement to support the delivery of sustainable places on the ground. 

• Funding pressures have had a significant impact on rural local authorities and 

service provision in rural areas. There is a strong case for Welsh Government to 

be pro-active in encouraging and supporting local planning authorities in ensuring 

that these important services are adequately resourced. 

• Support joint working involving planners, other partners, agencies and sectors, to 

align strategic goals, investment priorities and outcomes and indicators 

collaboratively, to facilitate meaningful impact. 

• Digital and technological advancements should be developed around supporting 

local where possible, rather than a continued use of larger regional or national 

distribution centres for goods and services that require significant transportation 

and which by-passes local services and does not support the local economy. 

Planning has a role to play in supporting this wider local agenda though 

development planning and decision making. 

• Further consideration and targeted funding for connecting rural locations to 

services and facilities. For example, exploring new or enhanced public rights of 

way / bridleways / cycleways etc. and improvements to public transport. 

• Resource, training and support for local planning tools such as community led 

Place Plans, community engagement etc. Resources within communities, town 

and community councils and local planning authorities, would assist in improving 

Page 107



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

18 
 

understanding and provide the capability and capacity to support joined up 

working. 

• The sharing of resources and good practice across rural authorities, similar to 

that which has taken place in relation to holiday homes and short term lets in 

Wales. 

• Continued investigation, discussion and learning on how planning can support 

sustainable living in rural areas and the impacts and outcomes of living locally in 

rural Wales. 

 

Rural Planning in the 2020s: Wales Research Project, RTPI (July 2022) 

This research examines the challenges facing rural communities throughout the UK and in 

Ireland in the 2020s, including key challenges around the rural housing market, agricultural 

sector, demographic change, Covid-19, Brexit and Climate Change.  It seeks to address how 

rural planning will need to change to deal with these challenges, as well as how rural 

communities can meet policy and practice objectives for achieving sustainable development.  

The research paper is accompanied by a set of technical reports presenting the evidence 

and findings from each stage of the project - Thematic Reviews; Housing Market Analysis; 

Roundtable Analysis; National Policy Assessments; and Case Studies and Think Pieces. 

 

Assessing Landscape Sensitivity in Wales, Natural Resources Wales (August 2022) 

This guidance issued by Natural Resources Wales, sets out how to create and use a 

Landscape Sensitivity Assessment to inform decisions on spatial planning and land use 

change.  Landscape Sensitivity Assessments are used in spatial planning to help guide 

development or land management changes to less sensitive landscape locations.  They 

indicate whether the landscape character would be more susceptible, or less susceptible, to 

the type of change and whether that could affect landscape value.  The Assessments can 

assist in the strategic planning of infrastructure development - for example, renewable 

energy, energy infrastructure, and land allocations for housing and employment.  They need 

to be carried out at an early stage in planning, usually before specific development proposals 

and sites come forward. Local Planning Authorities can also use them in the preparation of 

their Local Development Plans. 

 

Tranquillity and Place: Visually Tranquil Areas, Natural Resources Wales 

Natural Resources Wales (NRW) have developed a new nationally consistent terrestrial 

Tranquillity and Place resource that identifies the strategic and local resource in remote, 

rural, peri-urban and urban areas for use as an evidence base to inform policy intent, 

practice and provision for well-being benefits.  Tranquillity is associated with the degree to 

which places and ecosystems deliver a state of quiet, calm, peace and well-being.  The 

Visually Tranquil Places resource was published in March 2022 with the Sound Environment 

Part I, in March 2023.  The Tranquillity and Place Story map explains how visually tranquil 

areas in Wales have been mapped.  The web map can help decision makers to determine 

the sensitivity of the visual tranquillity of an area to development and consider opportunities 

for conserving and enhancing existing tranquillity. The visually tranquil areas data is 

incorporated into the individual LANDMAP Visual and Sensory surveys (question 59). 

 
 

Page 108



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

19 
 

The Climate Crisis – A Guide for Local Authorities on Planning for Climate Change (4th 

Edition, January 2023) 

Published by the Town and Country Planning Association (TCPA), this guide replaces the 

2021 edition.  Written by the RTPI and the TCPA it provides an accessible introduction to the 

broad issues involved in planning for climate change.  It includes technical updates to reflect 

the most up-to-date evidence and practice and areas where national policy and guidance 

has moved on from the previous edition.  Case study content is provided in an associated 

online case study hub (TCPA website).  It includes three key shared messages for planners 

and the wider community within the context of believing that climate change should be the 

top priority for planning across the UK. 

 

The Roads Review and National Transport Delivery Plan 2022 to 2027 (February 2023) 

The Roads Review and National Transport Delivery Plan published by the Welsh 

Government builds on the foundations provided by Planning Policy Wales, Future Wales: 

The National Plan 2040, Net Zero Wales and the National Transport Strategy. 

The Roads Review – The Future of Road Improvements in Wales sets out the advice from 

the Roads Review Panel on current road projects and how to consider future projects. 

https://www.gov.wales/future-road-investment-wales 

The National Transport Delivery Plan sets out the programmes, projects and policies to 

deliver Llwybr Newydd, the National Transport Strategy:  https://www.gov.wales/national-

transport-delivery-plan-2022-2027 

The suite of documents provides a consistent framework to consider the scale and location 

of new development by adopting the transport hierarchy.  Both the Roads Review and 

National Transport Delivery Plan explicitly acknowledge the role of planning in reducing 

transport demand and promoting modal shift.  The importance of coordinating Strategic 

Development Plans and Regional Transport Plans by Corporate Joint Committees is 

highlighted, together with the assistance available from Transport for Wales who can provide 

data and modelling to support the use of accessibility modelling and multi modal studies. 

 

Page 109

https://www.gov.wales/future-road-investment-wales
https://www.gov.wales/national-transport-delivery-plan-2022-2027
https://www.gov.wales/national-transport-delivery-plan-2022-2027


Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

20 
 

2.2 Chief Planning Officer Letters and NRW Letters 

Publication of the Development Plans Community Guide (Edition 2), Planning Aid 

Wales and Welsh Government (May 2022) 

This letter announces the publication of a new edition of the Development Plans Community 

Guide, Edition 2, which replaces Edition 1 of the Guide published in 2006.  The Guide has 

been updated in order to reflect significant changes to the development plan system since 

2006, in particular the publication of Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 and the move 

towards Strategic Developments Plans (SDP).  The updated Guide provides guidance for 

the public on the preparation of Strategic Development Plans and Local Development Plans.   

The guide provides a useful and helpful resource for communities and interested parties to 

assist understanding of the development plan process in Wales. It advises when to engage 

and how to do this in meaningful ways, to ensure views are made as early as possible to 

influence plans. A quick read guide is also available. The Guide is published on the Council’s 

Planning Policy website. 

 

COP15, Biodiversity Deep Dive, Section 6 Duty and the Planning System (December 

2022) 

The purpose of this letter is to highlight the essential role that the planning system must play 

in meeting the challenges laid down by COP15, the Deep Dive recommendations and in 

fulfilling the Section 6 Duty in Wales. Furthermore, the letter gives notice of proposed 

changes to planning policy in relation to net benefit for biodiversity and the protection 

afforded to Sites of Special Scientific Interest and trees and woodlands. 

The Deep Dive has committed delivery of a 30 by 30 target, to protect, effectively and 

equitably manage 30% of Wales’ land, freshwater and seas by 2030 as a strategic focus to 

consider where and how action could be accelerated. Planning Policy Wales (PPW) details 

the planning system response to the Section 6 Duty by setting out a framework for planning 

authorities to maintain and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of their functions (providing a 

net benefit for biodiversity). 

The letter also requires planning authorities to have regard to the Welsh Government’s 

Approach to Net Benefits and the DECCA Framework in the Terrestrial Planning System. 

This is a joint CIEEM (Chartered Institute of Ecology and Environmental Management) and 

Welsh Government briefing note which provides further supporting information on delivering 

net benefits for biodiversity and the resilience of ecosystems. It also includes key 

considerations for ecologists and developers in submitting planning proposals.  

 

Changes to Planning Legislation and Policy for Second Homes and Short Term Lets 

(September 2022) 

On 4th July 2022, the First Minister and the leader of Plaid Cymru announced a package of 

measures to tackle the issue of second homes and short-term lets in Wales. This included a 

land use planning element - the introduction of three new use classes to give local planning 

authorities the ability to control the number of second homes and short-term lets in an area. 

Changes to the Use Classes included:  

• The Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (the UCO) being 

amended to create new use classes for ‘Dwellinghouses, used as sole or main 

Page 110

https://gov.wales/development-plans-community-guide
https://cieem.net/resource/cieem-briefing-welsh-governments-approach-to-net-benefits-for-biodiversity-and-the-decca-framework/
https://cieem.net/resource/cieem-briefing-welsh-governments-approach-to-net-benefits-for-biodiversity-and-the-decca-framework/


Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

21 
 

residences’ (Class C3), ‘Dwellinghouses, used otherwise than as sole or main 

residences’ (Class C5) and ‘Short-term Lets’ (Class C6); 

• The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 

(the GPDO) being amended to allow permitted changes between the new use 

classes, C3, C5 and C6. These permitted development rights can be dis-applied 

within a specific area by an Article 4 Direction made by a local planning authority 

on the basis of robust local evidence. 

Complementary changes will also be made to section 4.2 of Planning Policy Wales (PPW). 

These policy changes will make it explicit that, where relevant, the prevalence of second 

homes and short-term lets in a local area must be taken into account when considering 

housing requirements and policy approaches in Local Development Plans (LDPs).  

The amendments to PPW will make it clear that where a local planning authority introduces 

an Article 4 Direction, it should reinforce its actions by requiring conditions to be placed on 

all new dwellings restricting their use to Class C3 where such a condition would meet the 

relevant tests. Local authorities will also be required to allocate sites in LDPs that are 

restricted to C3 use, including local market housing, in areas where they are seeking to 

manage second homes and short-term lets. The changes to PPW will be incorporated into 

its next revision, which is expected to be published during 2023. 

Page 111



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

22 
 

2.3 Regional Context 

Mid Wales Regional Strategic Flood Consequences Assessment (November 2022) 

Following the delay to the implementation of the revised Technical Advice Note (TAN)15 all 

LPAs were required to carry out a (or update an existing) Strategic Flood Consequences 

Assessment (SFCA) for their area, taking into consideration climate change projections and 

Flood Map for Planning (FMfP). 

The Mid Wales SFCA was undertaken as a desk-based study that collated existing 

information to undertake a broad assessment of potential flood risks across the Mid Wales 

Region from all sources of flooding including FMfP. The study identified areas at potential 

high risk from flooding, as well as providing details of historical flood events and details of 

any flood risk management structures or procedures present.  

The study also provided guidance on implementing the revised TAN 15 and managing flood 

risk in a development site. Further information was also provided on opportunities to slow 

and store water as part of natural flood management. 

The proposed revised TAN 15 has been subject to further amendments, which were to be 

consulted on in April 2023. Once the revised TAN 15 has been finalised the SFCA will be 

updated to reflect the amendments made. 

 

Hafren Dyfrdwy - Drainage and Wastewater Management Plan (March 2023) 

This is Hafren Dyfrdwy’s first ever Drainage and Wastewater Management Plan (DWMP). 

Covering north Powys, including the Towns of Newtown and Welshpool, it sets out Hafren 

Dyfrdwy plans to address industry issues such as flooding and sewerage management and 

the challenges arising from population growth and climate change. This plan will provide the 

evidence for their forthcoming PR24 submission and inform subsequent price reviews. The 

DWMP will be reviewed and updated every five years to account for industry developments 

and to allow for an update to assumptions, especially around climate change. 

 

Area Statement Review (March 2023) 

The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 required Natural Resources Wales (NRW) to prepare 

and publish regional statements, referred to as “Area Statements”, for the areas of Wales 

that it considers appropriate for the purpose of facilitating the implementation of the national 

Natural Resources Policy. Area Statements outline the key challenges facing the respective 

region, what collectively can be done to meet those challenges, and how natural resources 

can be better managed for the benefit of future generations.  The Powys LPA area is within 

the region covered by the Mid Wales Area Statement, which also includes the LPA areas for 

Ceredigion and the Brecon Beacons National Park. 

Since the publication of Area Statements, three years ago, there has been a global 

pandemic and cost of living crisis, with communities continuing to feel the ever-increasing 

impacts of the climate and nature emergencies.  NRW must keep Area Statements under 

review; as part of the review, stakeholders and communities were recently invited to 

complete a survey.  The review continues to ensure that Area Statements are updated and 

improved through engagement with more people, gathering new evidence, putting forward 

new ideas and creating further opportunities. 

 

Page 112



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

23 
 

Area statements are a key piece of evidence for the LPA to consider in preparing the 

Replacement LDP. They provide evidence of environmental and natural resources issues 

and should be used as part of the evidence base for the Replacement LDP and when 

fulfilling the LPA’s duty to maintain and enhance biodiversity in exercising its planning 

functions. 

 

Regional Viability Model 

The Powys LPA published guidance on Candidate Sites Viability Assessment for the Call for 

Candidate Sites stage of the Replacement LDP process in November 2022.  The document 

provided specific guidance on the process to be used for assessing the viability of Candidate 

Sites.  Viability is a key consideration in the Candidate Site assessment process, alongside 

sustainability and deliverability considerations. 

The guidance describes the key stages and timescales involved in assessing the viability of 

Candidate Sites.  A three-stage process is proposed: 

• Stage 1 - an Initial Site Viability Assessment required to be undertaken by all site 

proposers using the regional Development Viability Model (DVM) at the 

Candidate Sites stage. 

• Stage 2 – a High Level Plan Wide Viability Assessment of the Replacement LDP 

to be undertaken by the Powys LPA at Preferred Strategy and Deposit stage. 

• Stage 3 – a Detailed Site-Specific Viability Assessment to be undertaken by site 

proposers, with additional information and evidence, after Preferred Strategy 

stage.  

Locked site-specific versions of the DVM were made available on request to site proposers 

free of charge for completion and submission as part of their Candidate Site submissions.  

However, there will be a charge to use the DVM for the Detailed Site-Specific Viability 

Assessment at Stage 3 of the process for sites that are proposed for allocation. 

The DVM continues to be used in support of viability challenges at the planning application 

stage. 

 

Page 113



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

24 
 

2.4 Local Context 

Powys County Council Declaration of a Nature Emergency (October 2022) 

A motion to declare a Nature Emergency was approved at a Full ouncil meeting on 13th 

October 2022.  The motion, proposed by County Councillor Adam Kennerley, was approved 

by 36 votes to 16 with five abstentions.  It was resolved to: 

1. Declare a Nature Emergency as demonstration of the Council’s commitment to 

protecting and rejuvenating Powys’ natural environment for its inherent value, for the role 

nature plays in achieving a vibrant and viable economy and for the benefits nature 

provides to the wellbeing of our county’s residents. 

2. Establish meaningful supportive structures that embed nature in decision making 

including:  

a) Establish a cross-party Nature Emergency Working Group within the Council to help 

embed biodiversity in Council decision making, it’s engagement in partnerships and 

its ambitions for county-wide nature recovery. 

 

b) Appointment of a Council Member as a champion for nature as allowed for by this 

Council’s constitution.  

c) Actively seek to secure the funding from external new resources for a dedicated and 

permanent Nature Recovery County Council Officer, between them to help drive 

nature recovery within the Council and to animate action amongst stakeholders, 

seeking new external funds to help enable the delivery of nature recovery.  

d) Reaffirm the Council’s support for the Local Nature Partnership and to actively 

encourage and enable its development as an independent stakeholder group to 

represent those who manage nature alongside those who use and / or benefit from 

nature. 

3. Take meaningful action to help achieve a net increase in nature county-wide including: 

a) To draw up a response – outlining the Council’s role – to the recently published 

Powys Nature Recovery Plan produced by Powys Local Nature Partnership and 

which sets out actions needed to protect and conserve existing systems and to 

restore nature at a scale and pace commensurate with the threats it faces. 

b) To show meaningful leadership by reviewing how the Council’s assets and services 

can be more fully harnessed for reversing our county’s loss of nature. An immediate 

priority to be the County Farm Estates. To then extend this as resources allow to 

review all services the Council provides such as Planning (exploring opportunities 

afforded by the review of the adopted LDP to implement the motion for example), 

Procurement (a lot of nature’s recovery can be aided by what and how we consume 

for example), Highways (further adoption of roadside verges as nature reserves), 

Education Services (skills development, school grounds), Countryside (parks 

management for example) etc. 

 

Corporate and Strategic Equality Plan 2023-2027 (February 2023) 

The Corporate and Strategic Equality Plan 2023-2027 was approved by Full Council in 

February 2023. The document replaces Vision 2025 and sets out the well-being priorities for 

Powys County Council for the next five years and what action is needed to deliver them. The 

plan sets out the following ambitions by 2027: 

Page 114



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

25 
 

• Stronger - We will become a county that succeeds together, with communities and 
people that are well connected socially, and are personally and economically 
resilient.  

• Fairer - We will be an open, well-run, Council where people's voices are heard and 
help to shape our work and priorities, with fairer, more equal, access to services and 
opportunities. We will work to tackle poverty and inequality to support the well-being 
of the people of Powys.  

• Greener - We want to ensure a greener future for Powys, where our well-being is 
linked to that of the natural world, and our response to the climate and nature 
emergencies is at the heart of everything we do.  

The objectives, detailed in the plan, focus on areas to improve or develop to make people’s 

lives better, both as individuals and as communities.  The core aims of the Plan: 

1. To improve people's awareness of services, and how to access them, so that they 

can make informed choices.  

2. To support good quality, sustainable, employment, providing training opportunities, 

and pursuing real living wage employer accreditation.  

3. To work to tackle poverty and inequality to support the well-being of the people of 

Powys. 

 

The Public Service Board (PSB) Local Well-Being Plan 

A Local Well-being Plan (2040: A Fair, Sustainable and Healthy Powys), has been published 

in draft (January 2023) with the following core aims: 

• People in Powys will live happy, healthy, and safe lives, 

• Powys is a county of sustainable places and communities, 

• An increasingly effective Public Service for the people of Powys. 

Following a 12-week consultation on the Local Well-being Plan, that was launched in 

January 2023, the plan was due to be approved and published in June 2023. 

 

Town Centre Investment Plans / Placemaking Plans 

In 2022, Powys County Council commissioned consultants to prepare Town Centre 

Investment Plans for ten of the market towns within Powys, as part of a regeneration 

programme for the county. The Town Centre Investment Plans have been prepared in 

conjunction with the local Town Council’s and include a vision and priorities for each Town’s 

future. The Investment Plans will be used to help attract and shape investment and support 

the vitality of the town and its recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic. Each Plan has a town 

centre focus whilst taking into consideration the importance and influence of the 

opportunities found within the wider area. The Plans have identified and include priorities, 

actions and projects that will need to be taken into consideration in the Replacement LDP. 

The ten towns with Town Centre Investment Plans are: 

• Builth Wells 

• Knighton, 

• Llandrindod Wells 

• Llandrindod, 

• Llanidloes 

• Llanwrtyd Wells 

• Machynlleth 

Page 115



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

26 
 

• Presteigne 

• Rhayader 

• Welshpool, 

• Ystradgynlais 

Placemaking Plans which will serve a similar purpose are also being undertaken for: 

• Montgomery 

• Llanfyllin 

Newtown already has a Place Plan in place, which was adopted as SPG in July 2021. Whilst 

Llanfair Caereinion has its own Town Plan. 

 

Page 116

https://newtown.org.uk/consultations/placeplan.html


Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

27 
 

3. Contextual Indicators 

3.1.1 Welsh Government guidance contained within the Development Plans Manual 

(Edition 3) states that contextual indicators should be “defined by each LPA and involve the 

consideration of influences at a strategic level to describe the economic, social and 

environmental conditions within which the development plan operates”. 

3.1.2 The contextual indicators listed below did not form part of the Annual Monitoring 

Framework included within the adopted Powys LDP. They have been included in this AMR 

to meet the requirements of the Development Plans Manual (Edition 3) and to give an 

overview of factors that may influence the performance of the Powys LDP or be a wider 

reflection on the implementation of the strategy. Environmental indicators have not been 

included in this section as the section detailing the results of the SA indicators contains a 

wide range of contextual data relating to the environment. 

Page 117



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

28 
 

Contextual Indicator 1: The number and percentage of people in Powys by their 

economic activity. Either unemployed, economically inactive or economically active. 

Objective: Vibrant Economy 

Indicator: The number and percentage of people in Powys by their 
economic activity. Either unemployed, economically inactive or 
economically active. 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP2 – Employment Growth 

Related Policies: 
N/A 

Target: No increase in the percentage of working aged people in Powys who 
are unemployed. 

Trigger Point: 
The percentage of the working age population in Powys who are 
unemployed increases for two consecutive years.  

 
Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018 

AMR 2020 (2019-2020):  

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

 

 

 

Analysis 

This contextual indicator puts into context the employment strategy of the adopted LDP. 
During the preparation of the adopted LDP, the evidence base did not identify a strong 
relationship between population growth and an employment land requirement. Instead, it 
was recommended provision be made for businesses to be able to upgrade and replace 
premises. To meet this need, the adopted LDP allocated 45 hectares of employment land. 

Table 5 shows that the working age population of Powys reduced between 2018 and 
2021, with a slight increase in 2022. Demographic data collected through Census 2021 
suggests that the reduction in the working age population is set to continue for the 
remainder of the adopted LDP period (up to 2026) and over the lifetime of the 
Replacement LDP (2022-2037). 

Unemployment data is not available at the Powys level for this monitoring period, however 
for Wales the total number of people unemployed was recorded at being 2.3%. In 
contrast, concerns have been raised over a range of industries across Powys about 
difficulties in recruiting new staff with vacancies remaining unfilled.  

Research will be undertaken as evidence to support the preparation of the Replacement 
LDP, this will include reconsidering targets and the spatial strategy with regards to 
employment development. The research will take into consideration factors such as the 
working age population in Powys, unemployment levels and the Growth Deal together with 
the need for a balance between new homes and jobs. 

 

Page 118



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

29 
 

Table 5. The Number and Percentage of People in Powys by their Economic Activity 

either Unemployed, Economically Inactive or Economically Active (including BBNP). 

Date - 31st 
December 
Each Year 

Working Age 
Population 
(Aged 16-64) 

Economically 
Active 

Economically 
Inactive 

Unemployed Percentage 

Unemployed 

2022 74,200 57,100 17,100 Not available Not available 

2021 72,500 57,700 14,800 2,800 3.9% 

2020 73, 400 58,300 15,100 3,000 4.1% 

2019 73,600 57,700 15,800 1,800 2.4% 

2018 74,100 59,000 15,100 1,300 1.8% 

2017 75,000 61,500 13,500 1,500 2% 

Source: Wellbeing Information Bank: View information about Employment workforce - Powys 

County Council 

 
 

Action 
 
Continue monitoring. 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 119

https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/11129/Wellbeing-Information-Bank-View-information-about-Employment-workforce
https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/11129/Wellbeing-Information-Bank-View-information-about-Employment-workforce


Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

30 
 

Contextual Indicator 2: The number of recorded homelessness cases in Powys. 

Objective: Meeting Future Needs 

Indicator: The number of recorded homelessness cases in Powys. 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP3 – Affordable Housing Target 

Related Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP1 – Housing Growth 

Target: No increase in the number of recorded homelessness cases in 
Powys. 

Trigger Point: 
The number of recorded homelessness cases in Powys increases 
for two consecutive years.  

 
Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018 

AMR 2020 (2019-2020):  

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

Analysis 

This contextual indicator puts into context the Housing Strategy of the adopted LDP, which 
is to provide 4,500 additional dwellings, of which 952 are affordable over the lifetime of the 
plan.  The reasons for homelessness are outside the remit of the plan, these include the 
breakdown of relationships, parents no longer willing or able to accommodate grown up 
children or the loss of rented or tied accommodation. However, an increase in 
homelessness can be seen as an indicator of housing need, a consistent increase may 
indicate that housing need outweighs the supply of dwellings (particularly affordable) 
being delivered through the adopted LDP. 

Table 6 shows the number of cases of homelessness recorded during the monitoring 
period. The data shows a year-on-year increase. In 2020 -2021, this was likely to be due 
to the Covid-19 pandemic which had resulted in job losses, reduced incomes and 
increased pressure on relationships during lockdowns. Since April 2022, and continuing 
into April 2023, it has been recognised that there is a cost-of-living crisis where inflation 
and the cost of living is increasing at a pace much faster than annual incomes, this has 
been further exacerbated by rising interest rates, effecting mortgages and rental prices. 
The number of homelessness cases has also been influenced by the rapid increase in 
house prices locally over the past few years, however this trend has now started to slow if 
not reverse. 

Registered Social Landlords (RSL) and the Strategic Housing Authority (SHA) are working 
with the Welsh Government to address homelessness. This includes a programme of new 
build social housing schemes which are at various stages between early discussions, 
planning applications submitted, under construction and completed sites. The programme 
itself resulted in an additional 92 affordable dwellings during this monitoring period. 

The increase in the number of cases of homelessness will need to be taken into 
consideration when determining the dwelling requirement and affordable housing target 
for the Replacement LDP. This will include further investigation and research into how 
homelessness cases translate into the number of additional affordable homes required, 
where the need is within the Plan area and the type of properties required. The evidence 

Page 120



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

31 
 

 

Table 6. Number of Homelessness Cases in Powys (including BBNP) 

 

Year (1st April to 31st March) Number of Cases 

2019 - 2020 607 

2020 - 2021 714 

2021 - 2022 831 

2022 - 2023 1103 

Source: Powys County Council 

 

Action 
 
To be Reconsidered in Replacement LDP. 

 

 

 

 

  

base to support the Replacement LDP will also consider whether there are adequate 
employment opportunities within communities. 

https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/11126/Wellbeing-Information-Bank-View-information-
about-homelessness 

 

Page 121

https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/11126/Wellbeing-Information-Bank-View-information-about-homelessness
https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/11126/Wellbeing-Information-Bank-View-information-about-homelessness


Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

32 
 

Contextual Indicator 3: Average house price in comparison to average income in 

Powys 

Objective: Meeting Future Needs 

Indicator: Average house price in comparison to average income in 
Powys 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP1 – Housing Growth 

Related Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP3 – Affordable Housing Target 

Target: For any increase in the average house price to be proportionate to 
an increase in average income. 

Trigger Point: 
Increase in average house prices not proportionate to increase in 
average income for two consecutive years. 

 
Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018 

AMR 2020 (2019-2020):  

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

Analysis 

This contextual indicator looks at the data regarding house price data versus wages.  A 
consistent increase in house prices that is not reflected in increases in wages would 
impact on affordability and may mean that the proportion of people unable to buy their 
own home is on the increase. 

The indicator looks at annual average house prices using data taken from the Land 

Registry House Price Index. The data is for all property types including new build and 

existing properties for the Powys County Council area including house prices in the area 

within the Brecon Beacons National Park (BBNP).  Detailed house price data within the 

Land Registry’s Price Paid Data is used to inform viability monitoring as part of monitoring 

indicator AMR9. 

Table 7 shows that average houses prices in Powys have increased by only 3.5% during 
this monitoring period, which is a lower rate than the change experienced within recent 
previous years.  The Land Registry’s House Price Index (March 2022) shows the average 
house price for Powys (£251,937) continues to be amongst the highest in Wales, following 
Monmouthshire (£364,643), the Vale of Glamorgan (£313,772), Cardiff (£266,159) and 
Ceredigion (£260,366). 

The volume of monthly sales in Powys has been on a downward trend during the latter 
part of the monitoring period from a high point at 148 in August 2022 down to 96 in 
December 2022.  This trend suggests that economic uncertainty, the cost of living crisis 
and affordability constraints are having an impact on the housing market. 

With regards to income data, the Office of National Statistics (ONS) carries out an Annual 
Survey of Hours and Earnings, the data from which is available at local authority level in 
Wales through Stats Wales.  Table 7 shows that average weekly earnings have decreased 
slightly since March 2022.   

Page 122



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

33 
 

 

Table 7. Annual Average House Prices taken from the Land Registry House Price 

Index figure for Powys (including BBNP) 

Date Average 
House Price 

Percentage 
increase from 
previous year 

Average weekly 
earnings (per 
head) 

Percentage 
increase from 
previous year 

April 2018 (at 
LDP adoption) 

£179,837 N/A £464.40 N/A 

March 2019 £185,306 3.2% £477.80 2.9% 

March 2020 £188,728 1.8% £507.70 6.3% 

March 2021 £212,057 12.3% £540.20 6.4% 

March 2022 £243,443 14.8% £576.30 6.7% 

February 2023 £251,937 3.5% £573.20 -0.5% 

Source: Land Registry House Price Index https://landregistry.data.gov.uk 

Stats Wales - average median gross weekly earnings by Welsh local areas and year (last 

updated November 2022) https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-

Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Earnings 

 

Action 
 
To be Reconsidered in Replacement LDP. 

 
 

 

In the previous AMR (AMR2022) reference was made to CACI Paycheck Household 
Income data, which was considered to provide a more direct indication of household 
incomes and, therefore, affordability, with data also available at a more local level.  
Unfortunately, this data had not been updated at the time of reporting. 

The results for this contextual indicator demonstrate that average house prices in Powys 
are increasing at a higher rate than average income, and therefore continue to be 
disproportionate to each other.  The housing affordability gap in Powys, therefore, 
continues to widen.  The impact of these changes on affordability will also depend on 
factors around mortgage availability, including loan to value ratios and deposit levels. 

The impact of changes in house prices in relation to household incomes and on 
affordability levels will be considered and assessed as part of the Replacement LDP 
process.  The new Local Housing Market Assessment 2022, which will be based on Welsh 
Government’s new methodology and guidance, will take into account house price and 
household income data.  The results of this assessment will provide evidence of housing 
need across the Powys LDP area and locally at a Housing Market Area level, which will be 
used to inform the Replacement LDP’s strategy and affordable housing policies. 

 

Page 123

https://landregistry.data.gov.uk/
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Earnings
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Earnings


Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

34 
 

4. Analysis of Core / Key Indicators 

4.1.1 Core / Key Indicators are identified in the Development Plans Manual published by 

Welsh Government.  

4.1.2 Unless stated otherwise only Full and Outline planning applications permitted have 

been considered to prevent any double counting. 

Page 124



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

35 
 

Theme 1 – Planning for Growth in Sustainable Places 

 

Objective 1 – Meeting Future Needs 

To meet the needs arising in Powys over the plan period up to 2026, to provide 

adequate, appropriately located land for: 

i. 5,588 dwellings to deliver a dwelling requirement of 4,500 which will meet all 

the housing needs of Powys’ increasing and ageing population and its decreasing 

size of households, including open market and affordable housing, gypsy and 

traveller accommodation and other specialist housing needs. 

ii. 45 hectares of employment and economic development uses. 

iii. Retail, tourism, recreation, infrastructure, services and other needs. 

 
Objective 1 Core Indicators - Summary Table for Annual Monitoring Report Period. 

Ref 
No: 

Indicator Assessment Action 

AMR1 Housing land supply (in years) (per 
reporting period and since LDP 
adoption) and according to the latest 
Joint Housing Land Availability Study 

N/A N/A 

AMR2a The annual level of housing 
completions monitored against the 
Average Annual Requirement. (AAR) 

 To be Reconsidered in 
Replacement LDP 

AMR2b Total cumulative completions 
monitored against the anticipated 
cumulative completion rate. 

 To be Reconsidered in 
Replacement LDP 

AMR3 The number of net additional 
affordable homes built in the LPA 
area. 

 Continue Monitoring 

AMR3b Affordable Housing by Tenure – New  Continue Monitoring 

AMR7 Average % of affordable housing 
secured as a proportion of total 
number of housing units permitted on 
private developments of 5 or more 
units in each sub-market area. 

 Continue Monitoring 

AMR9 Changes in residual values (housing 
development viability) across the 4 
sub-market areas, set against the 
residual values applied in the Viability 
Assessment Update (August 2016). 

 Policy Review 
Required 

Page 125



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

36 
 

Ref 
No: 

Indicator Assessment Action 

AMR14 No. of gypsy traveller sites and no. of 
pitches granted planning permission 
and delivered. 

Monitoring 
completed 2021 

No further monitoring 
required. 

AMR15 Amount of employment land 
(hectares) permitted on allocated 
sites in the Development Plan as a % 
of all employment allocations. 

 Further 
Investigation/Research 
Required 

 

Page 126



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

37 
 

AMR1: Housing land supply (in years) (per reporting period and since LDP adoption) 

and according to the latest Joint Housing Land Availability Study 

Objective: Meeting Future Needs 

Indicator: Housing land supply (in years) (per reporting period and since 
LDP adoption) and according to the latest Joint Housing Land 
Availability Study 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP1 – Housing Growth 

Related Policies: 
N/A 

Target: 
Maintain a minimum 5-year supply of land for housing (as required 
by TAN1). 
 

Trigger Point: 
JHLAS Study records a housing land supply of less than 5 years in 
any one year following adoption of the Plan 

 
Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018 

AMR 2020 (2019-2020):  

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

 

Action 

N/A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Analysis 

This is no longer a core indicator.   The need to demonstrate at least a five-year supply of 
housing land has been replaced by monitoring against the Housing Trajectory.  See 
AMR2b. 

 

Page 127



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

38 
 

AMR2a.  Number of net additional dwellings (general market and affordable) built in 

the LPA area (per reporting period and since LDP adoption). 

Due to the publication of Development Plans Manual Edition 3 (March 2020) AMR2 has 

been revised and split between AMR2a and AMR2b. 

Objective: Meeting Future Needs 

Indicator: AMR2a. The annual level of housing completions monitored 
against the Average Annual Requirement. (AAR) 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP1 – Housing Growth 

Related Policies: 
N/A 

Target: 
To provide 4,500 (average 300 per annum) net additional dwellings 
over the Plan period 2011-2026.  

 

Trigger Point: 
The number of annual net additional dwellings completed falls below 
the Average Annual Requirement (for two consecutive years). 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018 

AMR 2020 (2019-2020):  

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator relates to the Growth Strategy of the LDP which included a 
dwelling requirement figure of 4,500 new dwellings. For the LDP to provide 4,500 
dwellings over the 15-year period (2011 to 2026), the annual average net number of 
dwellings to be completed each year equates to 300 units.  

During the monitoring period (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) a total of 339 dwellings 
were completed. As shown in the table below, this figure is a sustained improvement on 
the early years of the plan and above the original 300 dwellings annual average dwelling 
requirement figure. 

From the start of the plan period 1st April 2011 to the 1st of April 2015 base date when the 
housing provision components were calculated, 622 units residential units had been 
completed. This is below the 1,200 units required over the four-year period giving a 
shortfall of 578 units. 

To account for the shortfall the Annual Average Requirement (AAR) figure should be 
adjusted to 352.5 dwellings a year (rounded to 353 dwellings), as per the examples shown 
in paragraph 8.16 of the Development Plans Manual (Edition 3). This is reflected in Table 
8, Table 9 (21A) and Figure 1 the housing trajectory below. 

The number of additional dwellings completed between 1st April 2022 and 31st March 2023 
is above the AAR as set out in the plan (300 units), but below the adjusted AAR (353 
units), which takes into account the shortfall accrued in the early years of the plan.  

Eight years have now passed since the housing provision base date of April 2015 within 
the eight-year period there are three periods where the annual completion figure was less 

Page 128



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

39 
 

 

Table 8. Annual Net Housing Completions against the Annual Average Requirement 

(AAR) Figure 

Year Completions Against 
AAR (300 
units) 

Percentage Against 
AAR (353 
units) 

Percentage 

2011 - 2015 622 - 578 - 48% N/A N/A 

2015 - 2016 316 +16 + 5% - 38 - 10% 

2016 - 2017 253 - 47 -16% - 93 - 28% 

2017 - 2018 195 - 105 - 35% - 167 - 45% 

2018 - 2019 163 - 137 - 46% - 208 - 54% 

2019 - 2020 237 - 63 - 21% - 123 - 33% 

2020 – 2021 315 +15 + 5% - 38 - 11% 

2021 – 2022 369 + 69 + 23% + 16 + 5% 

2022 – 2023 339 + 39 + 13% - 14 - 4% 

 

Action 

To be Reconsidered in Replacement LDP. 

The plan’s strategy is not being delivered. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

than the AAR for more than two consecutive years.  This means the trigger point has been 
reached and that the objective of delivering 4,500 dwellings before the end of the plan-
period is unlikely to be met. The housing component of the strategy will therefore need to 
be reassessed during the preparation of the Replacement LDP.   

Consideration is given to the cumulative requirement against cumulative completions in 
monitoring indicator AMR 2b. 

Page 129



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

40 
 

The Development Plans Manual (Edition 3) Welsh Government guidance requires LPA’s to include a Table (21A) and a trajectory to reflect the 

actual annual completions compared against the Annual Average Requirement and for it to be presented as follows.  

Table 9. (21A) Housing Trajectory at 1st April 2023 

 

*Note the total completion figure for years 1-4 differs slightly to the 622 published in Table H2 of the LDP, due to changes in monitoring 

systems which includes the change from monitoring 1st Jan - 31st Dec to 1st April – 31st March. 

**Annual Average Requirement in the LDP is 300 units however this has had to be amended to take into consideration the units completed 

prior to the base date of the plan (April 2015) when the housing provision was calculated.  

LDP Year 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 

  
2011
-12 

2012
-13 

2013
-14 

2014
-15 

2015
-16 

2016
-17 

2017
-18 

2018
-19 

2019
-20 

2020
-21 

2021
-22 

2022
-23 

2023
-24 

2024
-25 

2025
-26 

Actual Completions Large 15 147 123 0 231 139 107 53 96 173 246     

Actual Completions Small 82 60 69 99 85 114 88 110 141 142 93     

Anticipated completions allocated 
(HA) sites during year 

            161 482 628 

Anticipated landbank (HC/HLB) 
completions during year 

            104 138 84 

Anticipated completions windfall 
during year 

            110 110 110 

Total Actual Completions during 
year 

97 207 192 99 316 253 195 163 237 315 369 339    

Annual Average Requirement 
(AAR) 

    353 353 353 353 353 353 353 353 353 353 353 

Total anticipated completions:             375 730 822 

P
age 130



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

41 
 

Figure 1. Housing Development Trajectory 2011 – 2026 on 1st April 2023 

 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26

H
o

u
si

n
g 

C
o

m
p

le
ti

o
n

s

Year

Housing Development Trajectory 2011-2026

Actual Completions Large Actual Completions Small

Anticipated completions allocated (HA) sites during year Anticipated landbank (HC/HLB) completions during year

Anticipated completions windfall during year Annual Average Requirement (AAR)

Total Actual Completions during year

P
age 131



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

42 
 

AMR2b. Number of net additional dwellings (general market and affordable) built in 

the LPA area (per reporting period and since LDP adoption). 

Due to the publication of Development Plans Manual Edition 3 (March 2020) AMR2 has 

been revised and split between AMR2a and AMR2b. 

Objective: Meeting Future Needs 

Indicator: 
AMR2b. The annual level of housing completions monitored 
against the cumulative Average Annual Requirement. (AAR)  

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP1 – Housing Growth 

Related Policies: 
N/A 

Target: 
To provide 4,500 (average 300 per annum) net additional dwellings 
over the Plan period 2011-2026.  

Annual net additional dwelling requirement for remainder of the Plan 
period: 

2015-2016: 322 
2016-2017: 321 
2017-2018: 325 
2018-2019: 357 
2019-2020: 356 
2020-2021: 356 
2021-2022: 377 
2022-2023: 354 
2023-2024: 367 
2024-2025: 361 
2025-2026: 352 
 

Trigger Point: 
The number of annual net additional dwellings completed falls below 
the cumulative dwelling requirement (identified in the target as the 
annual net additional dwelling requirement for the remainder of the 
Plan) for two consecutive years. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018 

AMR 2020 (2019-2020):  

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator relates to the growth strategy of the adopted LDP which included 
a dwelling requirement figure of 4,500 new dwellings. The adopted LDP housing provision 
components were calculated at the base date of 1st April 2015, at this time, 622 dwellings 
had been completed since the beginning of the Plan period.  A further 3,878 dwellings are 
therefore required to be built before the end of the Plan period (between 2015 and 2026) 
in order to meet the adopted LDP’s dwelling requirement. 

Page 132



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

43 
 

 

Table 10. Actual Cumulative Completions against the Cumulative Completions Target 

Year Cumulative 
Target 

Actual 
Cumulative 
Completions 

Cumulative 
Completions 
Against 
Target 

Percentage 

2015 - 2016 322 316 - 7 - 2% 

2016 - 2017 643 569 - 74 - 12% 

2017 - 2018 968 764 - 204 - 21% 

2018 - 2019 1,325 927 - 398 - 30% 

2019 - 2020 1,681 1,164 - 517 - 31% 

2020 - 2021 2,037 1,479 - 558 - 27% 

2021 - 2022 2,414 1,848 - 566 - 23% 

2022 - 2023 2,768 2,187 - 581 - 21% 

Within the Plan area a total of 339 dwellings were completed during the monitoring 
period. See Table 10. The 339 dwellings together with the completion of 1,848 dwellings 
recorded during the seven previous years, means that a total of 2,187 completions have 
been recorded since the 1st April 2015 housing provision base date. 

The figure of 339 residential completions recorded is lower than the adopted LDP AMR 
net additional dwelling target (set out for this monitoring indicator) for the same period 
which is 354 units.  The cumulative total of the net additional dwelling targets identified in 
this monitoring indicator, for the period April 2015 up to 31st March 2023 is 2,768 units.  By 
comparing the 2,187 completions against the 2,768 net additional dwelling requirement 
target, it can be seen that there has been a shortfall of 581 completions over the eight-
year period. 

The number of dwellings completed this year is a decrease of 30 dwellings from last 
year’s figure. However, Figure 2 shows that the total number of dwellings completed each 
year continues to be higher than the early years of the plan and remains at over 300 
dwellings being completed a year. Nevertheless, the trigger point for this indicator has 
been reached with the number of annual net additional dwellings completed being below 
the cumulative dwelling requirement target consistently since the 1st April 2015 housing 
provision base date. 

When adding the 2,187 dwellings delivered in the period between 2015 and 2023, to the 
622 dwellings completed between 2011 and 2015 a total of 2,809 units have been 
delivered (62% of the target). With only three years of the Plan period remaining, it means 
that the objective of delivering 4,500 dwellings before the end of the plan-period is unlikely 
to be met. 

The housing component of the adopted LDP strategy will be reconsidered, taking into 
account the latest population projections, build rates and evidence of need detailed in a 
Local Housing Market Assessment (LHMA), as part of the process of preparing the 
Replacement LDP. 

Page 133



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

44 
 

Figure 2. Chart Showing the Number of Additional Dwellings since Housing Provision 

Base Date of April 2015 against the Net Additional Dwelling Requirement 

 

 

Action 
 
To be Reconsidered in Replacement LDP. 

The plan’s strategy is not being delivered. 

 
 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

2
0

1
5

-2
0

1
6

2
0

1
6

-2
0

1
7

2
0

1
7

-2
0

1
8

2
0

1
8

-2
0

1
9

2
0

1
9

-2
0

2
0

2
0

2
0

-2
0

2
1

2
0

2
0

-2
0

2
2

2
0

2
2

-2
0

2
3

N
o

. A
d

d
it

io
n

al
 D

w
el

lin
gs

Year

Dwelling Requirement Actual Completions Average Completion Rate

Page 134



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

45 
 

AMR3: The number of net additional affordable homes built in the LPA area. 

Objective: Meeting Future Needs 

Indicator: The number of net additional affordable homes built in the LPA 
area. 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP3 – Affordable Housing Target 

Related Policies: 
N/A 

Target: 
To provide 952 (average 63 per annum) net additional affordable 
homes over the Plan period (2011-2026). 

Annual net additional affordable housing target for the remainder of 
the Plan period (2015-2026): 

2015-2016: 90 
2016-2017: 89 
2017-2018: 69 
2018-2019: 72 
2019-2020: 69 
2020-2021: 68 
2021-2022: 60 
2022-2023: 54 
2023-2024: 66 
2024-2025: 71 
2025-2026: 67 
 

Trigger Point: 
The number of net additional affordable homes completed falls 
below the cumulative target (identified in the target as the annual net 
additional affordable housing target for the remainder of the Plan) for 
two consecutive years. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018 

AMR 2020 (2019-2020):  

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

Analysis 

The adopted LDP housing provision components were calculated at the base date of 1st 

April 2015. At this time, 186 affordable homes had been completed since the beginning of 
the Plan period.  Between April 2015 and the end of the Plan period (end of March 2026) 
a further 766 affordable homes are required to be built in order to meet the adopted LDP’s 
target of delivering 952 affordable homes. From the 952 affordable homes, a total of 659 
units are expected to be delivered on the LDP’s housing allocations, with a further 107 
units expected to come forward on windfall sites. 

The Annual Monitoring Framework sets an annual affordable housing target for the 
remaining years of the Plan period.  The rates of affordable housing delivery against the 

Page 135



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

46 
 

 

Table 11. Actual Cumulative Affordable Dwelling Completions against the Cumulative 

Completions Target 

Monitoring 
period 

Annual 
target 

Actual 
affordable 
housing 
units 
delivered 

Cumulative 
target 

Cumulative 
completions 

Cumulative 
delivery 
against 
target 

2015 – 
2016 

90 111 90 111 +21 

2016 – 
2017 

89 46 179 157 -22 

2017 – 
2018 

69 66 248 223 -25 

2018 – 
2019 

72 17 320 240 -80 

2019 – 
2020 

69 69 389 309 -80 

2020 - 
2021 

68 108 457 417 -40 

2021 - 
2022 

60 105 517 522 +5 

2022 - 
2023 

54 124 571 646 +75 

 
 
 

annual and cumulative targets are summarised in Table 11 below. The affordable housing 
delivery rates compared to the annual targets are also illustrated in Figure 3. 

The 124 affordable dwellings completed during this monitoring period together with the 
completion rate of 522 dwellings recorded during the seven previous years, means that a 
total of 646 completions have been recorded since the 1st April 2015 housing provision 
base date. 

The 646 affordable housing completions exceed the cumulative target of 571 units set to 
be completed by April 2023. This means that the adopted LDP is on track to delivering the 
additional affordable homes in line with the adopted LDPs affordable housing target.   

Figure 3 shows that the number of affordable dwellings completed each year varies 
considerably. This is partially because it has been heavily influenced by the number of 
affordable dwellings being delivered through the Local Housing Association’s, and the 
Council’s housing building, programmes. Of the 124 affordable dwellings completed, 31 
were built by Housing Associations and 61 by the Strategic Housing Authority (the 
Council). 

The number of affordable homes being completed each year is anticipated to continue to 
deliver against the adopted LDP Affordable Housing targets.  The Local Housing 
Association’s, and the Council’s house building, programmes have a substantial number 
of projects that are underway that will ensure continued delivery of affordable home 
completions over the next few years. 

 

Page 136



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

47 
 

Figure 3. Chart Showing Affordable Housing Delivery Rates Compared to the Annual 

Targets. 

 

 
 

Action 

Continue monitoring. 

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

2
0

1
5

-2
0

1
6

2
0

1
6

-2
0

1
7

2
0

1
7

-2
0

1
8

2
0

1
8

-2
0

1
9

2
0

1
9

-2
0

2
0

2
0

2
0

-2
0

2
1

2
0

2
1

-2
0

2
2

2
0

2
2

-2
0

2
3

N
o

. o
f 

A
d

d
it

io
n

al
 A

ff
o

rd
ab

le
 D

w
el

lin
gs

Year

Net Additional Affordable Housing Target Actual Affordable Housing Completions

Average Affordable Housing Completion Rate

Page 137



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

48 
 

AMR3b: Affordable Housing by Tenure. 

Objective: Meeting Future Needs 

Indicator: 
Affordable Housing by Tenure. 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP3 – Affordable Housing Target 

Related Policies: 
 

Target: 
For the average tenure mix of affordable housing completed to align 
with evidence of need within the Local Housing Market Assessment. 

• Social rented – 75%. 

• Intermediate rented housing – 25% 
Or revised percentages within any updated LHMA. 

Trigger Point: 
The average tenure mix of affordable housing completions does not 
accord with the evidence of need identified in the LHMA for two 
consecutive years. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018 

AMR 2020 (2019-2020):  

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

 

 
 
 
 

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator looks at the tenure of affordable housing completions.   It is 
designed to test the tenure split between social rented and intermediate affordable 
housing and alignment with the need identified within the Local Housing Market 
Assessment (LHMA).  The Powys LHMA (2016) identifies the affordable housing need 
based on a tenure split of 75% social rented and 25% intermediate.   

The results of this monitoring are summarised in Table 12.  The results show that the 
majority of affordable housing completions are of a social rented tenure, with a smaller 
percentage of intermediate housing completions.  This tenure split is in line with the 
evidence within the LHMA (2016). 

In future, this indicator will be monitored against the tenure split identified by the new 
LHMA 2022. It is anticipated that the new LHMA will be complete by the date of the next 
Annual Monitoring Report (April 2024). 

 

 

Page 138



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

49 
 

Table 12. Number of Affordable Housing Completions by Tenure 

Tenure Number of units % of overall units 

Social rented 84 68% 

Sheltered accommodation 
– Social rented 

15 12% 

Intermediate rented 0 0% 

Intermediate for sale 25 20% 

Not specified 0 0% 

 
 

Action 

Continue monitoring. 

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

 

 

Page 139



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

50 
 

AMR7: Average % of affordable housing secured as a proportion of total number of 

housing units permitted on private developments of 5 or more units in each sub-

market area. 

Objective: Meeting Future Needs 

Indicator: 
Average % of affordable housing secured as a proportion of 
total number of housing units permitted on private 
developments of 5 or more units in each sub-market area. 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP3 – Affordable Housing Target 

Related Policies: 
Topic Based Policy H5 – Affordable Housing Contributions 

Target: 
% of affordable housing as a proportion of all housing units secured 
annually on private developments of 5 or more units to be in 
accordance with sub-market targets as follows: 
 
30% Central Powys 
20% Severn Valley 
10% North Powys 
0% South West Powys. 
 

Trigger Point: 
% of affordable housing secured as a proportion of total housing 
units permitted on private developments of 5 or more units within 
any sub-market area falls below the target contributions set out in 
Policy H5 for two consecutive years. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018 

AMR 2020 (2019-2020):  

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator sets out the policy targets for affordable housing contributions to 
be secured across the four different sub-market areas, based on the targets set out in 
adopted LDP Policy H5.  The monitoring target requires a calculation of the average 
contribution secured for each sub-market area. 

Six market housing developments have been approved, on either outline or full 
permissions, under LDP Policy H5 during this monitoring period. Two of the six were 
located within the Severn Valley, two within Central Powys and two within the North 
Powys sub-market areas.  A contribution of affordable housing that was either equal to, or 
above the targets, set out in LDP Policy H5 towards affordable housing was secured by 
condition on each of the permissions. The total number of affordable dwellings secured 
through the six permissions equates to 17 dwellings. 

The results for this monitoring indicator are positive in that they show that affordable 
housing contributions are being negotiated in line with policy targets at the time of the 

original planning permission.    
 

Page 140



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

51 
 

 

Table 13. Average Affordable Housing Contributions Secured Against the Target 

Contribution for The Sub-Market Area During the Monitoring Period. 

Sub-market area Target contribution Average contribution 

Central 30% 33% 

Severn Valley 20% 20% 

North Powys 10% 15% 

South West Powys 0% 0% 

 
 

Action 

Continue monitoring. 

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

 

Page 141



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

52 
 

AMR9: Changes in residual values (housing development viability) across the 4 sub-

market areas, set against the residual values applied in the Viability Assessment 

Update (August 2016). 

Objective: Meeting Future Needs 

Indicator: 
Changes in residual values (housing development viability) across 
the 4 sub-market areas, set against the residual values applied in 
the Viability Assessment Update (August 2016). 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP3 – Affordable Housing Target 

Related Policies: 
Topic Based Policy H5 – Affordable Housing Contributions 

Target: 
To keep the viability of affordable housing delivery under review to 
enable the maximum level to be achieved and to reflect changes in 
viability. 

Trigger Point: 
Change in residual values of 5% or more from the residual values in 
the Viability Assessment Update (August 2015) or from residual 
values in any future update in any one year. 

 
Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018 

AMR 2020 (2019-2020):  

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

 

Action 

Policy Review Required 

A review of the specific policy is required informed by an updated High Level Viability 
Assessment for the Replacement LDP. 

 

Analysis 

The LDP’s Viability Assessment Update (July 2016) assessed the economic viability of 
market housing development sites, and in particular, looked at the contribution that 
developers could make towards the provision of affordable housing in the four sub-market 
areas. This evidence informed the affordable housing targets set out in adopted LDP 
Policy H5. 

The purpose of this monitoring indicator is to keep the viability of delivering the affordable 
housing targets under review by identifying any significant changes in residual values that 
may impact on the policy targets.   

Work is progressing on a High-Level Viability Assessment which will provide evidence to 
inform the Replacement LDP.  The values, costs and other assumptions around viability 
will be updated and reviewed as part of this evidence.  The findings of this assessment will 
be used to review the affordable housing policy targets set out in LDP Policy H5. 

 

Page 142



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

53 
 

AMR14: No. of gypsy traveller sites and no. of pitches granted planning permission 

and delivered. 

Objective: Meeting Future Needs 

Indicator: 
No. of gypsy traveller sites and no. of pitches granted planning 
permission and delivered. 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP1 – Housing Growth 

Related Policies: 
Topic Based Policy H11 – Gypsy and Traveller Site Provision 

Target: 
5 pitches provided in Machynlleth by 2021. 
 
2 pitches provided in Welshpool by 2026. 

Trigger Point: 
Failure to deliver the 5 pitches in Machynlleth by 2021. 

Failure to deliver the 2 pitches in Welshpool by 2026. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018 

AMR 2020 (2019-2020):  

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022): 
Monitoring completed 2021 

AMR 2023 (2022-2023): 
 

 

Action 

Monitoring completed in 2021 and, therefore, no further monitoring required.  The 
Replacement LDP will be informed by updated new evidence on needs. 

 

Analysis 

LDP Policy H11 - Gypsy and Traveller Site Provision, makes provision for seven gypsy 
and traveller pitches on two sites, one in Machynlleth and one in Welshpool as identified in 
the 2008 Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Needs Assessment (updated 2014 and 
2016). 

The two pitches needed in Welshpool were completed by 31st March 2019. 

The five pitches needed in Machynlleth were completed on 5th March 2021. 

The target for this monitoring indicator has therefore been met successfully. 

 

Page 143



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

54 
 

AMR15: Amount of employment land (hectares) permitted on allocated sites in the 

Development Plan as a % of all employment allocations. 

Objective: Meeting Future Needs 

Indicator: 
Amount of employment land (hectares) permitted on allocated 
sites in the Development Plan as a % of all employment 
allocations. 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP2 – Employment Growth 

Related Policies: 
Topic Based Policy E1 – Employment Proposals on Allocated 
Employment Sites 
Topic Based Policy E2 – Employment Proposals on Non-Allocated 
Employment Sites 

Target: 
Total of 2ha of employment land to be permitted per annum on 
allocated sites in order to meet the minimum requirement of 30 
hectares over the Plan period. 

Trigger Point: 
The total amount of employment land permitted falls below the 
cumulative requirement of 4ha for two consecutive years. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018 

AMR 2020 (2019-2020):  

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

 

 

Analysis 

The Annual Monitoring Framework sets out an annual target of two hectares of 
employment land to be permitted on employment allocations in order to meet the 
employment requirement of 30 hectares (ha) over the lifespan of the adopted LDP.  The 
purpose of this indicator is to test whether the employment allocations are delivering 
employment land in line with the growth strategy and adopted LDP policies SP2 and E2. 

The total amount of employment land permitted on allocated employment sites during the 
period (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) totalled 2.761 ha. This equated to 6% of the 
allocated employment sites including those classified as ‘Mixed Use’ (45 ha). 

The 2.761 ha stemmed from two planning applications on two separate allocated sites 
giving rise to a total floorspace of 3,900 square metres of a mixture of B2, B8, B1a and 
B1c floor space. 

The cumulative total over the past two monitoring periods equates to 3.506 ha of 
employment land being permitted on allocated sites. This is just below the trigger point of 
four hectares of employment land permitted on allocated sites over two consecutive years.  

Research will be undertaken as evidence to support the preparation of the Replacement 
LDP, this will include reconsidering the employment land provision and the 
appropriateness of the allocated sites. 

 

Page 144



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

55 
 

 

Table 14. Amount of Employment Land Permitted on Allocated Employment Sites 

Since LDP Adoption 

Monitoring Period Amount of Employment Land 
Permitted (ha) 

17/04/2018 – 31/03/2019 
4.297 

2019-2020 
0 

2020-2021 
1.809 

2021-2022 
0.745 

2022-2023 2.761 

Total 9.612 

 

Action 

Further Investigation/Research Required 

Development plan policies are not being implemented as intended and further research 
and/or investigation is required. 

 

Page 145



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

56 
 

Objective 2 – Sustainable Settlements and Communities 

To support sustainable development, access to services and the integration of land 

uses, by directing housing, employment and services development in accordance 

with a sustainable settlement hierarchy. Higher levels of development will be directed 

to Powys’ towns and larger villages but where these are unable to sustain further 

growth due to capacity constraints, development will be accommodated in nearby 

towns or large villages. 

 
Objective 2 Core Indicators - Summary Table for Annual Monitoring Report Period. 

Ref No: Indicator Assessment Action 

AMR17b  Net housing units completed within 
each settlement tier measured as a 
percentage of all housing development 
completed per annum. 

 Continue 
Monitoring 

Page 146



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

57 
 

AMR17b: Net housing units completed within each settlement tier measured as a 

percentage of all housing development completed per annum. 

Objective: Sustainable Settlements and Communities 

Indicator: 
AMR17b: Net housing units completed within each settlement 
tier measured as a percentage of all housing development 
completed per annum. 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP6 – Distribution of Growth across the Settlement 
Hierarchy 

Related Policies: 
Topic Based Policy H1 – Housing Development Proposals 

Target: 
% of net housing units completed by tier of hierarchy per annum to 
accord with the following distribution: 
 
Towns – at least 50% of total housing growth. 
 
Large Villages – at least 25% of total housing growth. 
 
Small Villages – no more than 10% of total housing growth. 
 
Rural Settlements / Open Countryside including the undeveloped 
coast no more than 15% of total housing growth. 

Trigger Point: 
Proportion of total housing development completed: 

a) falls below the targets for Towns and Large Villages; 

b) exceeds the targets for Small Villages and Rural Settlements / 
Open Countryside including the undeveloped coast; 

for two consecutive years. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018 

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
N/A 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

Analysis 

This is a relatively new monitoring indicator required by the Welsh Government in the 
Development Plans Manual Edition 3 (March 2020). The purpose of this indicator is to 
look at the spatial distribution of housing development and to monitor housing completions 
each year in line with the adopted LDP’s growth strategy and the settlement hierarchy. 

It is similar to monitoring indicator AMR17, which looks at the distribution of housing 
developments permitted across the settlement hierarchy. The monitoring for this indicator 
considers the distribution of residential developments completed across the settlement 
hierarchy, in consistence with adopted LDP Strategic Policy SP6.  

Table 15 below shows the results for this monitoring period (1st April 2022 to 31st March 
2023) together with the distribution of cumulative completions since the housing provision 
base date 1st April 2015. The results show that the distribution of additional dwellings 

Page 147



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

58 
 

Table 15. Net Number of Additional Dwellings Delivered in the Monitoring Period and 

since the LDP Housing Provision Base Date, against the Settlement Hierarchy Targets 

in LDP Policy SP6. 

Settlement 
Hierarchy 

Net 
number of 
additional 
dwellings 
in 
monitoring 
period 

Percentage Cumulative 
number of 
additional 
dwellings 
in since 1st 
April 2015 

Cumulative 
Percentage 

Monitoring 
Target 

Town 107 32% 953 44% >50% 

Large 
Village 

140 41% 603 28% >25% 

Small 
Village 

36 11% 185 8% <10% 

Open 
Countryside 
/ Rural 
Settlement 

56 16% 446 20% <15% 

Total 339  2,187  100% 

 

Action 

Continue Monitoring 

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

across the settlement hierarchy is generally in line with the adopted LDP strategy, with the 
majority of growth taking place in the upper two tiers of the settlement hierarchy.  

However, the percentage of completions taking place in Towns has decreased since the 
previous monitoring period and the percentage of completions in the Small Villages and 
Open Countryside has increased. Whilst exceeding the Plan’s percentage target in the 
lower tier settlements during this monitoring, it is doing so by only one percentage point in 
both cases. This can be partially attributed to when the Plan area had a lack of five-year 
land supply, which resulted in permissions that did not necessarily accord with the spatial 
strategy of the development plan, being granted. It is also a result of dwellings in Small 
Villages, Rural Settlements and the Open Countryside being granted permission and built 
to meet the needs of rural communities, this includes for affordable housing and rural 
enterprise dwellings. 

The performance of this indicator does not accurately reflect whether the policies in the 
adopted LDP are working. The location of new dwelling completions is dependent on 
factors such as the date of the planning permission, market factors and the needs of rural 
communities. It is therefore recommended that as the spatial distribution of housing 
completions is in general alignment with the settlement hierarchy, that the monitoring of 
this indicator continues with no further action required. 

 

Page 148



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

59 
 

Objective 4 – Climate Change and Flooding 

To support the transition to a low carbon and low waste Powys through all 

development, including the reduction of waste to landfill and by directing 

development away from high flood risk areas and, where possible, to reduce or better 

manage existing flood risk for communities, infrastructure and businesses. 

 
Objective 4 Core Indicator - Summary Table for Annual Monitoring Report Period. 

Ref 
No: 

Indicator Assessment Action 

AMR23  Number of highly vulnerable 
developments granted planning 
permission within C2 floodplain areas. 

Number of developments granted 
planning permission in C1 floodplain 
areas. 

 Continue 
Monitoring 

Page 149



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

60 
 

AMR23:  

Number of highly vulnerable developments granted planning permission within C2 

floodplain areas. 

Number of developments granted planning permission in C1 floodplain areas. 

Objective: Climate Change and Flooding 

Indicator: 
Number of highly vulnerable developments granted planning 
permission within C2 floodplain areas. 

Number of developments granted planning permission in C1 
floodplain areas. 

Key Policies: 
Development Management Policy DM5 – Development and Flood 
Risk 

Related Policies: 
 

Target: 
No highly vulnerable developments units to be permitted within C2 
floodplain areas.  
 
No developments to be permitted within C1 floodplain areas without 
meeting all TAN 15 tests. 

Trigger Point: 
1 or more highly vulnerable developments permitted within C2 
floodplain areas in any one year. 

1 or more developments permitted within C1 floodplain areas where 
not all TAN 15 tests are met in any one year. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018 

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021): 
 

AMR 2022 (2021-2022): 
 

AMR 2023 (2022-2023): 
 

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator looks at the number of highly vulnerable developments permitted 
within the C1 (areas of the floodplain served by flood defences) and C2 (areas of the 
floodplain with no flood defences) floodzones of the TAN 15 Development Advice Maps.  It 
is designed to test the implementation of adopted LDP Policy DM5, however it also allows 
an observation on how applications permitted accord with TAN 15. 

Highly vulnerable development is classed in TAN 15 as “all residential premises (including 
hotels and caravan parks), public buildings (e.g., schools, libraries, leisure centres) 
especially vulnerable industrial development (e.g., power stations, chemical plants, 
incinerators), and waste disposal sites.” 

Development permitted in C2 

In this monitoring period, 1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023, a total of 21 planning 
applications were permitted for highly vulnerable development that encroached either 
partially or wholly into the C2 flood zone.  Fifteen of the 21 applications, however, were 

Page 150



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

61 
 

 

Action 

Continue Monitoring 

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

outside of Floodzones 2 and 3 of Flood Map for Planning, which is now considered to be 
the best available information source on flood risk and will upon the publication of the 
revised TAN 15, supersede the C1 and C2 Development Advice Maps (DAM).  

For the remaining six applications, four of them partially encroached on the C2 flood zone. 
However, all buildings, which included holiday cabins and dwellings, were located outside 
of any areas at risk from flooding. A further two applications involved change of use, both 
of which involved the conversion of the upper floors of buildings to residential use. In both 
cases less than a third of the site was within an area of flood risk. Therefore, it was 
considered that the level of flood risk was manageable and did not conflict with TAN 15. 

Development permitted in C1 

During the monitoring period, one planning application was permitted for highly vulnerable 
development that encroached either partially or wholly into the C1 flood zone.  The 
application involved a change of use from retail back to residential. A Flood Consequence 
Assessment (FCA) was undertaken to support the application which demonstrated that 
the risks and consequences of flooding were manageable to an acceptable level. Based 
on the findings from the FCA and its recommendations, with regards to mitigation 
measures, the development was considered to be in accordance with TAN 15. 

Therefore, the monitoring trigger in respect of the C1 flood risk areas has not been 
breached. 

It should be noted, that when Officers are determining planning applications regard is also 
given to Flood Map for Planning (FMfP) as a material planning consideration. The C1 
flood risk areas are not included within FMfP, they have been replaced with defended 
areas which have been designated using different criteria to the C1 flood risk areas. In 
Powys, other than in Newtown, the defended areas do not align with the C1 flood risk 
areas.  

This monitoring indicator will be updated and reviewed in the Replacement LDP, to take 
into consideration the forthcoming replacement TAN 15 due to be published towards the 
end of 2023 and FMfP. 

 

Page 151



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

62 
 

5. Analysis of local indicators 

5.1.1 Local Indicators are identified in the Annual Monitoring Framework which forms 

Chapter 5 of the adopted LDP.  

5.1.2 Unless stated otherwise only Full and Outline planning applications permitted have 

been considered to prevent any double counting. 

Page 152



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

63 
 

Theme 1 – Planning for Growth in Sustainable Places 

 

Objective 1 – Meeting Future Needs 

To meet the needs arising in Powys over the plan period up to 2026, to provide 

adequate, appropriately located land for: 

i. 5,588 dwellings to deliver a dwelling requirement of 4,500 which will meet all 

the housing needs of Powys’ increasing and ageing population and its decreasing 

size of households, including open market and affordable housing, gypsy and 

traveller accommodation and other specialist housing needs. 

ii. 45 hectares of employment and economic development uses. 

iii. Retail, tourism, recreation, infrastructure, services and other needs. 

 
Objective 1 Local Indicators - Summary Table for Annual Monitoring Report Period. 

Ref 
No: 

Indicator Assessment Action 

AMR4 Total housing units permitted on 
allocated sites (HA) as a % of overall 
housing provision. 

 To be Reconsidered in 
Replacement LDP. 

AMR5 Total housing units completed on 
Housing Allocations (HA). 

 To be Reconsidered in 
Replacement LDP. 

AMR6 Number of housing units completed 
on windfall sites (non-allocated sites) 
per annum. 

 Continue Monitoring 

AMR8 
 
 
 

Number of planning permissions, or 
subsequent variation/removal of 
planning conditions, approvals of 
discharge/modification under Section 
106A or by Deed of Variation, relating 
to housing developments of 5 units or 
more, where the affordable housing 
contribution permitted is lower than 
the relevant target set under Policy 
H5. 

 Continue Monitoring 

AMR10 Number of affordable housing 
contributions (units or equivalent) 
secured through planning permissions 
on-site, off-site and via commuted 
sums. 

 Continue Monitoring 

AMR11 Number of Social Rented and 
Intermediate Housing units secured 
as a % of all affordable housing units 
secured through planning 
permissions. 

 Continue Monitoring 

AMR12 The preparation and adoption of 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
relating to Affordable Housing. 

SPG adopted No Further Action 
Required 

Page 153



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

64 
 

Ref 
No: 

Indicator Assessment Action 

AMR13 The scale of affordable housing 
developments permitted on exception 
sites in Towns, Large Villages, Small 
Villages and Rural Settlements.    

 Continue Monitoring 

AMR16 Retail development up to 1,000 
square metres net permitted and 
delivered on part of the mixed use site 
allocated under Policy R2. 

 Policy Review 
Required 

Page 154



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

65 
 

AMR4: Total housing units permitted on allocated sites (HA) as a % of overall housing 

provision. 

Objective: Meeting Future Needs 

Indicator: 
Total housing units permitted on allocated sites (HA) as a % of 
overall housing provision. 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP1 – Housing Growth 

Related Policies: 
Topic Based Policy H2 – Housing Sites 

Target: 
8% of overall housing provision on HA sites to be permitted per 
annum. 

Trigger Point: 
The percentage of overall housing provision permitted on HA sites 
falls below the target for two consecutive years. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018 

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021): 
 

AMR 2022 (2021-2022): 
 

AMR 2023 (2022-2023): 
 

 

 

 

Analysis 

During the monitoring period a total of 147 units were granted planning permission on 
adopted LDP allocated housing sites (HA) as shown in Table 16 below. The 24 units 
permitted on the HA site at Orchard Croft, Llandrinio, were considered as part of a larger 
conjoined planning application for 48 units split across two sites (the HA site being 
coupled with an exception site in the same village and proposed for 100% Affordable 
Homes).   
As a percentage of overall housing provision on HA sites, this is 147 units out of 2,984 
(Table H2 in the LDP) equating to 4.9% of overall housing provision. 
 
The figure is below the 8% percent per annum target which equates to 239 units being 
permitted on HA sites per annum. This means that the trigger point for this monitoring 
indicator continues to be breached due to under-provision over four consecutive years as 
follows:  

• AMR 2020: 176 units – 5.9%  

• AMR 2021:  67 units – 2.2%  

• AMR 2022: 121 units – 4.1%  

• AMR 2023:  147 units – 4.9% 

 

Page 155



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

66 
 

Table 16. Residential Planning Permissions Granted on Sites Allocated for Housing 

During Monitoring Period. 

Site Ref and 
Planning 
Permission 
Reference 

Site Name Description of Development Units 
Granted 
Permission 

Units/Capacity 
in the 
Adopted LDP 
(Policy H2 
table) 

P56 HA1 

21/0577/OUT 

Land To the 
East of 
Trewern 
School 
Trewern 
Welshpool 
Powys 
SY21 8TB 

Outline permission for the 
erection of up to 40 dwellings, 
formation of new school 
parking and access road and 
associated works 

40 27 

P27 HA1 
22/0007/OUT 

Land 
opposite 
Old Barn 
Close, 
Llandinam  

Outline: Erection of 4 
detached dwellings, garaging, 
formation of vehicular access 
and associated works (all 
matters reserved) 

4 

 
8 

P28 HA3 
21/1940/FUL 

Ithon Road, 
Llandrindod 
Wells 

Residential development 
comprising 79 residential 
units, formation of vehicular 
access, roadways and all 
associated works 

79 122 

P29 HA1 
21/1536/FUL 

(Partially 
allocated 
site) 

Land At 
Trawscoed 
and At 
Orchard 
Croft 
Llandrinio 
Powys 

Erection of 48 dwellings 
comprising 24 affordable 
homes at Trawscoed site and 
24 open market dwellings at 
Orchard Croft site to include 
landscaping, sustainable 
drainage, car parking and all 
associated works 

24 30 

 

Action 

To be Reconsidered in Replacement LDP. 

The plan’s strategy is not being delivered. 

 

 

Page 156



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

67 
 

AMR5: Total housing units completed on Housing Allocations (HA). 

Objective: Meeting Future Needs 

Indicator: Total housing units completed on Housing Allocations (HA). 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP1 – Housing Growth 

Related Policies: 
Topic Based Policy H2 – Housing Sites 

Target: 
The number of housing units on HA sites to be completed per 
annum as follows: 
 
2015-2016: 45 
2016-2017: 221 
2017-2018: 232 
2018-2019: 254 
2019-2020: 287 
2020-2021: 304 
2021-2022: 372 
2022-2023: 325 
2023-2024: 329  
2024-2025: 312 
2025-2026: 303 

Trigger Point: 
The number of additional dwellings completed on HA sites falls 
below the annual target for two consecutive years. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018 

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021): 
 

AMR 2022 (2021-2022): 
 

AMR 2023 (2022-2023): 
 

Analysis  

The Annual Monitoring Framework sets an annual target of housing units to be completed 
on housing allocations (HA).  In this monitoring period, there were no recorded 
completions on Housing Allocation sites. 

The annual target is based on the rate of delivery set out in the adopted LDP’s (original) 
trajectory. The annual target for the year 2022-2023 is 325 units, but achieving this type of 
number depends on enough sites having gained planning permission. The low/nil rate of 
completions is concurrent with the under-performance of housing allocations in gaining 
planning permission (see monitoring indicator AMR4) and can be seen to contrast 
markedly to the house-building performance on other types of site (339 completions in the 
year split between 290 on windfall sites, 46 on committed (HC) sites and three on legacy 
housing landbank sites (HLB)). 

Table 17 details the total and cumulative number of housing completions on allocated 
housing sites each year since the LDP was adopted.  Due to the absence of any housing 
completions on allocated sites for this monitoring period, the cumulative total remains as 
last year, at 155. 

Page 157



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

68 
 

 

Table 17. Actual Cumulative Dwelling Completions on Allocated Housing Sites against 

the Cumulative Completions Target for Allocated Housing Sites. 

Monitoring 
Period 

Total 
Completions 

Cumulative 
Completions 

Target Cumulative 
Target 

2018 -2019 6 6 254 254 

2019-2020 11 17 287 541 

2020-2021 71 88 304 845 

2021-2022 67 155 372 1,217 

2022-2023 0 155 325 1,542 

 

Action 

To be Reconsidered in Replacement LDP. 

The plan’s strategy is not being delivered. 

 

It is apparent that the performance of allocated housing sites remains under-target and, 

overall, dwelling completions on allocated housing sites are much lower than planned.  

Page 158



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

69 
 

AMR6: Number of housing units completed on windfall sites (non-allocated sites) per 

annum. 

Objective: Meeting Future Needs 

Indicator: 
Number of housing units completed on windfall sites (non-
allocated sites) per annum. 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP1 – Housing Growth 

Related Policies: 
 

Target: 
For the amount of development delivered on windfall sites to align 
with that anticipated by the windfall projection of 110 dwellings per 
annum. 

Trigger Point: 
The number of housing units delivered on windfall sites deviates 
from the cumulative projection of 220 dwellings over two 
consecutive years. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018 

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021): 
 

AMR 2022 (2021-2022): 
 

AMR 2023 (2022-2023): 
 

 

 
 

Analysis 

Of the 339 housing completions in this monitoring year, 290 units were on windfall sites. 
These were split between 93 on small sites and 197 on large sites, a large site is one that 
provides for at least five units. The remaining 46 units were on committed housing sites 
(HC) with three units on housing landbank sites (HLB).   

In line with previous monitoring periods, it is evident that there have been considerably 
more completions on windfall sites against the target assumption of 110 units.  Figures are 
shown for the last three monitoring periods: 

• 2020 to 2021:  185 windfall completions 

• 2021 to 2022:  264 windfall completions 

• 2022 to 2023:  290 windfall completions 

The indicator shows that the completions figure has deviated above the assumption of 220 
dwellings for the two consecutive years. Exceeding the cumulative target of 220 dwellings 
identified as the trigger point is not considered a cause for concern as it means that 
windfall completions are contributing strongly to the supply of new homes in the Powys 
LDP area. This can be regarded as a useful counterbalance to the slower than planned 
delivery rates of homes on both adopted LDP Housing Allocations (HA sites) and LDP 
Housing Commitments (HC sites).  

This windfall data will be used to inform housing policy in the Replacement LDP.  

Page 159



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

70 
 

Action 

Continue monitoring. 

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

Page 160



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

71 
 

AMR8: Number of planning permissions, or subsequent variation/removal of planning 

conditions, approvals of discharge/modification under Section 106A or by Deed of 

Variation, relating to housing developments of 5 units or more, where the affordable 

housing contribution permitted is lower than the relevant target set under Policy H5. 

Objective: Meeting Future Needs 

Indicator: 
Number of planning permissions, or subsequent 
variation/removal of planning conditions, approvals of 
discharge/modification under Section 106A or by Deed of 
Variation, relating to housing developments of 5 units or more, 
where the affordable housing contribution permitted is lower 
than the relevant target set under Policy H5. 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP3 – Affordable Housing Target 

Related Policies: 
Topic Based Policy H5 – Affordable Housing Contributions 

Target: 
No reduction in or removal of the target contributions permitted, 
unless in accordance with the provision made within Policy H5 for 
reduction/removal of this requirement. 

Trigger Point: 
1 or more housing developments permitted, or subsequent 
variation/removal of planning conditions, approvals for 
discharge/modification under Section 106A or by Deed of Variation, 
relating to housing developments of 5 units or more, where the 
affordable housing contribution permitted is lower than the relevant 
target set under Policy H5 and not in accordance with Policy H5 in 
any one year. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018 

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021): 
 

AMR 2022 (2021-2022): 
 

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator seeks to identify cases where lower percentages of affordable 
housing than those required to meet the policy targets have been permitted.  It captures 
the percentage secured as part of original permissions, along with any subsequent 
applications that may have been made to reduce or remove the affordable housing 
contribution below that expected by the target.  Provision is made within adopted LDP 
Policy H5 for contributions to be negotiated on individual developments were supported by 
site specific viability evidence. 

The results of monitoring indicator AMR7 already indicate that LDP Policy H5 targets are 
being met at the original planning permission stage.   

One application was permitted in the monitoring period to revoke a Section 106 
agreement relating to the provision of affordable housing. However, the application was 
made because the site was being built out as self-build plots and the phasing of the 
affordable housing provision could not be tied to the phasing of the self-build plots. 
Instead, a non-material amendment application was granted approval in order to attach a 

Page 161



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

72 
 

 

Action 

Continue monitoring.  

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

suitable affordable housing condition in place of the existing ‘Section 106’ agreement. This 
means that although the Section 106 agreement was revoked there was no loss in the 
number of affordable housing units. 

There have been cases within the monitoring period where Removal or Variation of 
Condition applications (Section 73) have been approved with the percentage provision of 
affordable dwellings lower than the targets set out in adopted LDP Policy H5. These 
applications have related to sites with extant permission where it has not been appropriate 
to amend the number of affordable dwellings required. 

 

Page 162



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

73 
 

AMR10: Number of affordable housing contributions (units or equivalent) secured 

through planning permissions on-site, off-site and via commuted sums. 

Objective: Meeting Future Needs 

Indicator: 
Number of affordable housing contributions (units or 
equivalent) secured through planning permissions on-site, off-
site and via commuted sums. 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP3 – Affordable Housing Target 

Related Policies: 
Topic Based Policy H5 – Affordable Housing Contributions 

Target: 
For the majority of affordable housing contributions secured through 
planning permission to be provided on-site. 

Trigger Point: 
The total number of affordable housing contributions secured 
through planning permissions off-site and via commuted sums 
exceeds the total number of affordable housing contributions (units) 
secured on-site in any one year. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018 

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021): 
 

AMR 2022 (2021-2022): 
 

AMR 2023 (2022-2023): 
 

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator looks at the type of affordable housing contribution that has been 
secured through planning permissions i.e., whether the contribution secured is to be made 
on-site, off-site or via a financial contribution.  It is designed to test the implementation of 
the part of adopted LDP Policy H5 that sets a presumption in favour of on-site 
contributions rather than other types of contributions unless on-site provision would be 
inappropriate. 

The results for this monitoring period are summarised in Table 18. 

A total of 138 affordable housing units have been permitted under LDP Policy H5, as part 
of developments within development boundaries during this monitoring period.  This 
included 17 affordable housing units permitted on market developments, 60 affordable 
housing units permitted on a development by a Registered Social Landlord (RSL) and 61 
affordable housing units permitted on a development by the Strategic Housing Authority 
(SHA).  

All 138 affordable housing units are to be provided on-site, with no indication of off-site 
provision or financial contributions at the planning application stage.  The results of this 
monitoring indicate that this part of LDP Policy H5 is being implemented correctly in that 
affordable housing provision is being secured on-site, which demonstrates that affordable 
housing will be provided in the location where it is needed.  Therefore, no action is 
required and monitoring will continue. 

The approach set out within LDP Policy H5 is supported by further practical guidance in 
the Affordable Housing SPG.  This provides guidance on the circumstances where 
alternative types of provision may be appropriate and also on the method for calculating 

Page 163



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

74 
 

 

Table 18. Affordable Housing Units Secured by Type during the Monitoring Period. 

Type of contribution Amount of units 
(equivalent) 

% of total units by type 

On-site 138 100 

Off-site 0 0 

Financial contributions 0 0 

 
 

Action 

Continue monitoring.  

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

 
 

financial contributions and how financial contributions obtained will be used by the Council 
for the purpose of affordable housing provision. 

 

Page 164



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

75 
 

AMR11: Number of Social Rented and Intermediate Housing units secured as a % of 

all affordable housing units secured through planning permissions. 

Objective: Meeting Future Needs 

Indicator: 
Number of Social Rented and Intermediate Housing units 
secured as a % of all affordable housing units secured through 
planning permissions. 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP3 – Affordable Housing Target 

Related Policies: 
 

Target: 
For the average affordable housing tenure mix secured through 
planning permissions to be in accordance with the evidence of 
housing needs identified in the Local Housing Market Assessment 
of: 

• Social rented – 75%. 

• Intermediate rented housing – 25% 

• Or revised percentages within any updated LHMA. 

Trigger Point: 
The average affordable housing tenure mix secured through 
planning permissions does not accord with the evidence of need 
identified in the LHMA for two consecutive years. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018 

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021): 
 

AMR 2022 (2021-2022): 
 

AMR 2023 (2022-2023): 
 

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator looks at the tenure of affordable housing that is being secured 
through planning permissions, as part of market developments and on exception sites.  It 
is designed to test the implementation of adopted LDP Strategic Policy SP3 where the 
reasoned justification states that the range of unit tenure should reflect local housing 
needs.  It makes reference to the evidence of need for social rented/intermediate tenure 
mix within the Local Housing Market Assessment (LHMA) and explains that alternative 
mixes will only be considered where supported by local evidence. 

The results of this monitoring are summarised in Table 19.  The results show that the 
majority of affordable housing secured is social rented, with an element of intermediate 
affordable housing for sale also being secured.  The tenure split secured is in line with the 
evidence of need within the Local Housing Market Assessment (2016). 

The tenure of 16 affordable housing units secured during the monitoring period have not 
been specified.  These units related to affordable units secured as part of market 
developments under LDP Policy H5 and are likely to be provided as intermediate 
affordable housing for rent or for sale.  The details around tenure for these 16 units may 
not be provided until discharge of conditions stage, and therefore will not yet be specified. 

Page 165



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

76 
 

 

Table 19. Number of Affordable Housing Units Permitted by Tenure during the 

Monitoring Period. 

Tenure Number of units % of overall units 

Social rented 117 83% 

Intermediate rented 0 0% 

Intermediate for sale 8 6% 

Not specified 16 11% 

 
 

Action 

Continue monitoring.  

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

 
 

In future, this indicator will be monitored against the tenure split identified by the new 
Local Housing Market Assessment 2022, which is due to be completed during the next 
monitoring period. 
 

Page 166



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

77 
 

AMR12: The preparation and LDP Adopted: of Supplementary Planning Guidance 

relating to Affordable Housing. 

Objective: Meeting Future Needs 

Indicator: 
The preparation and adoption of Supplementary Planning 
Guidance relating to Affordable Housing. 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP3 – Affordable Housing Target 

Related Policies: 
 

Target: 
To prepare and adopt Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to 
Affordable Housing within 6 months of adoption of the Plan. 

Trigger Point: 
The Affordable Housing SPG is not adopted within 6 months of 
adoption of the LDP. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018 - SPG Adopted October 2018 

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021): 
 

AMR 2022 (2021-2022): 
 

AMR 2023 (2022-2023): 
 

 

Action 

No action required at this time, continue to monitor. 

 

Analysis 

The Affordable Housing SPG, which updated previous guidance, was adopted in October 
2018 and therefore within the timescale of 6 months from the date of LDP adoption. 

 

Page 167



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

78 
 

AMR13: The scale of affordable housing developments permitted on exception sites 

in Towns, Large Villages, Small Villages and Rural Settlements 

Objective: Meeting Future Needs 

Indicator: 
The scale of affordable housing developments permitted on 
exception sites in Towns, Large Villages, Small Villages and 
Rural Settlements. 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP6 – Distribution of Growth across the Settlement 
Hierarchy 

Related Policies: 
Topic Based Policy H1 – Housing Development Proposals 
Topic Based Policy H6 – Affordable Housing Exception Sites 

Target: 
For the scale of affordable housing developments permitted on 
exception sites to be appropriate to the settlement tier. 

Trigger Point: 
1 or more developments permitted for single affordable homes on 
exception sites in Towns and Large Villages in any one year. 

1 or more developments permitted in Small Villages where the 
development involves more than 5 affordable homes. 

1 or more developments permitted in Rural Settlements where the 
development does not involve a single affordable home in any one 
year. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021): 
 

AMR 2022 (2021-2022): 
 

AMR 2023 (2022-2023): 
 

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator looks at the scale of affordable housing developments permitted 
on exception sites based on their settlement tier.  It is designed to test adopted LDP 
policies H6 and H1, which require developments to be of an appropriate scale to the 
settlement tier.  In particular, the monitoring seeks to capture instances where single 
dwelling developments have been permitted on exception sites in Towns and Large 
Villages, and conversely where large-scale development has been permitted in Small 
Villages or Rural Settlements. 

The reasoned justification to LDP Policy H6 explains that sites adjacent to Towns and 
Large Villages are likely to be suited to accommodating larger affordable housing 
schemes and therefore that these sites should be reserved for Registered Social Landlord 
(RSL) or Strategic Housing Authority (SHA) developments, and that individual dwellings 
should not be permitted on such sites.  This intention is reinforced in the Affordable 
Housing SPG, which also sets out exceptional circumstances for when smaller schemes 
may be permitted in these locations. 

A total of two developments were permitted on affordable housing exception sites. Both 
developments involved a single affordable dwelling in a Rural Settlement and were in line 
with the scale expected by LDP Policy H6. 

Page 168



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

79 
 

 

Action 

Continue monitoring.  

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

 

Page 169



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

80 
 

AMR16: Retail development up to 1,000 square metres net permitted and delivered on 

part of the mixed use site allocated under Policy R2. 

Objective: Meeting Future Needs 

Indicator: 
Retail development up to 1,000 square metres net permitted 
and delivered on part of the mixed use site allocated under 
Policy R2. 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP4 – Retail Growth 

Related Policies: 
Topic Based Policy R2 – Retail Allocations 

Target: • Pre-application processed by 2020. 

• Planning permission granted by 2022. 

• Commencement of development by 2024. 

• Completion of development by 2026. 

Trigger Point: 
Failure to meet any of the set targets in respect of the development 
stages 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021): 
 

AMR 2022 (2021-2022): 
 

AMR 2023 (2022-2023): 
 

 

Action 

Policy Review Required  

Development plan policies are not being implemented and are failing to deliver; a review 
of the specific policy may be required. 

 

Analysis 

According to the records in development management, there has been no recent planning 
activity on the site allocated within the adopted LDP for retail use.  As the development 
has not been granted planning permission during 2022-23, the trigger point has been 
breached and, as a result of this slippage, it is considered that the site is unlikely to meet 
its target for delivery.   
 
However, it is known that the site has been resubmitted by the owner/proposer for 
consideration in the Replacement Local Development Plan via the Candidate Sites 
process.  It’s potential for future re-allocation will be fully reviewed. 
 

Page 170



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

81 
 

Objective 2 – Sustainable Settlements and Communities 

To support sustainable development, access to services and the integration of land 

uses, by directing housing, employment and services development in accordance 

with a sustainable settlement hierarchy. Higher levels of development will be directed 

to Powys’ towns and larger villages but where these are unable to sustain further 

growth due to capacity constraints, development will be accommodated in nearby 

towns or large villages. 

 
Objective 2 Local Indicators - Summary Table for Annual Monitoring Report Period. 

Ref 
No: 

Indicator Assessment Action 

AMR17 Net housing units permitted within 
each settlement tier measured as a 
percentage of all housing 
development permitted per annum. 

 Continue Monitoring 

AMR18 Number of open market housing 
developments permitted in Small 
Villages. 

Number of affordable housing 
developments permitted in Small 
Villages. 

 Continue Monitoring 

AMR19 Net employment land permitted 
within each settlement tier measured 
as a percentage of all employment 
land permitted. 

 Further 
Investigation/Research 
Required 

Page 171



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

82 
 

AMR17: Net housing units permitted within each settlement tier measured as a 

percentage of all housing development permitted per annum. 

Objective: Sustainable Settlements and Communities 

Indicator: 
Net housing units permitted within each settlement tier 
measured as a percentage of all housing development 
permitted per annum. 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP6 – Distribution of Growth across the Settlement 
Hierarchy 

Related Policies: 
Topic Based Policy H1 – Housing Development Proposals 

Target: 
% of net housing units permitted by tier of hierarchy per annum to 
accord with the following distribution: 

• Towns – at least 50% of total housing growth permitted. 

• Large Villages – at least 25% of total housing growth 
permitted. 

• Small Villages – no more than 10% of total housing growth 
permitted. 

• Rural Settlements / Open Countryside including the 
undeveloped coast no more than 15% of total housing 
growth permitted. 

Trigger Point: 
Proportion of total housing development permitted: 

a) falls below the targets for Towns and Large Villages; 
b) exceeds the targets for Small Villages and Rural 
Settlements / Open Countryside including the undeveloped 
coast; 

for two consecutive years. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021): 
 

AMR 2022 (2021-2022): 
 

AMR 2023 (2022-2023): 
 

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator looks at the distribution of housing developments permitted 
across the adopted LDP settlement hierarchy, it is designed to test adopted LDP policies 
SP6 and H1. In particular, the monitoring looks at whether residential development is 
being permitted in a way that distributes growth across the settlement hierarchy in 
consistence with adopted LDP Strategic Policy SP6.  

Table 20 below shows the net number of dwellings permitted in the monitoring period 
against the settlement hierarchy. This figure is then used to calculate the percentage of 
residential growth that has been permitted for each of the settlement tiers. Two further 
columns show the cumulative total and percentage, these relate to the number of units 
permitted since LDP Adoption, 17th April 2018. The final column shows the monitoring 
target which comes from LDP Policy SP6. 

The results from this monitoring period indicate that the residential distribution part, of LDP 
policies SP6 and H1, are being implemented correctly; with the majority of residential 

Page 172



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

83 
 

Table 20. Net Number of Dwellings Permitted in the Monitoring Period and since the 

LDP was Adopted against the Settlement Hierarchy Targets in LDP Strategic Policy 

SP6. 

Settlement 
Hierarchy 

Net 
number of 
dwellings 
permitted 
in 
monitoring 
period 

Percentage Cumulative 
total of net 
number of 
dwellings 
permitted 
since LDP 
adopted 

Cumulative 
Percentage 

Monitoring 
Target 

Town 170 46% 1,138 57% >50% 

Large 
Village 

120 33% 537 27% >25% 

Small 
Village 

4 1% 55 3% <10% 

Open 
Countryside 
/ Rural 
Settlement 

72 20% 269 13% <15% 

Total  366  1,999  100% 

 

Action 

Continue Monitoring 

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

 

developments being permitted in the upper two tiers of the settlement hierarchy within the 
expectations set out in the settlement strategy of the adopted LDP. 

The percentage of dwelling units permitted in the period in the Open Countryside is above 
what is set out in the adopted LDP strategy at 20% but looking at the cumulative 
percentage the target of below 15% has still been met for the cumulative number of 
dwelling units permitted since the LDP was adopted. This demonstrates the importance of 
looking at trends over several years. All the values in the cumulative percentage column of 
Table 20 are within the settlement hierarchy monitoring targets set out in LDP Policy SP6. 
The majority of the dwellings permitted in the Open Countryside are either for rural 
enterprise dwellings or barn conversions complying with National and LDP policy. 

 

Page 173



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

84 
 

AMR18:  

Number of open market housing developments permitted in Small Villages. 

Number of affordable housing developments permitted in Small Villages. 

Objective: Sustainable Settlements and Communities 

Indicator: 
Number of open market housing developments permitted in 
Small Villages. 

Number of affordable housing developments permitted in Small 
Villages. 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP6 – Distribution of Growth across the Settlement 
Hierarchy 

Related Policies: 
Topic Based Policy H1 – Housing Development Proposals 

Target: • No open market housing developments of more than 2 units 
to be permitted in Small Villages. 

• No affordable housing developments of more than 5 units to 
be permitted in Small Villages. 

Trigger Point: • 1 or more open market housing developments of more than 
2 units permitted in Small Villages. 

• 1 or more affordable housing developments of more than 5 
units permitted in Small Villages. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021): 
 

AMR 2022 (2021-2022): 
 

AMR 2023 (2022-2023): 
 

 

Analysis 

As evidenced in monitoring indicator AMR17, only four new units were granted planning 
permission in Small Villages during the monitoring period.  Whilst Table 21 shows that 
these are all open market homes, it can be seen they are compliant with the policy 
requirements in this scale of settlement. 

 

Page 174



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

85 
 

Table 21. Number of New Dwellings granted Planning Permission in Small Villages in 

Monitoring Period. 

Small Village Number of New Open 
Market Homes (Net) 
Permitted 

Number of New 
Affordable Homes 
(Net) Permitted 

Caehopkin  2 0 

Glantwmyn  

(Change of use) 

1 0 

Llandyssil  

 

1 0 

 

 

Action 

Continue Monitoring 

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

Page 175



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

86 
 

AMR19: Net employment land permitted within each settlement tier measured as a 

percentage of all employment land permitted. 

Objective: Sustainable Settlements and Communities 

Indicator: 
Net employment land permitted within each settlement tier 
measured as a percentage of all employment land permitted. 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP6 – Distribution of Growth across the Settlement 
Hierarchy 

Related Policies: 
 

Target: 
% of net employment land permitted by tier of hierarchy per annum 
to accord with the following distribution: 

• Towns – at least 50% of total employment growth permitted. 

• Large Villages – no more than 20% of total employment 
growth permitted. 

• Sites located outside the settlement hierarchy – no more 
than 30% of total employment growth. 

Trigger Point: 
Proportion of employment land permitted:  

a) falls below the target for Towns; 
b) exceeds the targets for Large Villages and Sites outside 
the settlement hierarchy; 

for two consecutive years. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021): 
 

AMR 2022 (2021-2022): 
 

AMR 2023 (2022-2023): 
 

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator looks at the distribution of employment developments permitted 
across the settlement hierarchy; it is designed to test adopted LDP Strategic Policy SP6. 
In particular, the monitoring looks at whether employment development is being permitted 
in a way that distributes growth across the settlement hierarchy consistent with LDP 
Strategic Policy SP6. 

Table 22 below shows the net area of employment land (in hectares) permitted across the 
settlement hierarchy in the monitoring period (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) and since 
the LDP was adopted (17th April 2018 to 31st March 2023). The net area of employment 
land is used to calculate the percentage of employment land growth that has been 
permitted for each of the settlement tiers. The final column shows the ‘Monitoring Target’ 
which comes from LDP Policy SP6. 

LDP Policy SP6 directs most of the employment development to the Towns and Large 
Villages (70% of growth). However, within this monitoring period less than 17% of the total 
employment land permitted was located within the Towns and Large Villages. The main 
reason for this divergence within the monitoring period, relates to the granting of a 
permission at the Offa’s Dyke Business Park, Buttington. The Offa’s Dyke Business Park 
is not located within a Town or Large Village, but it is an allocated employment site in the 
adopted LDP, serving the needs of Welshpool and the surrounding area.  

Page 176



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

87 
 

Table 22. Distribution of Employment Land Permitted during the Monitoring Period 

across the Settlement Hierarchy, together with the Cumulative Totals since LDP 

Adoption. 

Settlement 
Hierarchy  

Net area (ha) 
of 
employment 
land 
permitted in 
monitoring 
period 

Percentage Net area (ha) 
of 
employment 
land 
permitted 
since LDP 
adopted 

Percentage Monitoring 
Target 

Town 0.652 16% 10.984 39% >50% 

Large 
Village 

0.002 <1% 6.172 22% <20% 

Small 
Village / 
Rural 
Settlement / 
Open 
Countryside 

3.384 84% 11.038 39% <30% 

Total 4.038 100% 28.194 100% 100% 

 

Action 

Further Investigation/Research Required 

Development plan policies are not being implemented as intended and further research 
and/or investigation is required. 

 

The planning permission at the Offa’s Dyke Business Park, accounts for 2.513 ha of the 
4.038 ha total employment land permitted, within the monitoring period. This results in a 
diverge from the targets, set out in this monitoring indicator with regards to the percentage 
of employment land to be located within the Towns and Large Villages. However, it does 
not diverge from the adopted LDP strategy and LDP Policy E1 that directs employment 
development to allocated sites. 

The distribution of employment growth across the settlement hierarchy is dependent on 
the types of employment need and opportunities arising. The trigger point for this 
monitoring indicator has been reached, the proportion of employment land permitted in the 
lower tiers of the settlement hierarchy has exceeded the target for more than two 
consecutive years. Research will be undertaken as evidence to support the preparation of 
the Replacement LDP, this will include reconsidering targets and the spatial strategy with 
regards to employment development. 

 

Page 177



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

88 
 

Objective 3 – Efficient Use of Land 

To support the re-use and remediation of suitably and sustainably located previously 

developed land and where this is not possible to make efficient use of green field 

sites. To apply a general presumption against unsustainable development in the Open 

Countryside including the undeveloped coast, development on soils of high 

environmental and agricultural value and important mineral resources which are 

recognised as finite resources. 

 
Objective 3 Local Indicators - Summary Table for Annual Monitoring Report Period. 

Ref 
No: 

Indicator Assessment Action 

AMR20 Amount (hectares) and location of 
windfall development permitted on 
previously developed land and 
greenfield land. 

 Further 
Investigation/Research 
Required  

 

AMR21 The average overall density (units 
per hectare) permitted in respect of 
housing developments in Towns, 
Large Villages, Small Villages and 
Rural Settlements. 

 Policy Review 
Required 

AMR22 Amount of permanent, sterilising 
development permitted within a 
minerals safeguarding area. 

 Continue Monitoring 

 

Page 178



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

89 
 

AMR20: Amount (hectares) and location of windfall development permitted on 

previously developed land and greenfield land. 

Objective: Efficient Use of Land 

Indicator: 
Amount (hectares) and location of windfall development 
permitted on previously developed land and greenfield land. 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP6 – Distribution of Growth across the Settlement 
Hierarchy 

Related Policies: 
 

Target: 
Amount (hectares) and location of windfall development permitted 
on previously developed land and greenfield land. 

Trigger Point: 
The majority of windfall development permitted is on greenfield land 
located outside the development boundaries of Towns and Large 
Villages. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021): 
 

AMR 2022 (2021-2022): 
 

AMR 2023 (2022-2023): 
 

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator looks at the distribution of planning applications on windfall sites 
permitted, for all development types, across the settlement hierarchy. Further analysis is 
given as to whether the proposal was on a greenfield site or previously developed land as 
defined in Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11), published February 2021. 

Initial findings show that during the monitoring period (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
permission was granted on windfall sites for an area totalling 93.01 hectares (ha). From 
this 93.01 ha, 25.17 ha (27%) of it was on previously developed land, with 66.16 ha (71%) 
on greenfield sites and 1.68 ha (2%) on a mixture of previously developed land and 
greenfield. However, on closer inspection it can be seen that some of the applications on 
greenfield sites will continue to be classified as greenfield when the development proposal 
is completed. This includes all permissions for agricultural developments (13.99 ha), open 
space proposals (0.11 ha) and renewable energy schemes (7.44 ha) - where the majority 
of the original land use remains the same (biomass boilers installed in existing agricultural 
buildings, and solar photovoltaic panels installed on agricultural land). 

As a consequence, in order to properly assess and analyse this indicator against the LDP 
policies in detail, all applications for renewable energy - where the majority of the original 
land use remains the same, together with agricultural and open space development 
proposals will be excluded from the data.  The analysis will concentrate solely on 
housing, employment, tourism and infrastructure and any other development in the Open 
Countryside that would bring about a change from greenfield to previously developed 
land. 

The revised results show that during the monitoring period, planning permission was 
granted on windfall sites for an area totalling 70.41 ha. From the 70.41 ha, 24.11 ha (34%) 

Page 179



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

90 
 

 

of it was on previously developed land, with 44.62 ha (63%) on greenfield sites and 1.68 
ha (2%) on sites containing a mixture of greenfield and previously developed land. 

Figure 4 shows the distribution of windfall development permitted across the settlement 
hierarchy and the amount (area hectares) of which was on previously developed land / 
greenfield sites. 

The results shown in Figure 4 demonstrate that the distribution of windfall development 
permitted across the settlement tier is consistent with the settlement strategy and Policy 
SP6 for all tiers of the settlement hierarchy except the Open Countryside.  

The area of windfall development permitted in the Open Countryside (greenfield and 
previously developed land) accounts for 76% of the total area of windfall development 
permitted.  

Looking at the results against the monitoring target for this indicator “The majority of 
windfall development permitted is on greenfield land located outside the 
development boundaries of Towns and Large Villages” it can be seen that 51% of 
windfall development is located on greenfield land outside of the development 
boundaries of Towns and Large Villages with the majority being in the Open Countryside 
tier of the hierarchy. This is lower than the percentage recorded in the previous monitoring 
period, AMR 2022: 60%. 

Figure 5 is annotated to understand what type of developments (land uses) have been 
permitted on greenfield land in the Open Countryside. The value used to calculate the 
percentage is the area (ha) permitted to be consistent with the data above. It is worth 
noting that these figures include the conversion of agricultural buildings. 

Figure 5 shows that tourism developments accounted for 63% of the area permitted on 
greenfield land in the Open Countryside.  The applications permitted covered an area 
totalling 22.26 ha, consisting of 74 separate applications for 219 individual units of 
accommodation (these include shepherds huts, glamping pods, cabins and traditional 
holiday lets). The results are consistent with the findings from the previous AMRs and the 
Monitoring Review. Consideration is given in monitoring indicator AMR37 on how these 
planning permissions accord with the policies in the LDP. 

Figure 5 also demonstrates that residential developments accounted for 21% of the area 
permitted on greenfield land in the Open Countryside. Looking at the data in detail 62% of 
those permitted were for barn conversions and 30% were for rural enterprise dwellings. 
The remainder were for residential uses not resulting in a new dwelling, such as the 
change of use of agricultural land to form residential curtilage. Both the conversion of 
agricultural buildings to residential use and rural enterprise dwellings are permitted 
through National planning policy. 

The results for this monitoring period show that the majority of windfall development is 
permitted on greenfield land located outside the development boundaries of Towns and 
Large Villages. This means that the trigger point has been breached however initial 
analysis suggests that these developments accord with LDP and National Policy.  

It is also worth remembering that the Plan area is one of the most rural areas in Wales. 
The total Plan area equates to approximately 430,301 ha, of which only 3,054 ha is within 
the development boundaries of settlements (less than 1% of the total area). The results 
from this indicator reflect the characteristics of the area and the wider needs of the 
economy and population.  

 
 

Page 180



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

91 
 

Figure 4. Chart Showing the Location of Windfall Development Permitted in Hectares 

across the Settlement Hierarchy by Previously Developed Land / Greenfield Land. 

 

 
Figure 5. Chart Showing Percentage of Area Permitted for Different Development 

Proposals on Greenfield Land in the Open Countryside . 

 

 

 
 

0.00 10.00 20.00 30.00 40.00 50.00 60.00

Town

Large Village

Small Village

Rural Settlement

Open Countryside

Area (ha)

Se
tt

le
m

en
t 

H
ie

ra
rc

h
y

TownLarge VillageSmall Village
Rural

Settlement
Open

Countryside

Previously Developed Land 4.051.610.560.0717.83

Greenfield 0.907.590.350.2735.52

Mixed 1.010.590.000.000.07

Previously Developed Land Greenfield Mixed

2%
4%

10%

21%
63%

Industrial / Storage / Distribution /
Offices

Infrastructure

Other

Residential

Tourism facility

Page 181



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

92 
 

 
 
 
Action 

Further Investigation/Research Required  

Look at evidence regarding sustainable development and economic benefits to inform the 
strategy and policies of the Replacement LDP. 

 

Page 182



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

93 
 

AMR21: The average overall density (units per hectare) permitted in respect of 

housing developments in Towns, Large Villages, Small Villages and Rural 

Settlements. 

Objective: Efficient Use of Land 

Indicator: 
The average overall density (units per hectare) permitted in 
respect of housing developments in Towns, Large Villages, 
Small Villages and Rural Settlements. 

Key Policies: Topic Based Policy H4 – Housing Density  

Related Policies: 
 

Target: 
For the average overall density of housing permitted on sites to 
accord with the guide ranges set out in Policy H4 in respect of: 

• Towns and Large Villages - 27 units per hectare. 

• Small Villages – 20-25 units per hectare. 

• Rural Settlements – 10-15 units per hectare. 

Trigger Point: 
The average overall density of housing developments permitted 
within each settlement category falls below the targets for each 
settlement type in any one year. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021): 
 

AMR 2022 (2021-2022): 
 

AMR 2023 (2022-2023): 
 

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator looks at the density of development achieved on developments 
permitted across the settlement tiers.  It is designed to test the implementation of LDP 
Policy H4 and specifically the guide ranges for density set out within the Policy.  
Developments permitted at lower densities than those specified in the Policy indicate less 
efficient use of land.  However, as stated in LDP Policy H4, densities may be varied where 
justified by evidence of local circumstances or constraints. 

The monitoring results for the average density of development for each settlement 
tier/development type are set out against the guide ranges in Table 23.  The results show 
that the average density of developments permitted in Towns, at 35 dwellings per hectare, 
continues to be in line with the guide of at least 27 dwellings per hectare set out within 
policy.  The results continue to show that densities achieved in Large Villages are lower 
than expected, however the average density of smaller scale development in Small 
Villages and Rural Settlements meets policy expectations.  The average density of single 
dwellings across the settlement tiers falls below the policy guide of 10-15 units per 
hectare.     

Eight developments within Towns, involving newbuild, change of use and conversion, had 
exceeded the density guidelines during this monitoring period.  However, three 
developments had not achieved the density guidelines, including a scheme for supported 
bungalows at Ystradgynlais, which is considered acceptable given the lower density type 

Page 183



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

94 
 

 

of the development.   The developable area of a six-house scheme at Llandrindod Wells 
was reduced as it included a new car park and access road for the cemetery.  A public 
house conversion scheme at Llandrindod Wells also involved a low density. 

The density for seven out of the nine housing developments permitted in Large Villages 
fell below the density guidelines.  The reasons given for lower densities included site 
constraints and infrastructure requirements, which reduced the developable area of the 
sites.  A development at Llandrinio involved a new pumping station and another 
development at Trewern included the provision of a new school car park.  Part of a site at 
Castle Caereinion was affected by surface water constraints.  The character of 
surrounding dwellings was also used to justify lower density developments, particularly in 
edge of settlement locations. 

Developments permitted in Small Villages during this monitoring period involved 
conversion of a former health centre into a dwelling at Glantwymyn, a development of two 
dwellings at Abercrave and a single dwelling at Llandyssil. Only the scheme at Abercrave 
met the density guide for Small Villages at 20 units per hectare.  It is noted that density 
was not considered within the Officers Report for these developments, which, therefore, 
suggests that the policy is not being applied consistently. 

The density of two developments permitted in the Rural Settlements of Fron and 
Llanfihangel yng Ngwynfa fell within the policy guide range of 10-15 units per hectare, with 
a change of use scheme at Garthmyl exceeding the guide range with a density of 19 units 
per hectare. 

The results for this monitoring period show that density is being considered by Officers in 
majority of cases, particularly in Towns and Large Villages, however less so in lower tier 
settlements.  The trend for lower densities in Large Villages continues.  It appears from 
the analysis of planning applications that, in addition to site specific constraints, the local 
context of sites within Large Villages is being given substantial weight in decision-making.  
This reflects the existing low-density character of Large Villages, compared to Towns 
where there may be more scope to achieve higher densities from conversion or infill 
opportunities. 
 
The trigger for this indicator continues to be reached in respect of Large Villages and 
single dwellings, and, therefore, a new approach towards housing density across 
settlement tiers and development types is needed as part of the Replacement LDP 
process.  This approach will need to take account of national planning policy aims around 
density set out within Future Wales, which expects new developments in urban areas to 
have a density of at least 50 dwellings per hectare.  LDP Policy H4 will be reviewed as 
part of the Replacement LDP process. 

 

Page 184



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

95 
 

Table 23. Average Density of Development Permitted by Settlement Tier / 

Development Type during Monitoring Period. 

Settlement tier / 
development type 

Average density 
(dwellings per ha) 

Guide range 

Town 35 27+ 

Large Village 19 27+ 

Small Village 21 20-25 

Rural Settlement 11 10-15 

Single dwellings 7 10-15 

 
 
Action 

Policy Review Required 

Development plan policies are not being implemented and are failing to deliver; a review 
of the specific policy may be required. 

 

Page 185



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

96 
 

AMR22: Amount of permanent, sterilising development permitted within a minerals 

safeguarding area. 

Objective: Efficient Use of Land 

Indicator: 
Amount of permanent, sterilising development permitted within 
a minerals safeguarding area. 

Key Policies: Development Management Policy DM8 – Minerals Safeguarding 

Related Policies: 
 

Target: 
No permanent, sterilising development to be permitted within a 
minerals safeguarding area, unless in accordance with Policy DM8. 

Trigger Point: 
1 or more developments permitted for permanent, sterilising 
development, within a minerals safeguarding area not in accordance 
with Policy DM8, in any one year. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021): 
 

AMR 2022 (2021-2022): 
 

AMR 2023 (2022-2023): 
 

Analysis 

The aim of this indicator is to test the effectiveness of LDP Policy DM8 - Minerals 
Safeguarding. The policy states that Minerals Safeguarding Areas have been designated 
for deposits of sand and gravel, sandstone, limestone, igneous rocks and surface coal, 
and these areas are shown on the LDP Proposals Map in accordance with national policy 
requirements. Defining such areas does not imply any presumption that they will be 
worked but merely aims to ensure they remain available as and when future generations 
may need to access them. 

During the monitoring period (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023), 174 applications were 
permitted within or partially overlapping a Mineral Safeguarding Area. Of the 174 
applications, 40 did not list LDP Policy DM8 within the list of policies considered, in the 
Officer’s report. 

Of the 40 proposals, 39 were for proposals considered not to have any impact, examples 
include the conversion or redevelopment of existing buildings, minor extensions to existing 
buildings or proposals for the siting of camping pods and static caravans (i.e., non-
permanent development). For the single remaining application, the identification of the 
Mineral Safeguarding Area as a constraint had been missed. This does not necessarily 
mean that the development proposal did not comply with LDP Policy DM8, but that it had 
not been given consideration. 

Measures were put in place, at the start of 2021, to ensure that Minerals Safeguarding 
Areas are captured as a constraint consistently. This has resulted in a marked 
improvement in the performance of monitoring indicator AMR22 in this annual monitoring 
report, compared to in AMR 2021. Due to the improvements seen with this monitoring 
indicator, it is recommended that monitoring continues for a further year, the situation has 
now progressed towards development plan policies being implemented effectively. 

Page 186



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

97 
 

 

Action 

Continue Monitoring 

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

Page 187



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

98 
 

Objective 4 – Climate Change and Flooding 

To support the transition to a low carbon and low waste Powys through all 
development, including the reduction of waste to landfill and by directing 
development away from high flood risk areas and, where possible, to reduce or better 
manage existing flood risk for communities, infrastructure and businesses. 
 
Objective 4 Local Indicators - Summary Table for Annual Monitoring Report Period. 

Ref 
No: 

Indicator Assessment Action 

AMR24 The preparation and adoption of 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
relating to Land Drainage. 

 Not Assessed 

AMR25 Number of waste developments 
permitted on: 

a) employment allocations listed under 
Policy E1; 

b) within development boundaries; 

c) in open countryside. 

 Continue 
Monitoring 

Page 188



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

99 
 

AMR24: The preparation and adoption of Supplementary Planning Guidance relating 

to Land Drainage. 

Objective: Climate Change and Flooding 

Indicator: 
The preparation and adoption of Supplementary Planning 
Guidance relating to Land Drainage. 

Key Policies: Development Management Policy DM6 – Flood Prevention 
Measures and Land Drainage 

Related Policies: 
 

Target: 
To prepare and adopt Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to 
Land Drainage within 24 months of adoption of the LDP. 

Trigger Point: 
Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to Land Drainage not 
adopted within 24 months of adoption of the LDP. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021): 
 

AMR 2022 (2021-2022): 
 

AMR 2023 (2022-2023): 
 

 

Action 

Not Assessed 

 

Analysis 

The Land Drainage Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) was due for adoption by 
17th April 2020, but it has been deferred whilst it awaits confirmation from the SUDS 
Approval Body (SAB) and Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA), who have overall 
responsibility for land drainage.   Whilst the LDP included a commitment to produce a 
Land Drainage SPG, it should be noted that the SAB process was introduced after the 
LDP was adopted.  The Land Drainage SPG has been prepared and consulted upon, but 
SAB input is now required before the SPG can be progressed to adoption. 

A revised TAN 15 is due to be published which will revoke the use of the Development 
Advice Maps. The final Land Drainage SPG will need to align with National policy 
including a revised TAN 15 when published. 

Page 189



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

100 
 

AMR25: Number of waste developments permitted on: 

a) employment allocations listed under Policy E1; 

b) within development boundaries; 

c) in open countryside. 

Objective: Climate Change and Flooding 

Indicator: 
Number of waste developments permitted on: 

a) employment allocations listed under Policy E1; 
b) within development boundaries; 
c) in open countryside. 

Key Policies: Topic Based Policy W1 – Location of Waste Development  

Related Policies: 
 

Target: 
No waste developments permitted in open countryside, unless in 
accordance with Policy W1. 

Trigger Point: 
1 or more waste developments permitted in open countryside not in 
accordance with Policy W1. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021): 
 

AMR 2022 (2021-2022): 
 

AMR 2023 (2022-2023): 
 

 

Action 

Continue Monitoring 

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

Analysis 

The purpose of this monitoring indicator is to identify those instances where the LDP is 
used to permit waste developments in the Open Countryside. 

LDP Policy W1 aims to focus and support the location of waste development proposals 
either within the employment sites identified in LDP policies E1 and E4 or within the 
defined development boundaries of Towns and Large Villages. It goes on to describe the 
five criteria that would need to be met before such developments would be permitted in 
the Open Countryside. This indicator therefore aims to test the efficacy of these five 
criteria in protecting the Open Countryside from inappropriate developments.  

During the monitoring period there were no planning applications for waste development 
proposals permitted in the Plan area. 

Page 190



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

101 
 

 

Objective 5 – Energy and Water 

To support the conservation of energy and water and to generate energy from 

appropriately located renewable resources where acceptable in terms of the 

economic, social, environmental and cumulative impacts. 

In particular, to: 

Contribute to the achievement of the Water Framework Directive targets in Powys. 

Deliver the county’s contribution to the national targets for renewable energy 

generation. 

 

Objective 5 Local Indicators - Summary Table for Annual Monitoring Report Period. 

Ref 
No: 

Indicator Assessment Action 

AMR26 Additional installed capacity (MW) of 
wind turbine developments permitted 
within SSAs per annum. 

N/A N/A 

AMR27 Additional installed capacity (MW) of 
solar PV developments permitted 
within LSAs per annum. 

 Policy Review 
Required  

AMR28 Number of community/district 
heating schemes permitted under 
Policy DM13 (criterion 15) per 
annum. 

 Policy Review 
Required  

AMR29 Additional installed capacity (MW) 
renewable, low or zero carbon 
electricity permitted per annum. 

Additional installed capacity (MW) of 
renewable, low or zero carbon 
thermal permitted per annum. 

 Continue Monitoring 

AMR30 The preparation and adoption of 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
relating to Renewable Energy. 

SPG adopted No Action Required 

AMR31 Number of developments permitted 
for wind and solar PV energy greater 
than 5MW. 

 Continue Monitoring 

Page 191



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

102 
 

AMR26: Additional installed capacity (MW) of wind turbine developments permitted 

within SSAs per annum. 

Objective: Energy and Water 

Indicator: 
Additional installed capacity (MW) of wind turbine 
developments permitted within SSAs per annum. 

Key Policies: Topic Based Policy RE1– Renewable Energy 

Related Policies: 
 

Target: 
To contribute towards achieving the TAN 8 SSA capacity targets 

Trigger Point: 
No additional installed capacity of wind turbine developments 
permitted within SSAs for two consecutive years. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021): N/A 

AMR 2022 (2021-2022): N/A 

AMR 2023 (2022-2023): N/A 

 

Action 

N/A 

 

 

 

 

Analysis 

This is no longer an indicator.   Technical Advice Note (TAN) 8, Strategic Search Areas 
(SSAs) have been replaced by pre-assessed areas for wind energy in Future Wales: The 
National Plan 2040 (Feb 2021). 

 

Page 192



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

103 
 

AMR27: Additional installed capacity (MW) of solar PV developments permitted within 

LSAs per annum. 

Objective: Energy and Water 

Indicator: 
Additional installed capacity (MW) of solar PV developments 
permitted within LSAs per annum. 

Key Policies: Topic Based Policy RE1– Renewable Energy 

Related Policies: 
 

Target: 
For contributions to be made towards renewable energy generation 
through new solar developments permitted within LSAs. 

Trigger Point: 
No additional installed capacity of solar PV developments permitted 
within LSAs for two consecutive years. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

 

 
 

Analysis 

The aim of this monitoring indicator is to monitor how effective adopted LDP Policy RE1 is 
at ensuring proposals for solar PV between 5 and 50MW are focused within the LDP’s 
designated Local Search Areas (LSA). 

The adopted LDP identified 20 LSA across the county. These have been identified as 
areas within Powys that are considered to contain the least constraint for medium to larger 
scale solar photovoltaic renewable electricity generation projects.  

In this monitoring period there has been no additional installed capacity permitted within 
any of the 20 LSA in the Plan area. 

The absence of any Solar PV planning permissions being granted within the identified 
LSAs for this monitoring period and over the course of more than two consecutive years, 
means the monitoring indicator’s trigger point has been reached. 

However, it is recognised that it may be economic factors, such as changes to subsidy 
regime and inability to obtain cost effective connections to grid, rather than the policy 
which may be controlling factors. Further evidence gathering, allied to a policy review may 
be necessary.  

The trigger point for this monitoring indicator has been reached, no additional installed 
capacity of solar PV developments has been permitted within LSAs for more than two 
consecutive years. Research will be undertaken as evidence to support the preparation of 
the Replacement LDP, this will include reconsidering the policies and proposals with 
regards to renewable energy including the use of LSAs. 

 

Page 193



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

104 
 

 
Action 

Policy Review Required  

Development plan policies are not being implemented and are failing to deliver; a review 
of the specific policy will be required. 

 

Page 194



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

105 
 

AMR28: Number of community/district heating schemes permitted under Policy DM13 

(criterion 14) per annum. 

Objective: Energy and Water 

Indicator: 
Number of community/district heating schemes permitted 
under Policy DM13 (criterion 14) per annum. 

Key Policies: Development Management Policy DM13 – Design and Resources 
(Criterion 14) 

Related Policies: 
 

Target: 
For additional community/district heating schemes to be permitted 
under Policy DM13 (criterion 14) 

Trigger Point: 
No additional community/district heating schemes permitted under 
Policy DM13 (criterion 14) for two consecutive years. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator seeks to test the performance of Criterion 14 of adopted LDP 
Policy DM13, in supporting the development of community/district heating schemes. The 
criterion requires that investigations are “undertaken into the technical feasibility and 
financial viability of community and/or district heating networks wherever the development 
proposal’s Heat Demand Density exceeds 3MW/km2”.  

Community or District Heating Networks work on the principle of a shared network of 
heating pipes that heat one or more buildings, usually in heavily populated or urban areas, 
where there is a reliable or near constant demand. They usually involve one heat source 
and heavily insulated pipes running underground between the properties involved. In 
European towns and cities where the technology is relatively common, they usually 
involve a Combined Heat and Power (CHP) or a Combined Cooling Heat and Power 
(CCHP) plant. These utilise the excess heat that is created by the generation of electricity. 
The electricity is either used by the building/s that are a part of the network or is sold to 
the National Grid. The CHP/CCHP generators themselves can use a variety of fuels from 
diesel through to biomass and so are considered to be either low carbon or completely 
renewable. 

As with the previous AMR (AMR 2022) no such applications have been permitted within 
the monitoring period, either involving a scale, or in a location, that is likely to be feasible 
or viable. In considering how effective this part of the policy is a number of factors need to 
be borne in mind when interpreting this outcome.  

The policy requires the developer to carry out an investigation in order to determine 
whether the use of such a network is financially and technically viable. Where it is found 
that a scheme is not feasible and/or viable there is no requirement that they must 
implement one. No such investigations are recorded in the Council’s monitoring activities 

Page 195



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

106 
 

 

Action 

Policy Review Required  

Development plan policies are not being implemented and are failing to deliver; a review 
of the specific policy will be required. 

 

so it has not been possible to know how many proposals undertook this investigation and 
then discounted it due to it not being feasible or viable. 

Also, it is recognised that district heating networks are only likely to be feasible and viable 
where the proposal involves a high enough demand (e.g., a (usually urban) residential 
setting such as a block of flats, a hospital, or residential home, public swimming pool, or 
leisure centre etc.) and/or is in proximity to other similar users that require a regular or 
high thermal demand. Therefore, the opportunity to permit such a scheme relies entirely 
upon there being applications from appropriate settings in the first place, followed by those 
applications establishing the feasibility and viability of such a network. Hence the lack of 
any permitted scheme may not point to a failing in the policy, but wider factors such as the 
number, scale and locations of applications in the first place.  
 
Research will be undertaken as evidence to support the preparation of the Replacement 
LDP, this will include reconsidering the policies and proposals with regards to renewable 
energy including community/district heating schemes. 

 

Page 196



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

107 
 

AMR29:  

Additional installed capacity (MW) renewable, low or zero carbon electricity permitted 

per annum. 

Additional installed capacity (MW) of renewable, low or zero carbon thermal permitted 

per annum. 

Objective: Energy and Water 

Indicator: 
Additional installed capacity (MW) renewable, low or zero 
carbon electricity permitted per annum. 
Additional installed capacity (MW) of renewable, low or zero 
carbon thermal permitted per annum. 

Key Policies: Topic Based Policy RE1– Renewable Energy 

Related Policies: Development Management Policy DM13 – Design and Resources 

Target: 
• Additional installed capacity of renewable low or zero carbon 

electricity permitted of 30.85MW (potential electricity 
contribution) by 2021. 

• Additional installed capacity of renewable low or zero carbon 
electricity permitted of 61.7MW (potential electricity 
contribution) by 2026. 

• Additional installed capacity of renewable, low or zero carbon 
thermal permitted of 3.5MW (potential thermal contribution) 
by 2021. 

• Additional installed capacity of renewable low or zero carbon 
thermal permitted of 7MW (potential thermal contribution) by 
2026. 

The amount of additional installed capacity of renewable low or zero 
carbon permitted falls below the potential electricity or thermal 
contribution.   

Trigger Point: 
The amount of additional installed capacity of renewable low or zero 
carbon permitted falls below the potential electricity or thermal 
contribution.   

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator aims to monitor the effectiveness of adopted LDP Policy RE1 in 
contributing towards achieving the national targets detailed in the reasoned justification for 
Policy RE1.  

Policy RE1 of the adopted LDP is supported by the Powys Renewable Energy 
Assessment (REA) Update (2017) which identified the amounts of renewable, low or zero 
carbon electricity and thermal energy that the county could be reasonably expected to 
contribute towards the national targets. For electricity the different sources listed in the 

Page 197



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

108 
 

 

Action 

Continue Monitoring 

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

REA (Biomass, Hydropower, Landfill Gas, Windpower, Solar PV, Anaerobic Digestion, 
Combined Heat and Power and Building Integrated Renewables) are likely to contribute 
an additional 61.7MW capacity to what already exists, before the end of the Plan period in 
2026.  

During the previous monitoring periods (17th April 2018 to 31st March 2019, 1st April 2019 
to 31st March 2020, 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021, and 1st April 2021 to 31st March 
2022), a total of 38.1641MW of renewable, zero or low carbon electricity generation 
installed capacity was permitted in the Plan area. In addition, a total of 21.1462MW of 
renewable or low carbon thermal installed capacity was added. 

Analysis of the Council’s data for this monitoring period, 1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023 
determined that there was an additional 7.0243MW of renewable, zero or low carbon 
electricity generation capacity permitted, along with a further 1.6045MW of thermal 
capacity.  

When added to the previous year’s totals the cumulative figures, almost five years after 
adoption of the LDP, are now as follows: 

• Electricity; 45.1884MW  

• Thermal; 23.0665MW  

With less than 17MW of electrical installed capacity now required in order to meet the 
Plan’s lifetime target, the policy is expected to have permitted the anticipated 61.7MW by 
the end of the Plan period. The figures for thermal capacity are even better, as the target 
of 7MW by the end of the Plan period in 2026 has already been exceeded. 

As a result of this performance there is no further action required and the performance of 
LDP Policy RE1 will continue to be monitored. 

Page 198



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

109 
 

AMR30: The preparation and adoption of Supplementary Planning Guidance relating 

to Renewable Energy. 

Objective: Energy and Water 

Indicator: 
The preparation and adoption of Supplementary Planning 
Guidance relating to Renewable Energy. 

Key Policies: Topic Based Policy RE1– Renewable Energy 

Related Policies: Development Management Policy DM13 – Design and Resources 

Target: 
To prepare and adopt Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to 
Renewable Energy within 12 months of adoption of the Plan. 

Trigger Point: 
The SPG relating to Renewable Energy is not adopted within 12 
months of adoption of the LDP. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): SPG Adopted April 2019. 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

 

Action 

No action required. 

 

Analysis 

The Renewable Energy SPG was adopted in April 2019. 

 

Page 199



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

110 
 

AMR31: Number of developments permitted for wind and solar PV energy greater than 

5MW. 

Objective: Energy and Water 

Indicator: 
Number of developments permitted for wind and solar PV 
energy greater than 5MW. 

Key Policies: Topic Based Policy RE1– Renewable Energy 

Related Policies:  

Target: 
No developments permitted, unless the size and location is in 
accordance with criteria 1 and 2 of Policy RE1. 

Trigger Point: 
1 or more developments permitted of a size (MW) and location not in 
accordance with criteria 1 and 2 of Policy RE1. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

 

Action 

Continue Monitoring – Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

Analysis 

Criteria 1 and 2 of adopted LDP Policy RE1 are concerned with ensuring that the Strategic 
Search Areas (SSA) for renewable wind developments, and Local Search Areas (LSA) for 
solar PV developments, accommodate renewable energy developments of an appropriate 
size (25MW and upwards for wind and between 5MW and 50MW for solar). However, due 
to the introduction of Future Wales – The National Plan 2040 (February 2021) and the 
subsequent withdrawal of TAN 8 – Planning for Renewable Energy, the SSA designation 
no longer exists. As a result, from this point onwards, this monitoring indicator is 
concerned only with the monitoring of Criterion 2 of adopted LDP Policy RE1.  

Criterion 2 safeguards the 20 LSAs in the Plan area by ensuring that the Areas are not 
sterilised by other renewable, low or zero carbon developments that would be 
incompatible with the purpose of the LSA. Such incompatible developments would include 
solar developments under 5MW in an LSA if their presence created an unacceptable 
cumulative impact that would render the LSA unavailable to larger scale developments for 
which the Area has been designated. 

Analysis of the Development Management data for the monitoring period reveals that no 
developments impacting on a LSA were permitted. 

As a result of this performance there is no further action required and the performance of 
LDP Policy RE1 will continue to be monitored. 

 

Page 200



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

111 
 

Theme 2 – Supporting The Powys Economy 

 

Objective 6 – Vibrant Economy 

To support a diverse, robust and vibrant economy for Powys, including a strong rural 

economy, which is sustainable and responsive to change. To ensure towns and larger 

villages are the main focus for economic development and that town centres are vital, 

viable and attractive. 

 
Objective 6 Local Indicators - Summary Table for Annual Monitoring Report Period. 

Ref 
No: 

Indicator Assessment Action 

AMR32 Amount of major retail, office and 
leisure development (sq.m.) permitted 
within and outside Town Centre Areas. 

 
Continue 
Monitoring 

AMR33 The number of developments permitted 
for new economic development on 
allocated employment and mixed-use 
sites in respect of business (B1), 
general industry (B2), storage and 
distribution (B8) multiple uses, ancillary 
uses, and other uses 

 Continue 
Monitoring 

AMR34 Number of employment developments 
permitted on non-allocated sites. 

 Continue 
Monitoring 

AMR35 Number of developments permitted for 
alternative use of existing employment 
sites listed under Policy E4. 

 
Continue 
Monitoring 

AMR36 Number of developments permitted 
within Town Centres, which would 
result in less than: 

75% of units within a Primary 
Shopping Frontage; 

 66% of units within Secondary 
Shopping Frontage; 

being for A1 and A3 uses. 

 

 
Policy Review 
Required 

Page 201



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

112 
 

AMR32: Amount of major retail, office and leisure development (sq.m.) permitted 

within and outside Town Centre Areas. 

Objective: Vibrant Economy 

Indicator: 
Amount of major retail, office and leisure development (sq.m.) 
permitted within and outside Town Centre Areas. 

Key Policies: Topic Based Policy E2 – Employment Proposals on Non-allocated 
Employment Sites 

Related Policies: Topic Based Policy TD1 –Tourism Developments  

Target: 
No major retail, office or leisure development to be permitted outside 
Town Centre Areas, unless in accordance with national policy, TAN 
4, or LDP policies E2 and TD1. 

Trigger Point: 
1 or more major retail, office or leisure developments permitted 
outside Town Centre Areas not in accordance with national policy, 
TAN 4, or LDP policies E2 and TD1 in any one year. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator aims to test the implementation of adopted LDP policies E2 and 
TD1 to ensure that major retail, office or leisure development is located only within town 
centre areas unless it complies with National Policy, TAN 4, or adopted LDP policies E2 
and TD1. 

Adopted LDP policy supports small scale, appropriate development opportunities for 
employment in areas that are not allocated for such purposes. Any applications received 
that do not accord with the relevant criteria set out within the policies would be contrary to 
policy. 

During the monitoring period, there were three applications for major development 
permitted that fell within the categories of retail, office or leisure outside of Town Centre 
Areas. Two of the three applications were for tourism developments and considered to 
comply with LDP Policy TD1.  

The third application was for the development of a coffee shop and a refreshment pod (A3 

use classes) with drive through lanes, and a hotel on the outskirts of Welshpool at 

Buttington. Welshpool is designated as an Area Retail Centre in the adopted LDP; 

however, the proposal is not located within the town centre, but adjacent to the 

development boundary on the outskirts of the town. 

Within the Officer report it states “The submitted Planning Statement contains a sequential 

test outlining the need for the proposed development and justification for the site’s 

location. It outlines that it is not possible to undertake a quantitative ‘need test’ for A3 units 

as expenditure and turnover data is not available in the same way as for A1 unit 

proposals. A qualitative ‘need test’ has, however, has been undertaken, and it is argued 

Page 202



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

113 
 

 

Action 

Continue Monitoring  

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

that the proposed A3 units would principally serve as a ‘short stop’ for travellers on the 

intra-urban ‘A’ road network on the A483 and A458, which this location is uniquely able to 

provide being at the junction of three ‘A’ class roads….” furthermore it states “…. the 

proposal comprises two A3 drive-thru units; and the submitted sequential test makes it 

clear that the site’s location adjacent to the trunk road network and the drive-thru nature of 

the units is intrinsic to the wider proposal.” 

With regards to the location of the hotel, the Officer report states “In terms of the 

sequential test, as outlined above, there are noted to be no sequentially preferable sites of 

a sufficient size and suitability to accommodate the proposed development as a whole 

within Welshpool at present. It has been set-out that the proposal for two A3 units and a 

C1 hotel are very much intrinsic to one another, and thus it would not be reasonable for 

the Local Planning Authority to insist on the hotel being provided closer to the town centre 

if there is insufficient space for the two drive-thru A3 units on the site too.” 

The justification given, for the location of the coffee shop and refreshment pod (A3 use 

classes) with drive through lanes, together with the hotel goes some way to meeting the 

sequential tests in National planning policy. However, consideration needs to be given 

when reviewing the policies for the Replacement LDP, on how such proposals are to be 

treated within the retail and tourism policies of the Plan. 

 

Page 203



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

114 
 

AMR33: The number of developments permitted for new economic development on 

allocated employment and mixed use sites in respect of business (B1), general 

industry (B2), storage and distribution (B8) multiple uses, ancillary uses, and other 

uses. 

Objective: Vibrant Economy 

Indicator: 
The number of developments permitted for new economic 
development on allocated employment and mixed use sites in 
respect of business (B1), general industry (B2), storage and 
distribution (B8) multiple uses, ancillary uses, and other uses. 

Key Policies: Strategic Policy SP2 – Employment Growth 

Related Policies: Topic Based Policy E1 – Employment Proposals on Allocated 
Employment Sites 

Topic Based Policy E3 – Employment Proposals on Allocated Mixed 
Use Employment Sites 

Target: 
Employment uses within classes B1, B2 and B8, or ancillary uses, 
only to be permitted on allocated employment and mixed use sites, 
unless in accordance with policies E1 and E3. 

Trigger Point: 
1 or more other employment developments permitted on allocated 
employment and mixed use sites not in accordance with policies E1 
and E3 in any one year. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

 

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator aims to test the implementation of adopted LDP policies E1 and 
E3 to ensure that the allocations in the adopted LDP continue to provide employment land 
across the Plan area.  

Adopted LDP policy promotes the employment allocations (and some of the mixed-use 
allocations) for B1, B2 and B8 use classes, but also enables proposals for complimentary 
ancillary employment uses that are not within a B use class order that improve site viability 
and enables new site development. Any applications which do not comply with this 
criterion would be contrary to policy. 

During the monitoring period, three planning applications (3.735 ha) were permitted for 
employment uses. The employment uses proposed for these sites, all complied with the 
permitted uses and category for the sites (Prestige, High Quality, Local and Mixed Use) in 
accordance with LDP policies E1 and E3, on sites allocated for employment land in the 
Plan. 

 

Page 204



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

115 
 

Action 

Continue Monitoring  

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

Page 205



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

116 
 

AMR34: Number of employment developments permitted on non-allocated sites. 

Objective: Vibrant Economy 

Indicator: 
Number of employment developments permitted on non-
allocated sites. 

Key Policies: Topic Based Policy E2 – Employment Proposals on Non-allocated 
Employment Sites 

Related Policies:  

Target: 
No employment development to be permitted on non-allocated sites, 
unless in accordance with Policy E2. 

Trigger Point: 
1 or more employment developments permitted on non-allocated 
sites not in accordance with Policy E2 in any one year. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

Analysis 

A total of seven planning applications were permitted for employment proposals on non-
allocated employment sites (not on an employment allocation or within an employment 
safeguarding area) during the monitoring period. 

Figure 6 below, illustrates where the employment proposals were in terms of the 
settlement hierarchy and the nature of the development (e.g., conversion/change of use, 
extension or new build. 

Adopted LDP Policy E2 requires development proposals on non-allocated sites to 
consider locations on existing employment sites or previously developed land in the first 
instance if an allocated employment site is not suitable. Following on from this the policy 
requires at least one of the following criteria to be met: 

• The proposal is up to 0.5 ha. and is located within or adjoining a settlement with a 
development boundary. 

• The proposal is for the limited expansion, extension or environmental improvement 
of existing employment sites and buildings. 

• The proposal is appropriate in scale and nature to its location and is supported by 
a business case which demonstrates that its location is justified. 

All four of the proposals in the Towns and Large Villages were on previously developed 
sites within a settlement so can automatically be considered as complying with LDP Policy 
E2.  

The remaining three proposals in the Open Countryside were granted due to compliance 
with the policies listed in Table 24. 

Table 24 identifies one employment development permitted on a non-allocated site that 
was not necessarily in accordance with LDP Policy E2 but was in accordance with 
National Policy. In this case, the lack of accordance with LDP Policy E2 is therefore seen 

Page 206



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

117 
 

 

Figure 6. Chart Showing the Number of Planning Applications Permitted on Non-

Allocated Employment Sites by Settlement Hierarchy and Development Type in 

Monitoring Period. 

 

Table 24.  Applications Permitted in Monitoring Period, for Employment Developments 

on Non-Allocated Sites in the Open Countryside Against LDP Policy E2. 

Application Principle of Development Policy Accordance 

 

21/0224/FUL Change of use of land from agricultural to 
woodyard, as an extension to the 
existing, lawful storage and processing of 
timber and woodchips operation, erection 
of replacement building and construction 
of new access onto the A438. 

LDP Policy E2 (criterion 2) 

21/1571/FUL Erection of 2 no. double bunded fuel 
tanks on concrete plinths with bottom 
loading skid delivery system. 

LDP Policy E2 (criterion 2) 

22/0073/FUL Change of use of barn from former farm 
shop to a microbrewery and cidery with 
an ancillary - brewery/cidery shop and 
tap room/tasting room together with 
associated parking area. 

TAN 23, part 3.2.1 

 

 
 

0 1 2 3 4 5

Town

Large Village

Open Countryside

No. Applications Permitted

Se
tt

le
m

e
n

t 
H

ie
ra

rc
h

y

Conversion/Change of Use Extension New Build Redevelopment

as an issue with the wording of this annual monitoring framework, monitoring indicator 
target and trigger point not the way that the planning application was determined. 

Page 207



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

118 
 

Action 

Continue Monitoring  

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

Page 208



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

119 
 

AMR35: Number of developments permitted for alternative use of existing 

employment sites listed under Policy E4. 

Objective: Vibrant Economy 

Indicator: 
Number of developments permitted for alternative use of 
existing employment sites listed under Policy E4. 

Key Policies: Topic Based Policy E4 – Safeguarded Employment Sites 

Related Policies: Development Management Policy DM16 – Protection of Existing 
Employment Sites 

Target: 
No developments permitted for alternative use of existing 
employment sites listed under Policy E4 unless in accordance with 
Policy DM16. 

Trigger Point: 
1 or more developments permitted for alternative use of existing 
employment sites listed under Policy E4 not in accordance with 
Policy DM16 in any one year. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

 

Action 

Continue Monitoring  

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator aims to test the implementation of adopted LDP policies E4 and 
DM16 to ensure that the safeguarded employment sites in the adopted LDP continue to 
protect the function of existing employment areas across the Plan area.  

Adopted LDP Policy DM16 only allows for alternative uses on safeguarded employment 
sites where proposals can demonstrate that the employment site is no longer required, 
that the proposal would not result in an under provision of employment land or premises 
and that the development proposal doesn’t prejudice the surrounding employments sites 
and premises. 

During the monitoring period, there were no planning applications for non-employment 
uses, permitted on an employment safeguarding site.  

Therefore, no applications were permitted for an alternative use of an employment 
safeguarding site that did not comply with the LDP employment policies. 

Page 209



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

120 
 

AMR36: Number of developments permitted within Town Centres, which would result 

in less than: 

• 75% of units within a Primary Shopping Frontage; 

• 66% of units within Secondary Shopping Frontage; 

being for A1 and A3 uses. 

Objective: Vibrant Economy 

Indicator: 
Number of developments permitted within Town Centres, which 
would result in less than: 
• 75% of units within a Primary Shopping Frontage; 
• 66% of units within Secondary Shopping Frontage; 
being for A1 and A3 uses. 

Key Policies: Topic Based Policy R3 – Development Within Town Centre Areas 

Related Policies:  

Target: 
No development permitted that results in less than the percentage of 
units set by Policy R3 for the respective Shopping Frontages being 
for A1 and A3 uses, unless in accordance with Policy R3. 

Trigger Point: 
1 or more developments permitted that result in less than the 
percentage of units set by Policy R3 for the respective Shopping 
Frontages being for A1 or A3 uses not in accordance with Policy R3, 
in any one year. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

 

 

 

 

 

Analysis 

As set out in past Annual Monitoring Reports, this monitoring indicator is no longer being 
actively used due to problems with baseline data collection.   The suite of retail policies 
will be updated for the Replacement LDP.    

Table 25 below shows the permissions granted in the monitoring period which are relevant 
to the change of units within Primary or Secondary Frontages (note that Secondary 
frontages are only defined for Welshpool and Newtown).  The decisions are policy 
compliant taking account of adopted LDP Policy R3. 

Page 210



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

121 
 

Table 25.  Applications Permitted in the Monitoring Period for Change of Use in 

Primary or Secondary Retail Zones. 

Town Frontage Permission Detail 

Builth Wells Primary 22/1941/FUL Crown Buildings, 11 Broad Street  

Conversion of first and second floor 
offices to provide two residential units. 

Knighton Primary 22/0527/FUL  25 - 27 High Street 

Subdivision of 26 and 27 High Street 
into two separate retail units 

Knighton Primary  22/0965/FUL Flat At 25-27 High Street 

Change of use from first and second 
floors from storage use to residential use 

Welshpool Primary 22/0241/FUL  The Pinewood Tavern, Broad Street 

Refurbishment of the ground floor 
Pinewood Tavern and conversion of 
redundant hotel rooms and manager's 
accommodation into six self-contained 
holiday accommodation units above. 

Re-formation of an original bar entrance 
on the corner of Broad Street and Hall 
Street, replacement and refurbishment 
of the entrance to the upper floor 
accommodation and a replacement 
'shop front' extensions to the front of No. 
2 Broad Street 

Welshpool Primary 22/0553/FUL  23 Broad Street 

Change of use of first and second floors 
from a bank to four apartments, and 
retention of existing A2 ground-floor unit. 
Removal of internal walls and fittings 

Ystradgynlais 

 

Primary 22/0865/FUL Barclays Bank, 2 Brecon Road 

Change of use of former bank to a 
restaurant and shop together with 
alterations 

Newtown Secondary 22/1157/FUL  Workshops South East Of 26-27 
Shortbridge Street  

Demolition of existing workshop / 
storage building and erection of a 
replacement structure containing up to 
five units (part-retrospective)  

Use:   Industrial / Storage / Distribution 

Page 211



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

122 
 

Town Frontage Permission Detail 

Newtown Secondary 22/0870/FUL 31 Market Street, Extending Over 30 
Market Street and The Building To The 
Rear Of No 31 

Change of use and conversion of offices 
to create five residential units, to include 
the installation of an external staircases 
and walkway, the demolition of a lean to, 
internal and external alterations and all 
associated works (offices to be retained 
at ground floor) 

 
 
Action 

Policy Review Required 

Assessing the nature of the planning approvals in the monitoring period, the principles of 
adopted LDP Policy R3, to retain vital, viable and attractive town centres, are being 
adhered to.  Nevertheless, the detail behind this monitoring indicator and assessment 
against the Trigger Point is not able to be used effectively and should be reviewed.  This 
will take place as part of the Replacement LDP. 

 

Page 212



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

123 
 

Objective 7 – Key Economic Sectors 

To maintain and strengthen key economic sectors within Powys including 

manufacturing in the Severn Valley and Ystradgynlais, sustainable year-round 

tourism opportunities, agriculture and the rural economy. 

 
Objective 7 Local Indicators - Summary Table for Annual Monitoring Report Period. 

Ref 
No: 

Indicator Assessment Action 

AMR37 Number of new tourism facilities, 
attractions or extensions to existing 
development permitted. 

 Continue 
Monitoring 

AMR38 Number of developments permitted for 
alternative use of existing tourism 
development in rural areas. 

 Continue 
Monitoring 

Page 213



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

124 
 

AMR37: Number of new tourism facilities, attractions or extensions to existing 

development permitted. 

Objective: Key Economic Sectors 

Indicator: 
Number of new tourism facilities, attractions or extensions to 
existing development permitted. 

Key Policies: Topic Based Policy TD1 – Tourism Development  

Related Policies:  

Target: 
No developments permitted for new tourism facilities or attractions 
or for extensions to existing development, unless in accordance with 
Policy TD1. 

Trigger Point: 
1 or more developments permitted for new tourism accommodation, 
facilities or attractions, or for extensions to existing development not 
in accordance with Policy TD1 in any one year. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

Analysis 

The purpose of this indicator is to ensure that tourism development is in accordance with 
adopted LDP Policy TD1 and that inappropriate, unacceptable development is not 
permitted either in settlements or the Open Countryside. Supporting tourism is a key tenet 
of the adopted LDP because of its contribution to the economy, but the LPA seeks to 
ensure that developments are sustainable and do not have an unacceptable adverse 
impact and effect upon the character and appearance of an area, the natural and historic 
environment or existing amenities, assets or designations. 

During this monitoring period, 95 applications for tourism development were given 
planning permission, all were in accordance with LDP Policy TD1 which indicates that the 
policy is being implemented appropriately. 

Looking at the distribution of the tourism developments across the adopted LDP 
settlement hierarchy, 93% of the applications permitted were in the Open Countryside and 
as seen in monitoring indicator AMR20, 74 of the total applications (78%) were on 
greenfield sites in the Open Countryside. 

Analysis of the 95 planning applications permitted found that a total of 241 individual units 
of tourist accommodation were permitted. Figure 7 below breaks the 241 units into type, 
the number and types of accommodation is very similar to that permitted in the previous 
monitoring period (see AMR 2022). 

Ten of the 95 planning applications for a tourism use, did not result in units of 
accommodation, instead they were proposals for minor development related to existing 
facilities. 

All 95 planning applications for tourism development permitted, were considered to 
comply with adopted LDP Policy DM4 – Landscape. However, consideration will be given 
in the preparation of the Replacement LDP as to whether the Landscape Policy DM4, is 

Page 214



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

125 
 

 

Figure 7. Chart Showing the Total Type and Number of Units of Accommodation 

Permitted in the Monitoring Period. 

 

 
 
Action 

Continue Monitoring  

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

1

1

29

20

5

1

31

22

40

7

82

2

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Wellbeing and Healing Retreat

Tree houses

Static Caravans

Shepherds Hut

Safari Tent

Hotel

Holiday Lets

Hobbit Houses

Glamping Pods

Chalets

Cabins

Bell Tents

NO. UNITS PERMITTED

H
O

LI
D

A
Y 

A
C

C
O

M
M

O
D

A
TI

O
N

 T
YP

E
adequately worded in relation to tourism development, including any cumulative impacts 
and whether the wording of LDP Policy TD1 – Tourism Development needs to be 
amended. 

 

Page 215



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

126 
 

AMR38: Number of developments permitted for alternative use of existing tourism 

development in rural areas. 

Objective: Key Economic Sectors 

Indicator: 
Number of developments permitted for alternative use of 
existing tourism development in rural areas. 

Key Policies: 
Topic Based Policy TD2 – Alternative Uses of Existing Tourism 
Development 

Related Policies:  

Target: 
No developments permitted for change of use of existing tourism 
developments to alternative uses in rural areas, unless in 
accordance with Policy TD2. 

Trigger Point: 
1 or more developments permitted for alternative (non-tourism) use 
of existing tourism developments in rural areas not in accordance 
with Policy TD2 in any one year. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator looks at developments that change the use of an existing tourism 
facility to some other use. Existing tourist accommodation, facilities and attractions in 
Powys make an important contribution to the local tourism and business economies and 
the adopted LDP seeks to avoid any significant loss of such facilities in order to protect the 
economy of Powys which is heavily dependent on tourism. 

During this monitoring period, two applications were consented that permitted a change of 
use from a tourism facility to another use. Both applications were located within the Open 
Countryside (rural areas). One of the applications was for the conversion of part of a steel 
framed building, located within a holiday park, to an open market residential dwelling. The 
Officer report states, “The host building is understood to still be in use for commercial 
purposes in connection with the fishing and recreation facilities at Parc Clychau’r Gog….”. 
The application was determined to be acceptable against the policies in TAN23 relating to 
the re-use and adaptation of rural buildings, however no consideration was given to 
compliance with LDP Policy TD2. In this instance, the commercial interest in connection 
with the fishing and recreation facilities, is to be retained on the ground floor, with the 
dwelling being located on the first floor; this means that there has been no loss of a 
tourism facility. 

The other application involved the change of use of a hotel (C1) to accommodate a mixed 
use; dwelling house (C3) and hotel (C1). In this instance, sufficient evidence including 
marketing details, was submitted alongside the application to demonstrate that retaining 
the premises solely as a hotel was unviable. It is acknowledged that some tourist 
accommodation was lost but the tourism facility itself was retained albeit at a reduction 
from ten bedrooms to four. 

Page 216



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

127 
 

 

Action 

Continue Monitoring  

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

Page 217



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

128 
 

 

Objective 8 – Regeneration 

To support the regeneration and renewal of Powys’ built environment, its historic 

towns and employment premises and to support regeneration activities such as the 

Powys Local Growth Zone initiative. 

 
Objective 8 Local Indicators - Summary Table for Monitoring Report Period. 

Ref 
No: 

Indicator Assessment Action 

AMR39 Employment development (ha) 
permitted and delivered within Powys 
Local Growth Zones. 

 This Local Indicator 
has been removed 
from the AMR due 
to the nature of the 
LGZ initiative and 
an absence of 
robust data. 

 

Page 218



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

129 
 

Theme 3 – Supporting Infrastructure and Services 

 

Objective 9 – Infrastructure and Services 

To support the provision of new infrastructure and services to meet the future needs 

of Powys’ communities. 

 
Objective 9 Local Indicators - Summary Table for Annual Monitoring Report Period. 

Ref 
No: 

Indicator Assessment Action 

AMR40 Number of major developments 
permitted where new or improved 
infrastructure has been secured 
through developer contributions. 

 Continue 
Monitoring 

AMR41 Preparation and adoption of 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
relating to Planning Obligations. 

SPG Adopted No Action Required 

 

 

Page 219



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

130 
 

AMR40: Number of major developments permitted where new or improved 

infrastructure has been secured through developer contributions. 

Objective: Infrastructure and Services 

Indicator: 
Number of major developments permitted where new or 
improved infrastructure has been secured through developer 
contributions. 

Key Policies: Development Management Policy DM1 – Planning Obligations 

Related Policies:  

Target: 
For new or improved infrastructure to be secured through developer 
contributions in connection with developments permitted, where 
appropriate. 

Trigger Point: 
1 or more developments permitted not in accordance with Policy 
DM1 in any one year. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

 

Action 

Continue Monitoring 

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

Analysis 

According to the LPA’s Section 106 Register, there was one planning application granted 
for a major development, which secured infrastructure through developer contributions, 
within the monitoring period. 

Planning permission: 22/1137/FUL - Development of coffee shop with “drive-thru” lane, 
refreshment pod with “drive-thru” lane and hotel, partial demolition/partial retention of 
Limekiln Cottage, and associated highway works, car parking and landscaping 
(resubmission of 21/2136/FUL) at land at Lime Kiln Cottage, Buttington Cross, Welshpool. 
The Section 106 secured a £20,000 financial contribution for improvements to the Canal 
Towpath in connection with Active Travel as the towpath links the site to Welshpool Town 
Centre. 

It is considered that adopted LDP Policy DM1 is continuing to be used effectively.  The 
LPA also uses planning conditions, where appropriate, to further secure planning gain.  
The use of conditions has now become common in respect of securing on site Affordable 
Housing rather than through Section 106 agreements.  Affordable Housing provision is 
therefore monitored separately. 

Page 220



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

131 
 

AMR41: Preparation and adoption of Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to 

Planning Obligations. 

Objective: Infrastructure and Services 

Indicator: 
Preparation and adoption of Supplementary Planning Guidance 
relating to Planning Obligations. 

Key Policies: Development Management Policy DM1 – Planning Obligations 

Related Policies: Development Management Policy DM12 – Development in Welsh 
Speaking Strongholds 

Development Management Policy DM13 – Design and Resources 

Topic Based Policy H5 – Affordable Housing Contributions 

Target: 
To prepare and adopt Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to 
Planning Obligations within 6 months of adoption of the LDP. 

Trigger Point: 
Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to Planning Obligations 
not adopted within 6 months of adoption of the LDP 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018   

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
SPG Adopted October 2018 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

 

Action 

No further action required. 

 

Analysis 

The Planning Obligations SPG was adopted in October 2018 and therefore within the 
timescale of six months from the date of LDP adoption. 
 

Page 221



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

132 
 

Objective 10 – Important Assets 

To support the operation and development of locally, regionally and nationally 

important assets located in Powys.  

 
Objective 10 Local Indicators - Summary Table for Annual Monitoring Report Period. 

Ref 
No: 

Indicator Assessment Action 

AMR42 Developments permitted within the 
Sennybridge Training Area for 
operational purposes. 

 Continue 
Monitoring 

AMR43 Number of developments permitted 
that would have an impact on strategic 
resources or assets, or their operation, 
as identified in Policy SP7. 

 Continue 
Monitoring 

 

Page 222



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

133 
 

AMR42: Developments permitted within the Sennybridge Training Area for operational 

purposes. 

Objective: Important Assets 

Indicator: 
Developments permitted within the Sennybridge Training Area 
for operational purposes. 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP7 – Safeguarding of Strategic Resources and 
Assets 

Related Policies: Topic Based Policy MD1– Development Proposals by the MOD 

Target: 
For the Sennybridge Training Area to continue as a nationally 
significant training facility and for its operation to be generally 
supported by the Plan. 

Trigger Point: 
1 or more developments proposed for operational reasons refused 
planning permission in any one year. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

 

Action 

Continue monitoring. 

 

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator aims to identify instances when the adopted LDP fails to support 
the operational effectiveness of the Sennybridge military training area.  

The training area is included within adopted LDP Policy SP7 due to its strategic 
importance both in the Plan area itself and nationally. The policy states that only 
development proposals that will not have an unacceptable impact on the asset/resource 
and the purposes for which it is safeguarded should be permitted. LDP Policy MD1 also 
safeguards the training area from any development that would compromise its operation 
and supports proposals that will sustain the operational use of the existing facility. 

During this monitoring period no developments were permitted within the Sennybridge 
military training area. 
 

Page 223



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

134 
 

AMR43: Number of developments permitted that would have an impact on strategic 

resources or assets, or their operation, as identified in Policy SP7. 

Objective: Important Assets 

Indicator: 
Number of developments permitted that would have an impact 
on strategic resources or assets, or their operation, as 
identified in Policy SP7. 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP7 – Safeguarding of Strategic Resources and 
Assets 

Related Policies:  

Target: 
No developments permitted that would have an unacceptable 
adverse impact on identified strategic resources and assets 
identified, or on their operation. 

Trigger Point: 
1 or more developments permitted that would have an unacceptable 
adverse impact on identified strategic resources or assets, or on 
their operation, not in accordance with Policy SP7, and, where 
applicable, there is an outstanding objection from a statutory 
consultee (i.e. NRW, Cadw) or the relevant Council Officer in any 
one year. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

Analysis 

To identify permissions which may breach the target or trigger point, analysis will focus on 
cases where a development has been: 

• Granted permission by the Planning Committee against an Officer’s 

recommendation for refusal on grounds of LDP Strategic Policy SP7 or 

• Granted on Appeal where the Council had originally refused permission on 

grounds of LDP Strategic Policy SP7. 

To identify the planning decisions which could fall into this category, the Minutes of every 
Planning Committee held over the monitoring period have been studied with a view to 
investigating cases which were decided against Officer recommendation.  Appeal 
decisions upheld (against the Council’s original refusal) have also been investigated.  
Cases relevant to the monitoring indicator can then be assessed.  The results are as 
follows: 

− No decisions have been made by the Planning Committee to approve a planning 
application against the Officer’s recommendation for refusal.    This means the 
trigger point has not been breached. 

− One Appeal was upheld against the Council’s refusal of planning permission which 
had included grounds of adopted LDP Strategic Policy SP7.   This related to 
development within the Knighton Conservation Area where the Council considered 

Page 224



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

135 
 

 

Action 

Continue Monitoring  

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

the proposals to be harmful to the character and appearance of the Conservation 
Area. (21/1374/HH refused on 3rd November 2021). 

The Minutes are useful in demonstrating that adopted LDP Policy SP7 is being used in 
decision-making.  For example, in October 2022 the Planning Committee refused 
permission for a pig rearing unit (20/1122/FUL) in line with the Officer recommendation 
due to the issue of ammonia deposition and the impact upon a local SSSI, with SP7 cited.   
Similarly, SP7 was included as a reason for the refusal in March 2023 of a brownfield 
redevelopment proposal in Newtown (22/1033/FUL) where the issue of the adverse 
impact on the setting of Listed Buildings and the Conservation Area were a concern.  
Another example is the Appeal case for 21/0438/FUL which was only upheld in part 
(change of use), and it was agreed that UPVC windows/doors were found to be 
unacceptable in a Conservation Area under policies which included LDP Policy SP7. 

The results of this monitoring indicator mean it is considered that the Policy is being used 
effectively and as intended to protect strategic resources and assets 

Page 225



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

136 
 

Theme 4 – Guardianship of Natural, Built and Historic Assets 

 

Objective 11 – Natural Heritage 

To conserve and protect Powys’ land, air and water resources important for 

environmental quality, geodiversity and biodiversity and where possible to ensure 

development enhances them. 

 
Objective 11 Local Indicators - Summary Table for Annual Monitoring Report Period. 

Ref 
No: 

Indicator Assessment Action 

AMR44 Preparation and adoption of 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
relating to biodiversity. 

SPG Adopted No Action Required 

AMR45 The number of developments permitted 
on or affecting locally important site 
designations as identified in Policy 
DM2 (3). 

 Continue 
Monitoring 

 

 

Page 226



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

137 
 

AMR44: Preparation and adoption of Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to 

biodiversity. 

Objective: Natural Heritage 

Indicator: 
Preparation and adoption of Supplementary Planning Guidance 
relating to biodiversity. 

Key Policies: 
Strategic Policy SP7 – Safeguarding of Strategic Resources and 
Assets 

Related Policies: Development Management Policy DM2 – The Natural Environment  

Target: 
To prepare and adopt Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to 
biodiversity within 6 months of adoption of the LDP. 

Trigger Point: 
Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to biodiversity not 
adopted within 6 months of adoption of the LDP. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018   

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): SPG Adopted October 2018 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

 

 
Action 

No further action required. 

 

Analysis 

The Biodiversity SPG was adopted in October 2018 and therefore within the timescale of 
six months from the date of LDP adoption. 

 

Page 227



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

138 
 

AMR45: The number of developments permitted on or affecting locally important site 

designations as identified in Policy DM2 (3). 

Objective: Natural Heritage 

Indicator: 
The number of developments permitted on or affecting locally 
important site designations as identified in Policy DM2 (3). 

Key Policies: Management Policy DM2 – The Natural Environment 

Related Policies:  

Target: 
No developments permitted on or affecting identified locally 
important site designations unless in accordance with Policy DM2 
(3). 

Trigger Point: 
1 or more developments permitted on or affecting identified locally 
important site designations not in accordance with Policy DM2 and 
where there is an outstanding objection from the County Ecologist or 
the Local Wildlife Trust. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

Analysis 

Adopted LDP Policy DM2 The Natural Environment provides protection for a range of 
sites, habitats and species that are designated at international, European (now the UK 
National Site Network), national and local level. This monitoring indicator aims to test the 
policy’s ability to protect the locally important site designations listed under Section 3 of 
the policy, namely Local Nature Reserves (LNR), Regionally Important Geodiversity Sites 
(RIGS) and Geological Conservation Review Sites (GCRS). 

Section 3 of the policy also includes local Biodiversity Action Plan Habitats and Species 
(now replaced by the Powys Nature Recovery Plan), but these are not included under this 
monitoring indicator as they are not classified as a site designation. These however are 
the subject of SEA Indicator 2 within the Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 
monitoring framework. 

In this monitoring period a total of ten applications have been permitted, which were close 
to an LNR, RIGS or GCRS. Analysis of the ten applications revealed the following: 

• Two applications were located close to (within 10 metres) of an LNR boundary, 
however due to the nature of development it was not deemed necessary to consult 
either the County Ecologist or the Local Wildlife Trust.  The first application was for 
the construction of new brickwork skin to a Listed Building and the second for the 
erection of a storage facility screened by a living wall and the provision of a fire exit 
ramp. 

• Four applications were located close to RIGS (within 30m to 48m).  In addition, 
one application (22/0471/FUL) was approved on land adjacent to a RIGS for the 
construction of an electricity substation and new control building.  The Carno RIGS 
was identified within a supporting statement that confirmed that the proposed 

Page 228



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

139 
 

 

Action 

Continue Monitoring  

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

development will result in the relocation of the substation outside of the RIGS 
boundary and is not predicted to impact the site.  A further application was 
approved within a RIGS site for the change of use of an existing building from 
residential to office and storage.  

• Two applications were approved within 44m to 97m of a GCRS boundary. 

In summary, the improvements that were identified in the previous monitoring period have 
been maintained where the site designations have been clearly identified on each 
application and considered alongside the application. No application has been permitted 
where there is an outstanding objection from either the County Ecologist, or a Wildlife 
Trust. 

Note - this indicator is similar to SEA Indicator 34. 

 

Page 229



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

140 
 

Objective 12 – Resources 

To facilitate the sustainable management of Powys’ natural and environmental 

resources whilst enabling development to take place including the provision of at 

least a 25 year land bank of crushed rock aggregates. 

 
Objective 12 Local Indicators - Summary Table for Annual Monitoring Report Period. 

Ref 
No: 

Indicator Assessment Action 

AMR46 Extent of primary land – won 
aggregates permitted in accordance 
with the Regional Technical Statement 
for Aggregates expressed as a 
percentage of the total capacity 
required as identified in the Regional 
Technical Statement (MTAN 
requirement). 

 Continue 
Monitoring 

AMR47 Number of developments permitted 
within the defined mineral working 
buffer zones. 

 Continue 
Monitoring 

 

Page 230



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

141 
 

AMR46: Extent of primary land – won aggregates permitted in accordance with the 

Regional Technical Statement for Aggregates expressed as a percentage of the total 

capacity required as identified in the Regional Technical Statement (MTAN 

requirement). 

Objective: Resources 

Indicator: 
Extent of primary land – won aggregates permitted in 
accordance with the Regional Technical Statement for 
Aggregates expressed as a percentage of the total capacity 
required as identified in the Regional Technical Statement 
(MTAN requirement). 

Key Policies: Topic Based Policy M1– Existing Minerals Sites 

Related Policies: Topic Based Policy M2– New Minerals Sites  

Target: 
Percentage of crushed rock aggregates compared against the 
annual target for the LDP area identified in the Regional Technical 
Statement. 

Trigger Point: 
Less than a 25 year land bank of permitted aggregate reserves in 
any one year. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

 

 
 

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator aims to monitor the performance of adopted LDP policies M1 - 
Existing Minerals Sites, and M2 - New Minerals Sites, with regards to their ability to 
maintain a supply of aggregates when compared to the Minerals Technical Advice Note 
(MTAN) requirement as expressed in the Regional Technical Statement for Aggregates 
(RTSA) (1st Review 2014 and 2nd Review 2020).  

Table 5.7 of the RTSA 2nd
 Review states that for Powys there is no apportionment of land-

won sand and gravel and a total apportionment of 87.98 million tonnes of crushed rock 
aggregates over a 25-year period. When this is expressed as an annual apportionment it 
equates to 3.519 million tonnes per annum.  

During the monitoring period there were no applications that related to existing mineral 
sites. There were no applications permitted for the working of new sites for primary won 
aggregates. No data for annual extraction rates for the monitoring period have been 
published so a percentage calculation is not possible. However, given the current 
landbank identified in RTSA 2nd

 Review the trigger point for this monitoring indicator has 
not been reached. 

  

Page 231



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

142 
 

Action 

Continue Monitoring  

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

Page 232



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

143 
 

AMR47: Number of developments permitted within the defined mineral working buffer 

zones. 

Objective: Resources 

Indicator: 
Number of developments permitted within the defined mineral 
working buffer zones. 

Key Policies: Development Management Policy DM9 – Existing Mineral Workings 

Related Policies:  

Target: 
No development is permitted within the defined mineral working 
buffer zones, unless in accordance with the criteria set out under 
Policy DM9. 

Trigger Point: 
1 or more developments permitted within the defined mineral 
working buffer zones not in accordance with Policy DM9 in any one 
year. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator aims to monitor the effectiveness of adopted LDP Policy DM9 – 
Existing Mineral Workings, and its ability to protect existing mineral working buffer zones 
from development that constrain the operations of the mineral site. 

The policy includes the criteria under which development may be allowed and these are: 

• The proposal would not constrain the operations of the mineral site; 

• The proposal would not be unacceptably affected by the mineral extraction 
operations at the site; and 

• The proposal can demonstrate the appropriate mitigation measures. 

Six planning applications were permitted which were located within mineral working buffer 
zones. However, four of the applications fell within the Nant Helen Permitted Working 
area. The Nant Helen mineral site is to close by June 2023, with permissions already 
granted for its after use and restoration. Therefore, it is considered that the four 
applications are in accordance with LDP Policy DM9 and will not constrain the operations 
of a mineral site. 

The remaining two applications, include one for an agricultural building and the other for 
the installation of three ground-mounted solar panel arrays. Neither application is 
considered to be sensitive development, that would be unacceptably affected by minerals 
extraction operations, or would constrain the operations of a mineral site. 

It is concluded that all the applications permitted have been granted in accordance with 
adopted LDP Policy DM9. 

 

Page 233



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

144 
 

 

Action 

Continue Monitoring  

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

Page 234



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

145 
 

Objective 13 – Landscape and the Historic Environment 

i. Landscape 

To protect, preserve and/or enhance the distinctive landscapes of Powys and 

adjoining areas, including protected landscapes. 

ii. The Historic Environment 

To protect, preserve and/or enhance the distinctive historic environment, heritage and 

cultural assets of Powys, in particular local assets that are not statutorily protected or 

designated under national legislation, and to ensure that development respects local 

distinctiveness. 

 
Objective 13 Local Indicators - Summary Table for Annual Monitoring Report Period. 

Ref 
No: 

Indicator Assessment Action 

AMR48 Preparation and adoption of 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
relating to Archaeology. 

SPG Adopted No Action Required 

AMR49 Preparation and adoption of 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
relating to Landscapes. 

SPG Adopted No Action Required 

AMR50 Preparation and adoption of 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
relating to Residential Design. 

SPG Adopted No Action Required 

AMR51 Preparation and adoption of 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
relating to Historic Environment 
including the Historic Environment 
Records. 

SPG Adopted No Action Required 

AMR52 Preparation and adoption of 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
relating to Conservation Areas. 

SPG Adopted No Action Required 

AMR53 The number of wind energy and major 
developments permitted and 
accompanied by a Landscape and 
Visual Impact Assessment. 

 Continue 
Monitoring 

AMR54 The number of developments permitted 
within or affecting the setting of a 
Conservation Area. 

 Continue 
Monitoring 

 

 

Page 235



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

146 
 

AMR48: Preparation and adoption of Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to 

Archaeology. 

Objective: Landscape and the Historic Environment 

Indicator: 
Preparation and adoption of Supplementary Planning Guidance 
relating to Archaeology. 

Key Policies: Strategic Policy SP7 – Safeguarding of Strategic Resources and 
Assets 

Related Policies:  

Target: 
To prepare and adopt Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to 
Archaeology within 24 months of adoption of the LDP. 

Trigger Point: 
Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to Archaeology not 
adopted within 24 months of adoption of the LDP. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022): SPG Adopted July 2021 

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

 

Action 

No further action required. 

 

Analysis 

The Archaeology SPG was adopted in July 2021.  The approval process had been 
delayed due to the Covid-19 pandemic as the Council entered Business Critical mode.  
SPG work re-commenced in 2021 when factual updates were made to the draft SPG and 
presented to the LDP Working Group in April 2021, before being put forward for adoption 
by Cabinet. 

 

Page 236



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

147 
 

AMR49: Preparation and adoption of Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to 

Landscapes. 

Objective: Landscape and the Historic Environment 

Indicator: 
Preparation and adoption of Supplementary Planning Guidance 
relating to Landscapes. 

Key Policies: Development Management Policy DM4 – Landscape 

Related Policies: Strategic Policy SP7 – Safeguarding of Strategic Resources and 
Assets 

Target: 
To prepare and adopt Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to 
Landscapes within 12 months of adoption of the LDP. 

Trigger Point: 
Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to Landscapes not 
adopted within 12 months of adoption of the LDP. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): SPG Adopted April 2019 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

 

Action 

No further action required. 

 

Analysis 

The Landscape SPG was adopted in April 2019 and therefore within the timescale of 12 
months from the date of LDP adoption. 

 

Page 237



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

148 
 

AMR50: Preparation and adoption of Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to 

Residential Design. 

Objective: Landscape and the Historic Environment 

Indicator: 
Preparation and adoption of Supplementary Planning Guidance 
relating to Residential Design. 

Key Policies: Development Management Policy DM13 – Design and Resources 

Related Policies:  

Target: 
To prepare and adopt Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to 
Residential Design within 18 months of adoption of the LDP. 

Trigger Point: 
Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to Residential Design 
not adopted within 18 months of adoption of the LDP. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): SPG Adopted January 2020 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

 

Action 

No further action required. 

 

Analysis 

The Residential Design Guide SPG was adopted in January 2020 and therefore within the 
timescale of 18 months from the date of LDP adoption. 

 

Page 238



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

149 
 

AMR51: Preparation and adoption of Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to 

Historic Environment including the Historic Environment Records. 

Objective: Landscape and the Historic Environment 

Indicator: 
Preparation and adoption of Supplementary Planning Guidance 
relating to Historic Environment including the Historic 
Environment Records. 

Key Policies: Strategic Policy SP7 – Safeguarding of Strategic Resources and 
Assets 

Related Policies:  

Target: 
To prepare and adopt Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to 
Historic Environment including the Historic Environment Records 
within 24 months of adoption of the LDP. 

Trigger Point: 
Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to Historic Environment 
including the Historic Environment Records not adopted within 24 
months of adoption of the LDP. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022): SPG Adopted July 2021 

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

 

Action 

No further action required. 

 

Analysis 

The Historic Environment SPG was adopted in July 2021.  The approval process had 
been delayed due to the Covid-19 pandemic as the Council entered Business Critical 
mode.  SPG work re-commenced in 2021 when factual updates were made to the draft 
SPG and presented to the LDP Working Group in April 2021, before being put forward for 
adoption by Cabinet. 

 

Page 239



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

150 
 

AMR52: Preparation and adoption of Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to 

Conservation Areas. 

Objective: Landscape and the Historic Environment 

Indicator: 
Preparation and adoption of Supplementary Planning Guidance 
relating to Conservation Areas. 

Key Policies: Strategic Policy SP7 – Safeguarding of Strategic Resources and 
Assets 

Related Policies: Development Management Policy DM13 – Design and Resources 

Target: 
To prepare and adopt Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to 
Conservation Areas within 18 months of adoption of the LDP. 

Trigger Point: 
Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to Conservation Areas 
not adopted within 18 months of adoption of the LDP. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): SPG Adopted January 2020 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

 

Action 

No further action required. 

 

Analysis 

The Conservation Areas SPG was adopted in January 2020 and therefore within the 
timescale of 18 months from the date of LDP adoption. 

 

Page 240



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

151 
 

AMR53: The number of wind energy and major developments permitted and 

accompanied by a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment. 

Objective: Landscape and the Historic Environment 

Indicator: 
The number of wind energy and major developments permitted 
and accompanied by a Landscape and Visual Impact 
Assessment. 

Key Policies: Development Management Policy DM4 – Landscape 

Related Policies:  

Target: 
No developments permitted that could have a significant landscape 
or visual impact, unless accompanied by a Landscape and Visual 
Impact Assessment. 

Trigger Point: 
1 or more developments permitted that could have a significant 
landscape or visual impact permitted without an accompanying 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator aims to test the implementation of adopted LDP Policy DM4 – 
Landscape which seeks to prevent development from having an unacceptable adverse 
effect, on the valued characteristics and qualities of the Powys landscape. The Policy 
requires proposals which are likely to have a significant impact on the landscape and/or 
visual amenity to undertake a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA).  This is 
elaborated upon in paragraph 4.2.33 of the LDP: “Proposals which could have a 
significant impact on the landscape and/or visual amenity will require a Landscape and 
Visual Impact Assessment to be undertaken in accordance with relevant guidance. This 
will include all wind energy proposals (excluding anemometry masts) and most major 
developments…” 

During the monitoring period 14 applications were granted that met the description of 
either being a “wind energy proposal “or a “major development”, in the Open Countryside.  

The submitted information, demonstrating how landscape has been taken into 
consideration for the 14 applications, is summarised in Table 26 below. 

Since the adoption of the Plan a judicial review was sought, challenging the LPA’s 
decision to grant consent for a major planning application in the Open Countryside, 
without an LVIA being submitted with the application (listed among several reasons).  

The judge stated the following in the letter detailing the outcome of the judicial review:  

“Neither policy DM4 nor the guidance (referring to the SPG) referred to made a formal 
Visual Impact Assessment mandatory. Whether one should be required in the particular 
case was a matter for the officers and/or committee members, and given their own 
assessment, made with the assistance of a site visit, that there would be no significant 

Page 241



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

152 
 

 

Table 26. Submitted Documentation Detailing Landscape Consideration for Major 

Applications in the Open Countryside During Monitoring Period.  

Number of 
applications 

Landscape Consideration Document Included with Planning 
Application Submission 

2 Submitted LVIA as part of an EIA 

1 Submitted an LVIA 

1 Submitted a Landscape Assessment 

7 
Justified approach to landscape within the Design and Access 
Statement. 

1 Justified approach to landscape within a Planning Statement 

2 No Landscape Consideration 

visual impact, the decision not to require such an assessment cannot be argued to be 
irrational or unlawful on other grounds”. 

The view of the judge supports the approach taken by the LPA, where specific judgements 
are being made of what constitutes a ‘significant impact’ by Planning Officers, based on 
whether proposed developments are likely to have a significant landscape and visual 
impact (highly sensitive landscape or due to nature and scale of development) and 
therefore the need for LVIA varies. 

The Landscape SPG was adopted in April 2019. The SPG provides detail on how 
landscape should be taken into consideration when considering the design and siting of a 
proposed development. Of the 14 applications permitted, 12 of the applications, as listed 
in Table 26, complied with the guidance to some extent. 

For the remaining two applications, no details of how landscape had been considered as 
part of the proposal had been submitted. One was for the installation of a renewable 
energy generator that included a 15-metre wind turbine and a solar array, at the site of a 
telecommunications tower, alongside an existing turbine. The Officer report for this 
application, stated that the proposed wind turbine would be lower in height than the 
existing tower and backed to the north by forest land. Following detailed consideration of 
the proposal against LANDMAP, the Planning Officer concluded that the proposal would 
not have an unacceptable adverse impact on the valued characteristics and qualities of 
the Powys landscape. 

The second application, where the planning submission included no details of how 
landscape had been considered as part of the proposal, related to the construction of a 
new slurry store. In this instance, the site was located within a Registered Historic Park 
and Garden, so an impact assessment had been undertaken assessing the visual impact 
of the proposal in the context of the Registered Historic Park and Garden. Following the 
assessment, and comments from Cadw, further landscaping was proposed ensuring the 
proposal would not have an unacceptable adverse impact on the valued characteristics 
and qualities of the Powys landscape or the Registered Historic Park and Garden. 

From the analysis, it is concluded that none of the applications permitted during the period 
had a significant landscape or visual impact unless they were accompanied by a LVIA. 

Page 242



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

153 
 

 

Action 

Continue Monitoring  

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

Page 243



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

154 
 

AMR54: The number of developments permitted within or affecting the setting of a 

Conservation Area. 

Objective: Landscape and the Historic Environment 

Indicator: 
The number of developments permitted within or affecting the 
setting of a Conservation Area. 

Key Policies: Development Management Policy DM13 – Design and Resources  

Related Policies:  

Target: 
No developments to be permitted in or affecting a Conservation 
Area, unless in accordance with Policy DM13 or national guidance. 

Trigger Point: 
1 or more developments permitted in or affecting a Conservation 
Area not in accordance with Policy DM13 or national guidance and 
where there is an outstanding objection from the Council’s Built 
Heritage Officer. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator looks at developments that have been permitted which are either 
located in or affect the setting of a Conservation Area.  The purpose of the indicator is to 
test the implementation of adopted LDP policies DM13 (3) and SP7 (2 v.) and, in 
particular, to capture instances where development is permitted where there is an 
outstanding objection from the Council’s Built Heritage Conservation Officer (BHCO) and 
where it does not comply with these policies. 

Forty-eight developments within or affecting the setting of a Conservation Area have been 
recorded during this monitoring period.  In over half of these cases, the BHCO confirmed 
either support or no objection for the proposals, subject to conditions or following 
additional information and amendments made to the proposals. 

There were also several cases where the BHCO had not responded at the time of writing 
the Officer’s report, with many involving only change of use and no external alterations, 
which would, therefore, not impact on the character and appearance of the Conservation 
Area. Others involved sites outside but adjacent to Conservation Areas where the impact 
of the proposed development on the setting and views into and out of these areas had 
been considered by Development Management Officers against the relevant planning 
policies.  Officers had also referred to the guidance within the Conservation Areas SPG to 
inform their decision-making. 
 
It is noted that a retrospective application involving the change of use of a shop to a 
business office and installation of a UPVC window and door at a Member of Parliament’s 
constituency office in the Conservation Area of Llandrindod Wells was refused.  The Built 
Heritage Conservation Officer did not object to the change of use element of the 
application, however it was determined that the installation of a UPVC window and door 

Page 244



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

155 
 

 

Action 

Continue Monitoring  

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

failed to preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the Conservation Area.  
The applicant had sought to justify the need to use UPVC on security grounds, however 
this was not considered to override the concerns raised regarding the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area.  An appeal against the decision in respect of the 
UPVC windows element was dismissed, the Inspector agreeing with the LPA that the use 
of this material would erode the appearance of the Conservation Area by reducing the 
prevalence of characteristic wood framed doors and windows. 
 
During this monitoring period, no developments were permitted where there was an 
outstanding objection from the BHCO.  The results for this monitoring period demonstrate 
that Officers are determining planning applications against the relevant planning policies 
and guidance, and in line with the advice of the Built Heritage Conservation Officer.  This 
indicator will continue to be monitored to test the implementation of the Council’s 
Conservation Area policies and guidance. 

 

Page 245



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

156 
 

Theme 5 – Supporting Healthy Communities 

 

Objective 14 – Healthy Lifestyles 

To encourage active healthy lifestyles by enabling access to open spaces, areas for 

recreation and amenity including allotments or growing spaces, and to ensure 

development provides opportunities for walking, cycling, open and play spaces where 

required. 

 
Objective 14 Local Indicators - Summary Table for Annual Monitoring Report Period. 

Ref 
No: 

Indicator Assessment Action 

AMR55 The amount (ha) and type of public 
open space provision secured in 
connection with major residential 
developments permitted. 

 Continue 
Monitoring 

AMR56 The area of public open space (ha) 
that would be lost and gained as a 
result of development granted planning 
permission. 

 Continue 
Monitoring 

AMR57 Preparation and adoption of 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
relating to Open Space 

 Not Assessed 

 

Page 246



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

157 
 

AMR55: The amount (ha) and type of public open space provision secured in 

connection with major residential developments permitted. 

Objective: Healthy Lifestyles 

Indicator: 
The amount (ha) and type of public open space provision 
secured in connection with major residential developments 
permitted. 

Key Policies: Development Management Policy DM3 – Public Open Space 

Related Policies:  

Target: 
That major residential developments contribute towards addressing 
the open space deficiencies identified in the Open Space 
Assessment in terms of the amount and type of public open space 
provided. 

Trigger Point: 
1 or more major residential developments permitted where no 
amount of provision is secured for public open space where 
deficiencies have been identified by the Open Space Assessment in 
any one year. 
 
1 or more major residential developments permitted where the type 
of public open space secured is not of the type required by the Open 
Space Assessment in any one year. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator looks at the amount (ha) and type of public open space provision 
secured in connection with all major residential developments permitted.  The purpose of 
the indicator is to test the implementation of adopted LDP Policy DM3, whereby the nature 
of open space provision secured should be guided by deficiencies in the published Open 
Space Assessment (2018). 

Planning permission was granted for seven major residential developments during the 
monitoring period. An open space contribution was secured, in terms of onsite provision, 
for four of the seven permissions granted. Three included for fixed play equipment, with 
the fourth providing for recreational enhancement with a bench, due to their being no open 
space deficiencies within walking distance of the application site. 

For the remaining three of the seven applications granted planning permission in the 
monitoring period, one made provision for a new car park (to enable access to an existing 
play area and community facilities) instead of open space. Another related to the re-use of 
a building (previously developed land) in a conservation area, the costs associated with 
the development resulted in it being unviable to also provide for open space. The 
remaining application was for the variation of a planning condition on an extant planning 
permission. In this instance, it was not considered reasonable to require the developer to 

Page 247



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

158 
 

 

Action 

Continue Monitoring  

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

provide further planning obligations, than previously approved, given that the changes 
related to design improvements of the original scheme. 

In four of the applications, the scale and nature of the provision/contribution of open space 
was considered appropriate, matched the types required by the Open Space Assessment 
and complied with adopted LDP Policy DM3. For the remaining three applications, it is 
considered that the justifications given for not providing for open space are acceptable. 

 

Page 248



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

159 
 

AMR56: The area of public open space (ha) that would be lost and gained as a result 

of development granted planning permission. 

Objective: Healthy Lifestyles 

Indicator: 
The area of public open space (ha) that would be lost and 
gained as a result of development granted planning 
permission. 

Key Policies: Development Management Policy DM3 – Public Open Space 

Related Policies:  

Target: 
Net gain of public open space as a result of development granted 
planning permission. 
 
No net loss of public open space identified or as defined in the Open 
Space Assessment as a result of development granted planning 
permission. 

Trigger Point: 
No net gain of public open space as a result of development granted 
planning permission in any one year. 
 
A net loss of public open space identified or as defined in the Open 
Space Assessment as a result of development granted planning 
permission in any one year. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator looks at the amount (hectares) of open space lost and gained as 
a result of planning applications granted during the monitoring period. The purpose of the 
indicator is to test the implementation of adopted LDP Policy DM3 where areas identified 
as open space in the Open Space Assessment are protected and where housing 
developments of ten or more contribute towards the provision of open space. 

Net gain of public open space 

It has not been possible to accurately record the total amount of open space granted due 
to the fact that the majority of open space provision secured is done via a planning or 
Section 106 condition. The condition requires the details (location, size maintenance 
etc...) of the provision to be submitted at a later date. Details are provided within 
monitoring indicator AMR55 of the four applications where open space provision has been 
secured. 

In addition to the net gain of public open space secured through housing developments, 
eight plannings applications relating to public open space were approved in the monitoring 
period. All eight, related to the addition of features to enhance existing provision. 

 

Page 249



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

160 
 

 

Action 

Continue Monitoring  

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

Net loss of public open space 

There have been several planning applications permitted on open spaces, mapped in the 
Open Space Assessment, that can be considered as ancillary / enhancing the existing 
open spaces. These include facilities such as footpaths, flood lights, compost toilets and 
changing rooms. None are considered as a change of use or result in a loss of open 
space. 

In conclusion, during the monitoring period there has been a net gain in public open 
space. Adopted LDP Policy DM3 has overall been implemented as intended. However, 
when reconsidering the policy, in the Replacement LDP, thought should be given to 
making it clearer that the protection of public open spaces extends beyond what is 
mapped in the open space assessment to reflect the findings from previous Annual 
Monitoring Reports. 

 

Page 250



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

161 
 

AMR57: Preparation and adoption of Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to 

Open Space. 

Objective: Healthy Lifestyles 

Indicator: 
Preparation and adoption of Supplementary Planning Guidance 
relating to Open Space. 

Key Policies: Development Management Policy DM3 – Public Open Space 

Related Policies:  

Target: 
To prepare and adopt Supplementary Planning Guidance on relating 
to Open Space within 18 months of adoption of the LDP. 

Trigger Point: 
Supplementary Planning Guidance relating to Open Space not 
adopted within 18 months of adoption of the LDP. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

 

Action 

Not Assessed 

 

Analysis 

Whilst the Open Space SPG has not progressed beyond drafting stage, the published 
Open Space Assessment (2018) provides an effective mechanism to test development 
proposals and their loss or provision of Open Space. The Planning Obligations SPG also 
includes guidance for Open Space provision, so the non-publication of the Open Space 
SPG is not considered to be a detriment. 

Page 251



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

162 
 

Objective 15 – Welsh Language and Culture 

To support and protect Welsh language and culture in Powys and specifically the 

Welsh Speaking Strongholds of the north-west and south-west. 

 
Objective 15 Local Indicators - Summary Table for Annual Monitoring Report Period. 

Ref 
No: 

Indicator Assessment Action 

AMR58 The number of major housing 
developments permitted within or 
forming logical extensions to the Towns 
and Large Villages identified within 
Policy DM12 (in Welsh Speaking 
Strongholds) accompanied by a 
Language Action Plan setting out 
mitigation measures to protect, 
promote and enhance the Welsh 
language and Culture. 

 Continue 
Monitoring 

 

Page 252



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

163 
 

AMR58: The number of major housing developments permitted within or forming 

logical extensions to the Towns and Large Villages identified within Policy DM12 (in 

Welsh Speaking Strongholds) accompanied by a Language Action Plan setting out 

mitigation measures to protect, promote and enhance the Welsh language and 

Culture. 

Objective: Welsh Language and Culture 

Indicator: 
The number of major housing developments permitted within 
or forming logical extensions to the Towns and Large Villages 
identified within Policy DM12 (in Welsh Speaking Strongholds) 
accompanied by a Language Action Plan setting out mitigation 
measures to protect, promote and enhance the Welsh language 
and Culture. 

Key Policies: Development Management Policy DM12 – Development in Welsh 
Speaking Strongholds 

Related Policies:  

Target: 
For all major housing developments within or forming logical 
extensions to the Towns and Large Villages identified to be 
accompanied by a Language Action Plan which includes mitigation 
measures to protect, promote and enhance Welsh language and 
Culture. 

Trigger Point: 
1 or more major housing developments permitted within or forming 
logical extensions to the Towns and Large Villages identified, 
without a Language Action Plan setting out mitigation measures to 
protect, promote and enhance the Welsh language and Culture in 
any one year. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

Analysis 

This monitoring indicator tests the implementation of adopted LDP Policy DM12, which 
applies to major windfall development permitted within Welsh Speaking Strongholds. 

Two developments have been captured during this monitoring period located in 
Ystradgynlais and Machynlleth.  The permission at Ystradgynlais related to reserved 
matters approval on an adopted LDP allocated site, and, therefore, LDP Policy DM12 
would not apply to this development. 

The permission at Machynlleth related to the variation of a condition on an existing 
consent to allow for design and layout changes to ensure compliance with the national 
Welsh Development Quality Requirements.  The Officer’s Report recognised that the site 
was located within a Welsh Speaking Stronghold which requires applications on windfall 
sites for 10 or more dwellings, to be subject to a Welsh Language Impact Assessment.  
The report goes on to explain that the original application was not subject to a Welsh 

Page 253



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

164 
 

 

Action 

Continue Monitoring  

Development plan policies are being implemented effectively. 

 

Language Impact Assessment and as such it was not considered reasonable to require an 
assessment for the proposed design and layout changes at this stage. 

It was therefore found that adopted LDP Policy DM12, was not applicable to the types of 
development/applications permitted in Welsh Speaking Strongholds during this monitoring 
period.  It is proposed to continue monitoring the implementation of this policy, particularly 
given past inconsistences in terms of how the policy was being applied. 

 

Page 254



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

165 
 

Objective 16 – Community Well-being 

To promote development that supports community wellbeing and cohesion, 
especially in communities suffering from multiple deprivation and social exclusion. 
 
Objective 16 Local Indicators - Summary Table for Annual Monitoring Report Period. 

Ref 
No: 

Indicator Assessment Action 

AMR59 Number of developments permitted 
resulting in the loss of an existing 
community or indoor recreation facility, 
or neighbourhood/village shop, public 
house or service. 

 
Policy Review 
Required 

 

 

Page 255



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

166 
 

AMR59: Number of developments permitted resulting in the loss of an existing 

community or indoor recreation facility, or neighbourhood/village shop, public house 

or service. 

Objective: Community Well-being 

Indicator: 
Number of developments permitted resulting in the loss of an 
existing community or indoor recreation facility, or 
neighbourhood/village shop, public house or service. 

Key Policies: Development Management Policy DM11 – Protection of Existing 
Community Facilities and Services 

Related Policies:  

Target: 
No developments permitted that result in the loss of an existing 
community or indoor recreation facility, or neighbourhood/village 
shop, public house or service, unless in accordance with Policy 
DM11. 

Trigger Point: 
1 or more developments permitted resulting in the loss of an existing 
community or indoor recreation facility, or neighbourhood/village 
shop, public house or service not in accordance with Policy DM11 in 
any one year. 

 

Outcome / actions, year on year: 

LDP Adopted: 17/04/2018  

AMR 2020 (2019-2020): 
 

AMR 2021 (2020-2021):  

AMR 2022 (2021-2022):  

AMR 2023 (2022-2023):  

Analysis 

Adopted LDP Policy DM11 seeks to protect community facilities and services unless an 
alternative use can be justified in accordance with the policy. This monitoring indicator 
monitors the number of planning permissions given for a change of use involving loss of 
an existing community facility or service, in order to test the implementation of LDP Policy 
DM11. 

During this monitoring period, 14 developments of this type have been permitted, the 
majority of which involved change of use/conversion to new uses, with one development 
involving a new build.  These developments resulted in the loss (or in some cases partial 
loss) of a range of community facilities and services, including a chapel, residential 
institutions, public houses, microbrewery and visitor centre, hotel, health care centre, 
shops, a café, a bank and a former school.  Nine of the developments proposed 
residential use, with other proposed uses including offices, microbrewery and cidery with 
shop, complementary therapy business and shop, holiday let and supported living units 
associated with a care home.   

In terms of the distribution of the developments permitted across the settlement hierarchy, 
the majority were located in Towns, with a limited number in Small Villages and the Open 
Countryside – see Table 27.   Therefore, the majority of these developments have come 
forward in the most sustainable locations, according to the adopted LDP. 

Page 256



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

167 
 

 

Table 27.  Planning Permission Permitted for Change of Use of Existing Community 

Facilities or Services by Settlement Tier during Monitoring Period. 

LDP settlement hierarchy No. of planning permissions for 
change of use of existing 
community facilities or services 

Towns 9 

Large Villages 0 

Small Villages 1 

Open Countryside 4 

Total 14 

 

 
Action 

Policy Review Required 

Development plan policies are not being implemented and are failing to deliver; a review 
of the specific policy may be required. 

 

 

Half of the developments had been assessed specifically under adopted LDP Policy DM11 
and had been justified and supported by evidence relating to viability, marketing, and 
alternative uses/provision, in order to demonstrate compliance with the policy criteria.   

However, LDP Policy DM11 had not been used by Officers to assess the remaining 
developments.  Officers, instead, relied on adopted LDP Policy R3 in assessing 
applications involving the loss of shops in Towns and other relevant policies, such as LDP 
Policy H1, LDP Policy E2 and national guidance within Technical Advice Note 6 on reuse 
of rural buildings.   

There are still some issues around consistency in the way that LDP Policy DM11 is 
applied and around the relationship between this policy and other adopted LDP policies 
such as policies R3 and C1.  This highlights the need to review and clarify the scope and 
wording of the policy, and to provide clearer definitions of community facilities and 
services. 

These consistency issues will be highlighted to Development Management Officers, 
however LDP Policy DM11 will be reviewed as part of the Replacement LDP process. 

Page 257



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

168 
 

6. Results of SA/SEA Indicators 
 

6.1 Results for Monitoring Period 1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023 

6.1.1 Local Development Plans should help deliver sustainable development. To ensure that this is the case, it is a legal requirement that the 

sustainability of the LDP is tested as the plan is prepared. Part of this process is referred to as the Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA). 

The SEA for the Powys LDP is accompanied by a monitoring framework which includes 34 SEA indicators used to test the sustainability 

performance of the Plan.  This section details these SEA indicators along with an analysis of the results for each indicator.  

6.1.2 The monitoring process is dependent upon a wide range of statistical information that is sourced from both local authority and external 

sources. For consistency across the lifetime of the Plan the sources have, where necessary, been identified for each SEA Indicator. However, if 

these sources change over time, then it will be necessary to substitute them for other data sources that provide as high a degree of 

equivalence with the previous source as possible.  

6.1.3 It is also important to recognise that a number of data sources are published on a time interval greater than one year. This means that 

from one year of monitoring to the next the data used may stay the same which may impact the possible performance of the SEA Indicator. 

Subsequent monitoring over longer periods of time should address this issue and where appropriate, identify trends. A note is made for each 

SEA Indicator, where it is known that this problem may occur. 

6.2 Summary of Main Issues and Trends Identified 

6.2.1 The Review Report summarised the main findings of the SEA monitoring, identifying the main issues and trends that have emerged 

since the LDP was adopted and covering the following SEA topics: Biodiversity, Population, Soils, Strategic Resources and Assets, Cultural 

Heritage and Geodiversity.  In summary, the results for the current monitoring period show: 

• A continuation of population trends towards an ageing population. 

• Reversal of trend towards the outmigration of younger adults. 

• Increase in police recorded road accidents and crimes. 

• Improvement in air quality. 

• Reduction in the number and proportion of Welsh speakers, particularly among children and young people aged 3-15 years old. 

 
  

P
age 258



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

169 
 

SEA Topic: Biodiversity 

SEA Topic Area – Biodiversity  

Objective 1: To protect and enhance all designated sites of nature conservation in the Plan area. 

Objective 2: To protect and enhance all species and habitats identified in the Powys Local Biodiversity Action Plan or Section 42 

List.   

Indicator 1 - Increase/decrease in the number of European designated sites in favourable condition. 

Indicator 2 - Changes in the status of the habitats and species identified in the Local Biodiversity Action Plan (LBAP). 

Indicator 3 - Number of developments permitted which incorporate enhancements to European/ nationally designated sites, and species and 

habitats identified in the Powys LBAP or Section 42 List. 

P
age 259



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

170 
 

 

SEA Topic Area: Biodiversity 

Subtopic: Designated Sites of Nature Conservation 

Indicator 1: Increase/decrease in the number of European designated sites in favourable condition. 

Task: Review of NRW information on the condition of designated sites. https://naturalresources.wales/evidence-and-
data/research-and-reports/protected-sites-baseline-assessment-2020/?lang=en  

Timescale: Dependent on NRW plans for future monitoring  

 

Analysis 

The LDP lists 20 sites (SAC and SPA) from the National Site Network (before January 2021, these were referred to as European sites) that 
are located either wholly or partially within the county, with a further 27 that are wholly outside the county but within 15 kilometres of the 
Powys boundary. This latter figure includes three that are in England. Across all of these 47 sites there are 173 conservation ‘features’ (162 
in or within 15km of the Powys boundary) that provide the justification for the designation of the site in question. These features are the 
subject of regular assessment that is carried out in Wales by NRW and over the border by Natural England. The purpose of these 
assessments is to determine the conservation status of the features concerned, and the status is described as being one of the following; 

• Unfavourable; Declining  

• Unfavourable; Unclassified  

• Unfavourable; Recovering 

• Favourable; Unclassified 

• Favourable; Recovering 

• Favourable; Maintained  

• Not Assessed  

• Classified 

The 2020 Baseline Evaluation project was established by NRW to assess the quality of the protected sites in Wales and it is the first time that 
an exercise to determine the condition of Wales’ protected site features has been undertaken at this scale since 2003.  

P
age 260

https://naturalresources.wales/evidence-and-data/research-and-reports/protected-sites-baseline-assessment-2020/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/evidence-and-data/research-and-reports/protected-sites-baseline-assessment-2020/?lang=en


Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

171 
 

The focus of the project was mainly on monitoring features currently considered to be qualifying on Wales’ protected sites. Types of 
terrestrial and freshwater features in scope for monitoring: flora, fauna, geology, geomorphology and a mixture of these natural features.  

There is no update on this indicator to what was reported in AMR 2022. Of the 162 conservation features in or within 15km of the Powys 
boundary, only 32 (20%) were given the indicative condition as ‘Favourable’ a further 86 (53%) were considered ‘Unfavourable’ and the 
remaining 44 (27%) ‘Unknown’. The condition classed as ‘unknown’ was given where there was insufficient evidence to determine.  

The findings from this project (see Table 28) will provide a vital baseline to build an approach to management and monitoring across the 
wider suite of protected sites (SACs, SPAs and SSSIs). 

 * NB; please note that the Section 42 list referred to under Objective 2 heading above, has now been replaced by the Environment (Wales) 
Act 2016 Section 7 list. 

 

 

Table 28. Indicative Condition of Conservation Features in or within 15km of the Powys Boundary. 

Indicative Condition 2020 

Favourable 20% 

Unfavourable 53% 

Unknown 27% 

 

P
age 261



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

172 
 

 

SEA Topic Area: Biodiversity 

Subtopic: Important Habitats and Species 

Indicator 2: Changes in the status of the habitats and species identified in the Local Biodiversity Action Plan (LBAP). 

NOTE: the LBAP has been replaced by the Powys Nature Recovery Plan -  

https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/12296/Powys-Nature-Recovery-Action-Plan & 

https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/12298/Appendix-A & https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/12300/Appendix-B  

Task: Review of PNRAP information and any associated future monitoring. 

Timescale: Dependent on future arrangements 

 

Analysis 

The Powys Nature Recovery Action Plan (PNRAP) which builds on the previous Powys LBAP, was adopted in March 2022. There is 
currently no standardised mechanism for reporting on Nature Recovery Action Plan progress. Previously, the Biodiversity Action Reporting 
System (BARS) was used to report on actions contributing towards the delivery of the Local Biodiversity Action Plans, but this is no longer 
available. To monitor its progress, a list of projects and activities taking place in Powys which contribute to the delivery of the PNRAP will be 
compiled and updated annually by the Powys Nature Partnership until standardised reporting mechanisms have been agreed. Planning 
policy will be looking to align its monitoring with this going forward. 

 * NB; please note that the Section 42 list referred to under Objective 2 heading above, has now been replaced by the Environment (Wales) 
Act 2016 Section 7 list. 

P
age 262

https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/12296/Powys-Nature-Recovery-Action-Plan
https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/12298/Appendix-A
https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/12300/Appendix-B


Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

173 
 

 

SEA Topic Area: Biodiversity 

Subtopic: Enhancements 

Indicator 3: Number of developments permitted which incorporate enhancements to European/ nationally designated 

sites, and species and habitats identified in the Powys LBAP or section 42 List. 

Task: Review of PCC Development Management information. 

Timescale: Annually 

 

Analysis 

In October 2019, the Welsh Government issued a letter to LPAs explaining the position in terms of securing biodiversity enhancements as 
part of planning applications. Biodiversity enhancements are expected to be secured in connection with all developments, including those 
developments affecting National Site Network, species and habitats. 

In summary, this Indicator no longer requires monitoring due to change in national approach towards enhancement. 

P
age 263



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

174 
 

SEA Topic: Population and Human Health 

SEA Topic Area – Population and Human Health  

Objective 3: Enhance the provision of housing, employment, and community services to meet the needs of the population and in 
response to demographic changes (e.g., the ageing population and the need to retain the young working age population).  
 
Objective 4: Promote improvement in community safety.  

Objective 5: Promote improvement in human health and opportunities for healthy living.  

Objective 6: To prevent or minimise exposure to potential sources of nuisance and risk to human health.  

Indicator 4 - Change in average life expectancy. 

Indicator 5 - Ratio of working age population to children and retired population. 

Indicator 6 - Percentage of population aged 75 and over. 

Indicator 7 - Migration trends of younger adults (aged 20-34). 

Indicator 8 - The number of police recorded road accidents involving personal injury. 

Indicator 9 - Number of police recorded crimes. 

Indicator 10 - Percentage of people participating in sporting activities three or more times a week. 

Indicator 11 - Number of planning applications referred to the Health and Safety Executive. 

 

P
age 264



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

175 
 

 

SEA Topic Area: Population and Human Health 

Subtopic: Population (demographic profile). 

Indicator 4: Change in average life expectancy. 

Task: 
Office of National Statistics (ONS) 
 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancies  
 

Timescale: Census (2021)  

Average life expectancy every 2-4 years (in line with Welsh Government timescales). 

 

Analysis 

The data available remains the same as reported in the previous monitoring period. The most recently available Welsh Government statistics 
for Powys (including the Bannau Brycheiniog (Brecon Beacons) National Park) average life expectancy at birth relate to averages for the 
years 2018 to 2020.  

Figures shown in Table 29 identified an increase in male life expectancy at birth and a decrease in female life expectancy at birth from 2016 
to 2020.  

However, perhaps more notable are the figures for a healthy life expectancy at birth with males at 62.02 years in 2018 to 2020 compared to 
65.54 years in 2016 to 2018 and females at 65.62 years in 2018 to 2020 compared to 68.2 years in 2016 to 2018.  

It is expected that new data will be released in time for the next monitoring period. 

 
 

 

P
age 265

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healthandlifeexpectancies


Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

176 
 

Table 29. Health and Life Expectancy at Birth. 

Health and Life Expectancy 2016 -2018 2017-2019 2018-2020 

Life expectancy at birth – Male 79.80 years 79.97 years 80.13 years 

Life expectancy at birth - Female 84.04 years 83.69 years 83.38 years 

Healthy Life expectancy at birth - Male 65.54 years 63.3 years 62.02 years 

Healthy Life expectancy at birth - 
Female 

68.2 years 66.31 years 65.62 years 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 266



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

177 
 

 

SEA Topic Area: Population and Human Health 

Subtopic: Population (demographic profile). 

Indicator 5: Ratio of working age population to children and retired population. 

Indicator 6: Percentage of population aged 75 and over. 

Indicator 7: Migration trends of younger adults (aged 20-34). 

Task: 
Review Census information 

Office of National Statistics (ONS) midyear population estimates 

Timescale: Census (2021) data available 2022.  

ONS data available annually. 

 

Analysis 

The most recent data available for these three SEA indicators is Census (2021) published in 2022.  

Indicator 5; Based on the Census (2021) data the population of Powys is 133,174, which represents an increase in population size of 144 
since mid-year estimates of 2020. 75,419 of the total population are considered to be of working age (between 16 and 64 years) which 
equates to 56.6%. This represents an increase from the 2020 figure by 259. There are 20,634 children (0 to 15 years) (15.5%). This 
represents a reduction of 435 from 2020. 37,121 people are aged 65 or over (27.9%). This represents an increase of 320 from 2020. Taken 
together the populations of children and retired people amount to 57,755 people or 43.4% of the total population, compared to the 56.6% 
who are of working age. This represents a decrease from 2020 of 115 people who are either children or retired and thus are not considered 
to be working.  Changes in these figures since LDP adoption are summarised in Table 30.  This demonstrates a continuation of trend 
relevant to SEA objective 3 to enhance provision of housing, employment and community services to meet the needs of the population and in 
response to demographic changes, such as the ageing population. 

 

P
age 267



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

178 
 

Indicator 6; Based on the Census (2021) data, approximately 17,244 people live in Powys who are 75 years or older, this equates to 12.9% 
of the total population. This represents an increase of 167 (0.07%) from 2020.  Changes in these figures since LDP adoption are summarised 
in Table 31.  This demonstrates a continuation of trend relevant to SEA Objective 3 to enhance provision of housing, employment and 
community services to meet the needs of the population and in response to demographic changes, such as the ageing population. 

Indicator 7; Based on the 2021 Mid-Year Estimates data, there has been a net inflow of -74 younger adults (20-34) age group into Powys.  
Overall, there has been a net inflow of +88 people within the younger adults (aged 20-34) age group over the four years since LDP adoption.  
Annual changes are summarised in Table 32.  This demonstrates a reversal of trend compared to the previous monitoring periods towards 
outmigration of young adults and is relevant to SEA objective 3 to enhance provision of housing, employment and community services in 
response to demographic changes particularly in terms of the need to retain the young working age population. 

 

 

Table 30. Percentage of Working Age Population to Children and Retired Population in Powys (2018, 2019, 2020 Mid-Year Estimates 

and Census (2021)). 

Age groups 2018 2019 2020 2021 +/- percentage 
change from 2018 

Working Age 
(between 16 and 64 
years) 

56.98% 56.55% 56.49% 56.6% -0.38% 

Children (0 to 15 
years) and People 
aged 65 years or 
over 

43.01% 43.44% 43.49% 43.4% +0.39% 

 

P
age 268



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

179 
 

Table 31. Percentage of Population Aged 75 and Over (2018, 2019 and 2020 Mid-Year Estimates and Census 2021). 

Age group 2018 2019 2020 2021 +/- percentage 
change from 

2018 

Population aged 75 
years and over 

12.20% 12.65% 12.83% 12.9% +0.7% 

 

Table 32. Net Inflow of Younger Adults (aged between 20 and 34) into Powys (2018, 2019, 2020, 2021 Mid-Year Estimates) 

 2018 2019 2020 2021 +/- change from 
2018 

Total net inflow +46 +58 +58 -74 +88 

 

P
age 269



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

180 
 

 

SEA Topic Area: Population and Human Health 

Subtopic: Community safety 

Indicator 8: The number of police recorded road accidents involving personal injury. 

Task: 
Review of Welsh Government traffic statistics: 

https://gov.wales/police-recorded-road-accidents-interactive-dashboard 

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Transport/Roads/Road-Accidents  

Timescale: Annually 

 

Analysis 

The data available for this monitoring period covers the timeframe from 1st January to 31st December 2022. Table 33 incorporates these 
figures.  

In 2022 there were 315 road accidents with 461 casualties. As shown in Table 34, 333 of these casualties were slightly injured, 115 seriously 
injured and 13 fatalities. One fatality recorded in quarter one, five fatalities in both quarter two and three and two fatalities in quarter four.  

The figures reported for 2022 show a significant increase in the number of road accidents compared to 2020 and 2021 where movement 
restrictions were in place due to the Covid-19 pandemic.  Perhaps more notable however are the number of casualties by severity in road 
accidents in 2022 which shows an overall increase to those recorded in 2019, 2020 and 2021. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 270

https://gov.wales/police-recorded-road-accidents-interactive-dashboard
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Transport/Roads/Road-Accidents


Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

181 
 

Table 33. Total Number of Police Recorded Road Accidents Involving Personal Injury in Powys. 

 2019 2020 2021 2022 

No. of road accidents 351 216 299 315 

 

Table 34. Number of Casualties in Road Accidents by Severity in Powys. 

 2019 2020 2021 2022 

Slightly injured 230 207 288 333 

Seriously injured 107 81 96 115 

Fatalities 14 4 5 13 

P
age 271



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

182 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Population and Human Health 

Subtopic: Community safety 

Indicator 9: Number of police recorded crimes 

Task: 
Review of Powys crime statistics, taken from the Powys Community Safety Partnership:  

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/datasets/recordedcrimedatabycommunitysafetypartne
rshiparea 

 

Timescale: Annually 

 

Analysis 

 

The figures used for this analysis relate to the calendar year of 2022 and show the total recorded crime incidents (excluding fraud) in the 
County of Powys was 10,313. This represents an increase of 1,092 incidents (11.8%) when compared to 2021 (see Table 35).  

Police recorded crime data show indications that incident levels are returning to or exceeding the levels seen before the pandemic. The 
highest increase of recorded crime (excluding fraud) in Powys was ‘violence against the person’ where this has seen a 12.9% increase 
(4,439 recorded incidents in 2021 and 5,016 in 2022). Within this category ‘stalking and harassment’ saw the largest increase of 13.2% 
(2,120 recorded incidents in 2021 and 2,400 in 2022). Other notable recorded crime increases were identified in Thefts (1,340 recorded 
incidents in 2021 and 1,563 in 2022), Shoplifting (212 recorded incidents in 2021 and 309 in 2022), and Drug offences (380 recorded 
incidents in 2021 and 445 in 2022). 

 

 

P
age 272

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/datasets/recordedcrimedatabycommunitysafetypartnershiparea
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/datasets/recordedcrimedatabycommunitysafetypartnershiparea


Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

183 
 

Table 35. Numbers of Police Recorded Crimes in Powys. 

 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020* 2021* *2022 

Number of 
recorded 
crimes: 

4,263 4,799 5,396 5,979 6,060 6,959 6,906 9,221 10,313 

*These figures are for headline offences and exclude fraud. 

P
age 273



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

184 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Population and Human Health 

Subtopic: Human Health 

Indicator 10: Percentage of people participating in sporting activities three or more times a week. 

Task: 
Review of National Survey for Wales and School Sport Survey statistics:  

https://gov.wales/national-survey-wales-results-viewer  

 

Timescale: National Survey for Wales Annually. 

 

Analysis 

The latest figures available (August 2022) show that of the National Survey for Wales respondents located in Powys, 28% of adults (16 and 
over) participated in sporting activities three or more times a week in 2021–2022 compared to 29% in both 2018-2019 and 2019-2020.   

For this indicator respondents were shown a series of indoor and outdoor activities and asked whether they had participated in any of them.  
If they did, they were asked how many times they had participated in the activity over the previous four weeks.  Each year around 12,000 
people aged 16 and over are asked for their opinions on a wide range of issues affecting them and their local area.  Respondents are 
selected at random to ensure the results are representative. 

 

P
age 274

https://gov.wales/national-survey-wales-results-viewer


Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

185 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Population and Human Health 

Subtopic: Human Health 

Indicator 11: Number of planning applications referred to the Health and Safety Executive. 

Task: Review of PCC Development Management information. 

Timescale: Annually. 

 

Analysis 

During this monitoring period, one planning application has been referred to the Health and Safety Executive (HSE). 

The application was within consultation distance of a major hazard pipeline.  The Health and Safety Executive (Gas) response identified a 
high-risk constraint falls within the site and has provided guidance.  The application at the time of writing is yet to be determined. 

No applications were referred to the HSE for Hazardous Substances. 

This is a positive impact in relation to SEA Objective 6 where constraints are identified, and specialist consultees consulted at the early 
stages of the application process to prevent or minimise risk to human health. 

 

P
age 275



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

186 
 

SEA Topic: Soil 

SEA Topic Area – Soil  

Objective 7: To protect soils that are classified as being important for carbon storage and agriculture.  

Objective 8: To prevent contamination of land and support remediation as part of new development.  

Indicator 12 - Amount (ha) of development permitted on thick peat areas (mapped by the British Geological Survey). 

Indicator 13 - Amount (ha) of development permitted on greenfield land outside development boundaries. 

Indicator 14 - Number of developments where a Verification Report has been approved by the Local Planning Authority demonstrating the 

remediation of contaminated land. 

P
age 276



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

187 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Soil 

Subtopic: Carbon storage 

Indicator 12: Amount (ha) of development permitted on thick peat areas (mapped by the British Geological Survey). 

Task: Review of PCC Development Management information. 

Timescale: Annually. 

 

Analysis 

This SEA Indicator monitors the performance of Criterion 13 of adopted LDP Policy DM13, with regards to that policy’s ability to protect the 
important carbon sinks (bullet point v.), such as thick peat, that exist within the Powys LPA area.  

An analysis of the Development Management data showed that there were three applications that were permitted that were close to or over 
an area of thick peat.  

The first application (22/1282/NMA) is situated in the former Nant Helen opencast colliery. This application (rewording of conditions for 
planning permission 21/0559/OUT) relates to a number of potential after uses for the former opencast site, with this application in particular 
being the proposed Global Centre for Railway Excellence. Whilst this application does, ostensibly, cover an area of thick peat, the area of 
peat in question was actually removed many years ago during opencast working prior to the adoption of the LDP. Its recorded presence 
reflected the age of the mapping dataset.  

The second application (22/0581/FUL) was for the installation of a renewable energy generator including a 15 metre wind turbine and solar 
array in the Elan Valley with 0.007ha (70m2) within the thick peat area.  The Powys Planning Ecologist and Officer concluded that as the 
development was located within a pre-existing telecommunication unit there would be no significant impact or detriment to the site overall. 

The third application (22/2190/FUL) for the installation of a shared 20 metre high communication mast, antennas, ground-based apparatus 
and ancillary development including access track was permitted also within the Elan Valley and 0.012 ha (120m2) in a thick peat area. The 
presence of thick peat was not considered by the Officer.  

P
age 277



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

188 
 

The area of thick peat at Nant Helen had been removed prior to adoption of the LDP, and therefore the presence of thick peat would not 
have been relevant to these applications. This leaves the remaining applications which, combined, involved 0.019 ha of thick peat deposits.   

P
age 278



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

189 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Soil 

Subtopic: Agricultural Land 

Indicator 13: Amount (ha) of development permitted on greenfield land outside development boundaries.  

Task: Review of PCC Development Management information. 

Timescale: Annually. 

 

Analysis 

This SEA Indicator is similar to monitoring indicator AMR20 in the Annual Monitoring Report, from which the following details are sourced.  

During this monitoring period, permission was granted on windfall sites for an area totalling 93.01 hectares (ha). (See Table 36) From this 
93.01 ha, 25.17 ha (27%) of it was on previously developed land, with 66.16 ha (71%) on greenfield sites and 1.68 ha (2%) on a mixture of 
previously developed land and greenfield. However, on closer inspection it can be seen that some of the applications on greenfield sites will 
continue to be classified as greenfield when the development proposal is completed. This includes all permissions for agricultural 
developments (13.99 ha), open space proposals (0.11 ha) and renewable energy schemes (7.44 ha) - where the majority of the original land 
use remains the same (biomass boilers installed in existing agricultural buildings and solar photovoltaic panels installed on agricultural land). 

To analyse this SEA Indicator against the LDP policies in detail, all applications for renewable energy - where the majority of the original 
landuse remains the same, together with agricultural and open space development proposals shall be excluded from the data. The analysis 
will concentrate solely on housing, employment, tourism and infrastructure and any other development in the Open Countryside that would 
bring about a change from greenfield to previously developed land. 

The revised results show that during the monitoring period, planning permission was granted on windfall sites for an area totalling 70.41 ha. 
From the 70.41 ha, 24.11 ha (34%) of it was on previously developed land, with 44.62 ha (63%) on greenfield sites and 1.68 ha (2%) on sites 
containing a mixture of greenfield and previously developed land.  

When interpreting these results, it should be noted that the Plan area is one of the most rural areas in Wales. The total Plan area equates to 
approximately 430,301 ha, of which only 3,054 ha lies within the development boundaries (less than 1% of the total area). The results from 
this indicator reflects the characteristics of the area and the wider needs of the economy and population.  

P
age 279



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

190 
 

 

Table 36. Percentage of Greenfield Land outside Development Boundaries where Development Permitted. 

 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 

% of greenfield land 
outside of development 
boundaries  

70% 67% 50% 67% 63% 

 

P
age 280



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

191 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Soil 

Subtopic: Contaminated Land 

Indicator 14: Number of developments where a Verification Report has been approved by the Local Planning Authority 
demonstrating the remediation of contaminated land. 

Task: Review of PCC Development Management information. 

Timescale: Annually. 

 

Analysis 

The aim of this SEA Indicator is to assess the effectiveness of adopted LDP Policy DM10 Contaminated and Unstable Land.  

During the current monitoring period a total of 11 developments had planning conditions relating to Verification Reports discharged with the 
Verification Report being approved by the LPA. Within the monitoring period a total of 14 discharge of condition applications were submitted 
relating to a verification report. Three were refused due to prior conditions not being approved. Decisions at the discharge of condition stage 
are being informed by advice from the Contaminated Land Officer and the need to demonstrate remediation through a verification report is 
being fully considered in the planning process.   

 

P
age 281



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

192 
 

SEA Topic: Water 

SEA Topic Area – Water  

Objective 9: To maintain and improve water quality and quantity.  

Indicator 15 - By River Basin Management Plan Area for Western Wales River Basin Management Plan and Severn River Basin 
Management Plan:  

•    % of surface waters are at ‘good’ status.  

• % of groundwater bodies at ‘good’ status. 

Indicator 16 - Number of planning permissions that incorporate SUDs. 

P
age 282



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

193 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Water 

Subtopic: Water quality and quantity 

Indicator 15: By River Basin Management Plan Area for Western Wales River Basin Management Plan and Severn River Basin 
Management Plan:  

• % of surface waters are at ‘good’ status.  

• % of groundwater bodies at ‘good’ status. 

Task: 
Review information from NRW/EA:  

https://naturalresources.wales/evidence-and-data/research-and-reports/water-reports/river-basin-management-plans/?lang=en &  
https://waterwatchwales.naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/en/ & Draft river basin management plan: maps (arcgis.com) 

 
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/river-basin-management-plans-2015#severn-river-basin-district-rbmp:-2015 
 

Timescale: River Basin Management Plans run in 6-year cycles.  NRW and EA updates classification every 3 years but run on different 
timetables. 

 

Analysis 

The aim of this SEA Indicator is to test the effectiveness of adopted LDP Policy DM2 -The Natural Environment and in particular, its 
performance regarding Section 4 concerning the achievement of the Water Framework Directive’s (WFD) overarching objectives. 

The WFD Regulations 2017 sets objectives for each quality element in all water bodies, including an objective for the water body as a whole. 
The default objective is to aim to achieve good status or potential by 2027. There are five categories: Bad, Poor, Moderate, Good, and High. 
Assessing the quality of waters in Powys is the responsibility of Natural Resources Wales (NRW) and this monitoring occurs in six-year time 
periods known as cycles. 

The quality of surface waters is assessed across two separate criteria: ecological and chemical. For a surface waterbody to be in overall 
good status both ecological and chemical status must be at least good.  

P
age 283

https://naturalresources.wales/evidence-and-data/research-and-reports/water-reports/river-basin-management-plans/?lang=en
https://waterwatchwales.naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/en/
https://environment.maps.arcgis.com/apps/MapSeries/index.html?appid=14f7bcac038a4898866aa461b48e305d
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/river-basin-management-plans-2015#severn-river-basin-district-rbmp:-2015


Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

194 
 

 

The quality of ground waters is also measured using two separate criteria: chemical and quantitative. As with surface waters, for a 
groundwater to be classified as ‘good’ it must achieve ‘good’ status in both of these criteria. 

There has been no update in the figures for surface waters and they remain as reported in the AMR 2022 monitoring period (2021-2022) 
(see Table 37), where there were a total of 239 waterbodies within the LDP area, of these 108 were classified as reaching ‘good’ status, 103 
achieving ‘moderate’ status, 25 considered ‘poor’ and three ‘bad’. When expressed as a percentage, this meant that 45.2% of the surface 
water bodies achieved the status of ‘good’.  The next interim surface waters update is due in 2024. 

Cycle 3’ of Groundwater classification data for 2021 has been published at Weather Watch Wales and there were considered to be a total of 
18 waterbodies within the LDP area, of these eight were classified as ‘good’, whereas the remaining 10 only achieved a ‘poor’ status. When 
expressed as a percentage, this meant that 44.44% of groundwaters in the LDP area achieved the status of ‘good’.   

The Western Wales River Basin Management Plan (2021-2027) Summary was published in July 2022. The Welsh part of the Severn River 
Basin Management Plan (2021-2027) Summary was published in December 2022. 

 

 

Table 37. Percentage of Water Bodies at ‘Good’ Status within Powys LDP Area. 

Waterbodies classification 2019 2021  

Surface waters – ‘good’ status 45.2% 45.2% 

Surface waters – ‘moderate’ 
status 

43.1% 43.1% 

Surface waters – ‘poor’ status 10.5% 10.5% 

Surface waters – ‘bad’ status 1.2% 1.2% 

Ground waters – ‘good’ status 41.2% 44.4% 

Ground waters – ‘poor’ status 58.8% 55.6% 

P
age 284



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

195 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Water 

Subtopic: Water quality  

Indicator 16: Number of planning permissions that incorporate SuDS. 

Task: Review of PCC Development Management data. 

Timescale: Annually.  

 

Analysis 

From 7th January 2019, schedule 3 to the Flood and Water Management Act (2010) made the provision of Sustainable Drainage Systems 
(SuDS) a mandatory requirement for all new developments of more than one dwelling or bigger than 100m2 in size. As a result, this SEA 
Indicator is no longer relevant. 

 

P
age 285



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

196 
 

SEA Topic: Air 

SEA Topic Area – Air  

Objective 10: To protect and improve air quality in Powys. 

Indicator 17 -   Levels of average NO2, PM2.5 and PM10 concentrations (recorded as Air Quality Exposure Indicators) across Powys. 

Indicator 18 - Specific levels of NO2 against National Air Quality Strategy Objectives across Powys. 

P
age 286



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

197 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Air 

Subtopic: Air quality  

Indicator 17: Levels of average NO2, PM2.5 and PM10 concentrations (recorded as Air Quality Exposure Indicators) across 
Powys. 

Task: Review of Welsh Government Air Quality Indicators:  

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Environment-and-Countryside/Air-Quality/airqualityindicators-by-
localauthority 

Timescale: Annually.  

 

Analysis 

Air Quality Exposure Indicators (average NO2, PM2.5 and PM10 concentrations) are derived from modelled data for each square kilometre in 
Wales and measured in µg/m3. Powys County Council does not monitor for PM10 or PM2.5. Each year the UK Government’s Pollution 
Climate Mapping (PCM) model calculates average pollutant concentrations for each square kilometre of the UK. The model is calibrated 
against measurements taken from the UK’s national air quality monitoring network.  

NO2 is the chemical formula for Nitrogen dioxide, which is one of the commonest air pollutants. PM10 and PM2.5 stands for airborne 
Particulate Matter of 10 and 2.5 micrometres (microns) or less respectively. 

Data for 2021 is due to be released in November 2023 and so the latest figures for this monitoring period are based on 2020 data which 
shows a drop across each concentration (as shown in Table 38). This reveals a positive impact in relation to SEA Objective 10 to protect and 
improve air quality in Powys. Longer term monitoring is required to analyse whether this trend continues. 

 

 

 

P
age 287

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Environment-and-Countryside/Air-Quality/airqualityindicators-by-localauthority
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Environment-and-Countryside/Air-Quality/airqualityindicators-by-localauthority


Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

198 
 

Table 38. Levels of Average NO2, PM2.5 and PM10 Concentrations (In µg/m3) (Recorded as Air Quality Exposure Indicators) across 

Powys. 

Year NO2 PM2.5 PM10 

2020 3 5 9 

2019 4 7 10 

2018 4 6 10 

2017 4 6 9 

2016 5 6 10 

2015 4 7 10 

2014 5 8 11 

2013 6 8 12 

P
age 288



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

199 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Air 

Subtopic: Air quality  

Indicator 18: Specific levels of NO2 against National Air Quality Strategy Objectives across Powys. 

Task: 
Review of information held by PCC Environmental Health. 
 
Air Quality - Powys County Council 

Timescale: Annually.  

 

Analysis 

Powys County Council’s Air Quality Progress Report, published in November 2022 and using data gathered in 2021, explains that there were 
no automatic monitoring sites operating in the county, but undertook non-automatic (passive) monitoring of NO2 at two sites during 2021. 
Both sites these were within the Bannau Brycheiniog (Brecon Beacons) National Park (BBNP). 

The results of the monitoring for 2021 (are incorporated into Table 39).  

The annual mean concentration data recorded for NO2, during 2021, at each of the monitoring sites, did not exceed the annual mean NO2 
AQS objective level of 40µg/m3.  

Powys County Council is proposing to undertake NO2   diffusion tube monitoring at three sites during 2022.  Two of these sites are within the 
Powys LDP of Rhayader and Newtown and the third within the BBNP at Crickhowell.  The findings of these will be reported late 2023. A new 
development 21/1865/FUL (Change of use of part of car park to bus station) at Mill Lane in Welshpool has been identified as having a 
potential impact on air quality in the Local Authority area and will be taken into consideration in the report also. 

The results show a positive impact in relation to SEA Objective 10 to protect and improve air quality in Powys. Longer term monitoring will 
establish if the trend continues. 

P
age 289

https://en.powys.gov.uk/article/7201/Air-Quality


Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

200 
 

 

Table 39. Annual Mean Concentrations of NO2 (in µg/m3) at Monitoring Sites in Powys, by Year from 2013. 

Site ID 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

POW (M) 1 31.9 28.8 29 31 38 38 26 21.6 N/A 

POW (M) 2 32.9 33.9 29 32 37 29 22 18.8 N/A 

POW (M) 3,4, 
& 5 

39.5 38.1 38 39 36 37 24 19.7 N/A 

POW (M) 6 36.6 33 30 32 33 30 22 18.2 N/A 

POW (M) 7 10.4 9.4 9 11 9 9 8 6.8 N/A 

WG 6-7 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 11.1 12.2 

WG 8 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 13.1 14.9 

 

P
age 290



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

201 
 

SEA Topic: Climatic Factors 

SEA Topic Area – Climatic Factors  

Objective 11: To reduce flood risk.  

Objective 12: To reduce greenhouse gas emissions.  

Indicator 19 - Number of properties (homes and businesses) at medium or high risk of flooding from rivers and the sea.   

Indicator 20 - Emissions of greenhouse gases. 

P
age 291



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

202 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Climatic Factors 

Subtopic: Floodrisk  

Indicator 19: Number of properties (homes and businesses) at medium or high risk of flooding from rivers and the sea.   

Task: Review of Natural Resources Wales flood risk maps. 

Timescale: Annually.  

 

Analysis 

This SEA Indicator monitors the performance of adopted LDP Policy DM5 - Development and Flood Risk. This policy requires development 
proposals to be located away from tidal and fluvial flood plains unless they can demonstrate that the site is justified in line with national 
guidance and is accompanied by appropriate technical assessments. The data used for monitoring this SEA Indicator is sourced from the 
DataMap Wales website using the dataset for Floodzone 3 (Medium and High Risk). This has been analysed with the Powys County Council 
dataset for Unique Property Reference Numbers (UPRN) in the county which includes both homes and businesses. 

Once addresses located within the National Park have been removed, an analysis of the two datasets revealed that there is a total of 4848 
properties now lying within the Floodzone 3 categorisation. This compares to 4,466 from AMR 2022 (2021-2022) and the baseline of 4,264 
properties identified in the Monitoring Review (17th April 2018 – 31st March 2019). This represents an increase of 382 addresses on last 
year’s total and 584 from the baseline. The increase is not necessarily due to new planning permissions but more to do with changes to the 
Floodmap layer and the addition of addresses created on tourism units with 46 addresses being added on an established holiday caravan 
park at Llangynog, an additional 55 at a caravan park in Llangyniew and 29 additional addresses at a caravan park in Trefeglwys, In addition,  
46 addresses have been added for a residential development in Guilsfield which was granted permission by Appeal in 2007. 

This change does not imply a failure of LDP Policy DM5, as Floodzone 3 includes the C1 Floodzone which is those areas protected by flood 
defences. There is also an inevitable lag between a permission being granted and a completed address appearing on a map, so it continues 
to be the case that some applications involved in this increase may have been determined before the LDP was adopted or the publication of 
national guidance in relation to flood risk. LDP Policy DM5 states, development must be located away from tidal or fluvial floodplains, unless 
it can be demonstrated that the site is justified in line with national guidance. It is recognised that development is not completely precluded 

P
age 292



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

203 
 

from the areas categorised under Floodzone 3, certain forms of development may be permitted in accordance with national guidance this 
includes less vulnerable developments in areas protected by flood defences or on previously developed land. 

P
age 293



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

204 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Climatic Factors 

Subtopic: Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

Indicator 20: Emissions of greenhouse gases. 

Task: 
Review of greenhouse gas emissions data in the National Atmospheric Emissions Inventory.   

 
https://naei.beis.gov.uk/index  
 

Timescale: Defra data available annually. 

 

Analysis 

Greenhouse gases include a wide range of gases of which Carbon dioxide (CO2) is probably the most widely known. Emissions of 
greenhouse gas is not monitored locally but at a national level a number of data sources, including local energy consumption, are used to 
create nationally consistent annual CO2 emissions estimates at a local authority level. These estimates are also broken down further into a 
subset of estimates of emissions that are within the scope of influence of local authorities, However, whilst on the face of it this narrower 
subset would be more pertinent to use in this context, further analysis reveals that this particular subset excludes emissions that arise from 
‘land-use’ related changes and activity such as forestry, crop and grasslands, wetlands and settlements. As the LDP is directly concerned 
with land-use therefore it is more appropriate to use the higher Local Authority-level dataset, even though it includes elements that are 
outside the control of the Local Authority, rather than the narrower subset that is concerned with the scope of the LA’s.  

This full, national dataset therefore provides estimates of Carbon dioxide emissions, expressed as kilotonnes (kt) CO2, in Powys for the year 
2020 (the most recent year monitored). These estimates are shown in Table 40 below.   

Perhaps the most notable change was within the Transport sector where transport CO2 emissions saw a decrease of 21.6% which was 
largely due to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic as people were instructed to stay at home as much as possible for large periods of 2020.  
It is likely that this has also impacted on the Industrial and Commercial Sector which saw a decrease in CO2 emissions of 7.71% and the 
Domestic sector which saw a small increase of 0.95%. 

 

P
age 294

https://naei.beis.gov.uk/index


Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

205 
 

Table 40. Carbon Dioxide Emissions, Expressed as kt CO2, in Powys for the Year 2020. 

Sector 2018** 2019** 2020** Change +/- from 
previous year 

Percentage Change 
from previous year 

Industrial and 
Commercial 

125.3 111.5 102.9 -8.6 -7.71% 

Domestic 254.8 241.0 243.3 +2.0 0.95% 

Transport 350.8 348.0 273.0 -75.0 -21.6% 

LULUCF* -194.2 -199.4 -167.4 +32.0 -16.05% 

Total 536.7 501.1 451.8 -49.3 -9.83% 

*; LULUCF; Land Use, Land Use Changes and Forestry 

**; The figures for each year are subject to revision by DEFRA since their original publication dates, hence they may differ from those cited in 

the previous AMR. 

 

P
age 295



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

206 
 

SEA Topic: Strategic Resources and Assets 

SEA Topic Area – Strategic Resources and Assets 

Objective 13: To protect mineral resources from development that would preclude extraction.  

Objective 14: To protect important material assets including strategic, transport and location specific infrastructure from 

incompatible development.  

Indicator 21 - Number of existing mineral sites. 

Indicator 22 - Number of developments permitted for permanent development on safeguarded mineral resource sites. 

Indicator 23 - Number of planning applications for development that would affect strategic transport infrastructure referred onto the Welsh 

Government. 

Indicator 24 - Number of developments permitted on or affecting the Sennybridge (Ministry of Defence) Training Area. 

P
age 296



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

207 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Strategic Resources and Assets 

Subtopic: Minerals 

Indicator 21: Number of existing mineral sites. 

Task: Review of information relating to existing mineral sites as set out in table M1 of the LDP. 

Timescale: Annually. 

 

Analysis 

Table M1 in the LDP lists the 15 existing minerals operations sites in Powys at the time of the LDP’s adoption. Since then, no new mineral 
sites have been approved and none of the existing sites have closed. Consequently, the number of mineral sites in the Powys LPA area 
remains at 15. 

 

P
age 297



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

208 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Strategic Resources and Assets 

Subtopic: Minerals 

Indicator 22: Number of developments permitted for permanent development on safeguarded mineral resource sites.  

Task: Review of PCC Development Management information. 

Timescale: Annually. 

 

Analysis 

The aim of this indicator is to test the effectiveness of adopted LDP Policy DM8 - Minerals Safeguarding. The policy states that Minerals 
Safeguarding Areas have been designated for deposits of sand and gravel, sandstone, limestone, igneous rocks and surface coal, and these 
areas are shown on the LDP Proposals Map in accordance with national policy requirements. Defining such areas does not imply any 
presumption that they will be worked but merely aims to ensure they remain available as and when future generations may need to access 
them. 

During the monitoring period (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023), 174 applications were permitted within or partially overlapping a Mineral 
Safeguarding Area. Of the 174 applications, 40 did not list LDP Policy DM8 within the list of policies considered, in the Officer’s report. 

Of the 40 proposals, 39 were for proposals considered not to have any impact, examples include the conversion or redevelopment of existing 
buildings, minor extensions to existing buildings or proposals for the siting of camping pods and static caravans. For the single remaining 
application, the identification of the Mineral Safeguarding Area as a constraint had been missed. This does not necessarily mean that the 
development proposal did not comply with LDP Policy DM8, but that it had not been given consideration. 

Measures were put in place, at the start of 2021, to ensure that Minerals Safeguarding Areas are captured as a constraint consistently. This 
has resulted in a marked improvement in the performance of monitoring indicator AMR22 in this annual monitoring report, compared to in 
AMR 2021. Due to the improvements seen with this monitoring indicator, it is recommended that monitoring continues for a further year, the 
situation has now progressed towards development plan policies being implemented effectively. 

P
age 298



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

209 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Strategic Resources and Assets 

Subtopic: Transport Infrastructure 

Indicator 23: Number of planning applications for development that would affect strategic transport infrastructure referred onto 
the Welsh Government. 

Task: Review of PCC Development Management information. 

Timescale: Annually. 

 

Analysis 

This SEA Indicator is intended to monitor the performance of adopted LDP Policy T3 – Newtown By-pass. The aim of the policy was to 
safeguard the area around the proposed route/s for the bypass, to ensure that those proposed route/s were not to be jeopardised by the 
presence of other inappropriate planning applications that could be determined before a proposed route could be secured. 

However, with the route for the by-pass now secured, construction completed, and the finished road opened in February 2019, the need for 
the indicator has now been rendered obsolete. 

Consequently, no further monitoring of this SEA indicator is required. 

 
 

P
age 299



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

210 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Strategic Resources and Assets 

Subtopic: Local Specific Infrastructure. 

Indicator 24: Number of developments permitted on or affecting the Sennybridge (Ministry of Defence) Training Area. 

Task: Review of PCC Development Management information. 

Timescale: Annually. 

 

Analysis 

This SEA Indicator aims to identify instances when the LDP fails to support the operational effectiveness of the Sennybridge military training 
area.  

The training area is included within LDP Strategic Policy SP7 due to its strategic importance both in the County itself and nationally. The 
policy states that only development proposals that will not have an unacceptable impact on the asset/resource and the purposes for which it 
is safeguarded should be permitted. LDP Policy MD1 also safeguards the training area from any development that would compromise its 
operation and supports proposals that will sustain the operational use of the existing facility. 

During this SEA monitoring period, no applications were permitted. 

 

P
age 300



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

211 
 

SEA Topic: Cultural Heritage 

SEA Topic Area – Cultural Heritage  

Objective 15: To understand, value, protect and enhance Powys’ historic environment including its diversity, local distinctiveness 
and heritage.  

Objective 16: To protect and enhance Welsh language and culture.   

Indicator 25 - Net gain or loss of historic environment designations – Listed Buildings, Scheduled Ancient Monuments, Conservation Areas, 
Registered Historic Parks and Gardens and Registered Historic Landscapes. 

Indicator 26 - Percentage of scheduled monuments in Wales that are in stable or improving condition.   

Indicator 27 - Percentage of listed buildings that are neither ’vulnerable’ nor ‘at risk’.    

Indicator 28 - Number, percentage and distribution of Welsh Speakers.    

Indicator 29 - Changes in the Welsh language skills of the population. 

Indicator 30 - Percentage of the population aged 3 and over who say they can speak Welsh.   

 

P
age 301



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

212 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Cultural Heritage 

Subtopic: Historic environment 

Indicator 25: Net gain or loss of historic environment designations – Listed Buildings, Scheduled Ancient Monuments, 
Conservation Areas, Registered Historic Parks and Gardens and Registered Historic Landscapes. 

Task: Review of information held by PCC Built Heritage Officer / Cadw. 

Timescale: Annually. 

 

Analysis 

The aim of this SEA indicator is to assess the relative impacts of adopted LDP Policy SP7 – Safeguarding of Strategic Resources and Assets 
upon the historic environment designations listed. Analysis of the data held by the LPA and, where necessary, that held by Cadw, are shown 
in Table 41. 

During the monitoring period there has been four listings.  The first was Croesawdy, Newtown (Grade II) which was designated for its special 
architectural interest as a well-preserved example of a late C19 industrialist’s house.  Aberllefenni House in Machynlleth was designated 
Grade II listing for its special architectural interest as an important surviving example of an early C19 commercial building retaining its fine 
original shop and office front.  It is also of special historic interest for its direct connection with the Aberllefenni Slate and Slab Quarry 
Company. A third (Grade II) listing was a Finger Post on the junction of Offa’s Road and West Street, Knighton.  Its reason for designation 
included, notwithstanding the replacement of one of the arms, for its special architectural interest as a rare surviving example of a late 
C19/early C20 fingerpost, a type of street furniture once common but now increasingly rare.  The final listing was (Grade II) Milestone 
adjacent to Wenallt/Drws Y Coed on Tremont Road in Llandrindod Wells.  This was listed for its special historic interest as one of a series of 
well-preserved milestones on the A483. 

There was one de-listing for this monitoring period.  The Grade II Barn with Horse Engine House at Bank Farm in Welshpool was delisted 
due to a fire in December 2022 which destroyed the building. 

   
 

P
age 302



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

213 
 

Table 41. Historic Environment Designation Totals for Powys LDP, 2022 to 2023. 

Historic 
Environment 
Designation 

At LDP 
Adoption 

2018/2019 2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022 2022/2023 Net gain or loss 

Over last year 
(since adoption) 

Listed Buildings 3931 3934 3932 3935 3935 3938 3 (7) 

Scheduled 
Monuments (SM) 

717 718 719 719 730 723 -7 (+6) 

Conservation 
Areas 

55 55 55 55 55 55 0 (0) 

Registered 
Historic Parks 
and Gardens 

37 
(consisting of 
22 Grade II, 
10 of Grade 
II*, and 5 of 
Grade I) 

37 37 37 37 37 0 (0) 

Registered 
Historic 
Landscapes 

 

10 10 10 10 10 10 0 (0) 

 

P
age 303



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

214 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Cultural Heritage 

Subtopic: Historic environment 

Indicator 26: Percentage of scheduled monuments in Wales that are in stable or improving condition.   

Task: Review of Cadw Monuments at Risk Survey.   

Timescale: Every 5 years. 

 

Analysis 

The aim of this SEA Indicator is to monitor the performance of adopted LDP Strategic Policy SP7 – Safeguarding of Strategic Resources and 
Assets, and, in particular point iii. of Criterion 2 of the policy, which relates specifically to scheduled monuments (SM). The five yearly 
timescale mentioned above relates to individual properties, so each scheduled monument should be assessed at least once every five years.  

For this monitoring period, Cadw have provided the following information (see Table 42).  Cadw have recently adjusted how they derive the 
figures for each LPA. Therefore, the current total sits at 959 SMs intersecting (within, partly within, or sharing a boundary with), Powys LPA. 
Of those 959, 236 are within the BBNP boundary, leaving 723 SMs intersecting (within, partly within, or sharing a boundary with), the area of 
Powys LPA that is not part of BBNP. 

Of the 723 SMs within the Powys LDP area the number of SMs visited within the current round of condition monitoring is 721 (99.7%). Of the 
721 visited, 652 (90%) were assessed as not ‘At Risk’ with 484 (67%) of those in a stable or improving condition. 

It should be noted that not all scheduled monuments are assessed every year, so over subsequent monitoring periods a different set of 
scheduled monuments will be assessed, and the percentages arrived at will reflect the condition of this particular set of properties. Therefore, 
further monitoring is required. 

 
 

 

P
age 304



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

215 
 

Table 42. Percentage of Scheduled Monuments in Powys LDP that are in a Stable or Improving Condition. 

Condition of Scheduled 
Monuments 

2019/2020 2021/2022 2022/2023 

No. of scheduled monuments 719 730 723 

% assessed 77% 89% 99.7% 

% assessed not ‘At Risk’ 91% 90% 90% 

% assessed in ‘stable or 
improving condition’ 

69% 67% 67% 

 

P
age 305



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

216 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Cultural Heritage 

Subtopic: Historic environment 

Indicator 27: Percentage of listed buildings that are neither ’vulnerable’ nor ‘at risk’.    

Task: Review of Cadw Condition and Use Survey of Listed Buildings in Wales. 

Timescale: Every 5 years (previously published 2015).    

 

Analysis 

Cadw maintains a register of listed buildings and collects data relating to the status of those structures according to the following categories;  

• Categories 5 and 6 = Not at Risk  

• Category 4 = Vulnerable  

• Category 3 = At Risk  

• Category 2 = At Grave Risk  

• Category 1 = At Extreme Risk  

The figures are collected from data held on Cadw’s register in respect of listed buildings within the Powys LDP area. For this monitoring 
period, the percentage of buildings that are neither ‘Vulnerable’ nor ‘At Risk’ (i.e., categories 5 and 6 under ‘Not at Risk’) is 81.91% compared 
to 81.64% at the previous survey in 2015 (See Tables 43 and 44).  

 

 

 

 

P
age 306



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

217 
 

Table 43. Percentage of Listed Buildings that are ‘At Risk, ‘Vulnerable’ or ‘Not at Risk’ in Powys. 

Risk Assessment Percentage 
(2015) 

Percentage 
(2023) 

At Risk 7.59 7.88 

Vulnerable 10.76 10.21 

Not at Risk 81.64 81.91 

 

Table 44. Percentage of Listed Buildings in Powys by Risk Score. 

Risk Assessment Risk Score Percentage 

    (2015) 

Percentage 

(2023) 

At Risk 1 – At Extreme Risk 2.02 2.48 

At Risk 2 – At Grave Risk 0.26 0.18 

At Risk 3 – At Risk 5.32 5.22 

Vulnerable 4 – Vulnerable 10.76 10.21 

Not at Risk 5 – Not at Risk 31.83 30.67 

Not at Risk 6 – Not at Risk 49.81 51.24 

 

P
age 307



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

218 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Cultural Heritage 

Subtopic: Welsh Language 

Indicator 28: Number, percentage and distribution of Welsh Speakers.    

Task: 
Review of Census information on Welsh speakers available from the Office for National Statistics in 2021.  

 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Welsh-Language 

 
Population and migration - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk) 

Timescale: Census (2021) data available 2022.   

 

Analysis 

Based on the results of the 2021 Census, Powys contains approximately 21,359 Welsh speakers, a reduction of 2,632 (-10.97%) on the 
results of the 2011 Census (see Table 45). This represents 16.4% of the total Powys population of 133,174 as recorded in the 2021 Census 
compared to 18.6% of the total Powys population of 129,083 as recorded in the 2011 Census.  The number of people who did not speak 
Welsh increased by 3,500 (3.3%). 

With regards to their distribution within the county, the highest densities of Welsh speakers are found in the north and far south west of the 
county.  One ward in the north has more than 50% of their population describing themselves as Welsh speakers.  This being Glantwymyn 
(52.99%).  The are two wards also in the north with between 40 and 49% Welsh speakers (Machynlleth 45.9% and Llanbrynmair and Banwy 
44.08%). There are seven wards with between 30 and 39% Welsh speakers, and three of these are again in the north (Llanrhaeadr-ym-
Mochnant (39.44%), Llanfair Caereinion (33.47%) and Llanfyllin (30.81%)) with the remaining four in the far south of the county (Cwm-twrch 
(35.78%), Ynyscedwyn (34.25%), Ystradgynlais 2 (34.71%) and Aber-craf (31.81%)). Wards in the eastern part of the county had the lowest 
percentages of Welsh speakers all under 10% (Glasbury (8.36%), Old Radnor (6.78%), Llanbadarn Fawr (8.97%), Llangunllo (7.05%), 
Beguildy (8.41%), Kerry (9.73%), Churchstoke (4.54%), Forden (8.98%) and Trewern (8.44%)). 

 

P
age 308

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Welsh-Language
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration


Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

219 
 

Table 45. Percentage of Welsh speakers in Powys (Census 2011 and 2021) 

Census Data - Powys 2011 2021 +/- change (%) 

Population 129,083 133,174 4,091 (3.17%) 

No. of Welsh speakers  23,990 (18.6%) 21,359 (16.4%) - 2631 (-10.97%) 

No. of people who do not 
speak Welsh 

105,042 (81.4%) 108,542 (81.5%) 3,500 (3.33%) 

 

P
age 309



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

220 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Cultural Heritage 

Subtopic: Welsh Language 

Indicator 29: Changes in the Welsh language skills of the population. 

Task: 
Review of Census information on Welsh language skills available from the Office for National Statistics in 2021.  
 

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Welsh-Language 

 
Language - Office for National Statistics (ons.gov.uk) 

Timescale: Census (2021) data available 2022.   

 

Analysis 

This SEA Indicator is based upon the results of the national 2021 Census. The data is presented in Table 46 below as both a number of 

individuals and a percentage of the county’s population of 133,174. Powys has seen a decrease in the number and percentage of people 
with Welsh Language Skills compared to the 2011 Census.  

The decrease across all local authorities in Wales since 2011 is mainly driven by the declining percentage of children and young people 
reported as being able to speak Welsh. Census 2021 was held during the coronavirus (Covid-19) pandemic.  This followed periods of 
lockdown, remote learning for children, and many people were working from home.  It is not known how the pandemic impacted people’s 
reported Welsh language ability, or their perception of the Welsh language ability of others, such as their children. 

 

 

 

 
 
 

P
age 310

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Welsh-Language
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/language


Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

221 
 

 

Table 46. Number and Percentages of People with Welsh Language Skills in Powys. 

Welsh Language Skills 2011 - Number 2011 - Percentage of 
Powys Population 

2021 – Number 2021 – Percentage 
of Powys 

Population 

Can speak, read and write 
Welsh 

17,724 13% 16,256 12.2% 

Can speak and read but 
cannot write Welsh 

2,025 1.56% 1,521 1.14% 

Can speak but cannot 
read or write Welsh 

3,932 3.04% 3,316 2.49% 

Can understand spoken 
Welsh only 

8,616 6.67% 8,318 6.25% 

Other combination of 
skills 

3,898 3.01% 3,311 2.49% 

No Skills 92,888 71.95% 91,179 68.47% 

P
age 311



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

222 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Cultural Heritage 

Subtopic: Welsh Language 

Indicator 30: Percentage of the population aged 3 and over who say they can speak Welsh.   

Task: 
Review of Welsh Government Annual Population Survey estimates.  

 
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Welsh-Language/Annual-Population-Survey-Welsh-
Language/annualpopulationsurveyestimatesofpersonsaged3andoverwhosaytheycanspeakwelsh-by-localauthority-
measure  

Timescale: Annually. 

 

Analysis 

Based on the results of the Welsh Government Annual Population Survey for the year ending 31st December 2022, Powys contained 
approximately 39,500 people, aged three or over who said they could speak Welsh. This represents 30.7% of the total population of 128,500 
people in Powys who are aged three or over. Table 47 shows these figures alongside the same for the previous four years. These results 
shows an increase of 1,400 people in the size of the Powys population who are aged three or over, alongside an increase of 5,200 people 
who say they can speak Welsh, all in just a 12-month time period. 

The Annual Population Survey (APS) is carried out using a representative sample of 18,000 households selected randomly from across 
Wales according to certain characteristics (e.g., address, age etc). With a different selection of households being used each year the results 
may show fluctuations which may account for the relatively large differences that these results are showing. Whilst the APS is not the more 
thorough and comprehensive National Census that is carried out every 10 years, they also consistently show a higher proportion of people 
who say they can speak Welsh. 

 

 

 

P
age 312

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Welsh-Language/Annual-Population-Survey-Welsh-Language/annualpopulationsurveyestimatesofpersonsaged3andoverwhosaytheycanspeakwelsh-by-localauthority-measure
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Welsh-Language/Annual-Population-Survey-Welsh-Language/annualpopulationsurveyestimatesofpersonsaged3andoverwhosaytheycanspeakwelsh-by-localauthority-measure
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Welsh-Language/Annual-Population-Survey-Welsh-Language/annualpopulationsurveyestimatesofpersonsaged3andoverwhosaytheycanspeakwelsh-by-localauthority-measure


Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

223 
 

Table 47. Percentage of Powys Population, Aged Three or Over, Who Can Speak Welsh. 

Year Population aged 3 or over No of these who can speak 
Welsh 

Percentage of Population 
aged 3 or over who can speak 

Welsh 

2022 128,500 39,500 30.7% 

2021 127,100 34,300 27.0% 

2020 127,600 29,700 23.3% 

2019 126,900 34,600 27.3% 

2018 125,900 37,500 29.9% 

 

 

P
age 313



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

224 
 

SEA Topic: Landscape 

SEA Topic Area – Landscape  

Objective 17: To protect and enhance Powys rich natural landscape.  

Indicator 31 - Area (ha) / proportion of development permitted that falls outside of development boundaries and is within LANDMAP aspect 

areas classified as outstanding / high quality. 

Indicator 32 - Proportion of outstanding / high quality aspect areas identified in LANDMAP. 

  

P
age 314



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

225 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Landscape 

Subtopic: Natural Landscape 

Indicator 31: Area (ha) / proportion of development permitted that falls outside of development boundaries and is within 
LANDMAP aspect areas classified as outstanding / high quality. 

Task: Review of PCC Development Management information. 

Timescale: Annually. 

 

Analysis 

Analysis of the four* LANDMAP layers (Geological Landscape, Landscape Habitats, Visual and Sensory and Historic Landscape) against the 
planning applications permitted in the monitoring period provided the following results:  

The total area of land within the LDP area evaluated as ‘High’ or ‘Outstanding’ value, in at least one of the aspect areas of the four different 
LANDMAP layers, equates to 414,237 ha. The total area covered by the LDP equates to 428,930ha, therefore 97% of the total LDP area is 
covered by at least one aspect area evaluated as being of either High or Outstanding value. 

During the monitoring period 422 planning applications were granted permission for proposals located outside of a development boundary 
(i.e., not in a Town or Large Village), covering an area of 456.98ha (one application 22/1282/NMA accounted for 354.272ha). Of the 422 
applications, 410 were within in either a high or outstanding aspect area covering a total area of 455.451ha (again one application accounted 
for 354.272ha). The results show, that 97.16% of the applications permitted were within at least one aspect area evaluated as being of high 
or outstanding value. However, when these aspect areas themselves cover 97% of the total LDP area this outcome is almost inevitable. As 
stated in previous SEAs, the usefulness of this indicator is questionable and should be reconsidered as work commences on the next LDP. 

*As detailed in LANDMAP Guidance Note 2 published by NRW on the 8th of June 2020, the Cultural Landscape LANDMAP layer has been 
replaced by the Cultural Landscape Services LANDMAP layer which is not subject to the aspect areas being evaluated. 

P
age 315



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

226 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Landscape 

Subtopic: Natural Landscape 

Indicator 32: Proportion of outstanding / high quality aspect areas identified in LANDMAP. 

Task: 
Review of NRW LANDMAP data:  
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/evidence-to-inform-
development-planning/landmap-the-welsh-landscape-baseline/?lang=en 

Timescale: Every five years. 

 

Analysis 

This indicator aims to measure how well the adopted LDP Landscape Policy (DM4) performs in protecting the different characteristics of the 
Powys landscapes.  

The five different layers that make up LANDMAP have not been reviewed by NRW since the SEA monitoring report in AMR 2019, so there is 
no change to report in this monitoring period. For ease of reference percentages published in AMR 2019 are shown in Table 48. Whilst this 
data does not provide any insight into the effectiveness of LDP Policy DM4 - Landscape at this stage, it does provide a baseline for 
monitoring the policy moving forwards, once further, five-yearly reassessments of the aspect areas have been conducted.  

NB: The Cultural Landscape Layer is no longer evaluated into ‘High’ or ‘Outstanding’, therefore this layer has been omitted from analysis. 

 

 

 

P
age 316

https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/evidence-to-inform-development-planning/landmap-the-welsh-landscape-baseline/?lang=en
https://naturalresources.wales/guidance-and-advice/business-sectors/planning-and-development/evidence-to-inform-development-planning/landmap-the-welsh-landscape-baseline/?lang=en


Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

227 
 

Table 48.  Percentage of Aspect Areas within, or intersecting, the Plan Area that are of ‘High’ or ‘Outstanding’ Quality. 

LANDMAP layer Percentage of Aspect Areas in ‘high’ or 
‘outstanding’ quality 

Geological Landscape 34% 

Landscape Habitats 45% 

Historic Setting 55% 

Visual and Sensory Landscape 38% 

 

 P
age 317



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

228 
 

SEA Topic: Geodiversity 

SEA Topic Area – Geodiversity  

Objective 18: To protect Regionally Important Geo-diversity Sites (RIGS) from incompatible development.  

Indicator 33 - Number of RIGS and Geological Conservation Review sites. 

Indicator 34 - Number of developments permitted on or affecting RIGS or Geological Conservation Review sites. 

 

P
age 318



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

229 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Geodiversity 

Subtopic: Regionally Important Geodiversity Sites (RIGS) 

Indicator 33: Number of RIGS and Geological Conservation Review sites. 

Task: 
Review of information from JNCC, Central RIGS Group and South East Wales RIGS Group:  

 
http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/default.aspx?page=4177&authority=UKL24 
 
http://www.geologywales.co.uk/centralwales-rigs/  
 
https://sewrigs.wordpress.com/ 

Timescale: Annually 

 

Analysis 

This SEA Indicator aims to monitor the performance of adopted LDP Policy DM2, particularly with regards to the Regionally Important 
Geodiversity Sites (RIGS) and Geological Conservation Review Sites (GCRS) that are the subject of Criterion “C” of Section 3 of the policy. 

RIGS 

According to Datamap Wales and Powys County Council (PCC) held data, there is a total of 101 RIGS within the Powys LDP area, with three 
of these being cross boundary with the Bannau Brycheiniog (Brecon Beacons) National Park (BBNP) and one cross border with Shropshire.   

GCRS 

The Datamap Wales and PCC data sources revealed a total of 82 GCRS within the County of Powys, of which 27 were located within the 
BBNP. This results in a total of 55 GCRS within the Powys LDP Area, which includes six that are listed under neighbouring counties as these 
either share a boundary with, or partially extend into, the County of Powys. 

 

P
age 319

http://jncc.defra.gov.uk/default.aspx?page=4177&authority=UKL24%20
http://www.geologywales.co.uk/centralwales-rigs/
https://sewrigs.wordpress.com/


Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

230 
 

 

SEA Topic 

Area: 

Geodiversity 

Subtopic: Regionally Important Geodiversity Sites (RIGS) 

Indicator 34: Number of developments permitted on or affecting RIGS or Geological Conservation Review sites. 

Task: Review of PCC Development Management information. 

Timescale: Annually 

 

Analysis 

Adopted LDP Policy DM2 - The Natural Environment provides protection for a range of sites, habitats and species that are designated at 
international, European, national and local level. This SEA Indicator aims to test the policy’s ability to protect the locally important site 
designations listed under section 3 of the policy, namely Regionally Important Geodiversity Sites (RIGS) and Geological Conservation 
Review Sites (GCRS). Within the Powys LDP area, there are 101 RIGS and 55 GCRS. 

In the monitoring period (1st April 2022 to 1st March 2023) eight applications have been permitted, which were close to a RIGS or GCRS. 
Analysis of these applications revealed that the improvements that were identified in the previous monitoring period have been maintained 
where the site designations have been clearly identified on each application and considered alongside the application. No application has 
been permitted where there is an outstanding objection from either the County Ecologist, or a Wildlife Trust. 

 

P
age 320



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

231 
 

7. Conclusion and Recommendations 

 

7.1 Contextual Changes 

7.1.1 During the monitoring period of this Annual Monitoring Report, contextual changes 

included the Welsh Government introducing new legislative measures relating to second 

homes which included enabling local councils increase the maximum council tax premium on 

second homes to 300% (up from the 100% limit set in 2017). New regulations were also 

introduced that increased the number of days that self-catering accommodation must be let 

to qualify for business rates. Further changes included the introduction of new use classes to 

differentiate between primary and secondary homes and short-term lets. This means that 

LPAs now have the ability to control the number of second homes and short-term lets in an 

area. A letter from Welsh Government to the Chief Planning Officers, detailed how PPW is to 

be amended and that the prevalence of second homes and short-term lets in a local area 

must be taken into account when considering housing requirements and policy approaches 

in Local Development Plans (LDPs).  

7.1.2 Decarbonisation, climate change and sustainability continue to be Welsh 

Government priorities that will need to be considered in the Replacement LDP. Strategies 

and guidance published within the monitoring period, relate to the Roads Review and 

National Transport Delivery Plan, both of which consider the scale and location of new 

development by adopting the transport hierarchy.  It is acknowledged within both the Roads 

Review and National Transport Delivery Plan, that planning has a role to play in reducing 

transport demand and promoting modal shift. 

7.1.3 Powys County Council declared a Nature Emergency at a Full Council meeting on 

13th October 2022. This will be one of the key issues (together with the Climate Emergency 

detailed in the previous AMR (AMR 2022)) to be considered and addressed within the 

preparation of the Replacement LDP.  The Council also adopted ‘The Corporate and 

Strategic Equality Plan’ 2023-2027, with ambitions for a Stronger, Greener, Fairer Powys, in 

February 2023. This together with the Local Well-being Plan (2040: A Fair, Sustainable and 

Healthy Powys) will inform the issues the Replacement LDP seeks to address. 

7.1.4 Town Centre Investment Plans have been prepared, in conjunction with local Town 

Councils, for ten market towns within the LDP area. Each Plan includes a vision and 

priorities for the Town’s future and will be used to help attract and shape investment to 

support the vitality of the town and its recovery from the Covid 19 pandemic. The Plans have 

identified and include priorities, actions and projects that will need to be taken into 

consideration in the Replacement LDP. 

7.1.5 The Office for National Statistics (ONS) released the first results from the ten yearly 

Census (Census 2021) within the monitoring period. The Census results will be an important 

data source providing information on factors such as population size, demographics, 

employment status, and Welsh language usage, that can be analysed at the local level. This 

information will feed into key evidence being prepared to support the Replacement LDP. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 321



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

232 
 

7.2 Recommendations and Findings Arising from the Monitoring 

Indicators 

7.2.1 The results from the analysis of the monitoring indicators for the monitoring period, 

indicate that the LDP policies are largely delivering and meeting the targets set out in the 

Annual Monitoring Framework, with 42 of the 62 monitoring indicators showing positive 

policy implementation. This includes nine Supplementary Planning Guidance documents 

being published since the LDP was adopted. With this level of monitoring targets achieved, it 

demonstrates that the majority of the policies in the Powys LDP, adopted in 2018, have 

delivered successfully on the sustainable growth and many of the land use objectives the 

LDP sought to achieve. 

7.2.2 It is recognised that the cumulative number of net additional dwellings delivered 

(2,809 dwellings) is below what was anticipated (3,390 dwellings), by this period in the 

lifetime of the adopted LDP, giving a shortfall of 581 dwellings at the end of this monitoring 

period.  There are only three years remaining of the plan period therefore it is unlikely, that 

4,500 new dwellings will be delivered to meet the adopted LDP dwelling requirement figure 

by the end of the plan period (March 2026). The LDP growth strategy is primarily led by 

housing growth, therefore the poor performance in monitoring indicators (AMR2a, AMR2b) 

that relate to housing completions demonstrate that the Plan’s strategy is not being 

delivered.  During the preparation of the Replacement LDP the dwelling requirement figure 

will be revised. This will include looking at the latest evidence relating to past build rates, 

population projections and evidence of need in the Local Housing Market Assessment 

(LHMA). 

7.2.3 There are 81 Housing Allocation sites in the LDP, of which 53 (65%) do not have any 

form of planning permission (monitoring indicator AMR4). With regards to the number of net 

additional dwellings delivered on allocated housing sites, monitoring indicator AMR5 sets out 

an annual target.  The cumulative total of the annual completion target of additional 

dwellings to be delivered on allocated sites, over the five years since LDP adoption equates 

to 1,542 dwellings. The actual number of dwellings delivered on allocated housing sites over 

the five-year period was only 155 dwellings, meeting just 10% of the target. The trajectory 

included in monitoring indicator AMR2a demonstrates how allocated sites have the potential 

and are fundamental towards the delivery of additional dwellings to meet the dwelling 

requirement.  Undeveloped housing allocations in the adopted LDP will not be carried 

forward into the Replacement LDP, unless it has been demonstrated, through the candidate 

site process, that the reasons for non- deliverability have been addressed. 

7.2.4 Out of the 81 housing allocation sites, approximately a quarter are located within a 

phosphorus sensitive riverine Special Area of Conservation (SAC) catchment. This means 

that the necessary planning permissions cannot be granted unless applications are able to 

demonstrate phosphate neutrality or betterment. Which, without the local sewage 

wastewater treatment works having phosphate stripping (and the associated permit) in place 

is not currently possible. Some permissions have been granted within the monitoring period, 

but only where improvements to wastewater treatment works (including permits) are 

included in Dwr Cymru’s Asset Management Programme (AMP) 7, 2020-2025, e.g., 

Llandrindod Wells, Builth Wells.  

7.2.5 The AMR has identified that the adopted LDP policies relating to the retail allocation, 

retail frontages, solar Local Search Areas, community/district heating schemes, housing 

density and protection of community facilities and services are not being implemented as 

intended. The preparation of the Replacement LDP will be used as an opportunity to review 

Page 322



Powys Local Development Plan – Annual Monitoring Report 2023 (1st April 2022 to 31st March 2023) 
 

233 
 

these policies in light of the latest national guidance, and to gain an understanding of the 

reasons why each policy was not implemented as expected and to amend as necessary.  

7.2.6 Work is progressing on a High-Level Viability Assessment which will provide 

evidence to inform the Replacement LDP.  The values, costs and other assumptions around 

viability will be updated and reviewed as part of this evidence.  The findings of this 

assessment will be used to determine the affordable housing policy targets in the 

Replacement LDP. Therefore, it has been recommended in monitoring indicator AMR9, that 

adopted LDP policies SP3 and H5 are reviewed. 

 

7.2.7 There are three areas where it is recommended that further investigation or research 

is required:  

• Monitoring indicator AMR20 - considers the distribution of windfall developments on 

greenfield sites across the settlement tier. The findings from the analysis of this 

monitoring indicator revealed that the Plan area has seen a growth in the number of 

tourism units (holiday chalets, static caravans, glamping pods etc.) on greenfield 

sites in the Open Countryside. As the trigger for this monitoring indicator has been 

reached research is required to look at the cumulative effect on the environment 

together with the economic benefits to the Plan area of such developments.  

• Monitoring indicator AMR19 - found that the proportion of employment land 

permitted in the lower tiers of the settlement hierarchy has exceeded the target for 

two consecutive years. Research will need to be undertaken, that includes 

reconsidering targets and the spatial strategy with regards to employment 

development. 

• Monitoring indicator AMR15 has recorded that the total amount of employment land 

permitted on allocated sites has been below the cumulative requirement of four 

hectares for two consecutive years. Research will be undertaken as evidence to 

support the preparation of the Replacement LDP, this will include reconsidering the 

employment land provision and allocated sites. 

 

7.2.8 All research / further investigation undertaken will be undertaken as evidence to 

inform the preparation of the strategy, policies and proposals in the Replacement LDP and 

will be published alongside the consultation versions of the emerging Replacement Plan. 

 
 
 

 

Page 323



This page is intentionally left blank



Hierarchy Settlement Name Allocation Ref DM Site No Site Name Proposal Total Site 
Capacity LDP 
Units

Planning 
Permission 
Units

Status Designation 
type

In Phosphate 
Sensitive SAC 
Catchment

Pre app discussion Planning App Submission Conditions 
discharged  to 
construction

Completions 
(2015 to 
2022)

Completions 
2022 to 2023

U/C 
2023

N/S 
2023

2023 - 
2024

2024 - 
2025

2025 - 
2026

Not in 
Plan 
Period

Town Builth Wells and Llanelwedd P08 HA2 Land west of Primary School, Builth WellsAllocated Site for 59 units 59 Allocated No Permission Allocation Yes 0 0 0 59 0 0 0 59
Town Builth Wells and Llanelwedd P08 HA3 P/2016/0309 Development Off Hospital Road Hospital Road, Builth WellsErection of a residential development with some matters reserved. 43 81 Planning Permission Not Started Part Allocated Yes 19/1894/RES approved. 0 0 0 81 0 0 0 81
Town Hay-on-Wye P21 MUA1 Land at Gypsy Castle Lane, Hay on WyeMixed Use Allocation (this part relates to the residential component for 49 units only)49 Allocated No Permission Allocation Yes Development Brief 0 0 0 49 0 0 0 49
Town Knighton P24 HA1 P/2009/0038 Site adjacent to Shirley Ludlow Road, Knighton Outline: Residential development and creation of new vehicular access (SO 27 SE)24 24 Planning Permission Not Started Allocation Needs RES 0 0 0 24 0 8 8 8
Town Knighton P24 HA3 Presteigne Road, Knighton Allocated Site for 70 units 70 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 70 0 0 0 70
Town Llandrindod Wells P28 HA1 P/2013/0444 Crab Tree Green, Brookland Rd, Llandrindod WellsResidential Development 50 50 Planning Permission Not Started Allocation Yes Needs RES. 19/1891/REM Awaiting consideration. 0 0 0 50 0 0 0 50
Town Llandrindod Wells P28 HA2 Tremont Park Extension, Llandrindod WellsAllocated Site for 122 units 122 Allocated No Permission Allocation Yes 0 0 0 122 0 25 50 47
Town Llandrindod Wells P28 HA3 19/0021/FUL Land East Of Ithon Road Ithon Road Llandrindod Powys LD1 6ASResidential development comprising of 55 units 122 134 Commenced Allocation Yes 21/1940/FUL approved 79 units DIS applications Pending 55 0 0 79 0 0 60 19
Town Llandrindod Wells P28 HA4 Land at Ridgebourne Drive, Llandrindod WellsAllocated Site for 100 units 100 Allocated No Permission Allocation Yes 0 0 0 100 0 0 0 100
Town Llanfair Caereinion P30 HA1 Land at Tanyfron, Llanfair CaereinionAllocated Site for 40 units 40 3 Allocated No Permission Allocation 20/0010/OUT - 3 units 21/2225/REM refused 0 0 0 40 0 4 36 0
Town Llanfair Caereinion P30 HA2 P/2009/0484 OS 6906, Land North of Watergate street, Llanfair CaereinionAllocated Site with Planning Permission for 20 units 20 20 Planning Permission Not Started Allocation 0 0 0 20 0 0 20 0
Town Llanfyllin P32 HA1 Land Opposite Maesydre, LlanfyllinAllocated Site for 14 units 14 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 14 0 0 14 0
Town Llanfyllin P32 HA2 Maesydre Field and Field 7674, LlanfyllinAllocated Site for 145 units 145 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 145 0 0 50 95
Town Llanidloes P35 HA1 Part Enc 7500 R/O Pen-y-Borfa, Trefeglwys Road, LlanidloesAllocated for 27 units 27 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 27 0 0 0 27
Town Llanidloes P35 HA2 Land East of KTH, Gorn Road, LlanidloesResidential Allocation for 46 units 46 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 46 0 10 10 26
Town Machynlleth P42 HA1 OS 1546, Aberystwyth Road, MachynllethFull: Erection of 29 dwellings, formation of vehicular access and roads, pedestrian and cycle pathways together with amenity space and playground area and associated works29 29 Planning Permission Not Started Allocation 0 0 0 29 0 0 15 14
Town Machynlleth P42 HA2 Land adj HA1, Aberystwyth Rd, MachynllethAllocated site for 14 units 14 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 14 0 0 7 7
Town Machynlleth P42 HA3 Land off Doll Street (Mid Wales Storage Dist Centre), MachynllethResidential development 14 units 14 Allocated No Permission Allocation PPAE/2018/0068 0 0 0 14 0 0 0 14
Town Montgomery P45 HA1 Land at Verlon, Forden Rd, MontgomeryAllocated site for 54 units 54 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 54 0 27 27 0
Town Newtown P48 HA2 19/0047/NMA plus others Milford Park Adj. Hendidley, Milford Rd, Newtown Residential Development 15 7 Commenced Allocation 21/0228/FUL approved 23/0342/REM pending 3 0 0 4 2 2 0 0
Town Newtown P48 HA3 South of Heol Treowen Extension, NewtownAllocated site for 70 units 70 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 70 0 15 15 40
Town Newtown P48 HA4 South of Heol Treowen/Great Brimmon, NewtownResidential Development 136 Allocated No Permission Allocation P/2009/0942 approved P/2014/0227 Refused 0 0 0 136 0 30 30 76
Town Presteigne P51 HA2 Joe Deakins Road Site, PresteigneAllocated Site for 35 residential units 35 Allocated No Permission Allocation Yes  20/0116/OUT pending 0 0 0 35 0 0 0 35
Town Presteigne P51 MUA1 Former Kaye Foundry Site, PresteigneMixed Used Allocated Site (this is the residential component for 60 units only) 60 Allocated No Permission Allocation Yes PPAE/2015/0065 on southern part of site for RETAIL 0 0 0 60 0 0 0 60
Town Rhayader P52 HA1 P/2010/1383 Tir Gaia, Rhayader Residential Development 70 5 Commenced Allocation Yes 0 0 1 69 3 2 0 65
Town Rhayader P52 HA2 Land off East Street, Rhayader Residential allocation for 16 units 16 Allocated No Permission Allocation Yes 0 0 0 16 0 0 0 16
Town Welshpool P57 HA1 P/2018/0272 Part OS 5536, Gungrog Farm, WelshpoolFull: Erection of 54 dwellings, formation of access roads and all associated works30 54 Complete Part Allocated 54 0
Town Welshpool P57 HA2 P/2017/0501 Greenfields, Cae Glas, Welshpool 11 8 Complete Allocation 8 0
Town Welshpool P57 HA3 Land at Red Bank, Welshpool Residential allocation for 149 units 149 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 149 0 0 0 149
Town Ystradgynlais Area P58 HA1 P/2018/0195 Land At Brecon Road Ystradgynlais Powys SA9 1HHOutline: Residential development and formation of vehicular access and all associated works (some matters reserved)59 26 Planning Permission Not Started Allocation 21/0940/RES approved 22/0248/DIS approved 22/0371/DIS approved0 0 0 26 13 13 0 0
Town Ystradgynlais Area P58 HA10 P/2014/1133 Land at Bryn y Groes, Cwmgiedd, YstradgynlaisAllocated for residential development 136 117 Commenced Allocation 20/1314/FUL approved 22/0540/NMA app, 22/0578/DIS, 22/0580/DIS, 22/0584/DIS, 22/1774/DIS all approved. 22/1770/NMA & 22/1637/DIS pending0 0 7 110 50 55 12 0
Town Ystradgynlais Area P58 HA11 Penrhos School Extension, YstradgynlaisResidential allocation for 122 units 122 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 122 0 0 50 72
Town Ystradgynlais Area P58 HA12 P/2016/0047 Land at Former Cynlais School Playing Field Ystradgynlais Residential development, formation of vehicular access road and all associated works (outline)10 11 Planning Permission Not Started Allocation 19/2035/RES approved 22/1784/DIS pending 0 0 0 11 11 0 0 0
Town Ystradgynlais Area P58 HA3 18/0663/OUT Penrhos CP School, Brecon Road, YstradgynlaisResidential aalocation for 41 units. 41 42 Planning Permission Not Started Allocation 18/0663/OUT & 22/0283/RES approved22/0394/DIS, 22/0618/DIS, 22/0851/DIS, 22/1802/DIS approved. 22/0558/DIS pending0 0 0 42 9 30 3 0
Town Ystradgynlais Area P58 HA5 Glanrhyd Farm, Ystradgynlais Allocated Site for 8 residential units 8 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 8 0 8 0 0
Town Ystradgynlais Area P58 HA9 Penrhos Farm, Ystradgynlais AreaResidential Allocation for 76 units 76 Allocated No Permission Allocation PPAE/2016/0127 (2016) 0 0 0 76 0 36 40 0
Large Village Abercrave P01 HA1 Land to East of Maesycribarth, AbercraveResidential allocation for 14 units 14 Allocated No Permission Allocation Eastern part PPAE/2016/0200 (2016) 0 0 0 14 0 0 0 14
Large Village Abermule P02 HA1 Adj. The Rectory, Abermule Superceded by P/2017/0134 10 4 Superceded Superceded
Large Village Abermule P02 HA2 Land adj The Meadows and Land adj Parkside, AbermuleResidential Allocation for 30 units 30 Allocated No Permission Allocation 21/0075/PRE 23/0052/OUT (53 dwellings) pending (Mar 23) 19/1220/FUL (32 dwellings) Refused0 0 0 30 0 30 0 0
Large Village Arddleen P03 HA1 P/2017/0977 Land West of Trederwen House, Arddleen  Residential Allocation for 17 unitsOutline: Residential development of up to 17 no. dwellings, formation of a vehicular access, formation of a school car park with new access and all associated works (some matters reserved)17 17 Commenced Allocation 21/1139/RES, 21/2153/REM approved21/1528/DIS, 21/2167/DIS, 22/0585/DIS 0 0 17 0 17 0 0 0
Large Village Berriew P04 HA1 Land to East of the Village, adj Canal, BerriewResidential allocation for 12 units 12 Allocated No Permission Allocation  18/1118/FUL ( 4 units) pending consideration 0 0 0 12 2 2 0 8
Large Village Boughrood and Llyswen P06 HA1 Land at Llyswen, adj to Llys Meillion, Boughrood and LlyswenResidential allocation for 30 units 30 Allocated No Permission Allocation Yes 0 0 0 30 0 0 0 30
Large Village Boughrood and Llyswen P06 HA2 P/2016/0791 Park Lodge, Boughrood Erection of a 15 dwelling residential development 15 15 Planning Permission Not Started Allocation Yes Planning permission can't be secured due to phosphate levels in SAC catchment0 0 0 15 0 0 0 15
Large Village Bronllys P07 HA1 P/2016/0793 Land at the rear of Bronllys CP School Bronllys Erection of 30 dwellings for a residential development and related infastructure 38 30 Commenced Allocation Yes 0 0 0 30 0 0 30 0
Large Village Bronllys P07 HA2 P/2018/0428 Land at Bronllys to the West of Hen Ysgubor, BronllysOutline: Erection of 10x dwellings (all matters reserved) 10 10 Planning Permission Not Started Allocation Yes 22/2128/RES pending consideration 0 0 0 10 0 9 0 1
Large Village Bronllys P07 HA3 P/2017/1178 Land To The Rear Of Greenfields Minfield Lane  BronllysReserve matters application following permission P/2017/1178 for the erection of 14 dwellings and all associated works6 16 Commenced Part Allocated Yes 18/0807/RES approved 18/0806/DIS, 19/0382/DIS, 19/0594/DIS approved12 0 3 1 3 1 0 0
Large Village Caersws P09 HA1  P/2017/0754 Land North of Carno Road, OS 5832 CaerswsOutline: Proposed housing development for 43 residential units, sheltered housing proposal and construction of a bus layby43 41 Planning Permission Not Started Allocation Needs RES 0 0 0 41 0 20 21 0
Large Village Carno P10 HA1 Land off Ffordd Dol-LLin, Carno Residential Development for 14 units 14 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 14 0 0 0 14
Large Village Carno P10 HA2 Land north of Gerddi Cledan, CarnoResidential allocation for 27 units 27 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 27 0 0 0 27
Large Village Churchstoke P12 HA1 P/2016/0721 Adj. Fir House, Churchstoke 36 45 Planning Permission Not Started Allocation P/2016/0721, 19/1798/REM approved 22/1956/REM pending 0 0 0 45 0 45 0 0
Large Village Clyro P13 HA1 Land South east of Clyro (B) Residential Allocation for 14 units 14 Allocated No Permission Allocation Yes 0 0 0 14 0 0 0 14
Large Village Crew Green P15 HA1 Land opposite the Firs (between Malt House Farm and Bryn Mawr) CrewgreenResidential Allocation for 23 units. 23 Allocated No Permission Allocation 22/2032/FUL pending consideration 0 0 0 23 11 12 0 0
Large Village Crossgates P16 HA1 Land South of Studio Cottage, CrossgatesResidential Allocation for 19 units 19 Allocated No Permission Allocation Yes 0 0 0 19 0 0 0 19
Large Village Forden and Kingswood P17 HA1 P/2016/0953 Land adjacent to Heritage Green Kingswood, Forden Reserved matters application relating to development of 23 no. dwellings and formation of new access following Outline approval P/2016/095315 23 Complete Allocation 23 0
Large Village Forden and Kingswood P17 HA2 Land between Heatherwood and Kingswood Lane, KingswoodResidential Allocation for 10 units 10 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 10 0 0 10 0
Large Village Four Crosses P18 HA1 Land at Oldfield (including land rear of School), Four CrossesResidential Allocation for 32 units. 32 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 32 0 0 0 32
Large Village Glasbury P19 HA1 Treble Hill Stables, Glasbury Residential Allocation for 5 units 5 Allocated No Permission Allocation Yes 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 5
Large Village Guilsfield P20 HA1 Land adj Celyn lane, Guilsfield Residential Allocation for 20 units 20 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 20 0 10 10 0
Large Village Guilsfield P20 HA2 Land to East of Groes-lwyd, GuilsfieldResidential Allocation for 22 units. 22 22 Planning Permission Not Started Allocation 19/1529/OUT approved 23/0347/RES pending 0 0 0 22 10 12 0 0
Large Village Howey P22 HA1 Land adj Goylands Estate, HoweyResidential allocation for 38 units 38 Allocated No Permission Allocation Yes 0 0 0 38 0 0 0 38
Large Village Howey P22 HA2 Land Adj Goylands, West of Goyland, HoweyResidential Development 12 Allocated No Permission Allocation Yes 0 0 0 12 0 0 0 12
Large Village Knucklas P25 HA1 Land at Castle Green, Knucklas Residential Allocation for 17 units 17 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 17 0 7 10 0
Large Village Llanbrynmair P26 HA1 Land west of Bryncoch, LlanbrynmairResidential allocation for 19 units 19 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 19 0 10 9 0
Large Village Llandinam P27 HA1 Land opposite Old Barn Close, LlandinamResidential allocation for 8 units 8 4 Allocated No Permission Allocation 21/0120/PRE part of site Outline for 4 dwellings 0 0 0 4 2 2 0 0
Large Village Llandrinio P29 HA1 Gwernybatto, Land off Orchard Close, LlandrinioResidential Allocation for 30 units 30 24 Planning Permission Not Started Allocation 21/1536/FUL 22/2081/NMA pending 0 0 0 24 0 0 24 0
Large Village Llanfechain P31 HA1 Land north of Church, LlanfechainResidential Allocation 25 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 25 0 10 10 5
Large Village Llangurig P33 HA1 Adj. Maesyllan, Llangurig Residential development 19 Allocated No Permission Allocation Yes 0 0 0 19 0 0 0 19
Large Village Llanrhaeadr-ym-Mochnant P36 HA1 Land adj Maes yr Esgob, Llanrhaeadr ym MochnantResidential allocation for 19 units 19 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 19 0 0 19 0
Large Village Llansantffraid-ym-Mechain P37 HA1 Land at Spoonley Farm, Llansantffraid Residential allocation for 22 units. 22 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 22 0 11 11 0
Large Village Llansantffraid-ym-Mechain P37 HA2 Land adj Maes y Cain, LlansantffraidResidential allocation for 13 units 13 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 13 0 0 0 13
Large Village Llanymynech P40 HA1 Land adj Parc Llwyfen, LlanymynechResidential Allocation for 11 units. 11 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 11 0 0 11 0
Large Village Llanymynech P40 HA2 Land off Carreghofa Lane, LlanymynechResidential allocation for 20 units 20 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 20 0 0 0 20
Large Village Llanyre P41 HA1 Land at Llanyre Farm, Llanyre Residential allocation for 19 units 19 Allocated No Permission Allocation Yes 0 0 0 19 0 0 0 19
Large Village Meifod P43 HA1 Pentre Works and Adjacent Land, MeifodResidential Allocation for 45 units 45 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 45 0 0 0 45
Large Village Middletown P44 HA1 P/2017/0333 PT OS 0036 & 0041, West of Golfa Close, MiddletownOutline: Erection of up to 9 dwellings with garages, formation of a vehicular acess & associated works19 9 Planning Permission Not Started Allocation 18/0599/RES (9 dwellings) + 21/1568/FUL (7 dwellings) pending consideration21/1553/DIS (P/2017/0333)pending0 0 0 16 8 8 0 0
Large Village Penybontfawr P49 HA1 Land east of Ysgol Pennant, PenybontfawrResidential Allocation for 11 units 11 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 11 0 0 0 11
Large Village Pontrobert P50 HA1 Land at Y Fferm, Pont Robert, MeifodErection of 6 dwellings 6 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 6
Large Village Three Cocks P53 MUA1 P/2016/0786 Land at Three Cocks Brecon Outline: Erection of residential and commercial development including 39 dwellings (indicative) including affordable housing and associated infrastructure 32 39 Planning Permission Not Started Allocation Yes 19/2085/RES pending consideration 0 0 0 39 0 0 0 39
Large Village Tregynon P55 HA1 Rear of Bethany Chapel, TregynonResidential Allocation for 24 units 24 Allocated No Permission Allocation 0 0 0 24 0 8 16 0
Large Village Trewern P56 HA1 Land east of Trewern School, TrewernResidential Allocation for 27 units 27 40 Allocated No Permission Allocation 21/0577/OUT (Phase 1) approved needs Reserved Matters 0 0 0 40 20 20 0 0

161 482 628 1585

P
age 325



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Hierarchy Settlement Allocati
on ref

DM site no Site name Proposal Total Site 
Capacity LDP 
Units 
(@2015)

Total Site 
Capacity  Units 
(@2023)

Status In Phosphate 
Sensitive SAC 
Catchment

Designation type Pre app 
discussion

Planning App Submission Conditions discharged  to 
construction

Completions 
(2011 to 2015)

Completion
s (2015 to 
2022)

Completion
s 2022-
2023

U/C N/S 2023 - 
2024

2024 - 
2025

2025 - 
2026

Not in 
Plan 
Period

Town Builth Wells and Llanelwedd P08 HC1 B/0002/0021 The Old Skin Warehouse Site, Brecon Rd, Builth. - P08 HC1Proposed housing site - 6 dwellings and 3 flats ( amended to 7 houses on the 3rd September 2003)7 7 Complete Yes Committed Site 0 7 0 0 0
Town Builth Wells and Llanelwedd P08 HC2 P/2017/0635 and 20/0555/FULGarages, Hay Road, Builth Wells - P08 HC2Residential Development 11 5 Commenced Yes Committed Site 0 4 0 1 0 1 0 0 0
Town Builth Wells and Llanelwedd P08 HC3 P/2013/1190 Builth Cottage Hospital, Builth Wells, Full: Demolition of existing hospital including ancillary outbuildings and the construction of 17 affordable dwellings and minor alterations to existing access road17 17 Complete Yes Committed Site 0 17 0 0 0
Town Knighton P24 HC1 P/2018/0507 Peter Christian Site, West St, Knighton  19/0855/RES- Application for approval of reserved matters (access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale) following outline planning consent P/2018/0507 for the erection of 18 dwellings21 18 Planning Permission Not Started Committed Site 0 0 0 0 18 0 18 0 0
Town Knighton P24 HC2 P/2013/0504 Mill Green, Knighton - P24 HC2 Erection of 36 dwellings including units of affordable housing and demolition and rebuilding of the existing mill building18 18 Permission Lapsed Committed Site 0 0 0 0 0
Town Llandrindod Wells P28 HC1 21/1343/FUL Land at Gate Farm Llandrindod - P28 HC1Erection of 6 residential dwellings, new vehicular and pedestrian access and parking provision to cemetery, allotments and existing dwellings10 6 Planning Permission Not Started Yes Committed Site 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 6 0
Town Llandrindod Wells P28 HC2 R68 HA4 Convent Site, Adj Highland Moors Guest Home - P28 HC2 P/2015/0930 - Variation to design and layout of 13 dwellings as part of planning approval P/2011/0042 for the residential development of 16 dwellings16 16 Complete Yes Committed Site 0 16 0 0 0
Town Llandrindod Wells P28 HC3 Site of Former Workshops, Automobile Palace, Temple St, Llandrindod P28 HC3Demolition of workshops annexe and erection of ten town houses and a block of twelve apartments, associated parking and new vehicular access22 22 Commenced Yes Committed Site 0 0 0 0 22 0 0 0 22
Town Llanfyllin P32 HC1 P/2018/0591 Land Adjoining Maes Y Dderwen, Maes Y Dderwen, LlanfyllinFULL: Erection of 11 no. affordable dwellings 14 10 Complete Committed Site 0 10 0 0 0
Town Llanidloes P35 HC1 M2006/0103 Lower Green, Victoria Avenue - P35 HC1 Residential Development 31 31 Commenced Committed Site 21/0599/VAR approved 0 0 0 0 31 0 15 16 0
Town Llanidloes P35 HC2 P/2008/0406 Land at Hafren Furnishers - P35 HC2 Erection of 26 dwellings and associated works 23 0 Permission lapsed Committed Site 0 0 0 0 0
Town Llanidloes P35 HC3 P/2014/0188 Adj Manweb Station - P35 HC3 Residential Development 31 31 Complete Committed Site 0 31 0 0 0
Town Llanwrtyd Wells P39 HC1 P/2009/0194 The Vicarage Field, Beulah Road, Llanwrtyd - P39 HC1B/05/0401 - Outline Application for Residential Development7 7 Superceded Yes Committed Site 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Town Llanwrtyd Wells P39 HC2 18/1176/FUL OS 2664 Caemawr, off Ffos Road - P39 HC2   latest permission: 18/1176/FUL 3 unitsWhole site 53 units47 47 Commenced Yes Committed Site 22/2183/DIS approved 28 4 0 3 11 4 5 5 0
Town Llanwrtyd Wells P39 HC3 P/2015/0289 OS 1451 Meadow View, Station Road - P39 HC3Variation of Condition 1 of planning approval P/2009/0296 to extend the time limit for commencement.19 19 Commenced Yes Committed Site 23/0172/REM and 23/0062/VAR pending 0 2 7 3 7 5 5 0 0
Town Montgomery P45 HC1 M176 HA2 New Road, B/39/002, Montgomery (Brades Meadow) - P45 HC1Allocated site with planning permission for 50 dwellings13 10 Complete Committed Site 13 10 0 0 0
Town Newtown P48 HC1 M182 HA1 Land adj. Heol Pengwern, Vaynor, Newtown (A/40/014) - P48 HC1Residential Development 50 50 Complete Committed Site 50 0 0 0 0
Town Newtown P48 HC10 P/2014/0144 Wesley Place, Newtown - P48 HC10 Full: Conversion of night club (suis generis) use to create 6.no residential units (Class C3) (first and second floors only)6 6 Complete Committed Site 0 6 0 0 0
Town Newtown P48 HC2 M/2005/1154 Bryn Lane - P48 HC2 Residential Development 65 65 Commenced Committed Site P/2014/0601 approved 21 10 0 0 34 11 11 12 0
Town Newtown P48 HC3 M179 HA16 Former Goods Yard, Ffordd Croesawdy, Newtown - P48 HC3Residential Development (Affordable housing) 29 29 Complete Committed Site 29 0 0 0 0
Town Newtown P48 HC4 P/2008/1620 Land at Severn Hts, Brimmon Close, NewtownResidential Committment for 23 units 23 23 Commenced Committed Site 0 0 0 1 22 12 11 0 0
Town Newtown P48 HC5 M181 HA12 PT Enc0042/1463/1658/2053/2864, Rock Farm Llanllwchaiarn - P48 HC5Residential Development 103 103 Commenced Committed Site 0 0 5 1 97 3 0 0 95
Town Newtown P48 HC6 P/2010/1053 Land NE of Cefnaire Coppice &,N of Heol Treowen, Newtown - P48 HC6Residential Development (Affordable housing) 27 0 Complete Committed Site 0 0 0 0 0
Town Newtown P48 HC8 P/2014/1301 Back lane, newtown - P48 HC8 23 26 Complete Committed Site 0 26 0 0 0
Town Newtown P48 HC9 P/2013/1185 Severnside Yard, Commercial Street, Newtown - P48 HC9Residential development of 39.No extra care self contained apartments for older persons together with 9.No supported living apartments48 48 Complete Committed Site 0 48 0 0 0
Town Presteigne P51 HC1 P/2013/1026 Knighton Road, Presteigne - P51 HC1 Full: Construction of 11 affordable dwellings and creation of vehicle and pedestrian access11 11 Complete Committed Site 0 11 0 0 0
Town Rhayader P52 HC1 R85 HA6 Site Adj to Cae James, Rhayader - P52 HC1Residential Development 18 18 Complete Yes Committed Site 12 6 0 0 0
Town Rhayader P52 HC2 P/2009/0321 Old builders supplies deopt - P52 HC2 Full: Residential development (10 houses) and alterations to existing access10 10 Complete Yes Committed Site 0 10 0 0 0
Town Welshpool P57 HC1 P/2011/0402 Burgess Land, Redbank (A/45/005) - P57 HC1 73 73 Commenced Committed Site 20/1113/REM pending 45 4 0 0 24 12 12 0 0
Town Ystradgynlais Area P58 HC1 19/1055/REM Land R/O Jeffrey's Arms, Brecon Road - P58 HC1Section 73 application to vary condition 3, 17 and 21 of planning approval P/2017/1386 in relation to mitigation for bats.18 9 Commenced Committed Site Need Reserved Matters 0 0 0 0 9 0 4 5 0
Town Ystradgynlais Area P58 HC2 P/2014/1022 School Road, Lower Cwmtwrch - P58 HC2Development at Gurnos County School - Demolition of existing school and youth centre, erection of affordable development comprising 42 semi-detached units and 3 detached units, all with off street parking45 45 Complete Committed Site 0 45 0 0 0
Large Village Bettws Cedwain P05 HC1 M106 HA2 PT OS 1756 & 2368, Bryn Bechan - P05 HC1Residential development subject to S106 10 10 Commenced Committed Site 0 0 0 0 10 0 0 0 10
Large Village Boughrood and Llyswen P06 HC1 PR154003 The Depot, Boughrood Reserved Matters: Residential development of 12 no. two storey dwellings (to include 4 affordable houses) and creation of new vehicular access12 12 Complete Yes Committed Site 2 10 0 0 0
Large Village Boughrood and Llyswen P06 HC2 P/2009/1093 Beeches Park, Boughrood 5 5 Complete Yes Committed Site 2 3 0 0 0
Large Village Bronllys P07 HC1 P/2013/0922 Bronllys Court, Bronllys (Areas A&B) - P07 HC1 34 41 Complete Committed Site 0 41 0 0 0
Large Village Caersws P09 HC1 P/2013/0834 Main Street, Caersws - P09 HC1 Conversion of redundant commercial building to 5 no. dwelling units and associated works5 0 Superceded Committed Site 0 0 0 0 0
Large Village Castle Caereinion P11 HC1 M98669 Pt OS 0056, Adjacent Primary School (Swallows Meadow) - P11 HC1Residential Development 31 27 Commenced Committed Site 5 18 0 4 0 4 0 0 0
Large Village Churchstoke P12 HC1 M117 HA1 Rear of Village Hall A/11/001 - P12 HC1 (part)Residential development for 30 dwellings 16 16 Commenced Committed Site 1 5 0 3 7 3 3 3 1
Large Village Churchstoke P12 HC2 M/2007/0014 The Garage, Castle Road - P12 HC2 6 0 Superceded Committed Site 0 0 0 0 0
Large Village Churchstoke P12 HC3 P/2017/1076 Orchard Close Churchstoke - Includes P12 HC3Full - Residential development of 28 dwellings, formation of estate road and all associated works/infrastructure12 33 Complete Part Allocated 5 28 0 0 0
Large Village Churchstoke P12 HC4 M/2003/0291 The View, Castle Road Residential development for 11 dwellings 11 11 Superceded Committed Site 0 0 0 0 0
Large Village Clyro P13 HC1 19/0273/REM Land Adjacent Clyro Court Farm, South of the Castle 21 21 Commenced Yes Committed Site 0 6 0 0 15 5 5 5 0
Large Village Crossgates P16 HC1 R46 HA2 Land East of Post Office, Crossgates - P16 HC1Residential Development 15 15 Commenced Yes Committed Site 0 0 0 0 15 0 0 0 15
Large Village Guilsfield P20 HC1 M138 HA1 Enc 2200, Sarn Meadows- P20 HC1 Residential development for 46 dwellings 46 46 Commenced Committed Site 0 0 0 0 46 0 20 26 0
Large Village Kerry P23 HC1 P/2009/0106 PT Encs 3186 & 4186, Dolforgan - P23 HC1Committed Site - 62 dwellings 62 62 Complete Committed Site 0 43 19 0 0
Large Village Knucklas P25 HC1 RAD/2005/0555 The Old Station Works, Knucklas - P25 HC1Redevelopment of redundant light industrial site to 6 no. residential dwellings to include 2 no. affordable units SO 27 SE6 0 Permission lapsed Committed Site 0 0 0 0 0
Large Village Llanbrynmair P26 HC1 P/2014/1060  Bryn Coch - P26 HC1 5 5 Commenced Committed Site 22/0927/REM approved 0 0 0 5 0 5 0 0 0
Large Village Llansantffraid-ym-Mechain P37 HC1 P/2015/0217 Additional Land at Spoonley Farm - P37 HC1Allocated UDP Site 12 13 Complete Committed Site 9 4 0 0 0
Large Village Llansantffraid-ym-Mechain P37 HC2 M/2005/0967 Bronhyddon - P37 HC2 Residential development (includes P37 HC2) 5 5 Complete Committed Site 0 5 0 0 0
Large Village Llansilin P38 HC1 P/2016/0945 Opp. Wynnstay Arms (5/055) - P38 HC1 Residential development 23 23 Commenced Committed Site 0 0 15 8 0 8 0 0 0
Large Village Llanymynech P40 HC1 M/2006/0742 PT OS 3978, Off Ashfield Terrace - P40 HC1 13 13 Complete Committed Site 13 0 0 0 0
Large Village Llanyre P41 HC1 P/2013/0887 Land between Moorlands and Llyr LlanyreOutline: Residential housing development and creation of 2 new vehicular accesses12 12 Planning Permission Not Started Yes Committed Site 0 0 0 0 12 0 0 0 12
Large Village New Radnor P46 HC1 P/2008/1685 Water Street Farm - P46 HC1 Outline: Erection of 14 dwellings and highway alterations including new access14 14 Lapsed Yes Committed Site 0 0 0 0 0
Large Village Newbridge on Wye P47 HC1 P/2008/1151 The Orchard Merryhall Land, Newbridge on Wye - P47 HC1Outline: Erection of local needs affordable housing development and creation of new vehicular access5 0 Permission lapsed Committed Site 0 0 0 0 0
Large Village Newbridge on Wye P47 HC2 PR460503 PT OS 6047 Brynhand (Tylers Patch) - P47 HC2Residential Development 26 26 Complete Committed Site 26 0 0 0 0
Large Village Trefeglwys P54 HC1 P/2014/0669 Llwyn-Celyn, Phase 2, OS 8954, Trefeglwys - P54 HC1 17 17 Complete Committed Site 0 17 0 0 0
Small Village Adfa AI01 HLB1 P/2010/1234; P/2017/0990 The Former Timber Yard Adfa - AI01 HLB1Outline: Proposed development of 5 no. dwellings served via a private vehicular access8 5 Lapsed Housing Land Bank Site 0 0 0 0 0
Small Village Cemmaes AI02 HLB1 M116 HA1 Land opp Glanafon - AI02 HLB1 5 6 Commenced Housing Land Bank Site 0 1 0 0 5 2 2 1 0
Small Village Garth AI05 HLB1 Station Road, Garth - AI05 HLB1 Residential Development 8 dwellings 8 8 Complete Housing Land Bank Site 0 8 0 0 0
Small Village Llanbister AI07 HLB1 P/2017/1019 Land Rear of School, Llanbister  AI07 HLB1Residential Allocation R63 HA1 5 5 Lapsed Yes Housing Land Bank Site 0 0 0 0 0
Small Village Llanddew AI08 HLB1 P/2011/0563 Land Opposite Village Hall, Llanddew -  AI08 HLB1Reserved Matters: Residential development of 10 dwellings (3 to be affordable units)10 10 Commenced Yes Housing Land Bank Site 0 3 2 0 5 3 2 0 0
Small Village Llandewi Ystradenni AI09 HLB1 Land to Rear of Llanddewi Hall, Llanddewi - AI09 HLB1Residential Development of 6 detached houses, 2 pairs Semis, 2 linked detached houses, 6 terraced houses.18 18 Commenced Yes Housing Land Bank Site P/2011/0208 21/0673/NMA approved 0 5 0 13 0 7 6 0 0
Small Village Llanfihangel Tal-y-llyn AI10 HLB1 B18 HA1 Pistyll Farm, Llanfihangel Talyllyn - AI10 HLB1 10 10 Commenced Yes Housing Land Bank Site 0 7 0 1 2 2 1 0 0
Small Village Llangammarch Wells AI11 HLB1 P/2018/0315 Land Opposite Pen-y-bryn, Llangammarch - AI11 HLB1Residential Development for erection of 25 dwellings, 7 garages, access road and all associated works16 25 Commenced Yes Housing Land Bank Site P/2018/0315 0 0 0 25 0 12 13 0 0
Small Village Nantmel AI13 HLB1 R75 HA1 Brynteg, Nantmel  AI13 HLB1 Residential Development 8 8 Commenced Yes Housing Land Bank Site PR349803 0 0 0 0 8 0 0 0 8
Small Village Penybont AI12 HLB1 PR630000 Cattle Market, Penybont  AI12 HLB1 Erection of 27 dwellings and 2 live work units and creation of new vehicular access (Section 106)16 16 Commenced Yes Housing Land Bank Site 0 1 0 15 0 5 5 5 0
Open Countryside Cemmaes AI02 HLB2 M/2007/1149 Adj. Maesyllan, Cemmaes 6 6 Commenced Housing Land Bank Site 0 0 0 0 6 0 0 0 6
Rural Settlement Lower Tier Settlement AI03 HLB1 M/2007/0735 PT OS 0078 5 0 Permission lapsed Housing Land Bank Site 0 0 0 0 0
Rural Settlement Lower Tier Settlement AI04 HLB1 P/2008/1043 Dyfi 4 X 4, Commins Coch - AI04 HLB1 Erection of 5 dwellinghouses (2 detached with garages & 3 terraced) , formation of vehicular access road together with associated ground works5 5 Complete Housing Land Bank Site 0 4 1 0 0
Rural Settlement Lower Tier Settlement AI06 HLB1 P/2009/0622 Adj Camlo Close, Gwstre - AI06 HLB1 Outline: Erection of 6 residential dwellings which includes the provision of 2 dwellings for affordable housing together with the extension of existing estate road, provision of surface water/foul drainage facilities as well as improved rear access to 1 & 2 Craiglea and connection to new drainage system5 0 Permission lapsed Housing Land Bank Site 0 0 0 0 0

1405 261 476 49 83 412 104 138 84 169

P
age 327



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CYNGOR SIR POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL. 
 

CABINET EXECUTIVE 
Tuesday 10th October 2023 

 
REPORT 
AUTHOR: 

County Councillor Cllr David Thomas 
Portfolio Holder for Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Corporate Transformation 

  
REPORT 
TITLE: 

Strategic Risk Register Report Quarter 1 2023/2024  

  
 

REPORT FOR: 
 

Decision 

 
1. Purpose  
 
1.1  The purpose of this report is to set out the Council's latest position on 

managing its key risks, contained in the Strategic Risk Register (SRR).  
  
2. Background 
 
2.1  Our Strategic Risk Register is key to safeguarding the organisation and 

building resilience into our services. At a time when the Council has faced 
and is still facing unprecedented challenges, the effective management of 
risk is needed more than ever. A risk-managed approach to decision 
making will help us to achieve the well-being objectives in Stronger, 
Fairer, Greener: Our Corporate plan, deliver services more efficiently and 
using innovative and cost-effective means. 

 
3. Advice 
 
3.1  To ensure a risk managed approach to decision making and good 

governance of the Council, it is proposed that Cabinet. 
• Review progress to mitigate strategic risks 
• Review SRR proposals 

 
Review of progress to mitigate Strategic Risks 
 
3.2  As at the end of quarter 1 2023-2024, there are 15 risks on the strategic 

risk register and all strategic risk owners have been asked to provide a 
short summary of progress since last quarter, to give assurance that 
mitigating actions are being actioned and monitored. 

 
3.3  Please see appendix A for full details of the 15 strategic risks including the 

mitigating actions identified to control them and progress reviews. 
 

Page 329

6



3.4 Please see appendix B to view a heat map which presents the results of 
the quarter 1 risk assessment process visually. It highlights (for the 
residual risks) the following: 

 
 Five out of the sixteen risks have a probability of ‘likely’ and an impact of 

'major', one has a probability of ‘almost certain’ and an impact of ‘major’, 
and one has a probability of ‘likely’ and an impact of 'severe'. 

 
De-escalation of risks to the Strategic Risk Register 
 
3.5  Childrens Service would like to de-escalate the following risk: 
 
 CS0091: If there is insufficient capacity to respond to the longer-term 

demand in Children services in timely manner’’ Rating score 6. 
 

The Service attended G&A on the 24th June 2023 where a deep dive was 
conducted on the risk. With a current risk profile of ‘unlikely’ and 
‘moderate’, the service feels the risk is being managed successfully, and 
can be deescalated from the strategic risk register to the service risk 
register where the service will continue to manage and monitor the risk. 
 
Note: Previously the above risk included both Adults and Children 
services however it is now felt appropriate to separate the risk. The risk in 
relation to Adult Services remains on the Strategic Risk Register with a 
probability of ‘possible’ and an impact of 'moderate', 
 

Service risk scored 15 or above for consideration  
 
3.6 As per our Risk Management Framework any risk that is scored 15 or 

above must be considered for escalation by SLT.  
 

The following table contents the risks that fall into this category and 
proposal whether to escalated or not. 
 
 

Risk 
Ref 

Resid
ual 
Rating 

Risk Identified Service Area Owner Proposal 
to 
escalate 
or not 

PPP
P002
6 

20 Failure of the Public 
Protection Service to 
deliver statutory 
workplans/recovery plans 
due to staffing levels and 
competing priorities. 

Property, 
Planning, and 
Public 
Protection 

Gwilym 
Davies 

No 

Reas
oning 

Successfully being managed on service risk register and risks discussed in 
Qtr 1 performance review meeting with PH. Service holding a risk review 
session on 31st July 2023.  

 

Page 330



NPRI
MS00
10 

16 Impact of delay to the 
school project on the 
North Powys Wellbeing 
Programme's plans for an 
integrated health campus 

Transformation 
programme - 
21st C Schools 
-Newtown 

Marianne 
Evans 

Await 
Program
me Board 
and 
Transfor
mation 
Board 
decision. 

Reas
oning 

As per the risk management framework this has been highlighted to the 
Programme Delivery Manager and the Programme Manager to be 
considered by the relevant programme board as to whether it needs to be 
escalated 

 
Strategic Risk Closure 
 
3.7   The following risk has been closed: 

 
PCC0003: IF the Council receives a negative regulatory / inspection 
report, then we might be found failing in meeting regulatory and legislative 
duties. 

 
The risk has been closed on the basis that the reality of obtaining a report 
from regulators or auditors will ordinarily obtain a recommendation and is 
therefore a present certainty rather than a risk. 
 

Escalation of risk to the Strategic Risk Register - Closed session 
 
3.8   Consideration of proposal to escalate a risk in a closed session due to 

financial monitoring of risk having a commercial sensitivity. 
 

4. Resource Implications 
 
4.1  There are no direct resource implications in relation to this report however 

all risk owners need to consider the resource implications of managing the 
risk and decide if the best course of action is to tolerate or treat.  

 
4.2 The Strategic Risk Register outlines the key risks to the Council’s 

activities, as well as risk to delivery of objectives contained within the 
Corporate Improvement Plan. There are no direct financial implications 
from the report although these may arise as new risks are identified on an 
on-going basis. 

 
The Head of Finance (Section 151 Officer) notes the comment above, 
financial implications are identified through the relevant service and are 
considered through the financial management processes in line with the 
authorities’ financial regulations.   All services are considering the financial 
impact of any risks that are expected to continue into 2023/24 and beyond 
in their Service Integrated Business Plans.    

 
5. Legal implications 

Page 331



 
5.1    Legal: Comment sought  
 
5.2 The Head of Legal Services and the Monitoring Officer has commented as 

follows: Comment sought 
 
6. Data Protection 
 
6.1  N/A 
 
7.  Comment from local member(s) 
 
7.1  N/A 
 
8.   Integrated Impact Assessment 
 
8.1  N/A. The Service Risk Register is not setting out any changes or 

proposals to service delivery.  
 
9. Recommendation 
 

It is recommended that Cabinet notes the current Strategic Risk 
Register and is satisfied with progress against mitigating actions for 
quarter 1, approves the de-escalation of CS0091 (detailed under 
point 3.5), the closure of PCC0003 and the escalation of the risk 
detailed under point 3.8 to the Strategic Risk Register. 

               
The recommendation above will ensure: 

                                  
• Appropriate understanding and management of strategic risks 

which could prevent us from achieving our objectives  
• A risk managed approach to decision making and good 

governance of the Council 
 

 
Contact Officer:  Jane Thomas, Head of Finance  
 
Tel: 01597 827789   
  
Email: Jane.Thomas@powys.gov.uk 
 
Head of Service: Jane Thomas, Head of Finance 
 
Corporate Director:  Jack Straw, Interim Chief Executive officer. 

 
 
CABINET REPORT NEW TEMPLATE VERSION 3 
 
 

Page 332



Powys County Council

Strategic Risk Register25 July 2023

Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

 12  20Cllr Sian 

Cox
ASC0064 Performance issues raised to Welsh Government through SBAR • Action In 

Progress

Monthly Contract review meetings with Supplier • Action In 

Progress

Internal Review • Action 

Completed

Admin support to update records after down time • Control In 

Place

Follow correct change management processes • Control In 

Place

•             Veracity of 

decision making around 

adults and children in 

Powys could be 

compromised, leading to 

poor outcomes 

•             The 

safeguarding of children 

and adults in Powys 

could be compromised 

•             There could be 

significant delays in 

securing time critical 

packages of care 

•             Our ability to 

manage transfers of 

people from hospital to 

the community could be 

compromised 

•             We may not be 

able to respond 

effectively to out of hours 

emergencies 

•             There may be 

delays in making 

decisions and taking 

action to keep children 

safe

•             Staff morale 

could be affected, 

leading to increased 

sickness absence and 

staff leaving

•             Potential for 

reputational damage to 

the council and negative 

impact on our ability to 

recruit and retain social 

workers.

•             Additional 

financial pressure due to 

not being able utilise all 

staff/agency staff 

efficiently while the 

system is down

IF Welsh 

Community Care 

Information 

System (WCCIS) 

is not fit for 

purpose, then it will 

impact upon 

service area’s 

ability to carry out 

our statutory 

operational duties.

Nina 

Davies

Escalated 

From :-

Powys 

County 

Council

Nina Davies

24/07/2023

Qtr 1 23/24 Review Summary: The Council 

have yet to receive the options appraisal as 

currently waiting on decisions by Welsh 

Government to inform next steps.

The risk profile has been increased due to 

WCCIS being consistently not available 

recently due to issues with WCCIS and the 

VPN system, this created a risk particularly 

within the Front Door for Children’s Services 

where children’s files were not able to be 

processed in a timely manner due to no 

system being available. This resulted in a 

significant backlog of information to be 

processed creating delay in responses for 

children and their families.

26/04/2023

Review Summary: An options report 

considering future options for a data 

management system is expected shortly. 

This is part of the ongoing Digital 

Transformation project.

16/01/2023

Qtr 3 22/23 Review Summary: Digital 

Transformation of Social Services Project is 

ongoing. The review is considering future 

options for a data management system.

03/10/2022

Qtr 2 22/23 Review Summary: Digital 

Transformation of Social Services Project 

has been approved and is in progress. The 

review will include consideration of the 

possible future options for a data 

management system.

Page 1 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 333



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

 20  12Cllr Sian 

Cox
ASC0066 Direct Payment Support Scheme • Action In 

Progress

Care Home Support • Action In 

Progress

Care Home Staffing and Resilience Review • Action In 

Progress

Joint Support for Residents and Care Homes • Control In 

Place

Potential of care services 

becoming unviable and 

not sustainable, resulting 

in requirement to support 

residents to access 

different services/care 

homes etc.

Potential  of care staff 

not being paid.

Potential of harm to 

residents in having to be 

moved or having care 

provider unavailability. 

Potential of financial 

implications to residents, 

Council and local 

economy. 

Potential of reputational 

damage.  

Potential of increased 

failure and a large 

number of care staff not 

being paid appropriately

IF a Social Care 

provider(s) fail 

THEN the pressure 

on care homes, 

domiciliary care 

providers, 

supported living 

and other 

providers would 

become  

unsustainable.

Nina 

Davies

Escalated 

From :-

Powys 

County 

Council

Rachel Evans

17/07/2023

Qtr 1 23/24 Review Summary: Care home 

support continues. Additional contract 

monitoring capacity has been agreed which 

will add further support to care homes

30/03/2023

Qtr 4 22/23Review Summary: Care home 

support being undertaken jointly with PTHB 

to identify risks

Contract monitoring in place to support care 

home quality and early identification or risk 

issues

Care uplift in progress - which will provide 

information on financial risks

Direct Payment - Recommissioning project 

in progress and contingency plan in place 

A deep dive took place on the 31st March 

2023 by Governance and Audit committee 

and a presentation given. The presentation 

gave fuller detail into the situation and 

controls in place at the end of Qtr 4, 

explaining and evidencing the rationale 

behind the current scoring with service 

moderation across all risks.

18/01/2023

Qtr 3 22/23 Review Summary:  On behalf of 

service:

 • Joint PCC and PTHB provider 

workshop held with domiciliary care and 

care home providers 18.12.22 to explore 

creative solutions and business continuity / 

resilience

• Additional contract monitoring capacity 

in place to support care homes

• Rapid Action Plan developed in 

conjunction with PTHB

• Contingency and focused support 

around direct payments commissioning

• Increase in travel mileage rate for 

domiciliary care workforce

• Commissioning exploring sustainable 

new models

09/11/2022

Qtr 2 22/23 Review Summary: Care homes 

remain fragile but not at imminent risk of 

failure. All of the mitigations continue, and a 

contingency plan has been put in place in 

regard to direct payments service.

Page 2 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 334



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

 25  9Cllr Sian 

Cox
ASC0071 Agency Staff and Managed Team in both Adults and Children 's 

Services 

• Action In 

Progress

Increase inhouse domiciliary care capacity • Action In 

Progress

then the Local Authority 

will be unable to 

discharge its statutory 

duty and safeguard 

adults.

If there is 

insufficient 

capacity to 

respond to the 

longer term 

demand in 

ADULTS' services 

in timely manner

Nina 

Davies

Escalated 

From :-

Powys 

County 

Council

Sharon 

Frewin

30/06/2023

Qtr 1 23/24 Review Summary: This risk has 

been reviewed Senior Management Team.   

The risk remains high even though extra 

resources have been allocated in order to 

meet statutory requirements with the 

service. The service needs to be sustainable 

going forward.

Page 3 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 335



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

 25  6Cllr Sandra 

Davies
CS0091 Agency Staff and Managed Team in Children's Services • Action 

Completed

Rota in Children's Services for Section 47 assessments • Withdrawn

Increase inhouse domiciliary care capacity • Withdrawn

Prioritise Adult Social services critical functions in line with business 

continuity planning 

• Withdrawn

then the Local Authority 

will be unable to 

discharge its statutory 

duty and safeguard 

children and young 

people.

If there is 

insufficient 

capacity to 

respond to the 

longer term 

demand in 

CHILDREN 

services in timely 

manner.

Nina 

Davies

Escalated 

From :-

Powys 

County 

Council

Sharon 

Powell

14/07/2023

Qtr 1 23/24 Review Summary: There has 

been an increase in demand at the Front 

Door which has created capacity issues at 

the Front Door and into the service. 

The added complication of WCCIS and VPN 

not being available at key times has resulted 

in significant delay in processing information 

at the Front Door.

07/06/2023

Review Summary: There is no current risk 

with recruitment and retention of staff in 

Children's Services Staff due to our Grow 

our Own Strategy and ongoing recruitment 

campaign.

03/04/2023

Qtr 4 22/23 Review Summary: We are 

continuing to recruit and develop our grown 

our own strategy. We track our recruitment 

and leaver rates monthly.

05/01/2023

Review Summary: The managed team has 

ended but we have recruited some of those 

agency staff into our main teams. We 

continue to rely on agency staff due to 

capacity demand and lack of consistency to 

be able to fill vacant posts. We are recruiting 

2 agency staff to permanent members of 

staff from January 2023.

Page 4 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 336



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

 25  20Cllr Jackie 

Charlton
EDR0011 Carbon accounts reporting • Action In 

Progress

Workstream Action Plans developed • Action In 

Progress

Engagement with stakeholders and experts • Action In 

Progress

EMT/SLT dedicated session to take place in December to focus on 

risk and plan strategic mitigation 

• Action 

Completed

Implement Powys' Climate Strategy • Control In 

Place

-Exceeding acceptable 

CO2 emissions 

-Increasing demand on 

flood alleviation and 

response (including 

increase demand on 

resources)

-Increased emissions 

due to depletion of 

natural carbon stores 

and sequestration

-Unable to meet demand 

for housing linked to land 

suitability

-Unable to meet future 

public building needs

-Councils reputation is 

hurt if by lack of 

prevention/resilience 

planning and being 

perceived to be a 

contributor

-Deteriorating river and 

water way quality 

-Increased phosphates 

due to extreme weather 

events i.e. flooding

-Investing in adapting 

service delivery

-Risk to Biodiversity - 

see Nature Emergency 

risk

-Risk of increased 

wildfires and their impact

-Negative effect on 

supply of food, goods 

and vital services due to 

climate related collapse 

of supply chains and 

distribution networks

-Risks to the people and 

the economy climate 

related failure of the 

power system

-increased risks to 

human health, wellbeing 

and productivity from 

increased exposure to 

heat, in homes and other 

buildings

-possible multiple risks 

A climate 

emergency has 

been declared by 

Powys County 

Council. IF we 

experience the 

extreme 

consequences of 

not taking action 

then we will 

experience 

flooding, poor air 

quality, impact on 

nature and our 

communities.

Nigel 

Brinn

Escalated 

From :-

Powys 

County 

Council

Diane 

Reynolds

06/07/2023

Qtr 1 23/24 Review Summary: No change 

however progress has been made with 

some of the controls.

- Climate action plans for Mobility & 

Transport, Sustainable Procurement, 

Buildings and Land, Energy and 

Governance continue to be refined. Action 

plan leads have been tasked to cost action 

plans to coincide with forthcoming budget 

setting timescales and to inform future 

business case proposals to transformation 

delivery board which identifies the costs and 

resource requirements alongside potential 

return of investment. 

-Climate and Nature event took place on 

14th June as part of this ongoing control

Page 5 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 337



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

to the County from 

Climate change impact 

from overseas.

-Inadequate planning for 

unforeseen events

30/03/2023

Qtr 4 22/23. Review Summary: Action 

towards addressing the climate and nature 

emergency declarations of the council are 

taking shape with a climate and nature 

transformation programme being added to 

the existing portfolio, increased governance, 

working groups and stakeholder groups 

being established and closer engagement 

between members and officers to shape the 

councils response. 

Further work is required to fully embed 

climate and nature into the organisation 

aligned to the corporate plan and the 

greener priority objective and to refine and 

clearly articulate and prioritise our resources 

in areas where most impact can be 

achieved. Prioritisation will be driven by the 

carbon accounts and action plans which 

have now been developed by service areas 

but more work is needed. The Council can 

reduce the risk through mitigation, 

adaptation and reducing our carbon 

emission, however, more evidence will be 

required to reduce the risk further. As well 

as improve our environmental wellbeing, 

nature recovery and biodiversity 

enhancement this risk rating relates to 

mitigation and adaptation’. Action plans are 

being developed by service areas but more 

work is needed. As the Council improves its 

awareness of its carbon footprint and 

evidence base the action required as an 

organisation to meet our climate and nature 

emergency declarations will begin to inform 

targeted interventions which will reduce the 

residual risk impact.

Page 6 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 338



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

18/01/2023

Qtr 3 22/23 Review summary. On behalf of 

service. The risk is ongoing. The Climate 

Emergency Programme Board continue to 

meet monthly and work on developing 

workstream action plans has continued.  A 

climate stakeholder group has been 

established to plan for an event in June 

aimed at supporting Town and Community 

Councils to declare climate and nature 

emergencies. A climate and nature 

engagement group has also been 

established and had it’s first meeting in 

December

10/11/2022

Qtr 2 22/23 Review Summary: No change, 

progress has been made through the further 

development of the climate workstream 

plans and the analysis of our carbon 

accounts

Page 7 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 339



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

 25  16Cllr David 

Thomas
FIN0001 Revise the Medium Term Financial Strategy • Action In 

Progress

Ongoing discussion with WG and WLGA through Society of Welsh 

Treasurers for Future Funding of Local Government 

• Action In 

Progress

The Reimaging the Council programme will fundamentally review 

and reshape the Council for the future 

• Action In 

Progress

Instruction to all services across the council to pull back on 

expenditure through 2022/23 to manage the projected deficit 

• Action 

Completed

Service Integrated Business Plans will be reviewed and refreshed • Action 

Completed

Keen focus on procurement issues - sharing information and 

knowledge across the LA/WLGA network 

• Action 

Completed

WG claims for Hardship and lost income continue and expect to 

remain in place til march 2021 

• Action 

Completed

Cell in place to monitor rising costs, supply chain issues and 

sharing of information across the Council 

• Control In 

Place

Regularly monitor and review the financial position on monthly 

basis. 

• Control In 

Place

Cost Recovery work • Withdrawn

3rd party spend reduction • Withdrawn

Income Generation • Withdrawn

Monthly reports to cabinet and Management Team on budget 

progress and progress on savings 

• Withdrawn

Budget Challenge Events • Withdrawn

Moved to a 3 year balanced budget • Withdrawn

Reassessment of the activities of the Council through the Recovery 

Coordination Group 

• Withdrawn

Review budget position at end of first quarter and consider changes 

to the 2020/21 budget 

• Withdrawn

- The Council is unable 

to fulfil its legal obligation 

in setting a balanced 

budget

- The Council will not be 

financially resilient or 

sustainable

- Council reputation 

damaged

- Inability to fulfil our 

statutory obligations

- Inability to deliver the 

Council objectives

The Council may 

be unable to 

deliver a financially 

sustainable budget 

over the short and 

medium term.   

The continued 

impact of Covid 

coupled with the 

more recent 

events around 

rising inflation, 

energy costs and 

the situation in 

Ukraine impacting 

on supply chains 

and prices all 

increase the risk 

on the Council 

financial resilience.

Jane 

Thomas

Escalated 

From :-

Powys 

County 

Council

Jane Thomas

04/07/2023

Qtr 1 23/24 Review Summary: The final 

outturn 2022/23 reports a net underspend, 

after contributions to specific reserves, of 

£6.7 million against the £221.9 million 

budget a 3.0% variance (excluding Schools 

and the Housing Revenue Account). This 

position will release one off funding to 

support the increasing pressure already 

facing the 2023/24 revenue budget 

particularly that relating to teachers and staff 

pay as pay award negotiations create 

unfunded pressure in next financial year.  

This goes some way to de-risk the Councils 

financial position in the short term but does 

not reduce the ongoing base budget 

pressure that continues to create a gap in 

our budget plans for next year and future 

years.  The Sustainable Powys programme 

will seek to identify the opportunities to 

reduce council spend in order to bridge the 

budget gap over the next few years.

17/04/2023

Qtr 4 22/23 Review Summary: The council 

approved a balanced budget for 2023/24 

with the inclusion of a 5% increase in 

Council Tax.  The budget recognises the 

impact of increasing inflation across all 

services which have in the main been 

funded, although significant cost reductions 

are required to delivered within budget.  The 

financial year for 2022/23 has now closed 

and the accounts are being finalised, the 

latest forecast based on the position at the 

end of February projects a surplus budget 

albeit with the draw down of specific 

reservices, as set aside last year.  Work 

must now quickly turn to addressing the 

projected budget for 2024/25 and beyond.

Page 8 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 340



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

16/01/2023

Qtr 3 22/23 Review Summary: The 

development of the budget through the 

Autumn has seen Cabinet propose a 

balanced budget for 2023/24 which will be 

set out at Cabinet on the 17th January.  

Significant cost pressures across all 

services can be managed through the 

increased WG settlement, the delivery of 

costs reductions and an increase in Council 

Tax.  The longer term 5 year strategy sees 

further significant shortfalls through to 2028. 

Work is now underway to reimagine the 

Council for the future delivered at a lower 

cost.

02/11/2022

Qtr 2 22/23 Review Summary: A significant 

amount of work has been completed during 

September and October on the MTFS and 

the development of the budget plans.  

Assumptions have been revised and all 

services have completed their service 

FRM's setting out the budgetary pressures 

they face.  An approach to allocate the 

estimated additional funding from RSG and 

CT has been implemented and Services 

have developed proposals as to how the 

remaining budget gap for each service can 

be managed.   The SLT and Cabinet 

continue to progress this work.  The Autumn 

statement expected on the 17th November 

will provide more clarity on the funding 

levels we can expect for next year.

Page 9 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 341



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

Page 10 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 342



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

 25  16Cllr Jackie 

Charlton
HTR0018 Delivering on our Section 6 duties • Action In 

Progress

Implementing the Nature Recovery Action Plan with partners • Action In 

Progress

• Reduced 

productivity of 

agriculture, forestry and 

fisheries impacting the 

livelihoods of residents 

and economic stability. 

• Reduced food 

availability through 

declines in pollination, 

soil health and soil 

fertility. These will lead to 

decreased yields, a 

decrease in food and 

fodder production, and a 

decreased availability of 

wild foods.   

• Ecosystems are 

more susceptible to 

invasion by pests and 

diseases. This will 

reduce the resilience of 

the natural environment 

and require investment 

in pest and disease 

prevention/control/eradic

ation. 

• Reduced capacity 

for land to sequester 

carbon and thus our 

ability to tackle the 

climate emergency – see 

climate risks (interlinked) 

• Reduced capacity 

for land to perform other 

basic ecological 

functions such as water 

storage, water 

purification, nutrient 

cycling and air filtration. 

• Deteriorating river 

and water quality.

• Reduced health and 

wellbeing of residents 

through increase of 

diseases, reduced 

protection against 

pollution, health effects 

associated with 

increased malnutrition 

and increased exposure 

to agricultural chemicals, 

Impact of nature 

emergency on our 

ability to deliver 

services
Nigel 

Brinn

Escalated 

From :-

Powys 

County 

Council

Matthew 

Perry

30/06/2023

Qtr 1 23/24 Review Summary:  Our 

Biodiversity officer has been in post now 

close to 6 months and much progress has 

been made around delivery of section 6 

duties. A report reflecting on the actions 

taken in the period from December 2019 to 

December 2022 was presented to Cabinet in 

Spring 2023 and was approved. Publication 

of this report fulfils the Council's duty to 

report on its progress against section 6 

duties every three years. 

Local Places for Nature funding has been 

confirmed for the period from April 

2023-March 2025; this will allow for 'Nature 

on your doorstep' projects to be carried out 

on the Council estate around maintaining 

and enhancing biodiversity. This funding has 

a specific revenue element around section 6 

duties, which will allow for the Nature 

Recovery officer (for which funding has been 

made available) to work with Council 

services to look at biodiversity opportunities 

and support Town and Community Councils 

in implementing their section 6 duties.

Due to time constraints, it was not possible 

to commission a contractor to carry out a 

desktop review of progress against the 

Powys Nature Recovery Action Plan in 

spring 2023. However, a progress tracker 

has been developed at officer level to 

identify the projects and initiatives in which 

the Nature Partnership is involved and the 

actions in the Nature Recovery Action Plan 

against which each delivers. This will 

continue to be populated as projects 

develop and progress. 

Work is also under way through the Powys 

Nature Partnership to map the extent to 

which Powys is already contributing to the 

30x30 target (which is a worldwide initiative 

for governments to designate 30% of Earth's 

land and ocean area as protected areas by 

2030.) In combination, the progress tracker 

and 30x30 mapping will help to target future 

work to deliver against the Nature Recovery 

Action Plan. 

Page 11 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 343



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

a loss of cultural values, 

reduced access to 

traditional medicines, 

reduced options for 

future drug development, 

and poorer mental 

health. 

• A decline in tourism 

due to loss of nature and 

poor condition of the 

natural environment. 

• Unable to meet 

demand for housing 

linked to land suitability.

• Unable to meet 

future public building 

needs.

• Council’s reputation 

is hurt by lack of 

prevention/resilience 

planning and being 

perceived to be a 

contributor.

• Investing in 

adapting service 

delivery.

Local Places for Nature capital and revenue 

funding have been confirmed for the period 

from April 2023 to March 2025 and will 

underpin delivery of projects that deliver 

'Nature on the Doorstep' by the Council, the 

Powys Nature Partnership and community 

groups and organisations over the next 18 

months.

05/04/2023

Qtr 4 22/23 Review Summary: Section 6 

report completed outlining all the 

achievements to improve biodiversity 

throughout Powys and the ongoing 

collaboration with our partners through 

Powys Local Nature Partnership.  Report is 

Scheduled for Cabinet/EMT W/C 17th April 

2023.

17/01/2023

Qtr 3 22/23 Review Summary: Work is 

underway to review the 2022 outcomes 

which will show progress from 2019. There 

are 15 Local Places for Nature projects 

under way this year to deliver against the 

Powys Nature Recovery Action Plan 

(PNRAP) and 5 of those are on Council land 

including schools, so will deliver against 

section 6 duties too. Interest from within and 

outside the Council is growing rapidly, with 

enquiries being made by other Services and 

community organisations around 

development of projects to be funded in the 

next year. We have now also been formally 

awarded SPF funding to appoint a Nature 

Recovery Officer for the next two years, 

which achieves one of the aims set out in 

the declaration of a Nature Emergency

10/11/2022

Qtr 2 22/23 Review Summary: The control 

actions for this risk are under way, being 

delivery against the Powys Nature Recovery 

Action Plan and the Council's duties under 

section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 

2016. Both of these actions are highly 

dependent on external funds and a 

Biodiversity officer being in place to provide 

the specialist advice and support to internal 

Council Services and external partners for 

delivery.

Page 12 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 344



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

 16  12Cllr David 

Thomas
IAWARD0009 Fraud team to review fraud risks with service areas and determine 

action plan 

• Action In 

Progress

SWAP Undertake the remaining fraud risk assessments in 4 

service areas 

• Action In 

Progress

Provide section 151 officer with fraud risk Intelligence bi-annually. • Control In 

Place

regular fraud activities • Control In 

Place

Then this could lead to 

lost income revenues, 

increased service 

provision costs, some 

schools will have 

escalating deficits which 

will have a financial 

impact on the rest of the 

Council and the learners 

in their care.  Other 

consequences could be: 

- increased service 

provision costs because 

of lost income/reduced 

budget

- Reputational Damage

- Lost in stakeholder 

confidence

If the Council is 

susceptible to 

higher levels of 

fraud as people 

struggle with the 

cost of living crisis 

and as organised 

fraud take 

advantage of the 

challenging 

environment.  This 

could lead to lost 

income revenues 

or increased 

service provision 

costs.

Jane 

Thomas

Escalated 

From :-

Powys 

County 

Council

Yvette 

Kottaun

20/07/2023

1st Qtr 23/24 Review Summary: On behalf 

of Service: Of the remaining 4 service areas 

fraud risk assessments that were 

outstanding by SWAP, 3 have been 

completed however the last one has not. A 

meeting has been scheduled with SWAP to 

discuss those that have been carried out, as 

the Council would like further work to take 

place to give a more robust/realistic view. 

The Councils team have shared their work 

plan to ensure there is no duplication of 

work, and an effort to try and make work 

around fraud risk, fraud investigation and 

error work, more joined up.

Regarding the remaining fraud risk 

assessment, SWAP have advised the delay 

is because of time and capacity resource 

however are still planning on completing the 

final one (at the Councils request) but 

currently unable to give a time frame.

04/04/2023

Qtr 4 22/23 Review Summary: The fraud 

team are awaiting guidance from SWAP on 

which service areas they intend to do further 

fraud risk work with. Once this is established 

Corporate Fraud will determine their action 

plan of service workshops so not duplicate 

work and cost with SWAP. Progress has 

been made with 3 more service risk 

assessments having been completed, 

leaving only one outstanding. It is worth 

noting despite the work that has been 

carried out to reduce the risk probability and 

impact, the service are noting increased 

incidents of fraud, put down to the cost of 

living crisis and therefore the scoring 

remains the same.

13/03/2023

Review Summary: The risk is now live

16/01/2023

Review Summary: The fraud risk is due to 

be considered as as corporate fraud risk at 

next EMT so not become effective yet to 

review

Page 13 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 345



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

 12  12Cllr Jake 

Berriman
ICT0010 - Information Asset Register • Action In 

Progress

- Development of internal records of processing • Action In 

Progress

Review of postal checking regimes in place • Action In 

Progress

Communication Plan • Action 

Completed

 Provision of information to EMT, HoS, and Team Meetings • Action 

Completed

- Presentations to schools • Action 

Completed

GDPR Surgeries • Action 

Completed

- Review current ISP in line with revised versions • Action 

Completed

- Ensure signed agreements are appropriately stored • Action 

Completed

- Develop data controller vs data Processor check list for services • Action 

Completed

 Staff training • Control In 

Place

- Policies and Procedures • Control In 

Place

- Review existing Data Processing agreements • Control In 

Place

Personal Data Breach Management • Control In 

Place

Data Protection Impact Assessments • Control In 

Place

Cyber Security Action Plan • Control In 

Place

DPO considerations on reports to Cabinet • Control In 

Place

Raising staff awareness of responsibiltiies towards personal data • Control In 

Place

- Information sharing protocols • Withdrawn

- Data sharing agreements • Withdrawn

- Identify where information sharing takes place • Withdrawn

- Implement revised WASPI Accord and templates • Withdrawn

- Revised centralised ISP register to link to information Asset and 

Record of Processing Activities (ROPA) 

• Withdrawn

- Create policy on services undertaking due diligence potential 

processors 

• Withdrawn

- Create log of data processors and agreements linking to • Withdrawn

'- Potential fine of up to 

£17,000,000 or 4% of 

annual turnover

- The Council is subject 

to regulatory data 

protection audits

- Reputational damage

- Regulatory 

enforcement action

- Detriment to the data 

subjects

- Civil action and 

associated 

consequences

IF the Council is 

found 

non-compliant with 

either UK General 

Data Protection 

Regulations 

(GDPR) and or the 

Data Protection 

Act (DPA) 2018 

then, it could be 

subject to 

monetary penalties 

or other regulatory 

action, data 

protection audits, 

civil action and 

associated 

consequences, 

including suffering 

reputational 

damage, and 

resultant detriment 

to the affected 

data subjects.

Diane 

Reynolds

Escalated 

From :-

Powys 

County 

Council

Diane 

Reynolds

04/07/2023

Qtr 1 23/24 Review Summary: Activities to 

monitor and aide compliance continue as 

previous quarters.  Corporate Information 

Governance Group (CIGG) held in June 

2023. Additional Information Compliance 

Officer recruited June 2023 to assist with 

Subject Access Requests (SARs),  

Recruitment underway for Management of 

Electronic Information Officer, to support the 

further development of Records of 

processing activities (ROPA), and the 

appropriate retention of information. 

Information Commissioner's Office (ICO) 

recommendations following personal data 

breaches continue to be be considered and 

implemented as appropriate

04/04/2023

Qtr 4 22/23 Review Summary: Activities to 

monitor and aide compliance continue, as 

previous quarters. March Corporate 

Information Governance Group  delayed 

until June 2023.

16/01/2023

Qtr 3 22/23 Review Summary: Activities to 

monitor and aide compliance continue, as 

per previous quarters.  Corporate 

Information Governance Group (CIGG) took 

place November 2022

13/10/2022

Qtr 2 22/23 Review Summary: Cyber 

Security and General Data Protection 

Regulations (GDPR) training monitored, 

work undertaken by Information Compliance 

team to reduce long outstanding Subject 

Access Requests (SARs), following 

Information Commissioner's Office (ICO) 

action against a number of organisations, 

management of personal data breaches and 

management of actions to reduce likelihood 

of reoccurrence and implementation of ICO 

recommendations.  Data Protection Impact 

Assessment activity and assistance to 

services on mental health reporting, third 

party access to systems, Town Centre Wi-Fi 

projects etc   Corporate Information 

Governance Group (CIGG) for September 

cancelled, due to take place in November

Page 14 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 346



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

information asset and ROPA 

Page 15 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 347



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

 16  12UnassignedICT0029 Major Incident response processes • Action In 

Progress

Disaster Recovery Procedures • Action In 

Progress

Additional Staff Awareness • Action In 

Progress

NCSC 10 Steps Actions  Risk Management • Action In 

Progress

NCSC 10 Steps Assett Management • Action In 

Progress

NCSC 10 Steps Actions Architecture and Configuration • Action In 

Progress

NCSC 10 Steps Actions Vulnerability Management • Action In 

Progress

NCSC 10 Steps Actions Identity and Access Management • Action In 

Progress

NCSC 10 Steps Actions Data Security • Action In 

Progress

NCSC 10 Steps Logging and Monitoring • Action In 

Progress

NCSC 10 Steps Incident Management • Action In 

Progress

NCSC 10 Steps Actions Supply Chain Security • Action In 

Progress

Security Operations Procedures Policy • Action 

Completed

Capital investment in Security Operations Management Tools • Action 

Completed

Capital Investment • Action 

Completed

SBAR Reporting • Action 

Completed

Cloud Security controls in place to detect and prevent malicious 

content in Office365 

• Control In 

Place

End Point AntiVirus in place detecting known threats • Control In 

Place

Device Encryption • Control In 

Place

Annual Penetration testing • Control In 

Place

Cyber Security Improvement Plan • Control In 

Place

Cyber Security Certification • Control In 

Place

Staff Training • Control In 

Place

Loss of Information 

systems until they can 

be successfully restored. 

Loss of data, inability to 

access data or public 

disclosure of Personal 

Data.

Cyber risk could 

materialize in a variety of 

ways, such as:

• Deliberate and 

unauthorized breaches 

of security to gain 

access to information 

systems.

• Unintentional or 

accidental breaches of 

security.

• Operational IT risks 

due to factors such as 

poor system integrity.

IF the Council 

incurs a serious 

Cyber Attack or 

Security Incident 

this can result in 

financial costs to 

recover,  and data 

loss if recovery is 

not possible. This 

will result in 

disruption and 

damage to the 

reputation and 

running of the 

Council and its 

services.

Diane 

Reynolds

Escalated 

From :-

Powys 

County 

Council

Diane 

Reynolds

25/07/2023

Qtr1 23/24 Review Summary: Cyber 

Essentials Plus and Public Services 

Network accreditation is still being progress, 

with work undertaken to address 

vulnerabilities reported from the recent 

Health check. 

Key critical systems and services are being 

identified in order to prioritise Disaster 

recovery procedures, work is being 

undertaken to prepare Cloud Storage 

capability to reduce risk to on premise 

systems. 

Cyber incident Response plans are being 

worked on following a Cyber Breach 

workshop. 

Vulnerability management procedures 

continue to be incorporated into Business as 

usual process.

11/04/2023

Qtr 4 22/23 Review Summary: Cyber 

assurance Framework Self assessment 

completed, actions will now be incorporated 

into Cyber Action plan. Cyber essentials 

accreditation completed with a lot of 

remediation work being prioritised in order to 

achieve Cyber Essentials Plus. Work to be 

prioritised for this year included 

Development of Cyber Incident Reponse 

plan, Disaster recovery plan and procedures 

in line with identification of Critical systems, 

update and review of all ICT Security 

Polices

16/01/2023

Qtr 3 22/23 Review Summary: Work to 

undertake a Self Assessment using the 

National Cyber Security Centre (NCSC) 

Cyber Assessment Framework is due to 

being in QT4 22/23. This should highlight a 

series of improvements and risk 

management strategies which if 

implemented correctly should reduce the 

overall Cyber Risk

12/10/2022

Qtr 2 22/23 Review Summary: The Cyber 

plan and actions continue to make 

improvements. BAU continues to monitor 

and rectify vulnerabilities and address 

known risks

Page 16 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 348



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

NCSC 10 Steps Actions Engagement & Training • Control In 

Place

Detection and Response Tools • Control In 

Place

Cyber Exercising • Withdrawn

Page 17 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 349



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

 15  6Cllr Richard 

Church
PCC0008 Consider UPS at the homes of identified key officers • Action In 

Progress

SLT to agree a priority list of services/people to have access to 

county hall and continued use of systems. 

• Action In 

Progress

SLT to agree which services/people get access to county hall and 

continued use of systems. 

• Action In 

Progress

Property and HTR to agree a forward plan to deliver fuel to County 

Hall's generator if needed 

• Action In 

Progress

Commission care providers’ business continuity planning • Action In 

Progress

Further electrical work at Penybont depot to ensure access to 

bunkered fuel supplies of diesel (to drive the generator). 

• Action In 

Progress

The Council has contacted providers like EE to see what their plans 

are 

• Action In 

Progress

Paper to SLT to initiate discussion on power outages • Action 

Completed

All services to review Business Continuity plans in relation to power 

outage 

• Control In 

Place

ICT has setup an management Whatsapp group for all team 

leaders 

• Control In 

Place

Uninterrupted power supplies on our key ICT servers monitoring 

their own readiness 

• Control In 

Place

Generator at County Hall tested on a monthly basis • Control In 

Place

SLT instructed to relocate to County Hall at first sign of a prolonged 

outage and activate the SLT Incident Response Guide , 

• Control In 

Place

Attendance (virtual) at national seminars on planning for Power 

Outages 

• Control In 

Place

Take part in major exercises scheduled to test the response to 

power outages. 

• Control In 

Place

Then there will be 

immediate impacts on 

telephony, 

communication, ICT, 

fuel, transport, medical, 

retail, sanitation, 

emergency response, 

banking and & water 

distribution which will 

impact on our ability to 

deliver services. 

The impact will vary in 

severity depending upon 

the length of time without 

power (The UK Gov 

target for 100% 

restoration from 100% 

outage is currently (Dec 

2022) 7 days therefore in 

theory POs can be 

anything from seconds to 

7 days.

IF planned power 

outages (rota 

disconnections) 

occurs then it may 

affect our ability to 

deliver services.

Nigel 

Brinn

Nigel Brinn

06/07/2023

Qtr 1 23/24 Review Summary: The risk 

profile has been reduced due to lowered 

demands for heating, lighting etc during the 

summer months however as we cannot 

predict the winter months ahead, and the 

risk of regional and national power outages 

remains on the National Security Risk 

Assessment (with their Risk Assessment 

unchanged) the risk will remain on the 

Strategic Risk Register.  However the risk 

and its controls will remain under review by 

the Emergency Planning Team and the 

Local Resilience Forum.

04/04/2023

Review Summary: Qtr 4 22/23 Risk 

Summary, on behalf of Nigel Brinn.  The risk 

has been reviewed and probability reduced 

to 'unlikely' at present however the risk itself 

will remain under review by the Emergency 

Planning Team and the LRF.

10/03/2023

Review Summary: Rescheduling date to 1st 

April inline with Strategic Risk Register 

review.

Page 18 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 350



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

 20  16Cllr Jake 

Berriman
PPPP0030 Monitor statutory compliance and implement remedial works and 

programme capital improvements to maintain service 

• Control In 

Place

Withdrawal of use of the 

asset by the school 

leading to disruption to 

educational continuity 

with the partial or full 

closure of the school.

IF the Council has 

an insufficient level 

of revenue 

maintenance and 

major 

improvement 

capital funding, 

then it is likely to 

result in unsafe 

and unfit assets 

within School 

properties.

Nigel 

Brinn

Escalated 

From :-

Powys 

County 

Council

Gwilym 

Davies

21/07/2023

Qtr 1 23/24 Review Summary: Compliance 

Board and Education Working group have 

been set up to monitor compliance and 

manage risk. Risk assessments are 

undertaken where compliance risks are 

identified and appropriate actions taken to 

manage risk to an acceptable level. 

Condition surveys are considered necessary 

to identify risks and enable an informed 

programme of works to be created.

30/03/2023

Qtr 4 22/23 The Council is continuing to 

tolerate (with controls in place) as the risk is 

in relation to insufficient level of revenue 

maintenance and major improvement capital 

funding. The Council has an ongoing 

assessment of all school properties to plan 

for essential works to maintain safe and 

operational premises. The Council has 

received  confirmation from WG of 

additional capital/revenue maintenance 

grant and the associated terms and 

conditions for financial year 2023/24. This 

risk has been transferred from Educations 

risk register to Property, Planning and Public 

Protection risk register however remains 

cross linked with Education so both services 

have sight. The service is currently planning 

and commissioning project work for school 

property financial year 23/24.

07/11/2022

Qtr 3 22/23 Currently the Council is 

tolerating (with controls in place) as the risk 

is in relation to the possibility of insufficient 

level of revenue maintenance and major 

improvement capital funding. The Council 

has an ongoing assessment of all school 

properties to plan for essential works to 

maintain safe and operational premises. The 

Council is awaiting confirmation from WG 

about additional capital/revenue 

maintenance grant and the associated terms 

and conditions for financial year 2023/24. 

This risk has been transferred from 

Educations risk register to Property, 

Planning and Public Protection risk register 

however remains cross linked with 

Education so both services have sight.

Page 19 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 351



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

05/09/2022

Review Summary: Reviewed by SSMT 

05.09.22

Page 20 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 352



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

 20  16Cllr Jake 

Berriman
PPPP0031 Implement the schools asset management plan within the budget 

available and escalate to the Transforming Education Programme 

• Action In 

Progress

Actively input into the HOWPS transition working group • Withdrawn

Disruption to the 

operational continuity of 

the building which may 

either result in the partial 

or full closure of the 

school building to ensure 

the health and safety of 

all occupants.

IF the school 

building stock 

deteriorates due to 

the insufficient 

level of revenue 

and major 

improvement 

capital funding 

required to 

maintain them, 

then they could 

become un-safe 

and not fit for 

purpose.

Nigel 

Brinn

Escalated 

From :-

Powys 

County 

Council

Gwilym 

Davies

21/07/2023

Qtr 1 23/24 Review Summary: Compliance 

Board and Education Working group have 

been set up to monitor compliance and 

manage risk. Risk assessments are 

undertaken where compliance risks are 

identified and appropriate actions taken to 

manage risk to an acceptable level. 

Condition surveys are considered necessary 

to identify risks and enable an informed 

programme of works to be created.

30/03/2023

Qtr 4 22/23 Review Summary: This risk 

although sits with PPPP is cross linked with 

Education so both services have sight. 

Meeting took place as a matter of urgency 

with all relevant service areas to review the 

risk and in particular the controls and 

actions in place during the last Qtr.  School 

premises critical compliance assessment is 

being prepared for all school and non school 

buildings with a view to presenting 'work in 

progress' document to Corporate 

Compliance and Strategic Property Board. 

Also we are completing the major 

improvement capital programs 22/23 

including other capital grant funded 

schemes and a planned  maintenance 

program to maintain and upgrade school 

buildings, safeguarding, external 

infrastructure and school facilities.  This is to 

maintain safe operational school facilities.

09/01/2023

Qtr 3 22/23 Review Summary: Risk 

reviewed in Schools SSMT. This risk has 

been transferred from Educations risk 

register to Property, Planning and Public 

Protection risk register however remains 

cross linked with Education so both services 

have sight. Meeting to take place as a 

matter of urgency with all relevant service 

areas to review the risk and in particular the 

controls and actions in place.

07/11/2022

Review Summary: Reviewed by SSMT 

07.11.22

Page 21 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 353



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

 15  9Cllr David 

Thomas
PROC0008 Review and update contract management reporting of supply chain 

risks 

• Action In 

Progress

Financial Risk Reporting - use of D&B reports etc..... • Action In 

Progress

New Commercial Performance and Risk Board created. • Action In 

Progress

Controlling costs and supply price increases. • Control In 

Place

Value Engineering &/or Material subsitution • Withdrawn

Re-evaluate project timescales • Withdrawn

Value engineering • Withdrawn

Ukraine Cell Set up to report to Gold on consequences and to 

manage 

• Withdrawn

Develop a Process for approval by S151 officers for minimising 

effect of Price Increases - replaced by PROC0008/007. 

• Withdrawn

Effect on capital and 

revenue budget which 

may result in:

Council's ability to deliver 

services, meet its 

corporate plan objectives 

and manage its budget.

Council unable to deliver 

statutory and non 

statutory services which 

could result in a backlog 

of work, reputational 

damaged, quality of 

buildings and knock-on 

consequences. 

Examples of a key 

consequence include, 

delayed or cancelled 

housing development 

reduces capacity to 

address homelessness 

and other housing 

needs, Delays or 

affordability of delivery of 

schools transformation, 

etc. Potential for 

businesses ceasing to 

operate or provide 

specific specialist 

services where 

alternative options are 

limited.

IF global supply 

chain issues arise 

such as Brexit, 

Russian invasion 

of Ukraine, or, 

other economic or 

environmental 

pressures affect 

the global market 

then this could 

lead to increased 

price variations 

and labour & 

material shortages.

Jane 

Thomas

Escalated 

From :-

Powys 

County 

Council

Wayne 

Welsby

10/07/2023

Qtr 1 23/24 Review Summary: Ongoing risk 

management via the Commercial 

Performance and Risk Board.

15/05/2023

Review Summary: Risk management is on 

going via the new Commercial Board.

05/01/2023

Qtr 3 22/23 Review Summary: The new 

Commercial Performance and Risk Board 

has been created and now operational and 

includes increased viability of supply chain 

risks and thus promoting actions to mitigate.

12/12/2022

Review Summary: New Commercial 

Performance and Risk Board Created with 

increased scope and control measures.

Page 22 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 354



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

 25  16Cllr Jake 

Berriman
WO0021 Developing a health and care workforce for the future • Action In 

Progress

Ensure a robust and effective Apprenticeship programme • Action In 

Progress

Telehealth and telecare • Action In 

Progress

Recruitment and Retention working group delivery • Action In 

Progress

Formal partnership with the Open University and secondment of 

students 

• Action In 

Progress

Improving the skills and employability of young people and adults • Action In 

Progress

increase use of direct payments and the dynamic purchasing 

system are intended to secure more creative approaches 

• Action In 

Progress

Support communities to be able to do more for themselves and 

reduce demand on public services 

• Action In 

Progress

Promoting Powys as a place to live, visit and do business • Action 

Completed

Developing digital solutions and services • Action 

Completed

Developing a workforce strategy which ensures Council is an 

excellent employer 

• Action 

Completed

Develop an Adults’ Service recruitment and retention strategy , 

based on a strong brand promoting positive values and working/l 

• Action 

Completed

Growing our own workforce, including the scoping of a rural 

academy of learning which would offer social care qualifications t 

• Action 

Completed

Conduct research to understand the workforce profile in health and 

social care 

• Action 

Completed

To maintain rolling adverts for key staff and to link the adverts to 

relevant sites / job boards 

• Control In 

Place

To activate the Emergency Plan as may be required in order to 

facilitate the move of resources to business critical work 

• Control In 

Place

To internally deploy staff from non business critical work to 

business critical activities where possible. 

• Control In 

Place

To develop and run a national  recruitment campaign to best attract 

candidates to social care roles 

• Withdrawn

To further develop the Council 's recruitment practice, site and 

campaigns to best promote employment opportunities 

• Withdrawn

Improving skills and supporting people to get good quality jobs • Withdrawn

Improving education attainment of all pupils • Withdrawn

Consideration of a joint bank of staff available to maintain staffing 

levels and reduce risk 

• Withdrawn

Build better connections with Powys schools & universities within 

Wales & just across the border in order to attract students 

• Withdrawn

Then: 

•the Council will be 

unable to secure the 

services needed by the 

local population, 

including care and 

assessment provision, 

education, waste, 

highways, housing 

culture and support 

services.

•services may not be 

able to respond to and 

fully meet increasing 

demand. 

•services also may not 

be able to deliver their 

normal / planned levels 

of service provision. 

Where this is acute or 

could lead to the inability 

of the Council to deliver 

statutorily required 

services, the Council 

may need to temporarily 

step-down elements of 

its non-business critical 

activities in order to 

deploy staff to 

business-critical work.

IF the Council is 

unable to recruit, 

retain and 

commission the 

workforce it 

requires, in the 

short term due to 

increased staff 

absences and a 

challenging UK 

labour market, and 

in the longer term 

due to an expected 

long term 

decrease in the 

local working age 

population

Paul 

Bradshaw

Escalated 

From :-

Powys 

County 

Council

Gemma 

Gabriel

21/07/2023

1st Qtr 23/24 Review Summary: •

Presentation given to Economy, 

Residents and Communities Scrutiny 

Committee, with positive feedback and 

contributions.

• Successful recruitment campaign for 

housing trades roles resulting in an 

overwhelming response and significant 

numbers of offers made and vacancies 

filled. 

• Further success recruiting to vacancies 

in Children' s Residential services following 

recruitment events and leaflet drops to 

homes across Powys.

• 6 apprentices appointed in Q1 with 3 

starts and 3 due to start in Q2.

• Review meetings in place to discuss 

system development with e-recruitment 

provider

17/04/2023

Qtr 4 22/23 Review Summary: This work 

continues. We are seeing some impact in 

key roles for example in social care and 

environmental health. Metrics are being 

developed which will used in future reports 

to review and measure risk.

Page 23 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 355



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

23/12/2022

Qtr 3 22/23 Review Summary: The health 

and care partners in Powys have a 

multi-faceted Workforce Futures Strategic 

Framework is in place and being 

implemented, which is designed to recruit 

and develop the workforce needed to 

support the people of Powys now and for the 

future. As part of this it’s essential that we 

have people with the education and skills 

that will be needed, which is supported by 

the Council’s Transforming Education 

Programme which sets out a ten year 

strategy and is in the process of being 

implemented.

IN order to best respond to the tight UK and 

local labour market, a  high level resourcing 

group has been established to ensure that 

the Council takes every possible step to 

recruit and retain the workforce needed, 

including growing our own staff. This group 

is working with the leadership team and so 

far has:

• piloted an easier process to apply for 

roles, leading to a significant increase in 

interest in the roles and led to 3 staff being 

recruited, this will be rolled out 

• developed a new website with an 

enhanced search function to make it easier 

for applicants to search our vacancies

• introduced a new process to use 

existing vacancies as apprenticeship 

opportunities for people in our apprentice 

talent pool. 

• undertaken a staff pulse survey to all 

staff to obtain feedback on why they chose 

to work at Powys, the findings from which 

will be used to support recruitment and 

retention plans.

• Are working closely with our partners 

(e.g. PTHB, PAVO) to identify where we can 

jointly address recruitment and retention 

challenges

• Firm plans in place for 15 social care 

staff under our grow one own initiative to 

qualify as Social Workers during 2023 

• Developed a new vibrant and attractive 

advertising brand which will be launched 

early January 2023 

• We have a - New Year, New Job 

recruitment campaign ready to launch 

Page 24 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 356



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

during January 2023

• And have reviewed and condensed our 

application form, making it easier for 

candidates to complete which will be 

launched in the new year 

AS can be seen, much work has already 

been completed to address our recruitment 

needs and we have many more initiatives 

and improvements planned for Quarter 4 

and beyond.   

The Council is also working closely with 

PTHB and our partners to support the 

release of patients from hospital into 

reablement and care, this work will continue 

over the winter period and will focus on joint 

recruitment initiatives, joint induction and 

development, with a key focus on 

reablement. 

IN addition we are widening access to the 

health and care sector in Powys by / 

through: 

• an employability skills hub project 

(NPTC delivering employability skills training 

to a range of groups including staff currently 

within the health and care system, carers, 

volunteers and new staff trying to access 

employment in the sector)

• by widening our apprenticeship offer 

• And enabling access for carers and 

volunteers to statutory education packages

Page 25 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 357



Portfolio 
Inherent Residual Controls and Actions

Strategic Risk Register

Ref & Owner Risk Identified Potential Consequence StatusControl or ActionDirector 

or Head 

of Service

Last Reviews

26/09/2022

Qtr 2 22/23 Risk Review: The Workforce 

Futures Strategic Framework is in place / 

being implemented by partners.  

The Council’s Transforming Education 

Programme with its ten-year strategy is also 

being implemented.

To respond to the tight UK labour market, a 

high level resourcing group has been 

established to ensure that the Council takes 

every possible step to recruit, retain and 

develop the workforce needed, including 

grow our own staff. This group will be 

working with SLT in delivering an agreed 

plan. 

The Council has established an 

apprenticeship programme in place which 

continues to be progressed with 6 offered in 

Q2.  

In Social Care a much-enhanced grow our 

own programme for the next 5 years is in 

place and being implemented for social 

workers

In addition, we are widening access to the 

health and care sector in Powys by / 

through: 

- an employability skills hub project (NPTC 

delivering employability skills training to a 

range of groups including staff currently 

within the health and care system, carers, 

volunteers and people trying to access 

employment in the sector)

- making use of governmental schemes

- Apprenticeships – by widening the 

apprenticeship offer 

- Access for carers and volunteers to 

statutory education packages (NHS 

E-learning) to start a foundation of learning 

pre-employment

Page 26 of 26Report produced by JCAD RISK© 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd

P
age 358



Likely

Possible

Unlikely

Probability

Almost 

Certain

Heatmap Inherent and Current

Rare

Insignificant

Impact

Minor MajorModerate Severe

CS0091

PCC0008

ASC0071

PROC0008

IAWARD0009

ASC0066

ICT0010

ICT0029

FIN0001

HTR0018

PPPP0030

PPPP0031

WO0021

EDR0011

ASC0064

Inherent Ratings Summary Heatmap

Insignificant

Impact

Minor MajorModerate Severe

Residual Ratings Summary Heatmap

PROC0008 ASC0066

IAWARD0009

ICT0029

ASC0064

ICT0010

ASC0071

CS0091

EDR0011

FIN0001

HTR0018

WO0021

PPPP0030

PPPP0031

PCC0008

P
age 359



Risk Ref

Residual

Rating

Detailed Risk Information Resdiual and Target Rating Changes since 26/01/2023

Prev 

Residual 

Rating
->

Inherent

Rating
->

Prev 

Inheren

tRisk Identified Owner Service Area

EDR0011  20

ì1625 è
 4

Diane 

Reynolds

A climate emergency has been declared by Powys County Council . IF we experience the extreme consequences of 

not taking action then we will experience flooding, poor air quality, impact on nature and our communities.
 25Powys County 

Council

ASC0064  20

ì1212 è
 8

Nina DaviesIF Welsh Community Care Information System (WCCIS) is not fit for purpose, then it will impact upon service 

area’s ability to carry out our statutory operational duties .
 12Powys County 

Council

FIN0001  16

è1625 è
Jane ThomasThe Council may be unable to deliver a financially sustainable budget over the short and medium term.   The 

continued impact of Covid coupled with the more recent events around rising inflation, energy costs and the 

situation in Ukraine impacting on supply chains and prices all increase the risk on the Council financial resilience.

 25Powys County 

Council

HTR0018  16

è1625 è
Matthew 

Perry

Impact of nature emergency on our ability to deliver services  25Powys County 

Council

WO0021  16

è1625 è
Gemma 

Gabriel

IF the Council is unable to recruit, retain and commission the workforce it requires, in the short term due to 

increased staff absences and a challenging UK labour market , and in the longer term due to an expected long term 

decrease in the local working age population

 25Powys County 

Council

PPPP0030  16

è1620 è
Gwilym 

Davies

IF the Council has an insufficient level of revenue maintenance and major improvement capital funding , then it is 

likely to result in unsafe and unfit assets within School properties.
 20Powys County 

Council

PPPP0031  16

è1620 è
Gwilym 

Davies

IF the school building stock deteriorates due to the insufficient level of revenue and major improvement capital 

funding required to maintain them, then they could become un-safe and not fit for purpose.
 20Powys County 

Council

ASC0066  12

î1620 è
-4

Rachel EvansIF a Social Care provider(s) fail THEN the pressure on care homes, domiciliary care providers, supported living and 

other providers would become  unsustainable.
 20Powys County 

Council

IAWARD0009  12

è1216 è
Yvette 

Kottaun

If the Council is susceptible to higher levels of fraud as people struggle with the cost of living crisis and as 

organised fraud take advantage of the challenging environment.  This could lead to lost income revenues or 

increased service provision costs.

 16Powys County 

Council

ICT0029  12

è1216 è
Diane 

Reynolds

IF the Council incurs a serious Cyber Attack or Security Incident this can result in financial costs to recover ,  and 

data loss if recovery is not possible. This will result in disruption and damage to the reputation and running of the 

Council and its services.

 16Powys County 

Council

ICT0010  12

è1212 è
Diane 

Reynolds

IF the Council is found non-compliant with either UK General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) and or the Data 

Protection Act (DPA) 2018 then, it could be subject to monetary penalties or other regulatory action, data protection 

audits, civil action and associated consequences, including suffering reputational damage, and resultant detriment 

to the affected data subjects.

 12Powys County 

Council

ASC0071  9No 

Previous
No 

Previous

Sharon 

Frewin

If there is insufficient capacity to respond to the longer term demand in ADULTS' services in timely manner  25Powys County 

Council

PROC0008  9

î1215 è
-3

Wayne 

Welsby

IF global supply chain issues arise such as Brexit, Russian invasion of Ukraine, or, other economic or 

environmental pressures affect the global market then this could lead to increased price variations and labour & 

material shortages.

 15Powys County 

Council

CS0091  6

î2025 è
-14

Sharon 

Powell

If there is insufficient capacity to respond to the longer term demand in CHILDREN services in timely manner.  25Powys County 

Council

PCC0008  6

î1215 è
-6

Nigel BrinnIF planned power outages (rota disconnections) occurs then it may affect our ability to deliver services.  15Powys County 

Council

 (  REP_RECORD_CROSSCUT.Business Unit Code = @StrategicBusinessUnitCode  AND   (  REP_RECORD_CROSSCUT.Status Flag <> "WITHDRAWN"  

)   )   and  REP_RECORD_CROSSCUT.Record Type=1

Report Selection Criteria

Report produced by JCADCORE © 2001-2023 JC Applications Development Ltd | www.jcad.com 2

P
age 360



Delegated Decisions by Cabinet Members  

 

26 September Cabinet Member for a 
Greener Powys 

Builth Wells Parking Review, Residents 
Parking and Prohibition of Driving 
Gave approval to initiate the Traffic 
Regulation Order consultation procedure 
in accordance with The Local Authorities' 
Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and 
Wales) Regulations 1996 in respect of 
the restrictions set out in the plans in 
Appendix A to the report. 
Gave approval for the proposal be 
implemented if no substantive objections 
are received  

 

Page 361

7



This page is intentionally left blank



  

Meeting Report Title Report 
Author(s) 

Presenting 
Member(s) 

Quarter 2 Treasury Management 
report 

Jane Thomas Councillor David 
Thomas 

Plans for Newtown Schools Emma Palmer Councillor Pete 
Roberts 

Primary School Review  Emma Palmer Councillor Pete 
Roberts 

Cabinet –  
2023-10-24 

Llanfyllin Catchment Phase 2 
(Bryn Hafren) 
 

Emma Palmer Councillor Pete 
Roberts  

 
RIPA Annual Report Helen Dolman Councillor Jake 

Berriman  
Quarter 2 Finance Report Jane Thomas Councillor David  

Thomas 
Quarter 2 Capital Report  Jane Thomas Councillor David 

Thomas 
Council Tax Base for 2024-25 Jane Thomas Councillor David  

Thomas 
Corporate Safeguarding Board 
Activity Report  

Nina Davies 
 

Welsh language promotion 
strategy 

Sion Rowley Councillor Sandra 
Davies 

Cabinet –  
2023-11-21 

Right to Buy Local Occupancy 
Restrictions Policy 

Andy Thompson Councillor Matthew 
Dorrance   

Supporting the development of 
Council Housing 

Andy Thompson Councillor Matthew 
Dorrance 

Quarter 2 Strategic Risk Register 
 

Jane Thomas Councillor David 
Thomas  

Cabinet –  
2023-12-12 

Sennybridge Outline Business 
Case 

Emma Palmer Councillor Pete 
Roberts  

Budget and MTFS Jane Thomas Councillor David 
Thomas 

Winter Maintenance  Matt Perry Councillor Jackie 
Charlton 

 
 
Cabinet –  
2024-01-16 

Supplementary Planning 
Guidance: New Horticultural 
Enterprises and Dwellings 
 

Peter Morris Councillor Jake 
Berriman  

 
Cabinet –  
2024-03-20  

Quarter 3 Performance Report  Emma Palmer Councillor James 
Gibson-Watt 

 

Page 363

8



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 365

10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 367

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	RESOLVED that Cabinet:
	1.	Confirm they are assured that performance is progressing well, or that mitigating actions have been identified and reflected in updates to service Integrated Business Plans.
	2.	Confirm they are satisfied that any remedial actions will effectively improve performance in line with outcomes set out in the Corporate and Strategic Equality Plan.
	3.	Approve the introduction of a new measure to support Objective 1 (We will improve people’s awareness of services, and how to access them, so that they can make informed choices.):
		Number of ‘keeping in touch’ visits; this is in relation to Housing Services and would enable the team to regularly demonstrate some key work that is being undertaken to support the Council’s tenants.
	4.	Note the following clarifications to measure wording:
		Measure 4:  ‘Number of people accessing leisure facilities’ has been amended to ‘Number of people participating in leisure activities’; this clarifies that it will measure participations rather than people.
		Measure 9: ‘Percentage increase in user (active) participations’ has been amended to ‘The number of (active) user participations’; this reflects the number of participations rather than measuring a percentage increase.
		Measure 15: ‘Number of apprentices within the Council’ has been updated to clarify that it reports the number of new apprentices; it now reads: ‘Number of new apprentices within the Council’.
		Measure 19: ‘Staff turnover rate’ has been updated to clarify that it is the: ‘Staff turnover rate during the quarter’.
		Measure 20: ‘Sickness absence rate’ has been updated to clarify that it is the: ‘Average days sickness per full time equivalent employee’.
		Measure 35: ‘A reduction in the child poverty rate’ has been amended to ‘A reduction in the child absolute poverty rate’; this clarifies that absolute poverty is the basis of measurement.
		Measure 36: ‘Number of families with children who are living in absolute poverty in Powys’ has been amended to ‘Number of children living in absolute poverty’; this is because the relevant data is not available for families.
	The Cabinet Member for Finance and Corporate Transformation noted 54% or £9.4 million of cost reductions approved in the budget had been delivered and a further 40% £7.0 million were assured of delivery by Services. Services were being challenged on those savings which were unachieved and at risk of delivery and would be required to consider mitigating action to ensure that they can deliver within the budget allocated.
	1.	That virements in section 6 of the report are approved.
	2.	That the contents of this report are noted.
	1.	That Cabinet acknowledge the changing environment in which our plans are being developed and agree with the revised assumptions that are being used to support the development of the MTFS; and that work will continue to update and refresh the MTFP as appropriate.
	2.	Agree that the Senior Leadership Team continues to work with the relevant Portfolio Cabinet Member(s) to identify potential savings to assist in addressing the indicative budget gap across the period of the Medium Term Financial Plan.
	3.	Delegate to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance, the authority to implement any saving proposal in advance of 2024/25 where no policy recommendation is required.
	4.	This report is presented to Finance Panel for their scrutiny and feedback.
	1.	That the authority continues to progress the work of the Marches Forward Partnership.
	2.	To approve the draft Memorandum of Understanding in Appendix A and delegate to the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Council’s Leader, to agree changes in finalising the Memorandum of Understanding to reflect feedback from each cabinet and once completed to sign on behalf of Powys County Council.
	3.	That further updates be brought to Cabinet in due course.
	2023-09-26 Cabinet minutes

	4 Llangedwyn C. in W. School - Proposal Paper
	CYNGOR SIR POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL.
	CABINET EXECUTIVE
	1.	Purpose
		To close Llangedwyn C. in W. School from the 31st August 2024, with pupils to transfer to Llanfechain C. in W. School
	2.	Background
		Consideration of key data
		Identification of reasonable options
		SWOT analysis of each option
		Assessment of each option against a number of critical success factors
		Identification of an emerging preferred option
		Further consideration of the emerging preferred option against factors listed in the School Organisation Code (2018) as factors to be taken into account when developing school organisation proposals.
	2.19	As Llangedwyn C. in W. School is identified in the School Organisation Code as a rural school, a draft Community Impact Assessment has been carried out on the preferred option, which considers the impact on the community. This has been developed with input from the school. The draft Community Impact Assessment is attached as Appendix B.
	2.20	The draft Community Impact Assessment includes the following conclusion:
	2.21	As Llangedwyn C. in W. School has a religious character, the School Organisation Code includes the following requirements:
	‘In the case of proposals to reorganise schools for which land and/or buildings are held on trust or which have a designated religious character, the proposer must conduct consultation with the trustees and/or appropriate religious body before the consultation document is published. The proposer must allow 28 days for the receipt of comments and must have due regard to those comments before any decision is made to proceed to general consultation.’
	2.22	Consultation has been carried out with the Diocese of St Asaph, the response received is provided in Appendix D.
	Presumption against closure of Rural Schools
	3.	Advice
	3.1	It is advised that Cabinet approves a recommendation to commence the statutory process on the following proposal:
		To close Llangedwyn C. in W. School from the 31st August 2024, with pupils to transfer to Llanfechain C. in W. School.
	3.2	The reasons for this are:
		Would address the issue of low pupil numbers at Llangedwyn C. in W. Primary School
		Would increase pupil numbers at Llanfechain C. in W. School
		Would reduce the Council’s overall surplus capacity in primary schools
		Revenue saving to the Council
		The Council would no longer need to maintain the Llangedwyn building
		Pupils would attend a larger school where they would be part of a larger cohort of pupils
		Pupils would transfer to a school they are already familiar with
		Pupils would continue to access Church in Wales provision
	3.3	Although the option for pupils to transfer to Llanfechain C. in W. School has been identified as the preferred option, pupils would be able to apply for places at alternative schools should they prefer. These applications would be dealt with in accordance with the Council’s admissions policy.
	3.4	Should the recommendation to commence the statutory process be approved, it is anticipated that consultation would commence in October 2023.
	3.5	It must also be noted that implementation of this proposal does not preclude that school from being a part of future reorganisation proposals.
	Appendix A - Options Appraisal - Llangedwyn
	1.	INTRODUCTION
	PART A – THE CASE FOR CHANGE
	2.	STRATEGIC CONTEXT
	2.1	POLICY CONTEXT
	2.2	WHY CHANGE IS NEEDED IN POWYS

	3.	WHY CHANGE IS NEEDED IN LLANGEDWYN
	3.1	THE CURRENT SITUATION
	3.2	WHY CHANGE IS NEEDED IN LLANGEDWYN


	PART B – OPTIONS FOR LLANGEDWYN C. IN W. PRIMARY SCHOOL
	4.	AVAILABLE OPTIONS
	5.	SWOT ANALYSIS OF EACH OPTION
	6.	IMPACT OF EACH OPTION
	7.	CRITICAL SUCCESS FACTORS
	8.	EMERGING PREFERRED OPTION

	PART C – FURTHER CONSIDERATION OF PREFERRED OPTION
	9.	QUALITY AND STANDARDS IN EDUCATION
	10.	NEED FOR PLACES AND IMPACT ON ACCESSIBILITY OF SCHOOLS
	11.	RESOURCING OF EDUCATION AND OTHER FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
	12.	OTHER GENERAL FACTORS
	13.	SPECIFIC FACTORS IN THE CONSIDERATION OF SCHOOL CLOSURES
	14.	CONCLUSION AND NEXT STEPS


	Appendix B - Llangedwyn Community Impact Assessment
	Appendix C - Impact Assessment Llangedwyn
	Appendix D - Diocesan response to Pre-Consultation Llangedwyn

	5 Approval of the Powys Local Development Plan Annual Monitoring Report 2023 for submission to Welsh Government
	CYNGOR SIR POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL.
	CABINET EXECUTIVE
	1.	Purpose
	2.	Background
	3.	Advice
	AMR 2023 Findings
	3.1	The Powys LDP is assessed against the Monitoring Framework set out in Chapter 5 of the adopted LDP. The AMR is based on the adopted Monitoring Framework but has been updated/modified where necessary to take account of new national policy requirements arising since Plan adoption in April 2018.  Where this has happened, the AMR explains what changes have been made to the original Framework and why. Implementation is shown visually using a colour coded system.
	3.2	The AMR 2023 demonstrates that the adopted LDP is largely continuing to deliver and meet the monitoring targets, pointing to successful policy implementation.  Of the 62 monitoring indicators:
		42 are “Green” where the monitoring is on target or completed and the action required is for monitoring to continue.
		three are “Yellow” identifying that further investigation/research is required;
		seven are “Amber” suggesting that a Policy Review is required; and
		four are “Red” indicating that a Plan Review is required as they relate to the delivery of the strategy.
	AMR 2023 identifies the remaining indicators (six) as not applicable or have been superseded during this monitoring year.
	3.3	The performance of the adopted LDP against each monitoring indicator is fully explained in the AMR (Appendix 1). The eleven indicators indicating a plan review or policy review (colour coded RED or AMBER respectively) are:
	CABINET REPORT NEW TEMPLATE VERSION 3
	Appendix 1_Powys LDP Annual Monitoring Report 2023
	Appendix 1a_Powys LDP AMR 2023_Annex1_ Table 19 Allocations
	Appendix 1b_Powys LDP AMR 2023_Annex2_Table 20 Commitments

	6 Strategic Risk Register Report Quarter 1 2023/2024
	CYNGOR SIR POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL.
	CABINET EXECUTIVE
	3.1 	To ensure a risk managed approach to decision making and good governance of the Council, it is proposed that Cabinet.
	CABINET REPORT NEW TEMPLATE VERSION 3
	10.10.23 Qtr 1 2023-2024 Appx A Strategic Risk Register Report ran on 25.7.2023.
	10.10.23 Qtr 1 2023-2024 Appx B Heatmap for Strategic Risk Register Report run on 25.7.23 .doc

	7 Delegated Decisions Taken Since the Last Meeting
	8 Forward Work Programme
	10 Strategic Risk Register Report Quarter 1 2023/2024 - Exempt Paper
	10.10.23 Qtr 1 2023-2024 Appx C Strategic Risk Register CLOSED Report ran on 25.7.2023.


